

## Régulation de l'activation de lymphocytes B / cellules plasmatiques pendant le rejet chronique: Le rôle de SYK dans la modulation de Mcl-1

Nathalie Roders

#### ► To cite this version:

Nathalie Roders. Régulation de l'activation de lymphocytes B / cellules plasmatiques pendant le rejet chronique : Le rôle de SYK dans la modulation de Mcl-1. Médecine humaine et pathologie. Université Paris Saclay (COmUE), 2017. Français. NNT : 2017SACLS439 . tel-02398201

## HAL Id: tel-02398201 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02398201

Submitted on 7 Dec 2019

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# UNIVERSITE



Regulating the activation of Blymphocytes during chronic antibody mediated rejection: The role of SYK in modulating Mcl-1

Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay

Préparée à

INSERM U1197, l'Hôpital Paul Brousse, Villejuif École doctorale n°568

Signalisations et réseaux intégratifs en biologie

Spécialité de doctorat:

Aspects moléculaires et cellulaires de la biologie

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Villejuif, 06/12/2017, par:

#### Nathalie RODERS

#### Composition du Jury:

Pierre BOBÉ	Président
Professeur des universités, Université Paris-Sud	11
(INSERM UMR 1174)	
Nuala MOONEY	Rapporteur
Directrice de Recherche 1, Hôpital Saint-Louis	
(INSERM UMRS 1160)	
Phillipe GRIMBERT	Rapporteur
Professeur des universités-praticien hospitalier,	
CHU Henri Mondor et Université Paris-Est (UPE)	C)
(INSERM U955)	
Joëlle WIELS	Examinatrice
Directrice de Recherche 2, Institut Gustave Rous	ssy
(CNRS UMR 8126)	<b>–</b>
	Examinateur
Directeur de Recherche 2, CIRI Centre Internatio	onal
de Recherche en Infectiologie	
(INSERMUTITI - CNRS UMR 5308)	Dina stavu da thàca
Antoine DURRBACH	Directeur de these
Professeur des universites-praticien nospitalier,	
Aimé VAZOUEZ	Co Diroctour do thòsa
Anne VALQUEL Doctor Emoritus, Hônital Paul Brousso	Co-Directeur de triese
(INSEDM 111107)	

To those I hold close to my heart

# **Acknowledgements**

To the members of the jury, I would like to thank you for your interest in my work. To the rapporteurs Dr. Nuala Mooney and Pr. Philippe Grimbert, thank you for taking the time to reas and evaluate my manuscript and the work I have performed during my thesis. To the president Pr Pierre Bobé and examinateurs Dr. Joëlle Wiels and Dr. Thierry Defrance thank you for participating in the evaluation of my work. I would like to thank you all for the time you have put in evaluating my work.

To my thesis director, Pr. Antoine Durrbach, I would like to thank you for seeing my potential during the 10 short minutes that changed my life quite a bit. Thank you for opening up the lab for me and allowing me to grow both at profesional and personal level. Even though you were not an everyday presence Thank you for being there for the discussions and your guidance and knowledge. To my thesis co-director, Dr. Aimé Vazquez, I would like to thank you for welcoming me in the lab. Thank you for being there for the discussions and your guidance and knowledge. I am glad that we were able to work together. To both my directors, I have enjoyed working with you. I cannot express my graditute for all the work we have performed together and the energy and time you have put in guiding me through my thesis, so once more: Thank you.

I would like to thank Florence Herr for all the time and effort she put in helping me during my thesis. Your help on the technical parts, your knowledge and experience were indispensable to my thesis. Eventhough sometimes the work we performed seemed to be a never-ending story in the end we managed! And thank you for all the talks we had non-related to work, they were always a welcome distraction when sometimes it seemed that all I could think about was work work.

I would like to thank Ye Fan, eventhough we were going through the same experience at almost the same time, we did not really connect until the last 2 years of my thesis. I am very happy that you moved to Lwoff. Though we might not have worked together in the lab that much, I appreciated our discussion on both our projects. And just being able vent out and to complain about how "difficult" being a PhDer is and how "hard" our life is, is really nice with a person that goes through the same at the same time ;-) Helps to put things in perspective. And thank you for all the laughs, the cinema and sushi trips and showing me were to find the best Chinese food in Paris.

Thank you Gorba for being there! I was sad to see you go after being such a presence in the lab, my last year would not have been the seem would you still have been there. Though it felt good to be able to say I'm the best without you trying to say that you're the best ;-) I enjoyed a lot working with you, the ever-optimistic you can never do too much experiments scientist! And thank you for your input in my research, the time you took for our dicsuccions and your help in teaching me all the things I need to know about apoptosis. And last but not least, thank you for your humor and for appreciating mine, you'll never find someone like me again ;-)

Thank you to all my other friends in the lab: Marie Pourcelot, Emiline Hatchi, Naïma Zemirli, Kostas Poalas and Jesùs García Cano. Thank you for making me feel welcome, for your helping hand and for all the good times we had and will have together! It would not have been the same experience without you all.

I would like to thank Dr. Damien Arnoult for helping me adjust to the lab by allowing me to work a bit on your project, it is nice to start a thesis working in the lab to have some change from all the reading, while necessary, it can be very tedious. And of course, thank you for the discussion we had during the lab meetings and your help whenever needed.

I would like to thank the entire team of the unit-1197! Thank you Alain Portier for your technical support. And thank Julien Giron-Michel for helping me with the funding of the last 5 months of my thesis, it was an adventure. And thank you to all the others for being there wenever needed.

To all my friends, in France, the Netherlands or all the other countries you all are, thank you! Thank you for the support, thank you for the distraction and thank you for your love. Especially to Sébastien Chatel, you have been my support for the past 4 years. I love you!

Lieve Papa en Mama, dankjewel! Ik weet het is niet altijd makkelijk om een dochter the hebben die niet in de buurt is, maar dankjulliewel voor al jullie steun en help en gewoon omdat jullie altijd klaar staan voor mij. En natuurlijk dankjullie Manuel, Marieke en Lynn, en Priscilla en Justin, ik hou van jullie mijn familie!



Titre : Régulation de l'activation de lymphocyte B pendant le rejet chronique ; La rôle de SYK dans la modulation de Mcl-1

Mots Clés : Rejet médiée par les anticorps, centres germinatifs, Signalisation du BCR, SYK, Mcl-1, Apoptose

Résumé : L'insuffisance rénale est un problème majeur de santé publique et la transplantation rénale est l'option thérapeutique principale, mais elle comporte le risque de rejet d'organe. Les cellules B jouent un rôle important dans le rejet médié par les anticorps (AMR). Au cours de l'AMR chronique, les structures lymphoïdes tertiaires, semblables aux centres germinatifs (GC), apparaissent dans l'organe rejeté, associées à la production des plasmocytes et des lymphocytes B mémoires spécifiques du donneur. Ces populations de lymphocyte B sont souvent mal contrôlées par les traitements actuels. La myeloid cell leukemia 1 (Mcl-1), un membre anti-apoptotique de la famille de B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2), est essentiel pour maintenir l'organisation de GC et de la différenciation des cellules B. Nous rapportons ici l'infiltration de cellules B exprimant Mcl-1 dans le rein de patients atteints d'AMR chronique, comme cela a été observé pour les cellules (pré) GC. Suite à l'abrogation de la signalisation du récepteur des cellules B (BCR), par l'inhibition de la spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) nous avons observé une diminution de la viabilité des cellules GC, par l'intermédiaire d'une régulation de Mcl-1. La régulation négative de Mcl-1 est coordonnée au niveau de la transcription, potentiellement par l'intermédiaire du transducteur de signal et de l'activateur de la transcription 3 (STAT3), comme cela a été observé par (1) une translocation altérée de STAT3 dans le noyau suivant l'inhibition de SYK, et (2) les niveaux inférieurs de transcription de Mcl-1. Par ailleurs, la surexpression de Mcl-1 inhibe l'apoptose après l'inhibition du SYK. Des études avec des cellules B primaires, issues d'amygdales, ont confirmé que l'inhibition de SYK a diminué la survie cellulaire. Nous avons également constaté que l'inhibition du SYK a diminué les niveaux de protéines Mcl-1 dans les cellules B primaire, et que l'activation de ces cellules a été inhibée, tel que déterminé par l'expression de CD80 et des taux inférieurs de sécrétion d'IgG dans les cellules B primaires activées in vitro. Nos travaux suggèrent que la voie SYK-Mcl-1 peut offrir de nouvelles opportunités pour le traitement et la prévention de l'AMR.

Title: Regulating the activation of B lymphocytes during chronic antibody mediated rejection: The role of SYK in modulating Mcl-1

Keywords: Antibody mediated rejection, Germinal Center, BCR signaling, SYK, Mcl-1, Apoptosis

Abstract: Renal failure is a major public health concern and renal transplantation is the main therapeutic option, however it comes with the risk of organ rejection. B-cells play an important role in antibodymediated rejection (AMR). During chronic AMR, tertiary lymphoid germinal center (GC)-like structures appear in the rejected organ, associated with de novo production of donor-specific plasma and memory B-cells. Which are B-cell populations that are often poorly controlled by current treatments. Myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1), an anti-apoptotic member of the B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family, is essential for maintaining the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation. We report here the infiltration of B-cells expressing Mcl-1 in the kidney of patients with chronic AMR, as observed for (pre-)GC cells. The impairment of B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling, by inhibition of spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK), reduced viability and Mcl-1 protein levels in GC like cells. This downregulation is coordinated at the transcriptional level, potentially via signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), as shown by (1) impaired translocation of STAT3 to the nucleus following SYK inhibition, and (2) the lower levels of Mcl-1 transcription upon STAT3 inhibition. Moreover, overexpression of Mcl-1 prevented cells from entering apoptosis after SYK inhibition. In vitro studies with primary tonsillar B-cells confirmed that SYK inhibition decreased cell survival. We also found that SYK inhibition decreased Mcl-1 protein levels in primary B-cells, and that B-cell activation was inhibited, as determined by CD80 expression and lower levels of IgG secretion in tonsillar B-cells activated in vitro. Overall, our data suggest that the SYK-Mcl-1 pathway may provide new opportunities for the treatment and prevention of AMR.

# Synthèse en Français

L'insuffisance rénale est un problème de santé majeur dans les pays occidentalisés. La transplantation rénale est la méthode thérapeutique la plus satisfaisante en cas d'insuffisance rénale terminale permettant une meilleure qualité de vie, une meilleure survie et à moindre cout par rapport à la dialyse. Cependant, la transplantation rénale est limitée par la survenue de rejet d'organe et en particulier au long court de rejet chronique à médiation par les anticorps (AMR). Les cellules B jouent un rôle important dans l'AMR via la synthèse d'anticorps alloréactifs. Les alloanticorps produits contre la greffe sont associés à une fréquence élevée de détérioration des organes et de perte de greffe malgré les traitements actuels développés dans le but de contrecarrer l'AMR. Cependant, ces thérapies échouent souvent à contrôler la production d'anticorps spécifiques du donneur (DSA) et la formation des plasmocytes et lymphocytes B mémoires spécifiques du donneur. Ce qui est observé par le fait que l'AMR est une cause principale d'insuffisance organique chronique, et il est actuellement responsable de près d'un quart des pertes de greffe totales.

La reconnaissance de l'alloantigène par le récepteur des cellules B (BCR) joue un rôle important dans le déclenchement de la réponse immunitaire humorale et de la différenciation des lymphocytes B en cellules plasmatiques productrices d'anticorps (Ab) et en cellules B mémoires. Après l'activation des lymphocytes B dépendant des lymphocytes T et la formation du centre germinatifs (CG), les cellules B subissent une expansion clonale, une commutation isotypique, une hypermutation somatique, et une maturation et une sélection d'affinité. Ils quittent le GC en tant que cellules B mémoire hautement spécifiques et/ou les plasmocytes produisant un Ab. La persistance du GC et la sélection des cellules B effectrices de haute affinité sont régulées par des signaux pro- et anti-apoptotiques induits lors de la liaison l'antigen (Ag) et des interactions à médiation cellulaire. La myeloid cell leukemia 1 (Mcl-1), un membre anti-apoptotique de la famille des B-cell lymphoma (Bcl-2), est essentiel au maintien de la réaction GC et de la différenciation des lymphocytes B.

Une inflammation persistante due à une stimulation et une réponse immunitaire continue peut conduire à la formation de structures lymphoïdes tertiaries (TLS), qui ressemblent à des GC. Le développement de TLS dans lesquels une réaction fonctionnelle de GC ectopique a été mis en évidence en transplantations humaines ayant développé une AMR chronique (cAMR)

Le but de cette recherche est de caractériser davantage les cellules B infiltrant les greffes rénales avec cAMR chez les malades transplantés rénaux. Des cellules B infiltrantes ont été détectées dans des greffes rénales de cAMR, par coloration de CD19 de coupes histologiques de reins de patients atteints de cAMR. Un double marquage avec un anticorps contre Mcl-1 a mis en évidence une colocalisation de Mcl-1 avec CD19 comme observé dans les cellules GC. Nos résultats sont compatibles avec la notion que les cellules B infiltrant les organes greffés font partie du TLS et jouent un rôle dans une réponse immunitaire locale en cours et la production de cellules B effectrices

Deuxièmement, nous avons cherché à développer des stratégies pour inhniber l'activation et la survie des cellules B activées. Nous avons donc étudié les moyens de perturber les réponses et la survie des cellules B des GC, dans lesquelles la Spleen tyrosine kinase SYK joue un rôle clé en aval du BCR. Nous avons inhibé son activité pour bloquer la signalisation du BCR. L'inhibition de l'activité de SYK diminue la viabilité des cellules et le niveau de la protéine anti-apoptotique Mcl-1 dans les cellules BL41, une lignée cellulaire de lymphome de Burkitt servant de modèle de centroblastes GC. L'inhibition de SYK a montré une réponse dépendante de la dose concernant la viabilité cellulaire. Lors de l'inhibition de SYK, la diminution de Mcl-1 est caspase indépendante et seulement partiellement protéasome dépendant. Nous avons mis en évidence que l'inhibition de SYK régule l'expression de Mcl-1 au niveau transcriptionnel, comme cela a été confirmé par la PCR quantitative en temps réel. Le Signal transducteur et activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) a été identifié comme un régulateur majeur de la transcription du gène Mcl-1. L'analyse immunohistologique a montré que STAT3 est exprimé dans le noyau des cellules BL41 dans des conditions basales, où il peut médier la transcription du gène Mcl-1. L'inhibition de SYK empêche la translocation de STAT3 du cytoplasme vers le noyau, suggérant un rôle pour STAT3 dans la régulation de l'expression du gène Mcl-1 par la signalisation BCR. L'inhibition de STAT3 conduit à une viabilité réduite des cellules BL41 qui était associée à des niveaux réduits de transcription de Mcl-1. Enfin, la surexpression du gène Mcl-1 dans les cellules BL41 traitées par des inhibiteurs de SYK et STAT3 permet de restaurer la survie des cellules indiquant l'importance de Mcl-1 dans le maintien de la viabilité des cellules B G.

Nous avons confirmé l'effet de l'inhibition de SYK sur la survie des cellules B primaires liée également à la diminution de la protéine Mcl-1, sur l'activation des lymphocytes B déterminée par l'expression de CD80 et sur la sécrétion d'IgG in vitro.

En conclusion, nos résultats mettent en évidence que l'inhibition de SYK affecte la survie cellulaire médiée par la signalisation BCR par la régulation négative de la transcription du gène Mcl-1. Dans les cellules GC « like », cette régulation de Mcl-1 semble être en partie dépendante de la régulation du gène médiée par STAT3. Ainsi dans le cas de l'AMR, SYK peut être une cible potentielle pour améliorer la survie du greffon

# List of Abbreviations

	Α
aAMR:	Acute antibody mediated
	rejection
Ab:	Antibody
ABO:	Blood group A, B and O
ADCC:	Ab-dependent cellular
	cytotoxicity
Ag:	Antigen
AID:	Activation induced cytidine
	deaminase
AKT:	Protein kinase B (PKB)
AMR:	Antibody mediated rejection
APAF-1:	Apoptotic activating factor 1
APC:	Antigen presenting cell
	B
Bad:	Bcl-2 antagonist of cell death
BAFF:	B-cell activating factor
Bak:	Bcl-2 Antagonist Killer 1
Bax:	Bcl-2 Associated X protein
BAY:	Bay61-3606
Bcl-2:	B-cell lymphoma 2
BCL-6:	B-cell lymphoma 6
B-CLL:	B-cell chronic lymphocytic
	leukemia
BCR:	B-cell receptor
BrdU:	Bromodeoxvuridine
BH:	Bcl-2 homology
Bid:	BH3 interacting-domain
	death agonist
Bik:	Bcl-2 interacting killer
Bim:	Bcl-2 interacting mediator of
	cell death
BL:	Burkitt's lymphoma
Blimp-1:	PR domain zinc finger
-	protein 1 (PRDM1)
BLNK:	B-cell linker protein
BM:	Mature B-cells
Bmf:	Bcl-2 modifying factor
Breg:	Regulatory B-cell
BTK:	Bruton's tyrosine kinase
	С
C:	Complement protein
CAD:	Caspase activated DNase
cAMR:	Chronic antibody mediated
	rejection
CCL:	C-C motif chemokine

	ligand
CCR:	C-C chemokine receptor
	type
CD:	Cluster of differentiation
CIN85:	Cbl-interacting protein of
	85 kDa
CLT:	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte
CSR:	Immunoglobulin class switch
	recombination
CTLA-4:	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-
	associated protein 4
CXCL:	C-X-C motif chemokine
	ligand
CXCR:	C-X-C chemokine receptor
	D
D:	Diversity
DAG:	Diaglycerol
DAMP:	Danger associated pattern
DC:	Dendritic cell
DD:	Death domain
DISC:	Death inducing signaling
	complex
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DR:	Death receptor
DSA:	Donor specific HLA Ab
DZ:	Dark zone
	Е
EBI2:	Epstein-Barr virus-induced
	gene 2
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ERK:	Extracellular signal-regulated
	kinase
	F
FADD:	Fas-associated protein with
	death domain
FasR:	Fas receptor
FcR:	Fc receptor
FDC:	Follicular dendritic cell
	G
GC:	Germinal center
Grb2:	Growth factor receptor-
	bound protein 2
GSK3:	Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3
	H
HLA:	Human Leukocyte antigen
Helz.	Harakiri

HGG:	Hypogammaglobulinemia
	I
IAPs:	Inhibitors of apoptosis
ICAD:	Inhibitor of CAD
ICOS:	Inducible T-cell co-
	stimulator
ICOSL:	ICOS ligand
Ig:	Immunoglobulins
IKK:	Inhibitor of ¤B kinase
IL:	Interleukin
IP <sub>3</sub> :	Inositol triphosphate
IRF:	Interferon-regulatory factor
ITAM:	Immunoreceptor tyrosine
	based activation motif
IV-IG:	Intravenous immunoglobulin
	Ţ
J:	Joining
JAK:	Janus kinase
JNK:	c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase
5	Ĺ
LZ:	Light zone
	M
MAC:	Membrane attack complex
MAPK:	Mitogen activated protein
	kinases
MBC:	Memory B-cells
Mcl-1:	Myeloid cell leukemia-1
MEF2:	Myocyte-specific enhancer
	factor 2
MHC:	Major histocompatibility
	complex
MOM:	Mitochondrial outer
	membrane
MOMP:	Mitochondrial outer
	membrane permeabilization
mTORC1:	Mechanistic target of
	rapamycin Complex 1
mSOS:	Mammalian son of sevenless
	Ν
NFAT:	Nuclear factor of activated
	T-cells
NF-¤B:	Nuclear factor <i>B</i>
NK:	Natural killer cell
NLR:	NOD like receptors
	P
PAMP:	Pathogen-associated
	molecular pattern
	Partonia Partonia

PC:	Plasma cell
PD-1:	Programmed cell death
	protein-1
PD-L1:	PD ligand 1
PI3K:	Phospoinostidine 3 kinase
PIP <sub>2</sub> :	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-
	bisphosphate
PIP <sub>3</sub> :	Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-
	triphosphate
PKC:	Protein kinase C
PLCy2	Phospholipase Cy2
PRR:	Pattern recognition receptors
PTLD	Post-transplant
	lymphoproliferative disorder
Puma:	p53 up-regulated mediator of
	apoptosis
	R
RLR:	RIG like I receptors
RNA:	Ribonucleic acid
	S
SHC:	SH2 domain-containing
	protein
SHM:	Somatic hyper mutation
SLO:	Secondary lymphoid organ
STAT3:	Signal transducer and
	activator of transcription 3
SYK:	Spleen tyrosine kinase
	Т
TCR:	T-cell receptor
T <sub>FH</sub> :	T follicular helper cell
TG:	Transplant glomerulopathy
TGF-B	Transforming growth
I I	factor B
Th·	T helper cell
ΤΠ. ΤΙ R·	Toll like receptors
TI S.	Tertiary lymphoid structures
TNF:	Tumor pecrosis factor
TNFR1.	Tumor pecrosis factor
111111111	receptor 1
	TNER1 associated DD
IRADD.	protein
Troot	Protein Regulatory T cell
Tteg.	Negulatory 1-cell
<b>V</b> 7.	Variable
v.	
ZAP-70:	Protein ζ-chain-associated
	protein kinase of 70kDa

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	.1
(I) Transplantation immunology	.3
(1) General history transplantation immunology	3
(2) Hyperacute, acute and chronic rejection	4
(3) Innate immunity and organ rejection	5
(4) Adaptive immunity and organ rejection	7
(II) Humoral immunology	11
(1) Defining antibody mediated rejection	11
(2) T-cell dependent B-cell activation	15
(3) B-cell receptor signaling	17
(4) Germinal center initiation	20
(5) Germinal center reaction	22
(6) Germinal center independent B-cell differentiation	28
(III) Balancing B-cell survival and death	29
(1) Regulating germinal center B-cell survival	29
(2) The Bcl-2 family	31
(3) Induction and execution of apoptosis	35
(IV) B-cell persistence in organ transplantation	41
(1) Objectives	43
Results	45
(I) Article	47
(II) Supplemental results	76
Discussion & Perspectives	79
(1) Identifying infiltrating B-cells; Mcl-1 expression in GCs and TLS infiltrating	
cAMR kidney	81
(2) Targeting BCR signaling; SYK inhibition induced GC like cell death associated	
with Mcl-1 gene regulation	82

(3) Regulating Mcl-1 in GCs; The role of SYK in STAT3 mediated Mcl-1 gene	
transcription	85
(4) The effect of SYK inhibition in altering B-cell responses; SYK as a potentia	ıl
target in organ transplantation	89
(5) Perspectives	91
nnexes	97
(I) Annex 1	99
(II) Annex 2	115
Bibliography	129

# Index of Figures

Figure 1: The overall incidence of end-stage renal disease, dialysis and organ transplantation as we			
as mortality in France in 2015			
Figure 2: The innate or early and the adaptive or late immune response			
Figure 3: Summarizing overview of T and B-cell development and function			
Figure 4: Mechanisms of allorecognition9			
Figure 5: Cell mediated immune response during graft rejection10			
Figure 6: Proposed stages of antibody-mediated rejection based on time from transplantation to			
graft loss			
Figure 7: Multifactorial cellular and molecular effects of donor specific antibodies against the graft			
Figure 8: Overview of the cellular components and B-lymphocyte fate before, during and after the			
germinal center reaction			
Figure 9: Simplified scheme of B-cell receptor signaling upon antigen engagement19			
Figure 10: Germinal center initiation			
Figure 11: Histological section of a germinal center23			
Figure 12: Localization of AID in the Germinal Center			
Figure 13: Antigen presentation and T-cell interaction germinal center B-cells27			
Figure 14: Effect of Bcl-xl and Mcl-1 deletion GC and Memory B-cell formation30			
Figure 15: The localization of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members in relation to Puma and			
germinal center structures found in human lymph nodes			
Figure 16: The Bcl-2 family of proteins			
Figure 17: Proposed models of activation of mitochondrial intrinsic apoptotic pathway by the Bcl-			
2 family			
Figure 18: Initiation pathways of apoptosis			
Figure 19: Identification of apoptotic cells based on morphological changes observed by electron			
microscopy and flow cytometry			
Figure 20: Effector pathway of apoptosis, the central role of caspases40			
Figure 21: Histological analysis of chronically rejected kidney graft indicates the presence of tertiary			
lymphoid structures			
Figure 22: Potential role of SYK in regulating Mcl-185			
Figure 23: Proposed model for regulating Mcl-1 following SYK inhibition in BL41 cells			

Figure SR 1: Mcl-1 expression is higher in (pre-)germinal center cells while Bcl-2 expression is
higher in naïve mature and differentiated B-cells76
Figure SR 2: SYK inhibition in BL41 cells does not increase Mcl-1 ubiquitination to promote
proteasome dependent degradation77
Figure SR 3: Inhibition of AKT does not affect Mcl-1 expression or induce PARP cleavage in BL41
cells as compared to SYK inhibition78

# **Index of Tables**

Table 1: Interactions between Bcl-2 family	7 members

#### (I) Transplantation immunology

#### (1) General history transplantation immunology

Renal failure is a major public-health concern in developed countries, especially in France (Figure 1). Renal transplantation is the major therapeutic method in case of end-stage renal failure, due to the association with a better quality of life, longer survival time and the cost efficiency as compared to dialysis.



Figure 1: The overall incidence of end-stage renal disease, dialysis and organ transplantation as well as mortality in France in 2015.

Figure taken from Réseau Epidémiologie et Information en Néphrologie, rapport annual 2015. PD: peritoneal dialysis; pmp: per million population.

Organ transplantation is the act of transferring the organ of one individual to another. In the beginning of the twentieth century the idea arose to replace a non-functioning organ by a healthy functioning organ. However following organ transplantation, the immune system, which is a combination of cells and molecules and is responsible for the protection of the human body from infectious disease, can cause severe problems.

The reaction to foreign molecules coordinated by the immune system is called the immune response. According to historians the first mention of immunity came from Thucydides around 500 BC, however the ancient Chinese had a custom of using powder from skin lesions of smallpox patients to protect children against the disease. The first clear example of immunity and immunology as an experimental discipline came from Edward Jenner. He found that milkmaids who recovered from cowpox never developed the more dangerous smallpox, and by injecting a little boy with the cowpox and later with smallpox he laid the road to vaccination. (Brunham & Coombs, 1998) The importance of vaccination, and the underlining role of the immune system,

has been shown by the world health organization when they observed in 1980 that the smallpox was the first disease to be eradicated worldwide. However, the immune system does not only recognize infectious diseases, non-infectious molecules can also induce an immune response and therefore in some cases can cause harm and disease.

In the case of organ transplantation, the immune system can cause harm leading to the rejection of the transplanted organ. A pioneer in the transplantation field is P.B. Medawar, who following his research in skin graft rejection, found that re-transplantation of skin-grafts let to a higher prevalence of graft rejection. (Medawar, 1944) Another pioneering research paper in transplant immunology using mice, showed acquired immunological tolerance to antigens (Ag; molecules that are recognized by immune cells and induce an immune response in humans) from other mice, called alloAg. (Billingham, Brent, & Medawar, 2003) The team of Joseph Murray, at the Peter Bent Briham hospital in Boston, performed the first successful renal transplantation in 1954 by transferring the kidney from one identical twin to the other. (Murray, Harrison, & Merril, 1956) The data acquired by several studies showed the importance of immune responses directed against the graft, and in the early 1960s by using chemical immunosuppressors the first transplantation between non-identical individuals was a fact. To date transplantation is a standard practice to treat non-functioning solid organs; such as the heart, lungs, pancreas, kidneys, intestines and liver.

#### (2) Hyperacute, acute and chronic rejection

There are three types of organ rejection, hyperacute, acute and chronic rejection. Hyperacute rejection occurs within the first few hours after the transplantation and is mainly caused by antibodies (Ab) recognizing foreign proteins. These are either encoded by the Human Leukocyte antigen (HLA) gene complex and expressed on the surface of cells on the graft or sugar molecules corresponding to the blood group. Proteins encoded by the HLA gene complex include major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules and components of the complement system. Following the recognition, Ab complexes are formed and the complement is activated leading to irreversible damage of the graft. Hyperacute rejection cannot be treated, however it can be prevented. By screening the patient for anti-blood group A, B and O (ABO) Ag and donor specific HLA Abs (DSA), followed by exclusion of donor organs that are recognized by these antibodies, as well as the removal of these HLA antibodies prior to transplantation. (Crespo et al., 2001; Higgins et al., 1996; Rydberg, 2001)

Acute rejection occurs within several days to months following the transplantation and is caused by immune cells such as dendritic cells (DC) and cells from the adaptive immune system. Activated T-cells can cause direct killing of the donor cells and Abs secreted by activated B-cells

can cause graft injury and killing of the donor cells, inducing organ rejection. T-cells can induce an inflammatory state by the secretion of cytokines followed by the recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells, bound Abs can recruit and activate inflammatory cells as well. Acute rejection can be treated by the use of immunosuppressive drugs, and the faster the treatment the better because the physical damage to the organs is irreversible. (Alegre, Florquin, & Goldman, 2007)

Long term graft loss can occur months, even years after the transplantation and is the main cause of long term graft loss is chronic rejection, which can be a combination of both humoral and cell mediated immune responses. Chronic rejection can occur even after the acute immune responses have ceased to persist. Long term graft loss can be a multifactorial process and combination of several factors can lead to eventual graft loss. (Libby & Pober, 2001; Massy, Guijarro, Wiederkehr, Ma, & Kasiske, 1996)

#### (3) Innate immunity and organ rejection

The immune response can be divided into two distinct responses based on time and specificity, namely innate and adaptive immunity, or the early and late response (Figure 2).



Figure 2: The innate or early and the adaptive or late immune response.

The innate immune response, which is the first defense against microbes, recognizes general molecular patterns. It consists of a physical epithelial barrier, a combination of immune cells, such as dendtitic cells and pahgocytes, and circulating proteins, such as the complement. The adaptive immune response is highly specific for antigens and can last for days. The main cells responsible for the adaptive immunity are cells T- and B-lymphocytes. Figure taken from Abbas et al. (Abbas, Lichtman, & Pillai, 2014, p. 3) NK: Natural Killer; ILC: Innate Lymphoid Cell

Acute inflammation is a process that happens upon innate immune activation and its function is to eliminate harmful microbes, damaged cells, and initiate tissue repair. This happens through the recruitment of special immune cells, white blood cells also known as leukocytes, and the secretion of cytokines and chemokines that help enhance the inflammatory response. During microbial/exogenous infection the first step is recognition of microbes via a limited number of

pattern-recognition receptors (PRR); such as toll like receptors (TLR), NOD like receptors (NLR), RIG-I-like receptors (RLR) and complement receptors. These PRRs share several common trademarks such as the fact that they are highly conserved throughout evolution and encoded by the germline deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). (Hoffmann, Kafatos, Janeway, & Ezekowitz, 1999; J. Liu, Qian, & Cao, 2016) PRRs are expressed extra- or intracellular by various cells or are found as soluble proteins in the blood and extracellular fluids. PRRs recognize structures that are non-self and characteristic for microbes, these structures are called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP). In general, these PAMPs are essential for the survival of the microbes and therefore they are less prone to mutations making it more difficult to evade the innate immune system. (Medzhitov, 2007) Several studies have indicated the role of PRRs in the recognition of endogenous molecules, such as heat shock protein and the content of necrotic cells. TLRs and non-Ag related inflammatory responses have been highlighted in organ rejection. (Gluba et al., 2010; Goldstein, Tesar, Akira, & Lakkis, 2003; Land, 2005; Pockley, 2001) Besides to pathogen induced PRR activation, injured or dying cells are able to induce an inflammatory response by secreting danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMP). These secreted DAMPs can be recognized by several receptors present on immune and non-immune cells, such as TLRs and integrins. (Kono & Rock, 2008; Rosin & Okusa, 2011; Xiang & Fan, 2010)

Next to the induction and augmentation of the inflammatory response, and direct effect on microbes and damaged cell, another important role of the innate immune cells is phagocytosis. A process in which leukocytes ingest and process microbes, harmful molecules or dead cells. In this way phagocytes neutralize the harmful molecules and process them into peptides for Ag presentation. (Greenberg & Grinstein, 2002) Ag presentation is accomplished by loading the peptides the MHC. There are three types of MHC, namely Class I, class II and class III MHC. MHC I and II molecules play a role in presenting processed Ag on the cell surface, while MHC III molecules have a physiological role, and encode molecules such as members of the complement, cytokines and heat shock proteins. Depending on the manner of internalization of the Ag, peptides are loaded into the different MHC class I or II molecules. Endosomal/lysosomal processed proteins are loaded into class II MHC while cytosolic processed peptides are loaded into class I MHC. (Ackerman & Cresswell, 2004; Bryant, Lennon-Duménil, Fiebiger, Lagaudrière-Gesbert, & Ploegh, 2002) All nucleated cells express Class I MHC, while class II MHC are expressed by specialized Ag presenting cells (APCs) such as DCs, other leukocytes and B-lymphocytes. (Abbas et al., 2014, pp. 107–114; Hennecke & Wiley, 2001) MHC molecules play an important role in the activation of the adaptive immune response.

Despite the fact that natural killer (NK) cells have a lot in common with the cells that comprise the adaptive immune system, they are generally classified as innate immune cells due to their lack of specific receptors. (Vivier, 2006) NKs can directly induce cell death and produce an array of cytokines inducing inflammation and activation of other immune cells. (Kitchens et al., 2006; Vivier et al., 2011) It has been shown by several transplantation studies, in which the settings were to either prevent or provoke a NK immune response, they failed to do so, indicating no direct role of NK cells in solid organ transplantation. (Heidecke et al., 1985; Markus et al., 1991; Zijlstra et al., 1992) Therefore role of NK cells has conventionally been dismissed in solid organ rejection. However, more evidence arises showing that while conventionally being dismissed there might be an important role for NK cells during rejection, for example, they are able to reject hematopoietic cells. NK cells can react to allogeneic class I MHC and NK cells that infiltrate transplanted organs have been shown to attack donor-derived cells in vitro in rat studies. (Petersson et al., 1997) Another mouse study showed that by depleting NK cells the rejection of cardiac transplants was significantly delayed in comparison to wild-type mice. (Maier et al., 2001) Together with several other studies it has been also been suggested that NK cells play a facilitating role in the alloreactive T-cell response, connecting the innate and adaptive immune system. (Kitchens et al., 2006) This suggest that while acting alone NK cells might not be able to induce an allo-immune response, they are involved in the process of organ rejection.

Besides the circulating cells that can recognize, kill and induce the innate immune response, there are soluble recognition and effector molecules such as immunoglobulins (Ig), also known as Abs, and members of the complement system. Even though Abs are the product of humoral immunity and thus are a part of the adaptive immune system, there are a set of circulating Abs, which are present before birth and without previous infection, vaccination or other foreign Ags, called natural Abs. These natural Abs are polyreactive and recognize a wide range of Ags and play an important role in the innate immune defense against pathogens. (Khasbiullina & Bovin, 2015) In organ transplantation the role of natural antibodies lays in the recognition of ABO- and HLA-Ags (Milland & Sandrin, 2006), antibody mediated rejection (AMR) through DSA and complement activation will be discussed in more detail.

#### (4) Adaptive immunity and organ rejection

Adaptive immunity, also known as specific or acquired immunity, provides a highly specific immune response as well as immunological memory. Lymphocytes and their secretion products, such as Abs and cytokines, are the main components of the adaptive immune system. (Hoffmann et al., 1999) The adaptive immune response can be divided into two responses, the cell mediated (T-cell) and humoral (B-cell) immune responses (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Summarizing overview of T and B-cell development and function.

Lymphocyte progenitors both come from the bone marrow, however the development of T-cells continues in the Thymus. After maturation, the lymphocytes migrate to the periphery where they can encounter antigens, followed by activation and the induction of the immune response. Figure taken from Parkin and Cohen. (Parkin & Cohen, 2001) MHC: Major histocompatibility complex; TI: T-cell independent; Th: T helper; CD: Cluster of Differentiation

Several organs are important for the generation of immune cells (primary lymphoid organs) and the activation and differentiation (secondary lymphoid organs). The bone marrow and thymus, the primary lymphoid organs, is where lymphoid progenitors are generated and where B- and T-lymphocytes mature. Lymph nodes, the spleen and mucosal associated-lymphoid tissue, such as the tonsils, are secondary lymphoid organs (SLO) and are specified organs that can efficiently concentrate Ags and facilitate the adaptive immune response. (Drayton, Liao, Mounzer, & Ruddle, 2006)

SLOs are pre-programmed and formed during embryogenesis in a process called organogenesis. The organogenesis of the lymph nodes has been well documented (Mebius, 2003; Wigle et al., 2002; Y. Yang & Oliver, 2014) and seems to be a rigid and well-defined process, however, following an immune response there is a plasticity within these organs inducing a flow of immune cells. (Goeringer & Vidić, 1987; He et al., 2002; Newberry & Lorenz, 2005) The cellular organization of lymphoid cells in SLOs show a similar prominently organized micro-environment of lymphocytes. This will be demonstrated looking at the organization of lymph nodes, within the lymph nodes, distinct regions can be found based on the lymphocyte content. The lymph node can be roughly divided into 3 different regions, macrophage rich regions, B-cell follicles which contain as the name states B-cells and also follicular dendritic cells (FDC), and T-cell zones. The T-cell zones contain sophisticated structures of vessels which constantly replenish the lymphocytes and a selection of APCs from and to the periphery. (Jason G. Cyster, 1999; Y. X. Fu & Chaplin, 1999)

Intricate studies using microscopy technologies have shown the plasticity of resting lymphocytes within the lymph nodes, indicating confined movement of T-cells, B-cells and FDCs within their assigned cellular region. (Bajénoff et al., 2006; Okada et al., 2005; Stoll, Delon, Brotz, & Germain, 2002) Showing that within lymph nodes all is optimized to enhance the possibilities for naïve lymphocytes to encounter Ags and APCs.

The adaptive immune response that occurs during solid organ transplantation is the recognition of donor alloAg, usually the MHC. Two mechanisms for allo-recognition have been proposed, the direct and indirect pathway, two independents but not mutually exclusive processes. The direct pathway follows recognition of intact donor MHC molecules on donor cells, which can be recognized by the recipient's T-cells. The indirect pathway is the representation of processed donor alloAg by the recipient's APCs followed by T-cell activation (Figure 4). (Afzali, Lombardi, & Lechler, 2008) While both processes of Ag representation are not mutually exclusive it seems that the direct pathway plays a more important role in acute rejection, while the indirect is more involved in chronic rejection. (Sayegh & Carpenter, 1996; Vella et al., 1997)



Figure 4: Mechanisms of allorecognition.

Dendritic cells originating from the donor lead to direct allorecognition while the processed alloantigens which are presented by the recipient APCs lead to indirect allorecognition Figure adapted from Abbas et al. (Abbas et al., 2014, p. 363) APC: Antigen Presenting Cell; MHC: Major Histocompatibility Complex

Evidence has arisen that there is a third mechanism of allo-antigen regognition, namely the semi-direct pathway. It is suggested that in this pathway there is a transfer of intact MHC molecules between the donor cells and recipient's APCs as well as presentation of allo-antigens through phagocytosis of necrotic cell material. (Smyth et al., 2006) Acquisition of intact MHCs can be by direct cell-to-cell contact or via release and uptake of exosomes (small vesicles secreted by the cells). (Herrera et al., 2004; Morelli et al., 2004)

Following Ag uptake by APCs, these cells migrate to secondary lymphoid tissue for Ag presentation and activation of recipient's T-lymphocytes, a process is called sensitization. (Larsen, Morris, & Austyn, 1990) Lakkis et al. (Lakkis, Arakelov, Konieczny, & Inoue, 2000) showed that, in the case of cardiac transplantation in mice, migration to lymphoid tissue is necessary for the rejection to occur, since mice lacking secondary lymphoid organs do not show organ rejection. For the activation of naïve T-cells, DCs that encountered and processed Ags migrate to secondary lymphoid tissue where the naïve T-cells reside. T-cell subpopulations are classified based on the Tcell receptor (TCR), their specificity for Ags and their effector function. An extent of the T-cell population can be divided based on their ability to bind Ags presented by either class I MHC and class II MHC. (Carpenter & Bosselut, 2010; Taniuchi, 2016) As well as by the expression of coreceptors cluster of differentiation (CD) 8, which binds class I MHC, and CD4 that binds class II MHC, establishing distinct T-cell populations namely CD8+ effector T-cells and CD4+ T helper cells (Th). (Ellmeier, Sawada, & Littman, 1999; Taniuchi, 2016) Upon Ag recognition and activation by cytokines the naïve T-cells, both CD4+ and CD8+, undergo clonal expansion followed by differentiation leading to the formation of highly specific effector and memory T-cells. (Capece & Kim, 2016; H. Fu, Ward, & Marelli-Berg, 2016; Stein, 2015) The initiation of the immune response leads to infiltration of immune cells in the graft followed by immune mediated organ rejection (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Cell mediated immune response during graft rejection.

The first step is the sensitization step in which DCs move to secondary lymphoid tissue where they bind and activate recipient T-cells through antigen presentation of donor MHC. Following T-cell activation, the effector T-cells migrate to the graft where they induce a local immune response leading to graft rejection. Figure adapted from Abbas et al. (Abbas et al., 2014, p. 366) DC: dendritic cell, HMC: Major histocompatibility complex

As mentioned before there are two main types of T-cells, the CD4+ Th and the CD8+ effector T-cells, which both have different functions during the immune response. As the name hints on the function, Th-cells help by acting as a mediator of effector functions in the killing of infected cells. The Th-cells can interact with effector cells as well as secreting a specific pattern of proteins leading to different immune responses. Where Th1 mainly, but not only, induce a phagocyte dependent inflammation, Th2 induce a strong Ab response, amongst others, and can inhibit phagocytosis creating a phagocyte independent inflammation. (Abbas, Murphy, & Sher, 1996; Mosmann, Cherwinski, Bond, Giedlin, & Coffman, 2005; Romagnani, 1991) Th17 cells are abundant in mucosal areas where they are involved in inflammatory responses through neutrophil and monocyte activation. (Littman & Rudensky, 2010; Weaver, Hatton, Mangan, & Harrington, 2007) A portion of CD4+ derived T-cells, CD25+ regulatory T-cells (Treg) play an important role in immunological tolerance and autoimmunity. (Sakaguchi, 2005) The involvement of Treg in inducing immunological tolerance for transplanted organs has been shown. In transplantation mouse models, it was shown that Tregs stimulated with alloAg against the transplanted organ improved the overall graft survival. (Joffre et al., 2008; P. A. Taylor, Lees, & Blazar, 2002) CD8+ T effector cells differentiate into Ag specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CLT) that act on the infected cell itself leading to its elimination. (Berke, 1995; Shresta, Pham, Thomas, Graubert, & Lev, 1998) One of the main interactions of CLTs lays the binding to FasReceptor (FasR), which is a death receptor (DR) that leads to programmed cell death when engaged, inducing apoptosis of the targeted cells. (Brunner et al., 2003) Another cytotoxic effect induced by CLTs is through the secretion of perforin, creating pores in the target cells, followed by the release of granules (containing for example proteases granzyme A and B) through these pores and inducing cell death. (Trapani & Smyth, 2002) Though CLTs can directly interact and kill infected cells they also secrete cytokines that can recruit activate other effector cells, such as macrophages, and induce an inflammatory response. (Shresta et al., 1998; Harty & Bevan, 1999)

## (II) Humoral immunology

#### (1) Defining antibody mediated rejection

Not only the cell mediated immune response, as described above, plays a role in organ rejection, and as mentioned before part of the adaptive immune response is due to differentiated B-lymphocytes and their secreted Abs. In the interest of this research the role humoral immunology will be discussed in more detail below. The discovery of B-cells was not due to the identification of a cell but more through the identification of a protein, specifically the Ab, leading to the discovery of the Ig producing plasma cell as early as 1948. (Sund et al., 2003)

During the early 1990s the first characterizations of acute AMR (aAMR) in renal transplantation included the infiltration of neutrophils in peritubular capillaries and *de novo* DSA directed against donor MHC class I molecules. (Halloran et al., 1990; Halloran, Schlaut, Solez, & Srinivasa, 1992) Another breakthrough in recognizing anti-donor humoral activity was the identification and the deposit of complement protein (C)4d, a member of the complement pathway, as a predictive marker for aAMR. (Collins et al., 1999; Feucht et al., 1993) Later histological studies on chronically rejected organ transplants linked DSA and C4d as features of chronic AMR (cAMR) as well. (Mauiyyedi et al., 2001; Regele et al., 2002) Figure 6 indicates the proposed stages of humoral graft rejection. The Banff Working Group classification system for renal allograft biopsies has been discriminating between T-cell mediated rejection and humoral rejection. The latest update of the Banff classification of AMR in 2013 necessitates the histological evidence of tissue injury, Ab interaction with vascular endothelium and the evidence of circulating DSA. (Haas, 2014; Racusen, Halloran, & Solez, 2004) The pivotal role of B-cells and Abs post transplantation becomes more and more evident. Apprehention of the underlying process of AMR is ongoing and pivotal in understanding organ rejection and improving long term organ survival.



Figure 6: Proposed stages of antibody-mediated rejection based on time from transplantation to graft loss. The timespan of the several stages of antibody-mediate rejection can be days in case of acute rejection and months or years in the case of chronic rejection. Anti-HLA antibodies can be produced at any time after organ transplantation, while the following successive stages of complement detection, graft injury and eventually graft dysfunction can appear over different timespans. During the accommodation state antibodies are present as well as complement activation, however no graft injury is observed yet, meaning there is no actual organ rejection taking place but the tell-all signs are there. Figure adapted from Colvin and Smith and Norvell et al. (Colvin & Smith, 2005; Norvell, Mandik, & Monroe, 1995) C4d: complement component 4d.

DSA in hyperacute rejected kidneys lead to cyanosis, blue discoloration of the organ due to lack of blood shunting, and necrosis of the transplanted tissue. (Williams et al., 1968) Graft injury caused by aAMR are notably necrosis, cortical infarction, acute glomerulitis, and glomerular and vascular fibrin thrombi. (Magil & Tinckam, 2003; Trpkov et al., 1996) The main injuries to kidney grafts in case of cAMR is transplant glomerulopathy (TG), which is the formation of

multiple layers of the basement membrane of capillary walls in kidney glomerulus and arterial intimal fibrosis, which occurs due to repeated endothelial injury and healing following persistent inflammation (Colvin, 2009; Einecke et al., 2009)

Endothelial graft injury, a capillary injury, and loss of function can be due to several processes which occur when DSA bind to the grafts endothelial cells. Bound DSA recruit several members of the immune system, through binding of the Fc-portion of the Abs, Fc- $\alpha$ , Fc- $\epsilon$ , Fc- $\gamma$  or Fc- $\mu$  depending on the Abs isotype IgA, IgE, IgG or IgM resp, to the complement and the Fc receptors (FcR; Fc $\alpha$ R, Fc $\epsilon$ R, Fc $\gamma$ R and Fc $\mu$ R resp.), which are expressed on effector cells of both the innate and adaptive immune response. (Nimmerjahn & Ravetch, 2007)

In case of organ transplantation, the damaging role of IgG DSA has been highlighted, bound DSA can initiate the complement cascade by forming a complex with C1, through binding to the Fc-y portion of the Ab, which is then activated and cleaved. (Lachmann & Hughes-Jones, 1984) Activated C1 can bind and activate C4 and C2 to form a membrane bound complex C4bC2a. C4 when activated is cleaved to form a soluble C4a and membrane bound C4b. C4b is subsequently cleaved in a membrane bound C4d and soluble C4c, which activates and promotes C3 cleavage into bound CD3b and soluble C3a. The formation of a complement complex around C3b leads to the cleavage of C5 into bound C5b and soluble C5a, which acts as a stimulator of inflammation. C5b initiates a cascade complement reactions leading to the formation of a membrane pore, the membrane attack complex (MAC), followed by direct graft injury of the endothelial graft cells. (Müller-Eberhard, 1988) The underlining role of the complement system following organ transplantation is evident, for example it has been shown that the production of C5b-9 by host macrophages promotes rejection (Z. Qian et al., 1999) and deficiencies in the complement can prolong graft survival (Pratt, Basheer, & Sacks, 2002) When the complement activation stops at C4, preventing the activation of C3 in the graft, there is a delay in graft injury and rejection. (Baldwin, Kasper, Zachary, Wasowska, & Rodriguez, 2004) Next to direct endothelial damage caused by complement activation and MAC formation, the cleavage products of several complement members can induce an inflammatory response through promoting the infiltration of inflammatory cells. (Morgan & Harris, 2015; Ricklin & Lambris, 2013)

For a long time the disposition of C4d in transplanted organs has been the main indicator of AMR, however the emerging role of complement independent mechanisms in AMR have led to further investigation in the role of DSA in the recruitment of immune cells as well. (Sis & Halloran, 2010; Haas, 2014) The binding of DSA to HLA on vascular endothelial cells can lead to direct effects on functional changes within these cells. Several studies have shown activation of signaling pathways that are involved in cell survival and cell proliferation, leading to neointimal

formation and thickening of the vascular graft regions. (Y.-P. Jin et al., 2004; Jindra et al., 2008; Valenzuela & Reed, 2015)



Figure 7: Multifactorial cellular and molecular effects of donor specific antibodies against the graft

When DSA bind to the endothelium of grafted organs several mechanisms can be set in motion; (i) a direct activation of the endothelium leading to direct functional changes in these cells, (ii) activation of the complement by binding of c1 to the Ig Fc region (iii) and binding of FcR expressing cells to the Ig Fc region, inducing their activation and effector functions. (a) Depending on the Ig isotype several different immune effector cells can be recruited to the graft and activated. Once activated these cells either mature and help in antigen uptake and presentation to other immune cells or induce an inflammatory response and cause endothelial damage. Figure adapted from Castro-Dopico and Clatworthy. (Castro-Dopico & Clatworthy, 2016) ADCC: antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity; C: complement; DC: dendritic cell; DSA: donor specific antibody; FcR: Fc receptor; Mac: macrophage; Mono: monocytes; NK: natural killer

The role of DSA mediated HLA signaling in the recruitment of monocytes, such as macrophages and neutrophils, through p-selectin upregulation on the surface of the endothelial cells has been observed as well. (Valenzuela, Mulder, & Reed, 2013; Yamakuchi et al., 2007) Valenzuela et al. (Valenzuela, Hong, et al., 2013) have shown that when P-selectin is selectively blocked there is a reduction in the infiltration of macrophages, as well as other immune cells, within the graft. On the other hand, the bound DSA itself can also recruit immune effector cells through their Fc portion which is recognized by the FcRs on these cells. For example, Fc $\gamma$ R activated macrophages, monocytes and NKs induce phagocytosis and release cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin-1 $\alpha$  (IL-1 $\alpha$ ), IL-6 and neutrophil chemo-attractants. (Morimura

et al., 1990) FcR engagement on DCs can lead to their maturation and promotes their migration, increase antigen uptake efficiency and presentation though the MHC molecules, and the production of inflammatory cytokines. (Menna R. Clatworthy et al., 2014; Regnault et al., 1999) Neutrophil activation through their FcR leads to Ab-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), as well as the production of reactive oxygen species and inflammatory cytokines. (Coxon et al., 2001; Mayadas, Tsokos, & Tsuboi, 2009) FcR crosslinking of NK cells to DSA leads to ADCC and the release of inflammatory cytokines. (Legris et al., 2016; Lin, Plenter, Coulombe, & Gill, 2016)

Taken together all these effects of DSA on the transplanted organ, which are summarized in Figure 7, AMR is a complicated and multifactorial process that needs further attention. Therefore B-cell activation and differentiation leading to the formation of Ab producing plasma cells as well as memory B-cells will be discussed in further detail below.

#### (2) T-cell dependent B-cell activation

The humoral immune response starts with the recognition of Ag by B-cells leading to the differentiation of naïve mature B-cells in memory B-cells (MBC) or Ab producing plasma cells (PC). There are two types of humoral immune responses, the primary and secondary humoral immune response. The primary immune response occurs directly after Ag recognition and leads to activation and differentiation of naïve B-cells and the first production of Abs against the Ag. The late immune response occurs after successive Ag recognition in which MBCs induce a more rapid and specific response as well as a higher Ab titer.

As mentioned before, there are three types of allorecognition, the direct, the indirect and demi-direct pathways. Regarding the direct and indirect pathway it was Conlon et al. (Conlon et al., 2012) who gave definitive proof that the humoral immune response is mediated solely through indirect alloAg recognition. This was shown by transplantation experiments in T-cell deficient mice which where reconstituted with T-cells that either recognize only non-processed alloAg (direct) or processed alloAg (indirect). The mice reconstituted with the indirect-pathway T-cells following a heart transplantation showed alloAb production, while mice reconstituted with the direct-pathway T-cells did not. (Conlon et al., 2012) Therefore the focus will be on the B-cell activation in a T-cell dependent manner.

As previously stated there are SLOs which are specialized in concentrating Ag and inducing the adaptive immune response. Within these SLOs, upon T-cell dependent B-cell activation, transient structures, called germinal centers (GC) are formed. The germinal center reaction can be divided into several stages, one being the initiation step or antigen dependent activation, followed by Th mediated B-cell proliferation, immunoglobulin class switch recombination (CSR) and subsequent fate decision to enter the GC or not. Based on the histological appearance, the GC can

be divided in two distinct microenvironments termed the dark zone (DZ) and light zone (LZ). Next to B-cells, the GC also contains a network of several other immune cells such as T follicular helper cells ( $T_{FH}$ ), FDCs and macrophages. (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2004; C. D. Allen, Okada, & Cyster, 2007; Nieuwenhuis & Opstelten, 1984; Victora et al., 2010) Within the GC the B-cells undergo clonal expansion, somatic hyper mutation (SHM) and affinity selection, possible CSR and recirculation, or differentiation and leaving the germinal center reaction as highly specific long-lived MBCs or Ab producing PCs. This process of T-cell depended B-cell activation is summarized in (Figure 8) and will be discussed in more detail in the following chapters.



Figure 8: Overview of the cellular components and B-lymphocyte fate before, during and after the germinal center reaction.

Within secondary lymphoid structures, upon antigen activation of both naïve B and T-cells, either by direct binding of the antigen or through antigen presentation by antigen presenting cells, activated cells move to the T-cell-B-cell border. With the help of T-cells the B-cell activation will be "completed" and induce B-cell proliferation within the B-cell follicle. Following the first activation and proliferation step, these B-cells will undergo a fate decision and either leave the follicle to differentiate in short lived, low affinity plasma cells and germinal center independent memory B-cells or enter the germinal center reaction. When B-cells enter the germinal center, they expand clonally and undergo receptor mutations (dark zone reaction), followed by affinity selection with the help of follicular dendritic cells as well as T follicular helper cells (light zone reaction). The selected cells can re-enter the germinal center or leave the germinal center as highly specific long-lived memory B-cells and antibody producing plasma cells. Figure adapted from Parker. (Parker, 1993) BCR: B-cell receptor; FDC: follicular dendritic cell MHC: Major histocompatibility complex; T<sub>FH</sub>: follicular T helper cell.

#### (3) B-cell receptor signaling

One of the first steps in the activation of mature B-cells in the periphery is the binding of Ags to the B-cell receptor (BCR), which sets in motion a cascade of signaling pathways directing the fate of the B-cell. Therefore, it is important to understand more about the signaling pathways that are set in motion upon Ag binding. The BCR consists of a membrane bound Ig and depending on the differentiation state of the mature B-cells, either naïve or class switched such as MBCs, they can be of the IgM, IgD, IgG, IgA and IgE isotype. An important step in creating a pool of heterogeneous individual B-lymphocytes is the formation of a diversified BCR, which is composed of an identical pair of Ig heavy chains and Ig light chains. Ig heavy chains and light chains both exist of a constant region and a variable part. The diversity of the BCR is created through receptor gene rearrangement and allelic exclusion of different variable (V), diversity (D) and joining (J) Ig gene segments during B-cell ontogeny. (Brack, Hirama, Lenhard-Schuller, & Tonegawa, 1978) The BCR is associated with Iga (CD79a) and IgB (CD79b) subunits, which contain signaling motifs, termed immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAM). The importance of the association of the BCR with Iga and Igß is observed during B-cell development in which B-cells where the pre-BCR molecules fail to associate with Iga and Igß are arrested in development. (Papavasiliou, Misulovin, Suh, & Nussenzweig, 1995) As well as the fact that the BCRs of naïve B cells, of istype IgM and IgD, do not have any intrinsic signaling capacities and needs Scr tyrosine kinases (e.g. Lyn, Fyn, Blk) for the phosphorylation of the ITAMs. Several Scr kinases are expressed in B-cells however Lyn seems to play a pivotal role in the phosphorylation of the Iga and Igß ITAMs, which has been shown in vitro in B-cells and in vivo in mice deficient for Lyn. (Burkhardt, Brunswick, Bolen, & Mond, 1991; Chan, Lowell, & DeFranco, 1998; J. Wang, Koizumi, & Watanabe, 1996)

The phosphorylation of Ig $\alpha$  and Ig $\beta$  ITAMs initiates a signaling cascade downstream of the BCR, starting by the recruitment spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) which has a high affinity for double phosphorylated ITAMs. This has been shown in SYK deficient B-cells reconstituted with SYK containing mutations in the ITAMs binding site leading to obrogated BCR signaling as compared to reconstitution with wild type SYK, underlining the importance of SYK in BCR signaling. (Kurosaki et al., 1995) The central role of SYK in BCR signaling has been determined both in B-cell development as well as B-cell differentiation. (A. M. Cheng et al., 1995; Cornall, Cheng, Pawson, & Goodnow, 2000; Turner et al., 1995) Bound SYK to Ig $\alpha$  and Ig $\beta$  is then rapidly activated through phosphorylation by Lyn as well as auto-phosphorylation, which is necessary for its kinase activity. (Furlong et al., 1997; Keshvara et al., 1998)

Activation of SYK leads to the formation of a signalosome containing Cbl-interacting protein of 85 kDa (CIN85) and B-cell linker protein (BLNK), which is followed by the recruitment and phosphorylation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK), a non-receptor tyrosine kinase. Like SYK the kinase activity of BTK increases through auto-phosphorylation. (Engels, Wollscheid, & Wienands, 2001; S. Hashimoto et al., 1999; Park et al., 1996). Additional to the activation of SYK, Lyn leads to the recruitment of p85, a subunit of phosphoinositide 3 kinase (PI3K) to CD19 where it complexes with the catalytic p110 subunit and initiates the protein kinase B (AKT) signaling pathway through the formation of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3). (Cambier, Pleiman, & Clark, 1994; Gold et al., 2000; Pleiman, Hertz, & Cambier, 1994) The role of CD19 in AKT signaling has been highlighted in CD19 deficient lymphoma cells as well as in CD19 deficient mice, showing that AKT signaling was greatly reduced (Otero, Omori, & Rickert, 2001) However it was observed that AKT signaling is not impaired in Lyn deficient mice, indicating another mechanism in BCR dependent AKT signaling in a CD19 independent manner. (H.-L. Li, Davis, Whiteman, Birnbaum, & Puré, 1999) It was shown that SYK able to interact with p85, and that p85 can act as an upstream activator of PI3K. (Beitz, Fruman, Kurosaki, Cantley, & Scharenberg, 1999; Moon et al., 2005) It has been shown that BTK recruitment and activation partly relies on PI3K dependent PIP3 formation. It was demonstrated that BTK mutants failing to interact with PIP3 lead to defective BCR responsiveness and that direct interaction with PIP3 was enough to activate BTK. (K. Saito, Scharenberg, & Kinet, 2001; Takata & Kurosaki, 1996)

Following the formation of the BCR signalosome and the distal activation of PI3K an intricate cascade of signaling pathways is set in motion. A central role of Phospholipase C $\gamma$ 2 (PLC $\gamma$ 2), which is recruited and activated through the signalosome, has been elucidated. When B-cells fail to incorporate PLC $\gamma$ 2 in the BCR signaling pathway, impaired calcium influx and distal signaling is attenuated. (Ishiai et al., 1999) Activated PLC $\gamma$ 2 is involved in the cleavage of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) in inositol trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diaglycerol (DAG). IP<sub>3</sub> increases the calcium levels in the cell and elevated calcium levels are needed for the activation of transcription factors such as nuclear factor  $\varkappa$ B (NF- $\varkappa$ B) and nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT). (Dolmetsch, Lewis, Goodnow, & Healy, 1997; Trushin, Pennington, Algeciras-Schimnich, & Paya, 1999) Cleavage product DAG is involved in the activation of protein kinase C (PKC), which is for one involved in the NF- $\varkappa$ B pathway.

It has been shown that mice deficient for PKC $\beta$  failed to regulate the phosphorylation and subsequent activation of inhibitor of  $\varkappa$ B kinase (IKK), which is an inhibitory protein complex of NF- $\varkappa$ B, regulating its activation and nuclear translocation. (Saijo et al., 2002; T. T. Su et al., 2002) IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG/PKC dependent activation of mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK), notably

extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 MAPK, are involved in signal transduction following BCR engagement as well. (A. Hashimoto et al., 1998; Ishiai et al., 1999; Jiang, Craxton, Kurosaki, & Clark, 1998)



Figure 9: Simplified scheme of B-cell receptor signaling upon antigen engagement.

Antigen binding to the BCR leads to the recruitment of Scr kinase Lyn, which leads to the phosphorylation of Ig $\alpha$  and Ig $\beta$  subunits associated with the BCR. Following the phosphorylation of the subunits, SYK is recruited to the BCR and activated, leading to the formation of a signalosome, distal phosphorylation of CD19 by Lyn leads to the recruitment of PI3K. Several signaling pathways, including Ras/Raf, NF- $\kappa$ B, MAPK and AKT, as well as in increase in calcium influx. Activation of these pathways leads to nuclear translocation of transcription factors that in turn promote cell migration, proliferation, differentiation and cell survival. Ag: antigen; BCR; B-cell receptor; CD: cluster of differentiation
Next to the IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG mediated activation of ERK, another transduction signal has been proposed leading to BCR signalosome independent activation of ERK. The phosphorylation of the ITAMs in Ig $\alpha$  and Ig $\beta$  and recruitment of SYK can recruit a complex contacting SH2 domain-containing protein (SHC), Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 (Grb2) and mammalian son of sevenless (mSOS) which activates Ras. (D'Ambrosio, Hippen, & Cambier, 1996; Nagai, Takata, Yamamura, & Kurosaki, 1995) Activation of Ras leads to the recruitment of induces the Raf/MAPK/ERK signaling pathway inducing nuclear transcription. (Alessi et al., 1994; Yan, Roy, Apolloni, Lane, & Hancock, 1998)

As mentioned before, BCR activation leads to distal PI3K activation and the formation of PIP3 that plays a role in the activation of BTK, however PIP3 is also involved in the activation of AKT by promoting its phosphorylation. (Franke et al., 1995) Like PCK, AKT activation influences the degradation of IKK and thus regulates the activation of NF-xB. (Kane, Shapiro, Stokoe, & Weiss, 1999) Activated AKT can also translocate to the nucleus of the cell where it can interact and affect several transcription factors involved in cell growth and proliferation. (K. Du & Montminy, 1998; Kops & Burgering, 2000; Meier, Alessi, Cron, Andjelković, & Hemmings, 1997) The engagement of the BCR and the signaling pathways that are activated upon Ag recognition (Figure 9) leads to cell migration, proliferation, differentiation and cell survival events which will be discussed below

#### (4) Germinal center initiation

Following Ag engagement by the TCR and the BCR, T- and B-cells undergo several chemostatic modifications and changes in expression of chemokine receptors. For example, C-C chemokine receptor type (CCR) 7 is a chemokine receptor that binds T-cell zone chemokines such as C-C motif chemokine ligand (CCL) 19 and CCL21, promoting migration to the T-cell zone. Whereas C-X-C chemokine receptor type (CXCR) 5, which binds B-cell zone chemokine C-X-C motif chemokine ligand (CXCL) 13, promotes migration to the B-cell zone. (Förster et al., 1999; Schaerli et al., 2000; Reif et al., 2002) Regulation of the expression of both CCR7 and CXCR5 by follicular T- and B-cells promotes migration from their respective niches to the T-B-cell border to facilitate their interaction (Figure 10 A)

At the T-B-cell border B-cells form cognate interaction with T-cell by presenting the processed Ag via MHC class II to the TCR. In return, the B-cells receive T-cell-derived activation signals such as cytokines and co-stimulatory interactions necessary for the formation of the GC (Figure 10 B). (D. M. Mills & Cambier, 2003) The CD40-CD40L interaction needed for proper T-cell dependent activation of B-cells, as it has been shown that mice deficient for CD40, expressed on B-cells, fail to form GCs as well as undergo isotype switching. (Kawabe et al., 1994) Reciprocally

the same results were obtained in mice deficient for CD40L, expressed by T-cells. (Xu et al., 1994) It has been observed in thymus less mice as well, who fail to form CGs, which are rescued by adoptively transferred thymocytes before immunization. (Jacobson, Caporale, & Thorbecke, 1974) The B7-CD28/CTLA-4 costimulatory pathway is another way the B-cell and T-cell interact. Members of the CD28 family expressed by the T-cells include CD28, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CLTA-4), inducible T-cell co-stimulator (ICOS) and programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1). Members of the B7 family expressed by the B-cells include, CD80 (B7-1), CD86 (B7-2), ICOS ligand (ICOSL; B7-H2) and PD-ligand 1 (PD-L1; B7-H1). The B7-CD28/CTLA-4 costimulatory pathway is essential for the activation of T-cells and thus indispensable for T-cell help. (Gimmi et al., 1991; June, Ledbetter, Linsley, & Thompson, 1990; Poirier, Blancho, & Vanhove, 2011) Without this co-stimulation pathway, activated B-cells fail to proliferate, undergo CSR, differentiate or form GCs. (Borriello et al., 1997; Coyle et al., 2000; Tafuri et al., 2001)





(A) Upon antigen binding by both the T-cells and B-cells, they migrate towards each other where they can form cognate interactions leading to B-cell activation and proliferation. Followed by either differentiation or entry into the germinal center. (B) Antigen presentation of the B-cell to the T-cell via the MHC and TCR induces B-cell stimulatory signals, such as cytokines and co-stimulation through CD40, leading to the initiation of the germinal center reaction. Figure adapted from Abbas et al. (Abbas et al., 2014, p. 246,248). CD: Cluster of differentiation, MHC: Major histocompatibility complex, TCR: T-cell receptor.

Following the first interaction of the T- and B-lymphocytes, a rapid induction of B-cell proliferation is induced. (Coffey, Alabyev, & Manser, 2009; K. M. Toellner, Gulbranson-Judge, Taylor, Sze, & MacLennan, 1996) It has also been shown that these activated B-cells have undergone CSR during the early onset of the humoral immune response. (K. M. Toellner et al., 1996; K.-M. Toellner et al., 1998; Pape et al., 2003) During CSR, the Ig gene is rearranged in a way that the heavy chain constant regions  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  are interchanged with constant regions  $\gamma$ ,  $\alpha$ , or  $\varepsilon$  to generate different Ig subclasses (IgG, IgA and IgE resp.). The major player during CSR is activation induced cytidine deaminase (AID), which is a ribonucleic acid (RNA)-editing deaminase that is

almost uniquely expressed in activated B-cells, and abrogation of AID obstructs CSR. (Muramatsu et al., 1999, 2000; Revy et al., 2000) AID induces the change of cytosine residues in single stranded DNA to uracil which leads to mismatches and thus mutations in the DNA strand for both the C/G and A/T residues. During CSR, when these mutations occur in the constant region of the Ig gene locus, it leads to double strand breaks followed by joining and generating class switched Igs. (Chaudhuri et al., 2007; Dickerson, Market, Besmer, & Papavasiliou, 2003; Noia & Neuberger, 2007)

Antigen binding and cellular interactions lead to the induction of several molecular factors that are important in the initiation and maintenance of the GC. An important transcriptional factor that is upregulated upon antigen binding is Myc, which is known to be involved in proliferation in many cell types by regulating multiple processes such as cell cycle progression, DNA replication and telomere maintenance (Dang, 2012; Nie et al., 2012) When Myc is abrogated shortly post immunization GCs are not formed. This indicates the importance of Myc in GC formation, in centroblasts however Myc expression is drastically downregulated. (Calado et al., 2012; Dominguez-Sola et al., 2012) Other transcriptional factors that are upregulated during the GC initiation are NF-xB, myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2 (MEF2), interferon-regulatory factor (IRF) 4 and IRF8. It was recently shown that defects in the NF-xB signaling pathway in T-cell dependent activation of B-cells abrogated the formation of GCs. (Jacque et al., 2014) MEF2B, IRF4 and IRF8 are responsible for the regulation of transcriptional repressor B-cell lymphoma 6 (BCL-6), which is a major regulator of GC initiation and maintenance. (C. H. Lee et al., 2006; Ochiai et al., 2013; Ying et al., 2013) BCL-6 is upregulated in GC B-cells, and mice deficient for BCL-6 showed defect in T-cell dependent B-cell activation due to the fact that they failed to form GCs. (Fukuda et al., 1997; Ye et al., 1997) In the initiation of the GC, BCL-6 has been shown to be involved in cell migration into the follicle, as well as promoting T-cell B-cell interactions and T-cell differentiation into T<sub>EH</sub>. (Gatto, Paus, Basten, Mackay, & Brink, 2009; Kitano et al., 2011; Pereira, Kelly, Xu, & Cyster, 2009)

#### (5) Germinal center reaction

The GC reaction is a dynamic Darwinian survival of the fittest situation allowing only generated B-cell clones with the highest affinity for the Ag to survive and differentiate. One of the first models of the GC mechanism, for its organization and function, was proposed in 1994 by MacLennan established by years of research ranging from tissue analysis to *in vitro* studies. The organization of the GC was divided into a DZ and LZ based on the histological appearance of the cells that build up these distinct zones (Figure 11). The GC cells inhabiting the DZ were termed

centroblasts that were characterized by their large size, their mitotic activity and low expression of sIg. These cells were considered to undergo rapid proliferation and SHM within the variable region of the Ig genes to produce a fast variety of B-cell clones. These centroblasts were then proposed to exit the cell cycle, re-express the modified sIg, reduce in size and travel to the LZ, as cells termed centrocytes. Due to the mutations in the Ig gene these centrocytes express BCRs with a wide range in affinity for the Ag and it was proposed that in the LZ these centrocytes compete to bind Ag complexes presented by FDCs. Cells losing the competition die while the winners present Ags to  $T_{FH}$  cells which assist in the proliferation and differentiation of GC cells into MBCs and PCs. (MacLennan, 1994)



#### Figure 11: Histological section of a germinal center.

Hematoxylin and eosin staining of a germinal center reveals a densely packed dark zone and a light zone containing fewer cells. Figure adapted from Abbas et al. (Abbas et al., 2014, p. 250).

This model laid the basis for most of the understanding of the GC however, due to the large numbers of unknowns within the GC reaction it is an ongoing working model to elucidate the events happening within this complex dynamic cellular structure. These events will be discussed in detail below.

The notion that cell division was restricted to the DZ came from histological observations of mitotic figures which were observed in higher frequency in the DZ. (Rademakers, 1992), as well as the observation that H<sup>3</sup>-thymidine incorporation showed that labelled cells appeared first in the DZ. (Hanna, 1964) However several studies have overturned the idea that cell division is restricted to the DZ. Staining GC cells with proliferation marker Ki67 indicated the presence of proliferating cells in both the DZ and the LZ, as well as results obtained with bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) uptake assays in which BrdU was taken up by cells in both the zones. (C. D. C. Allen, Okada, Tang, & Cyster, 2007; Hauser et al., 2007) Indicating that both centroblasts and centrocytes can be in a proliferating state. Nonetheless cell cycle analysis showed that while in both zone there are cells in S phase, meaning entering the cell cycle, cells in the G2/M phase are extremely rare in the LZ and

more abundant in the DZ, indicating that the cell cycle is rarely completed in the LZ. These results were supported by the fact that G2/M cell cycle genes are upregulated in DZ cells. These results could suggest that cells can enter the cell cycle in the LZ, however this might be a trigger for the cells to leave the LZ, either for re-entry in the DZ or a post-GC fate. Supporting the notion that cell proliferation and thus clonal expansion occurs in the DZ. (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2007; Y. J. Liu, Zhang, Lane, Chan, & MacLennan, 1991; Victora et al., 2010) An important step in generating differentiated B-cells with high affinity for the Ag is receptor editing through SHM. It was observed that B-cells present in the follicle and the GC contain the same germline variable region for both the heavy and light chain of the Ig, however in the GC B-cells mutations were found in these gene segments while cells outside of the foci showed none, indicating that the GC is the site of SHM. (Jacob & Kelsoe, 1992; Jacob, Kelsoe, Rajewsky, & Weiss, 1991) As mentioned before an important enzyme for BCR editing is AID, which is an RNA editing deaminase that is involved in CSR, however in the germinal center reaction this enzyme is responsible for the SHM as well. SHM is a consequence of point mutations in the variable region of the Ig gene due to the change from cytosine residue into uracil. (Dickerson et al., 2003; Noia & Neuberger, 2007) It was observed that AID is mainly expressed in the DZ of the GC and found in only a few LZ B-cells (Figure 12), indicating that SHM occurs mainly in the DZ of the GC. (Carlotti et al., 2015; Moldenhauer et al., 2006)



Figure 12: Localization of AID in the Germinal Center

Immunohistochemically staining of germinal centers reveal the localization of AID mainly in the dark zone, while only some cells expressing AID are found in the light zone identified based on the presence of CD23 positive follicular dendritic cells and CD3 positive T-cells. Figure adapted from Cattoretti et al., 2006. AID: activation induced cytidine deaminase, CD: Cluster of differentiation

Following clonal expansion and SHM, centroblasts from the dark zone transition into centrocytes and enter the LZ. In the classical model of GC migration, it was suggested and observed that GC cells moved from the DZ to the LZ, based on the migration of labeled cells, prior to leaving the GC. (Hanna, 1964; Y. J. Liu et al., 1991) However, the likelihood that such a

striking high affinity is accumulated by one-step random mutations is very low. This lead to theoretical modeling, and follow up experimental results which showed that affinity maturation was a stepwise process, suggesting that some of the centrocytes re-entered the DZ for further proliferation and mutation and re-selection in the LZ. (Brown et al., 1992; Kepler & Perelson, 1993; Oprea & Perelson, 1997) This was confirmed by real time imaging, which resulted in the conclusion that the GC cells moved between the DZ and LZ in both directions. (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2007; Hauser et al., 2007; Schwickert et al., 2007) This involved the expression of chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR5 (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2004; C. D. Allen et al., 2007; Nieuwenhuis & Opstelten, 1984; Victora et al., 2010) It was shown by Allen et. al. (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2004) that centroblasts expressed high levels of CXCR4, and that their chemokine ligand CXCL12 was expressed in higher abundancy in the DZ. In immunized mice, deficient for CXCR4, they observed no segregation of the DZ and LZ within the GC. On the other hand, they observed that CXCL13 was abundantly expressed in the LZ and that the expression of CXCR5 was needed to direct the cells towards the LZ. However, defects in either CXCR5 or CXCL13 were not necessary for the segregation of the GC into the DZ and LZ. (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2004) Interestingly the zonal segregation of the GC does not seem to be necessary for the centroblasts to transition into centrocytes, however CXCR4 is necessary for efficient participation in the GC. It was shown that CXCR4 deficient cells do not obtain a much mutations and are outcompeted by their wild type counterparts over time, indicating the importance of the zonal segregation and separation of SHM and affinity selection and maturation, as well as GC re-cycling. (Bannard et al., 2013)

At first the idea arose that GC B-cells are selected solely based on their affinity of the BCR for the Ag. It was believed that the limited availability of Ag lead to competition for Ag binding which results in the survival of only high affinity B-cells. This coincided with the results found in several early studies that showed that a lower dose of Ag lead to greater affinity. (Eisen & Siskind, 1964; Goidl, Paul, Siskind, & Benacerraf, 1968) FDCs are radioresitant cells forming a network in primary follicles and GCs, and they are seen as a histological marker for the LZ. (C. D. C. Allen & Cyster, 2008; Kosco-Vilbois & Scheidegger, 1995) FDCs were believed to be the cells driving in affinity selection of GC B-cells through direct competition, since they can retain intact Ag for a long time. The higher affinity B-cells would sequester all the antigen and the lower affinity B-cell would die due to lack of survival signals. (MacLennan, 1994; Mandel, Phipps, Abbot, & Tew, 1981) However this model fails to explain how differential BCR signaling could lead to either vigorous proliferation or induced cell death. And if the presence of Ag would be enough for selection, autoreactive GC B-cells, which can be formed by random mutations due to SHM, would flourish due to the fact that self-Ag are present in high numbers in the GC. However, under physical

conditions autoreactive cells undergo apoptosis within the GC reaction. (A Davidson, R Shefner, A Livneh, & Diamond, 1987; B Diamond et al., 1992) Therefore the notion of affinity selection by direct Ag binding via FDCs has been challenged and it has been shown that when the Ag presentation of the FDCs is retained, the formation of the GC is not abrogated and GC cells still show signs of affinity maturation. (Chen, Koralov, Gendelman, Carroll, & Kelsoe, 2000; Hannum, Haberman, Anderson, & Shlomchik, 2000; Mitsuru Matsumoto et al., 1996; X. Wu et al., 2000) However in the absence of FDCs GC fail to form. (Mitsuru Matsumoto et al., 1996) Next to the role of antigen presentation by FDCs, they are involved in GC localization of B and T-cells. FDCs produce CXCL13, which as mentioned before directs the migration of GC B-cells to the LZ. (C. D. C. Allen et al., 2004; J. G. Cyster et al., 2000) FDCs are also responsible for the secretion of cytokines such as IL-6 and B-cell activating factor (BAFF), which are involved in the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation. (Kopf, Herren, Wiles, Pepys, & Kosco-Vilbois, 1998; Kosco-Vilbois & Scheidegger, 1995; Y. Wu et al., 2009) These observations indicate that FDCs and direct antigen binding are indispensable in the GC reaction, however not in affinity maturation as previously believed.

Therefore, another hypothesis has arisen in which competition for T-cells help is necessary for the selection of GC mutants with the highest affinity. It was shown that T-cells promote the selection of B-cells in the GC through processed Ag on MHC complexes, the higher the affinity the higher the density of Ag presentation on the B-cell surface and thus a greater share of T-cell help (Figure 13). (Depoil et al., 2005; Victora et al., 2010) The importance of T-cells within the GC reaction was shown by Han et al (Han, Hathcock, et al., 1995) as well, they showed that injecting antibodies blocking the CD40-CD40L interaction abrogates an ongoing GC reaction. A lineage of T-cells, T<sub>FH</sub> cells have been identified within the GC LZ. These cells were identified as CD4<sup>+</sup> Tcells which express chemokine receptor CXCR5, which is involved in the localization of the Tcells in the LZ through a CXCL13 gradient. (Ansel, McHeyzer-Williams, Ngo, McHeyzer-Williams, & Cyster, 1999; Haynes et al., 2007) T<sub>FH</sub> cells have been identified based on their expression of both ICOS and PD-1, which are as mentioned before involved in the B7-CD28/CTLA-4 costimulatory pathway. (Haynes et al., 2007; Hutloff et al., 1999) Interactions between GC B-cells and T<sub>FH</sub> have been shown to be promoted via ICOS-ICOSL binding, and it was observed that this interaction increases the expression of CD40L on T-cells. Upregulation of CD40L on T-cells increases the CD40 stimulation B-cells receive upon T-B-cell interactions. Increased CD40 stimulation in B-cells is followed by the upregulation of ICOSL in the B-cells resulting in a feedforward loop increasing the T-cell help received by higher affinity GC B-cells as compared to their lower affinity counter parts. (Dan Liu et al., 2015)



Figure 13: Antigen presentation and T-cell interaction germinal center B-cells.

A proposed model of antigen presentation and T-cell help in affinity selection of germinal center B-cells. Follicular dendritic cells present in the light zone of the germinal center reaction present antigens to the germinal center B-cells. Depending on the affinity of the B-cell receptor for the antigen the higher the density of antigens presented to the follicular T-cells and thus the greater the T-cell help. Cells that receive the most T-cell help are able to expand and differentiate in effector cells while lower affinity cells die by apoptosis. Figure adapted from Victora and Nussenzweig. (Victora & Nussenzweig, 2012) FDC: Follicular dendritic cell, GC: Germinal center, T<sub>FH</sub>: Follicular T helper cell

Following the selection of GC B-cells with high affinity for the Ag, the cells will differentiate and will be exported from the GC as either MBCs or PCs. Plasma cells will secrete Abs with high affinity for the antigen and thus neutralize the threat while MBCs will be able to rapidly differentiate into PCs upon re-exposure to the Ag generating a pool of highly specific and efficient effector B-cells. Whereas the decision for GC cells to differentiate in PCs has been elucidated, the decision to differentiate into MBCs is still poorly understood. Blimp-1 (a.k.a. PRDM1: PR domain zinc finger protein 1) is seen as the master regulator of PC differentiation. It is expressed in a small subset of GC cells before they are exported, indicating their predisposition to become PCs. (Angelin-Duclos, Cattoretti, Lin, & Calame, 2000; Fooksman et al., 2010) Bone marrow PCs were shown to have an almost uniformly high affinity as compared to GC B-cells and MBCs, indicating a differential selection method for PC and MBC differentiation. (Kenneth G. C. Smith, Light, Nossal, & Tarlinton, 1997) Extensive research has been performed by the group of Brink, in which they look at Ag affinity and B-cell differentiation. They found that B-cell expressing high affinity BCRs are actively selected into PCs. By generating mice that transgenically express a

BCR specific for hen egg lysosome and subsequent challenging these B-cells with Ags of various affinities. They observed that lower affinity Ags lead to accumulation in total SHM in GC B-cells as compared to higher affinity Ag induced GCs, they observed lower levels of secreted Ag specific IgG as well. (Brink, Phan, Paus, & Chan, 2007; Paus et al., 2006; Phan et al., 2006) Indicating that differentiation of GC cells into PCs is directly related to high absolute BCR affinity. As mentioned before Blimp-1 is an indicator for PC differentiation, while the BCR affinity seems to the thriving force in PC selection, T-cell help has been shown to influence Blimp-1 expression via CD40 mediated activation of NF- xB and subsequent induction of IRF4. (Klein et al., 2006; Sciammas et al., 2006) The fact that PCs and MBCs differentiate in two different ways has been highlighted by the fact that PCs seem to have an overall high affinity compared to MBCs. (K. G. C. Smith, Weiss, Rajewsky, Nossal, & Tarlinton, 1994; Kenneth G. C. Smith et al., 1997) On the other hand, disturbing the GC selection process is usually reflected by MBCs while having different effects on PCs. (Good-Jacobson & Shlomchik, 2010) The differentiation of GC cells into MBCs still remains unclear. A current hypothesis is, that MBCs randomly differentiate from GCs simply by being positively selected and surviving apoptosis. This notion is supported by the fact that when GC cells are prevented from entering in apoptosis the number of GC and memory B-cells increase disproportionally while the affinity for the Ag decreases, indicating that MBCs cell fate is directed more through selection and survival then Ag affinity. (K. G. C. Smith et al., 1994; Takahashi et al., 1999; Takahashi, Ohta, & Takemori, 2001)

#### (6) Germinal center independent B-cell differentiation

As mentioned before, a part of the activated B-cells will leave the follicle without entering the GC and they can either differentiate in GC independent MBCs or in extra follicular PCs. Mice deficient for Bcl-6 maintained the possibility to have differentiated MBCs in response to T-cell dependent Ags, indicating the formation of GC independent MBCs. (Toyama et al., 2002). Another study showed that when the onset of the GC is selectively blocked by inhibiting the interaction with ICOS, the recruitment of high affinity MBCs is impaired while low affinity MBCs are generated in a GC independent manner. (Inamine et al., 2005) The influence of T-cell B-cell interactions in the fate decision to become GC independent MBCs has been shown to be dependent of CD40 (Erickson et al., 2002) GC independent MBCs can either express sIgM or isotype switched sIg, however they do not show signs of SHM nor, in some cases, expression of memory marker CD27. (Toyama et al., 2002; Inamine et al., 2005; J. J. Taylor, Pape, & Jenkins, 2012)

Extra follicular PCs, are differentiated low-affinity plasma cells that have a short lifespan. (Sze, Toellner, Vinuesa, Taylor, & MacLennan, 2000) While they have upregulated expression

levels of AID and they underwent isotype switching, there is no evidence of SHM or affinity maturation. (Jacob & Kelsoe, 1992; K.-M. Toellner et al., 2002; Marshall et al., 2011) Recent studies have shown the importance of Ag recognition and binding strength in the decision for the B-cell to differentiate in follicular plasma blasts. In which they showed that in the initial Ag recognition response the cells with higher affinity for the Ag are more likely to become short-lived, low-affinity plasma blast, as where moderate and lower affinity B-cells enter the GC to differentiate in high-affinity selected long lived differentiated B-cells. (Dal Porto, Haberman, Kelsoe, & Shlomchik, 2002; O'Connor et al., 2006; Paus et al., 2006)

The fate decision to enter the GC can be regulated at molecular levels as well, the expression of Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 2 (EBI2), is involved in the follicular localization of B-cells. (Glynne, Ghandour, Rayner, Mack, & Goodnow, 2000; Rosenkilde et al., 2006) B-cells with upregulated expression of EBI2 favor the outer follicular region, while B-cells with downregulated EBI2 favor the inner follicular region. It has been shown that transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 is responsible for the transcriptional regression of EBI2, (Gatto et al., 2009; Pereira et al., 2009)

#### (III) Balancing B-cell survival and death

#### (1) Regulating germinal center B-cell survival

As stated previously, B-cells in the GC undergo a selection process in which their fate is decided, they either re-enter the GC, differentiate or are eliminated by apoptosis, creating a state of homeostasis for B-cells within the GC. Apoptosis is a highly regulated programmed cell death and is an important process for the maintenance of a cellular homeostasis without the induction of an inflammatory response. Apoptosis leads to the extermination and elimination of infected, damaged, self-reactive, non-reactive or redundant cells through phagocytosis. (Aderem & Underhill, 1999; Henson & Hume, 2006; Monks, Smith-Steinhart, Kruk, Fadok, & Henson, 2008)

The default cell fate of GC B-cells is to die of apoptosis. Liu et al (Y.J. Liu et al., 1989) showed that GC B-cells extracted from tonsils and maintained in culture die from apoptosis within hours if they are not activated through the BCR. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that GC B-cells lose the expression of anti-apoptotic protein B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2), which is a member of the Bcl-2 protein family involved in the regulation of apoptosis and which will be discussed in further detail below. The fact that FasR is highly expressed by GC B-cells supports this hypothesis as well. (Yoshino et al., 1994) Master regulator of the GC reaction, Bcl-6, has been identified as a repressor of Bcl-2 gene transcription. (Ci et al., 2009; M. Saito et al., 2009) On the other hand it has been shown in that overexpressing Bcl-2 alters the differentiation of the B-cells in the GC. Overexpression of Bcl-2 leads to the survival of self-reactive B-cells, which would normally be

cleared through apoptosis. Overexpression of Bcl-2 also increases the number of isotype switched GC and memory B-cells, however it deceases the efficiency of affinity selection. (Notidis, Heltemes, & Manser, 2002; K. G. C. Smith et al., 1994)

The survival of GC cell depends on the reception of survival signals, which can induce the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins preventing apoptotic cell death. Vikstrom et al (Vikstrom et al., 2010) showed that myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1; BCL2L3), another Bcl-2 family member, is the main anti-apoptotic regulator of the GC reaction. They confirmed by immunoblotting that Mcl-1 and Bcl-xl were upregulated in GC B-cells, therefore they created conditional Cre-Lox mice models for both Mcl-1 and Bcl-xl. In this model, they observed that while deletion of Bcl-xl did not alter the GC response upon antigen activation (Figure 14A), deletion of Mcl-1 abrogated the formation of both GC B-cells and MBCs (Figure 14 B).



Figure 14: Effect of Bcl-xl and Mcl-1 deletion GC and Memory B-cell formation.

While conditional depletion of Bcl-xl does not alter the formation of GC as well as memory cells upon activation (A), depletion of Mcl-1 abrogates bot GC and memory formation. Figure adapted from Vikstrom et al. (Vikstrom et al., 2010) Bcl-2: B-cell lymphoma-2; Ig: immunoglobulin, GC: germinal center, NP: 4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl

In our group (Clybouw et al., 2011), we showed that another regulator of the GC reaction is Bcl-2 homology (BH)3-only protein p53 up-regulated mediator of apoptosis (Puma). Deletion of Puma *in vitro* prolonged the survival of mitogen activated B-cells, additionally *in vivo* studies showed an accumulation of antigen specific B-cells in Puma deficient mice as compared to wild type mice. In this same study, a co-localization between Mcl-1 and Puma was observed within GCs (Figure 15).



Figure 15: The localization of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members in relation to Puma and germinal center structures found in human lymph nodes.

Anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1 is mainly expressed germinal center cells, where BH3-only activator Puma is located too. Whereas both Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl are mainly expressed by cells around the germinal centers, though Bcl-xl can be found within the germinal center as well. The identified proteins are indicated by the white arrows. Figure adapted from Clybouw et al. (Clybouw et al., 2011)

These studies indicate the importance of the Bcl-2 family in regulating the GC reaction, both in an anti- and pro-apoptotic manner, regulating B-cell survival and death and thus ensuring BCR specificity.

#### (2) The Bcl-2 family

The protein laying the foundation for the Bcl-2 family was, as the name suggest, Bcl-2 and was first identified in human B-cell follicular lymphoma. A chromosomal translocation t(14;18) in this lymphoma caused deregulation in the Bcl-2 gene and inducing its overexpression. (Tsujimoto, Cossman, Jaffe, & Croce, 1985) Following the discovery of Bcl-2, it was shown that when overexpressed in hematopoietic cells apoptosis was prevented leading to an accumulation of lymphocytes in mice models. (McDonnell et al., 1989; Vaux, Cory, & Adams, 1988). Antonsson et al. (Antonsson et al., 1997) found that Bcl-2 is capable to prevent the induction of mitochondrial membrane permeability, known as mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP), and thus prevent the release of mitochondrial proteins, such as cytochrome c, involved in apoptosis. The release of pro-apoptotic proteins following MOMP is a main biochemical event observed during the intrinsic apoptotic pathway, an apoptotic pathway that will be discussed in more detail below. Bcl-2 has been shown to oppose apoptosis downstream of MOMP as well by demonstrating

that Bcl-2 is able to partially inhibit caspase activation, even in the presence of cytochrome c. (Cosulich, Savory, & Clarke, 1999) Shortly after, other family members were identified based on similar function, structural similarities and conserved  $\alpha$ -helical BH domains. The Bcl-2 family members share up to four BH domains, termed BH1-4, of which BH3 is found in almost all family members and is necessary for their interaction. (Youle & Strasser, 2008; Zha et al., 1997) The interactions between the family members determine the integrity of the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM). In mammals, there are around 20 family members identified which can be divided into two groups based on their function during apoptosis, namely pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic (Figure 16).



#### Figure 16: The Bcl-2 family of proteins.

The presence of up to 4 homologous BH domains define the Bcl-2 family members. Functionally these proteins can be subdivided in anti-and pro-apoptotic proteins of which the pro-apoptotic proteins can be further sub-divided into multidomain executioner proteins and BH3-only protein. Figure adapted from Rodriquez et al. (Rodriguez, Rojas-Rivera, & Hetz, 2011) BH3: Bcl-2 homology, TM: Transmembrane.

The anti-apoptotic family members identified up to date are Bcl-2, Bcl-xL (BCL2L1 long isoform), Bcl-w (BCL2L2), Mcl-1 and A1 (BCL2L5; Bfl-1). All anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members share a structural fold forming a hydrophobic pocket that stretches over the BH1-BH3 or BH1-BH4 domains. This conformation is essential for the interaction between the anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. Overexpression of the anti-apoptotic proteins blocks apoptosis by sequestering the pro-apoptotic effector proteins (Certo et al., 2006; E. H. Y. A. Cheng et al., 2001)

The pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members comprise two groups related to their structure and correlated functions, namely the effector proteins and BH-3 only proteins. The effector proteins BCL-2 Associated X protein (Bax) and BCL-2 Antagonist Killer 1 (Bak) are responsible for MOMP and subsequent release pro-apoptotic molecules from the mitochondria. Bax and Bak both share BH1-BH3, and like the anti-apoptotic members, they display structural conformations

necessary for protein-protein interaction. (Moldoveanu et al., 2006; Suzuki, Youle, & Tjandra, 2000) Once activated Bax and Bak undergo conformational changes and are able to oligomerize followed by pore formation in the mitochondrial membrane. (Antonsson, Montessuit, Sanchez, & Martinou, 2001; Griffiths et al., 1999; Nechushtan, Smith, Lamensdorf, Yoon, & Youle, 2001) The BH3 domain of Bax is necessary for protein-protein interactions, either with itself or other family members, as well as for its apoptotic activity. (Simonen, Keller, & Heim, 1997) The BH3 domain of Bak is involved in the interaction with anti-apoptotic family members as well. (Sattler et al., 1997) Both Bax and Bak are necessary for an optimal induction of apoptosis upon stress signals. (Kepp, Rajalingam, Kimmig, & Rudel, 2007)

The second group of pro-apoptotic proteins, the BH3-only proteins is the largest group of Bcl-2 proteins and comprise of e.g. BCL-2 antagonist of cell death (Bad), BH3 interacting-domain death agonist (Bid), BCL-2 interacting killer (Bik), BCL-2 interacting mediator of cell death (Bim), BCL-2 modifying factor (Bmf) Harakiri (Hrk), Noxa, and Puma. In the absence of Bax and Bak the BH3-only proteins alone are unable to induce apoptosis. (Zong, Lindsten, Ross, MacGregor, & Thompson, 2001) BH3-only proteins are sensors of intracellular stress and their role in apoptosis depends on their interaction with specific Bcl-2 family members. The expression of the BH3-only proteins varies depending on the cell type and they can be restrained in different ways. They can either be regulated at transcriptional level, proteins like Bim, Puma, Noxa and Hrk are upregulated following cellular stress, or they can be present in the cell in a non-active state followed by their activation upon post-translational changes. For example, Bad is sequestered by 14-3-3 proteins, while Bid is produced as a large non-active protein which can be activated through cleavage by caspase-8 and granzyme B. (Puthalakath & Strasser, 2002) Phosphorylation of BH3-only proteins, such as Bim, Bad, Bmf and Bik may play a role in their activation state as well, however the mechanism is still poorly understood. For Bim it has been found that phosphorylation at specific serine residues following survival signals leads to its proteasome depended degradation, while phosphorylation following growth factor withdrawal can enhance apoptosis. (Harada, Quearry, Ruiz-Vela, & Korsmeyer, 2004; Putcha et al., 2003)

In a healthy cell, anti-apoptotic family members are able to repress the activity of the proapoptotic effector proteins, and following an apoptotic signal the balance is tipped and apoptosis is induced. This happens predominantly by an increased expression of the pro-apoptotic (mainly BH3-only) and/or inactivation and degradation of the anti-apoptotic members. This tip of the balance leads to the activation of Bax and Bak followed by MOMP.

Interactions between the family members have been extensively researched (Table 1), giving rise to several proposed models of activation of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway.

#### Table 1: Interactions between Bcl-2 family members

Interactions between the Bcl-2 family members that are necessary either to prevent the cell from dying by apoptosis or induce apoptosis upon the signals received by the cell. Table adapted from Shamas-Din, Kale, Leber, & Andrews, 2013

	Anti-apoptotic binds to:		
Anti-	Effector	BH3	BH3
apoptotic	proteins	activators	sensitizers
Al	Bak	Bid, Bim,	Bik, Hrk,
		Puma	Noxa
Bcl-2	Bax	Bid, Bim,	Bad, Bmf
		Puma	
Bcl-w	Bak, Bax	Bid, Bim,	Bad, Bik,
		Puma	Bmf, Hrk
Bcl-xl	Bak, Bax	Bid, Bim,	Bad, Bik,
		Puma	Bmf, Hrk
Mcl-1	Bak	Bid, Bim,	Hrk, Noxa
		Puma	

One model is called the displacement or derepressor model (Figure 17, left), in which the effector proteins Bak and Bax are constitutively expressed by the cell. However, they are rendered inactive trough interactions with anti-apoptotic family members. The activation of Bak and Bax in this model depends on competitive binding of the BH3-only members to the anti-apoptotic family members, leading to the release oligomerization of Bak and Bax. (E. H. Y. A. Cheng et al., 2001; Willis et al., 2005)

A second model proposed is the direct activator model (Figure 17, middle), in which the BH3 only proteins are divided into two groups. One group are called the activators, namely Bid, Bim and Puma, and the rest of the BH3-only proteins are called sensitizers. In this model, the anti-apoptotic proteins sequester the BH3-only activators and prevent them from binding and activating Bax and Bak. Following an apoptotic signal, the sensitizers can bind to the anti-apoptotic family members leading to the release of the activator BH3-only proteins. The activators can then bind and activate the executioners Bax and Bak. (Certo et al., 2006; H. Kim et al., 2006; Letai et al., 2002) Proof for this model came from the fact that the activation of Bax and Bak was impaired in triple knockout cells for BH3-only activators Bid/Bim/Puma. (Ren et al., 2010)

The third model, the unified model (Figure 17, right), depends on the anti-apoptotic proteins that on one hand sequester the direct BH-3 activators (Mode1) and on the other hand sequester Bax and Bak directly (Mode 2). The activation of this model depends on the binding of BH-3 only sensitizers to the anti-apoptotic proteins, followed by the activation of both modes, due to the dual effect of the anti-apoptotic proteins on both the effector and BH3-only activators. Even though both inhibitions of apoptosis take place simultaneously, mode 1 is easier to bypass by BH3-only sensitizers and induce MOMP then mode 2. (Llambi et al., 2011)



**Figure 17: Proposed models of activation of mitochondrial intrinsic apoptotic pathway by the Bcl-2 family.** A graphical summary of proposed models of activation of apoptosis through interactions between Bcl-2 family members. The anti-apoptotic proteins (green) sequester and inhibit either directly the pro-apoptotic effectors (red) or the BH3-only activators (brown). Upon apoptotic signals BH3-only can interact with the anti-apoptotic proteins, leading the release of Bax and Bak directly or they release BH3-only activators that in turn activate Bax and Bak leading to their activation, oligomerization and pore formation in the mitochondrial membranes. Figure adapted from Bender and Martinou. (Bender & Martinou, 2013) Act: activator, sens: sensitizer

#### (3) Induction and execution of apoptosis

The apoptotic pathway consists of initiation pathways and an execution pathway. The initiation pathways lead to the activation of the so-called executioners of apoptosis, namely caspases. The human caspase protein family consists of cysteine proteases that can be divided into 3 groups based on structural similarity and their function. Group I consist of pro-inflammatory caspases -1, -4 and -5. The pro-apoptotic caspases can be divided in two groups: (I) group II, the apoptotic effector caspases, namely caspase-3, -6 and -7, and (II) group III, the initiation caspases-2, -8, -9 and -10. (Julien & Wells, 2017) Under physiological conditions the pro-apoptotic caspases are expressed as inactive procaspases, which are processed into their active from following apoptotic signals. The activation of initiator caspases can activate effector caspases amplifying the apoptotic signaling pathway. The activation of for example caspases-8, -9 and -10 comes from the dimerization of their monomeric procaspases following the recruitment into a protein scaffold and/or proteolytic cleavage. Other caspases, such as caspases-3, -6 and -7, which are constitutive dimers even in their procaspase form, are activated following cleavage by either initiation caspases or auto-proteolysis. (Riedl & Shi, 2004; Salvesen & Ashkenazi, 2011; Stennicke & Salvesen, 2000)

Once the executioners of apoptosis are the activated there is no turning back and the cell will die a programmed cell death. (G. M. Cohen, 1997) Up to date more than 400 substrates have been mentioned in literature to be cleaved by caspases. (Lüthi & Martin, 2007) The events leading to the activation and subsequent apoptotic events related to activated caspases will be discussed below.

The two main apoptotic initiation pathways, leading to the activation of caspase-3, -6 and -7, are the extrinsic pathway, that is activated upon extracellular signals, and the intrinsic pathway, that is activated by signals coming from within the cell. However, a third initiation pathway has been described to be able to induce apoptosis as well, namely the perforin/granzyme pathway.





Graphic representation of the apoptotic pathways, the extrinsic pathway (i) activated upon extracellular signals, the granzyme/perforin pathway (ii) following cytotoxic T-lymphocyte signals and the intrinsic pathway (iii) activated upon signals from within the cells. The pathways lead to the activation of effector caspases 3, 6 and 7. The extrinsic pathway directly activates caspase-8 which in turn activated the effectors and granzyme B interacts directly with the effectors, the intrinsic pathway is dependent on the diminished integrity of the mitochondrial membrane regulated by the Bcl-2 family and the release of cytochrome C and other apoptotic proteins, followed by the formation of the apoptosome involving caspase-9, which activates the effectors. Inter pathway communication leads to increased apoptotic signaling. Figure taken from (Renault & Chipuk, 2013) APAF-1: apoptotic protease activating factor 1 ; CAD: Caspase activated DNase FADD: Fas-associated protein with death domain; IAPs: Inhibitors of apoptosis; MOMP: Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization.

The extrinsic pathway (Figure 18i) is activated upon binding of specific ligands to transmembrane DR present on the cell surface. DR are members of the TNF super family of proteins, of which the best-characterized are FasR (aka APO-1), Tumor necrosis factor receptor 1

(TNFR1), DR3 (aka APO-3), DR4 (aka TRAILR1, APO-2) and DR5 (aka TRAILR2). These receptors have in common a cytoplasmic domain called the death domain (DD), which plays an essential role in signal transduction following the engagement of a ligand to the receptor. (Ashkenazi & Dixit, 1998; Peter & Krammer, 1998; Suliman, Lam, Datta, & Srivastava, 2001) Activation of the DR leads the recruitment of adaptor protein Fas-associated protein with death domain (FADD) directly or with the aid of a second adaptor protein TNFR1 associated DD protein (TRADD). FADD associates with the non-active procaspase-8 and -10 forming the death inducing signaling complex (DISC) leading to the activation and release of initiators caspase-8 and -10. (Kischkel et al., 1995; Sprick et al., 2002)

The perforin/granzyme pathway (Figure 18ii) plays a role in CTL cytotoxicity through the release of granzyme B into the target cell. Granzyme B is a proteasome that can cleave proteins, and it has been shown that granzyme B can induce apoptosis in several ways. For one direct targets of granzyme B are the caspases, notably caspase-10 and caspase-3. On the other hand, Granzyme B induces the activation of caspase activated DNase (CAD), an apoptotic nuclease, through interaction with inhibitor of caspase activated DNase (ICAD). (Talanian et al., 1997; Thomas, Du, Xu, Wang, & Ley, 2000)

The intrinsic pathway, or mitochondrial pathway (Figure 18iii), is activated upon signals coming from within the cell, which implicates non-receptor mediated signals. The intracellular signals that initiates the intrinsic pathway can come from either positive or negative modus operandi. The negative signals can come from the withdrawal of stimulating factors leading to the loss of apoptotic suppression and activation of the intrinsic pathway. (Elmore, 2007) The positive factors can come from stress applied to the cells, e.g. radiation, viral infection, the presence of toxins, and free radicals. These signals trigger the dis-balance between the Bcl-2 family members and initiate, leading to the release of pro-apoptotic proteins into the cytoplasm. The release of proapoptotic Cytochrome c from the mitochondria is the point of no return in the intrinsic pathway, followed by the activation of apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (APAF-1). Pro-caspase-9 is recruited to the Cytochrome c-APAF-1 complex leading to the formation of a complex called the apoptosome and subsequent activation of caspase-9. (Hill, Adrain, Duriez, Creagh, & Martin, 2004; J. Yang et al., 1997) The release of Smac/DIABLO and omi/Htra from the mitochondria promote apoptosis through the inhibition of inhibitors of apoptosis (IAPs) (C. Du, Fang, Li, Li, & Wang, 2000; van Loo et al., 2002) A third group of pro-apoptotic proteins released from the mitochondria are involved in chromatin condensation and nucleotide fragmentation, either in a caspase independent or dependent manner. (Enari et al., 1998; Joza et al., 2001; L. Y. Li, Luo, & Wang, 2001) The apoptotic initiation pathways are intertwined, and the activation of one can induce the

activation of the other to amplify apoptotic signaling. For one, activated caspase-8 can cleave and activate Bid, a member of the Bcl-2 family, and establish intrinsic apoptotic signaling and thus promote cytochrome c release and activation of caspase-3. (H. Li, Zhu, Xu, & Yuan, 1998) It has been shown in some cell types that the activation of the mitochondrial pathway following FasR mediated apoptosis, through the activation of caspase-8 followed by the cleavage of Bid, is necessary to release of cytochrome C and the activation of caspase-9 to induce apoptosis (Scaffidi et al., 1998; Yin et al., 1999) For Granzyme B it has also been shown to establish intrinsic apoptotic signaling by interacting with Bid. (Sutton et al., 2000)



Figure 19: Identification of apoptotic cells based on morphological changes observed by electron microscopy and flow cytometry.

A) comparison of a healthy cell (left pane) to an apoptotic cell (right pane), the apoptotic cell shows condensed chromatin (arrow head) and nuclear fragmentation, as well as blebbing of the membrane and the formation of apoptotic bodies. (B) Flow cytometry can identify apoptotic cells based on the size and granulocity of the cell. Apoptotic cells decrease in size while they become more granular hence the spreading of the dots. (C) Flow cytrometry can identify apoptotic cells membrane, PI uptake, and flip-flop of phosphatidylserine, by binding of AnnexinV, as well. Early apoptotic cells are identified as AnnexinV positive and PI negative while late apoptotic cells are identified as AnnexinV and PI positive. Figure adapted from Krysko, Vanden Berghe, D'Herde, & Vandenabeele, 2008b. PI: propidium iodide

The final results of the induction pathways, is the activation on activator caspases-3, -6 and 7 which induces the execution phase of apoptosis. Caspases, once activated, are able to induce morphological and biochemical changes that have been well documented. Morphologically the cell

will become smaller due to shrinking of the cytoplasm which is followed by bulging, of the cell membrane, also known as blebbing. Given that if the apoptotic cell is not immediately removed through phagocytoses it will be broken down in smaller vesicles, containing cellular components such organelles, called apoptotic bodies that are prone to phagocytoses. (Figure 19) (Kerr, Wyllie, & Currie, 1972; Krysko, Vanden Berghe, D'Herde, & Vandenabeele, 2008)

The blebbing is partly explained by a weakened cytoskeleton, due the fact that many cytoskeletal components can be cleaved by caspases, and the flow of the cytosol against unsupported parts of the plasma membrane. (R. C. Taylor, Cullen, & Martin, 2008) Some intact contracted actin seems to be necessary for the membrane blebbing and contraction of actin filaments depends on the capspase dependend activation of ROCK1. (Coleman et al., 2001; Sebbagh et al., 2001)

Biochemically, during apoptosis the nucleus is affected as observed by condensation of the chromatin, DNA fragmentation, shrinking of the nucleus and finally nuclear defragmentation (caryorrhexie). (Toné et al., 2007) The protein CAD has been found as the main player in DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. It was observed in CAD deficient cells undergoing apoptosis do not show DNA fragmentation as well as chromatin condensation. Non-active CAD is present in the cell in association with ICAD, cleavage of ICAD by caspases leads to its release and active CAD can then translocate to the nucleus to perform its role. (Enari et al., 1998; Napirei et al., 2000; Samejima, Tone, & Earnshaw, 2001) Interestingly mice deficient for CAD leading to the impairment of DNA fragmentation provoked an immune response normally absent during apoptosis, underlining the importance of CAD in efficiently clearing apoptotic cells by phagocytosis. However early chromatin condensation is not blocked in CAD deficient mice, indicating a secondary signal involved in chromatin condensation. (Samejima et al., 2001) It has been suggested that histone phosphorylation plays a role in apoptosis dependent chromatin condensation and indeed a caspase dependent activation for mammalian sterile-20, a kinase responsible for histone phosphorylation, was observed. Mutations in the caspase binding site of this kinase strongly reduced chromatin condensation observed during apoptosis. Next to the effect on nuclear contents, apoptosis leads to caryorrhexie, which is in part, like the cell membrane, due to ROCK1 dependent actin contraction. Besides being responsible for actin contraction, caspases can cleave nuclear lamins wakening the nuclear envelope, causing nuclear fragmentation. (Croft et al., 2005; Rao, Perez, & White, 1996) Caspases are able to target many proteins involved in the regulation of transcription, they able to cleave transcription and translation, shutting down the entire housekeeping of the cell. (Cheung et al., 2003; Lüthi & Martin, 2007; Ura, Masuyama, Graves, & Gotoh, 2001)

Activated caspases are also involved in changes in the outer cell membrane, particularly the flip-flop of phosphatidylserine leading to its expression on the cell surface, causing the apoptotic cell to be recognizable by phagocytes through specific receptors. (Fadok et al., 1992, 2000) Nuclear fragmentation is involved in the recruitment of phagocytes as well, since it has been shown that nucleotides, especially adenosine triphosphate and uridine triphosphate, are potent chemoattractants. (Elliott et al., 2009) It is important for the apoptotic cell to be cleared by phagocytosis, since defects in the clearance of apoptotic cells leads to a stage called late apoptosis (secondary necrosis). During late apoptosis, the cell membrane will become more permeable and release their content to induce an inflammatory response. (Krysko, D'Herde, & Vandenabeele, 2006) The central role of caspases is summarized in Figure 20



Figure 20: Effector pathway of apoptosis, the central role of caspases.

Effector caspases play a central role in the execution of apoptosis, by cleaving many proteins they can regulate their activity. By activating ROCK1, caspases lead to blebbing of the membrane observed for apoptotic cells. They can activate kinases and DNases involved in chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation. Caspases can alter the cells housekeeping by shutting down translational activity as well as organelle fragmentation. Finally, an important role of caspases is in regulating signals to induce phagocytosis and minimize an inflammatory response. Figure taken from (R. C. Taylor et al., 2008) eIFs: eukaryotic translation initiation factors; ER: Endoplasmatic reticulum; MSTI: Mammalian sterile-20 PS: phosphatidylserine

#### (IV) B-cell persistence in organ transplantation

In recent years the development of new therapeutic strategies, based on the use of immunosuppressive drugs, such as calcineurin inhibitors has led to a significant improvement in the prevention and treatment of acute rejection. (D. J. Cohen, 1984; Meier-Kriesche, Schold, Srinivas, & Kaplan, 2004) However, the side effects such as increased cardiovascular risk, diabetes and induced nephrotoxicity related to the treatment have been assigned to calcineurin inhibitors. (Cosio et al., 2005; Palestine et al., 1986; Sander, Lyson, Thomas, & Victor, 1996) Leading to necessity of developing new immunotherapies to prevent acute and chronic organ rejection.

Treatments to reduce (pre-)existing HLA-Ab have been developed, for example plasmapheresis (Bonomini, Vangelista, Frascà, Di Felice, & Liviano D'Arcangelo, 1985; Slatinska, Honsova, Burgelova, Slavcev, & Viklicky, 2009) and high dose of intravenous immunoglobulin (IV-IG) (Jordan, Vo, Tyan, & Toyota, 2006; Waiser et al., 2016) to de-sensitize highly sensitized patients, however with poor efficiency since these methods do not prevent de novo DSA synthesis. As mentioned before DSA are involved in the activation of the complement which play a role in AMR and related graft damage. Promising effects have observed when using complement inhibitors in treating AMR, and the results suggest that that treatment with complement inhibitors might serve in severe early AMR (Orandi et al., 2014; Yelken et al., 2015). However, complement inhibitors do not prevent early AMR in all patients and they do not modulate the B-cell response that causes the AMR. (Bentall et al., 2014; Cornell, Schinstock, Gandhi, Kremers, & Stegall, 2015) Other treatments which are directed against the B-cells themselves in order to block DSA synthesis, such as monoclonal anti-CD20 antibodies and proteasome inhibitors, have been developed. CD20 is a membrane protein expressed on the cell surface of many B-cell populations. The treatment of B-cell malignancies with rituximab have been investigated and it was shown that by blocking CD20 the survival of malignant cells was reduced. This occurred via inhibition of intracellular signaling involving p38, NF-xB, ERK and AKT anti-apoptotic signaling, depending on the type of malignancy, inducing B-cell apoptosis. (Bonavida, 2007; Jazirehi, Gan, Vos, Emmanouilides, & Bonavida, 2003; Shan, Ledbetter, & Press, 2000) In organ transplantation promising results have been observed in increasing graft survival and reducing aAMR. (Faguer et al., 2007; Kaposztas et al., 2009; Mulley et al., 2009) However, CD20 is not expressed on pro-B-cells and notably PCs, leading to rituximab's inadequacy to completely deplete the PC lineage which is responsible for the production of circulating IgG. (M. R. Clatworthy, 2011; Valeriya Zarkhin, Chalasani, & Sarwal, 2010) The effect of rituximab on the levels of DSA has been disputed as well, some studies have shown a reducing effect of rituximab on DSA levels in some particular patients, whereas others did not observe this effect. (Faguer et al., 2007; Fehr et al., 2009; Tanriover et al., 2008; V. Zarkhin

et al., 2008) Another treatment that has emerged in preventing AMR are proteasome inhibitors, which is commonly used in plasma cell disorders. Bortezomib was shown to selectively induce apoptosis in activated PCs. (Diwan et al., 2011) Recent studies have shown promising results with Bortezomib alone or in combination with plasmapheresis, IV-IG, steroids and/or rituximab, increasing graft survival. (Aubert et al., 2014; Kizilbash et al., 2017; Waiser et al., 2016; Woodle, Walsh, Alloway, Girnita, & Brailey, 2011) However Waiser et al. (Waiser et al., 2016) observed increased side effects in patients treated with Bortezomib in combination with plasmapheresis, IV-IG and rituximab.

Nevertheless, the outcome of renal transplantation in cases of aAMR and cAMR is still poor. This is due to the inefficiency of current drugs to completely control the humoral immune response since AMR is a main cause of chronic organ failure, and it is currently responsible for nearly one fourth of total graft losses. (Durrbach, Francois, Beaudreuil, Jacquet, & Charpentier, 2010; Lodhi, Lamb, & Meier-Kriesche, 2011; Loupy, Hill, & Jordan, 2012) It is apparent that these therapies often fail to target and destroy MBCs and/or PCs responsible for both aAMR and cAMR. (Jackson et al., 2015; Leandro, 2013; Perry et al., 2008; Ramos et al., 2007).

It is known that the main source of MBCs and PCs is the GC reaction, however tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) have been identified which show apparent similarity to GCs found in secondary lymphoid organs. Indicating that these TLS are responsible for local lymphoid-neogenesis. TLS generally arise from chronic inflammation, viral infections and cancers (GeurtsvanKessel et al., 2009; Goc et al., 2014; Kratz, Campos-Neto, Hanson, & Ruddle, 1996; Takemura, Klimiuk, Braun, Goronzy, & Weyand, 2001) The development of TLS supporting functional ectopic germinal center reaction has been evidenced within human transplants as identified by infiltrating B-cells, T-cells and follicular dendritic cells following a histological study (Figure 21). (Koenig & Thaunat, 2016; Thaunat et al., 2005) GC B-cell functionalities, such as clonality, high proliferation, and upregulation of GC related genes, have been observed in these infiltrations. (J. Cheng et al., 2011; Kerjaschki et al., 2004; Thaunat et al., 2005) The presence of TLS within rejected organs indicate that local *de novo* synthesis of effector B-cells can occur within the rejected organ.



Figure 21: Histological analysis of chronically rejected kidney graft indicates the presence of tertiary lymphoid structures.

Hematoxylin and eosin staining show the presence of germinal center like structures, indicated by the arrow (A). Using specific markers such as anti-Ki-67, indicating proliferation (C), anti-CD20, a B-cell marker (D), anti-CD23, a dendritic cell marker (E) and anti-CD3, a T-cell marker (F) Thaunat et al. showed the presence of cells found in the classical germinal center, highlighting the presence of tertiary lymphoid structures. Figure adapted Thaunat et al. (Thaunat et al., 2005)

#### (I) Objectives

Due to the high prevalence and difficulty to control B-cell lineages during (c)AMR we for this project we aim to: (1) further characterize the B-cells infiltrating cAMR kidney transplants as B-cells resembling GCs and (2) develop strategies to impair the activation and survival of GC Bcells while further elucidating the pathways activated upon BCR mediated Ag recognition in GC B-cells. Understanding the GC B-cell activation and survival will help us to prevent the differentiation into MBCs and PCs and thus the production anti-HLA antibodies to prevent and/or treat acute and chronic humoral rejection.

#### (I) Article

SYK inhibition induces apoptosis in germinal center-like B-cells by modulating anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1, affecting B-cell activation and antibody production.

Nathalie Roders, Florence Herr, Gorbatchev Ambroise, Olivier Thaunat, Aimé Vazquez and Antoine Durrbach

Renal failure is a major health concern in westernized countries, and renal transplantation is the main therapeutic method in case of end-stage renal failure. This is due to the association with a better quality of life, longer survival time and the cost efficiency compared to dialysis. However, a risk associated with renal transplantation is organ rejection due to alloimmune responses directed against the grafted organs, a process called antibody mediated rejection (AMR). Alloantibodies produced against the graft are associated with a high frequency of organ deterioration and graft loss despite current treatments that are developed with the aim to counteract AMR. However, these therapies frequently fail to control donor-specific antibody (DSA) production and plasma and memory B-cell formation. Which is observed by the fact that AMR is a main cause of chronic organ failure, and it is currently responsible for nearly one fourth of total graft losses.

Alloantigen recognition by the B-cell receptor plays an important role in the initiation of the humoral immune response and B-cell differentiation into Ab producing plasma cells and memory B-cells. Following T-cell dependent B-cell activation and the formation of the germinal center (GC), the B-cells undergo clonal expansion, isotype class switching, somatic hypermutation and affinity maturation and selection. They leave the GC as highly specific long-lived memory Bcells and Ab-producing plasma cells. The persistence of the GC and the selection of high-affinity effector B-cells are regulated through pro- and anti-apoptotic signals induced upon Ag binding and cell-mediated interactions. Myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1), an anti-apoptotic member of the B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family, is essential for maintaining the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation. Persistent inflammation due to an ongoing immune response can lead to the formation of tertiary lymphoid structured that resemble GCs. The development of tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) supporting functional ectopic germinal center reaction has been evidenced within human transplants undergoing chronic AMR (cAMR)

The aim of this research is for one to further characterize the B-cells infiltrating cAMR kidney transplants by using histological sections of kidneys from patients with cAMR. Secondly, we aimed to develop strategies to impair the activation and survival of B-cells while further elucidating the pathways activated B-cell activation. For this we used Burkitt's lymphoma cell line

BL41 as a model for GC centroblasts and aimed to abrogated BCR signaling by inhibiting spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) which acts very early in the signaling chain. We assessed the effect of SYK inhibition on BL41 cell viability by flow cytometry and determined the effect on anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1, member of the B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) protein family, by western blot and real-time quantitative PCR. We aimed to elucidate the signaling pathway involved in the regulation of Mcl-1 and determine the indispensability of Mcl-1 in maintaining cell viability in BL41 cells by retroviral transduction of these cells. We determined the effect of SYK inhibition on primary B-cells, extracted from human tonsils, by looking at cell viability, the expression of Mcl-1 and the activation state determined by CD80 expression. We also aimed to determine the effect of SYK inhibition in antibody secretion using a total IgG ELISA

# SYK inhibition induces apoptosis in germinal center-like B-cells by modulating anti-apoptotic protein McI-1, affecting B-cell activation and antibody production

Nathalie Roders, Florence Herr, Gorbatchev Ambroise,

Olivier Thaunat, Aimé Vazquez and Antoine Durrbach

SYK Inhibition Induces Apoptosis in Germinal Center-like B-cells by Modulating Anti-Apoptotic Protein Mcl-1, Affecting B-cell Activation and Antibody Production

Roders N<sup>1,2,3</sup><sup>^</sup>, Herr F <sup>1,2,3</sup><sup>^</sup>, Amboise G <sup>2,3</sup>, Thaunat O<sup>4</sup>, Poitier, A<sup>2,3</sup>, Vazquez A<sup>2,3+</sup> and Durrbach A<sup>1,2,3+\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>IFRNT, service de Néphrologie Hôpital Bicêtre, Le Kremlin Bicêtre, Paris, France <sup>2</sup>INSERM UMRS-MD 1197, Villejuif, France <sup>3</sup>Université Paris Sud, Orsay, France <sup>4</sup>Université de Lyon, Lyon, France

<sup>^</sup>Co-First author <sup>+</sup>Co-Last author \*Correspondence: Antoine Durrbach a.durrbach@gmail.com

**Keywords:** Antibody Mediated Rejection, Germinal Center B-cells, SYK inhibition, Mcl-1, Apoptosis.

#### ABSTRACT

B-cells play a major role in antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) of solid organ transplants, a major public health concern. During chronic AMR, tertiary lymphoid germinal center (GC)-like structures appear in the rejected organ, leading to the generation of donor-specific plasma and memory B-cells, which are often poorly controlled by current treatments. Myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1), an anti-apoptotic member of the B-cell lymphoma-2 family, is essential for maintaining the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation. We report here the infiltration of B-cells expressing Mcl-1 in the kidney of patients with chronic AMR, as observed for (pre-)GC cells. The impairment of B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling, by inhibition of spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK), reduced viability and Mcl-1 protein levels in a Burkitt's lymphoma cell line. This downregulation is coordinated at the transcriptional level, potentially via signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), as shown by (1) impaired translocation of STAT3 to the nucleus following SYK inhibition, and (2) the lower levels of Mcl-1 transcription upon STAT3 inhibition. In vitro studies with primary tonsillar B-cells confirmed that SYK inhibition decreased cell survival. We also found that SYK

inhibition decreased Mcl-1 protein levels in total as well as GC B-cells and that B-cell activation was inhibited, as determined by CD80 expression. We observed lower levels of IgG secretion in tonsillar B-cells activated in vitro following SYK inhibition. Overall, our data suggest that the SYK-Mcl-1 pathway may provide new opportunities for the treatment and prevention of AMR.

#### INTRODUCTION

B-cells play a major role in acute and chronic antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) and allograft survival. AMR following solid organ transplantation is associated with a high frequency of organ deterioration and graft loss despite treatment. Current treatments include plasmapheresis (Bonomini et al., 1985; Slatinska et al., 2009), high dose intravenous immunoglobulin (IV-IG) (Jordan et al., 2006; Waiser et al., 2016), monoclonal anti-CD20 antibodies (Faguer et al., 2007; Mulley et al., 2009), proteasome inhibitors (Waiser et al., 2016; Kizilbash et al., 2017) and complement inhibitors (Orandi et al., 2014; Yelken et al., 2015), which frequently fail to control AMR, donor-specific antibody (DSA) production and memory B-cell formation. Germinal centers (GC) drive B-cell differentiation into DSA-producing plasma and memory B-cells. (Jacob et al., 1991b) The development of tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) supporting functional ectopic germinal center reaction has been evidenced within human transplants undergoing chronic AMR (cAMR). (Thaunat et al., 2005; Koenig and Thaunat, 2016)

B-cell activation through B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling drives B-cell survival, differentiation, anergy, or apoptosis, depending on co-signals received by the cell. Antigen (Ag)-dependent BCR activation leads to the recruitment and activation of spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK). (Cornall et al., 2000; Tsang et al., 2008) Active SYK induces the formation of a signalosome, containing kinases and adaptor proteins, which sets in motion signaling cascades such as those involving AKT, mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT), and nuclear factor-xB (NFxB), resulting in translational modifications. (Dal Porto et al., 2004) Following T-cell dependent B-cell activation and the formation of the GC, the B-cells undergo clonal expansion, isotype class switching, somatic hypermutation (Berek et al., 1991; Jacob et al., 1991a; Muramatsu et al., 2000), and affinity maturation and selection (Liu et al., 1989; Tarlinton and Smith, 2000; Meyer-Hermann et al., 2006). They leave the GC as highly specific long-lived memory B-cells and antibody (Ab)-producing plasma cells. The persistence of the GC and the selection of high-affinity effector B-cells are regulated through pro- and anti-apoptotic signals induced upon Ag binding and cell-mediated interactions. (Billian et al., 1997; Tarlinton and Smith, 2000; Fischer et al., 2007)

The B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) protein family maintains a delicate balance between cell survival and apoptotic death. Members belonging to this family can be subdivided into three groups: (i) anti-apoptotic proteins, including myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1), Bcl-2 and Bcl-x<sub>s/b</sub>, which play an essential role in cell survival; (ii) pro-apoptotic proteins BAX and BAK, which are required to trigger downstream apoptotic processes, such as the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria, and the subsequent activation of caspases; (iii) the so-called "BH-3-only" proteins, including Puma, Noxa, Bad, Bid and Bim, which interact with the other members of the family to control their activity. (Youle and Strasser, 2008; Shamas-Din et al., 2013; Siddiqui et al., 2015) Vikstrom et al. (Vikstrom et al., 2010) showed that no GCs or memory B-cells form in the absence of Mcl-1, highlighting the importance of Mcl-1 for GC maintenance and B-cell differentiation. In a previous study performed by our team, involving the role of PUMA in regulating mitogenactivated B-cells and memory B-cells, we observed that PUMA and noticeably Mcl-1 are expressed in GCs *in vivo*. (Clybouw et al., 2011)

In this study, we observed B-cells expressing Mcl-1, as reported for (pre-)CG B-cells, infiltrating kidneys displaying cAMR. We investigated the relationship between BCR signaling and the survival and differentiation of B-cells, by inhibiting SYK. Using Burkitt's lymphoma derived cells as a model for GC centroblasts, we showed that SYK inhibition led to the downregulation of Mcl-1 gene expression via signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), and a decrease in cell viability. The synthesis of immunoglobulins was impaired by SYK inhibition in primary B-cells *in vitro*; these cells also displayed lower viability and Mcl-1 protein levels, and weaker B-cell activation following SYK inhibition.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Reagents and Antibodies**

The following reagents were used: BAY61-3606 Merck Millipore), Stattic (Torcis), Q-VD-Oph (Sigma), MG-132 (Calbiochem) and cycloheximide (Sigma).

We used the following primary Abs: hCD19-APD-Cy-7 (SJ25C1; BD Biosciences Cat# 557791 RRID: AB\_396873), hCD38-BV421 (HIT2; BD Biosciences Cat# 562445 RRID:AB\_11153870) hsIgD-Pe-Cy7 (IA6-2; BD Biosciences Cat# 561314 RRID:AB\_10642457), hCD80-BV605 (L307.4; BD Biosciences Cat# 563315), hPhospho-SYK-AF488 (C87C1; Cell hMcl-1-FITC Signaling Technology Cat# 4349) and (Biorbyt Cat# orb15956 RRID:AB\_10747574) for flow cytometry. Anti-Mcl-1 (S-19; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Cat# sc-RRID:AB\_2144105), anti-Bcl-2 (C-2; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Cat# 819 sc-819 RRID:AB\_2144105), anti-Bcl-x<sub>S/L</sub> (S-18; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Cat# sc-819

RRID:AB\_2144105), anti-GAPDH (Sigma-Aldrich Cat# G9545 RRID:AB\_796208) and anti-PARP (Cell Signaling Technology Cat# 9542 also 9542S, 9542L, 9542P RRID:AB\_2160739) antibodies were used for immunoblotting and anti-hCD19 (HIB19; BD Biosciences Cat# 555409 RRID:AB\_395809), anti-hMcl-1 (Sigma-Aldrich Cat# HPA008455 RRID:AB\_1079334) and anti-STAT3 (K-15; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Cat# sc-483 RRID:AB\_632441) Abs were used for immunohistology.

Retroviral particles were generated with the following plasmids: expression plasmid pBabe-Flag-hMcl-1, a gift from Roger Davis (Morel et al., 2009) (Addgene plasmid # 25371), empty vector control plasmid pBabe-puro-IRES-EGFP, a gift from L. Miguel Martins (Addgene plasmid # 14430), envelope-expressing plasmid pCMV-VSV-G, a gift from Bob Weinberg (Addgene plasmid # 8454), and packaging plasmid pCL-Eco (Novus Biologicals).

#### Cell Culture

BL41 Burkitt's lymphoma cells were cultured in complete RMPI medium: RPMI-1640 (Sigma) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Dominique Dutscher), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Sigma).

HEK 293T and CD40 ligand/CD32 ligand-expressing murine fibroblasts were cultured in complete DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (Sigma) supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin and 0.1 mg/ml Normocin<sup>™</sup> (InvivoGen).

Primary cells were isolated from tonsillar tissue removed from patients during tonsillectomy. The tonsils were dissected and pushed through a stainless-steel strainer with a glass grinder. Cells were collected and washed with complete RPMI, then homogenized by passage through a nylon cell strainer with 100 µm pores (BD Bioscience).

Tonsillar cells were cocultured in complete RPMI, with CD40 ligand/CD32 ligand-expressing fibroblasts, in the presence of anti- $\mu$  Abs (Jackson Immunoresearch), LPS (Sigma) and BAY61-3606. Fibroblast growth was blocked by incubation with mitomycin C (10  $\mu$ g/ml, Roche) for thirty minutes at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> before the addition of tonsillar cells.

#### **Retrovirus Production and Cell Transduction**

Retroviruses were generated by the transient co-transfection of HEK 293T with a threeplasmid combination, by the calcium phosphate coprecipitation method, as previously described (Gavrilescu and Van Etten, 2007). Following culture for three days, the retroviral particles were collected and concentrated with 5x PEG IT<sup>TM</sup> viral precipitation solution (System Biosciences).

For retroviral transduction,  $2 \ge 10^6$  BL41 cells were collected and suspended in a suspension of retroviral particles in the presence of polybrene (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). The resulting suspension was then centrifuged at 300 x g for ninety minutes. Cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for two hours, and fresh complete RPMI was then added. Transduced cells were selected by a series of puromycin (1 µg/ml; InvivoGen) treatments.

#### Western Blotting

Whole-cell lysates were prepared in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid), 1% Triton X-100 and 1% Igepal/NP-40), supplemented with Halt<sup>™</sup> Protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific). For phosphorylation analysis, the phosphatase inhibitors β-glycerophosphate (12.5 nM), sodium orthovanadate (10 µM), sodium fluoride (0.1 mM) and N-ethylmaleimide (30 µM) were added before cell lysis. Protein determinations were performed with the micro-BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific). Protein samples (equal mass) were heated for five minutes at 99°C after the addition of Tris-glycine SDS sample buffer (Life Technologies) containing 10% β-mercaptoethanol (Sigma). They were subjected to polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Santa Cruz). The membranes were incubated with primary Abs, and Ab binding was visualized by chemiluminescence with HRP-conjugated secondary Abs (Jackson Immunoresearch), the Immobilon western chemiluminescent HRP substrate (Millipore) and a DDC camera (LAS-4000 mini, Fujifilm).

#### Flow Cytometry

BL41 cell viability was assessed by flow cytometry, with a BD Accuri C6 flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Viability was assessed by expressing the proportion of viable cells (excluding granular and shrunken cells) as a percentage of the total cell population, based on forward and side scattering profiles.

Apoptotic cells were identified with the Pacific Blue Annexin V Apoptosis detection kit and 7-AAD (Biolegend), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were analyzed in a BD LSRFortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

For extracellular staining, cells were incubated with fvs620 (1:1000 dilution; BD Biosciences) in 1 x PBS for fifteen minutes at room temperature. Non-specific binding was blocked with human BD FC block ( $2.5 \mu g/1 \times 10^6$  cells; BD Biosciences) in 1 x PBS supplemented with 2.5% FCS and 0.1% sodium azide, and cells were then incubated with fluorescent Abs. Intracellular staining for Abs against non-phosphorylated proteins was performed as follows: cells were fixed
in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA, Alfa Aesar), then quenched with  $NH_4Cl$  (100 mM), permeabilized with 0.15% saponin (VWR), and incubated with conjugated Abs in the presence of saponin.

For intracellular staining for phosphorylation analysis, saponin was replaced with 0.1% Triton X-100 (Sigma) and additional 50% methanol on ice for permeabilization. Cells were then incubated with fluorochrome-conjugated Abs and analyzed on a BD LSRFortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). All flow cytometry data were analyzed with FlowJo<sup>tm</sup> (FlowJo Treestar, RRID:SCR\_008520).

#### Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay

Total Immunoglobulin G (IgG) secretion by tonsillar B-cells was assessed with the Human IgG Total ELISA Ready-SET-Go!<sup>®</sup> kit (Affymetrix, eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's protocol, with undiluted supernatant. Absorbance was read at 450 nm and 570 nm, with the FLUOstar Omega microplate reader (BMG Labtech). Secreted IgG was quantified with a linear regression line fitted to the standard curve.

#### Immunofluorescence

Paraffin was removed from paraffin-embedded sections by three sequential washes in xylene (Sigma). The sections were then rehydrated by passage through a series of ethanol solutions in water (100%, 90% and 70% ethanol in distilled water). Ags were retrieved by boiling samples twice, for five minutes each, in citrate buffer (pH 6) supplemented with 0.05% Tween-20 (Sigma) in a microwave oven and allowing the sample to cool to room temperature. Non-specific binding to FC receptors was blocked by incubating slides for one hour at room temperature in blocking buffer (1 x PBS, 1% FBS, 1% BSA, 1% human AB serum) supplemented with 0.1% Triton X-100, and then incubating them with primary Abs followed by AF488- or AF594-conjugated secondary Abs (Life Technologies).

BL41 cells were attached to poly-L-lysine slides (Thermo Scientific), fixed in 4% PFA and permeabilized with 0.15% Triton X-100. Samples were blocked with 10% FBS in 1 x PBS, incubated with primary Abs and then with AF488-conjugated secondary Abs (Life Technologies).

Nuclei were stained with DAPI (4,6 diamidino-2-phenylindole, 1:10,000; Life Technologies) and the sections were mounted on slides in Fluoromount-G<sup>™</sup> slide mounting medium (Beckman Coulter) and covered with a coverslip.

Images were acquired with a Leica SP5 confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems) equipped with an x63 oil immersion fluorescence objective.

#### **Gene Expression Analysis**

RNA was extracted from BL41 cells with the RNeasy plus mini kit (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's protocol, including lysate homogenization with QIAshredder spin columns (Qiagen). cDNA was then generated from 1 µg of RNA, with the RevertAid H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific), according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Real-time quantitative PCR was carried out with cDNA diluted 1:10, primers (0.75 µM final concentration) and the QuantiNova SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen). The following primers were (forward (fw) 5'-ATGCTTCGGAAAACTGGACAT-3'; reverse used: Mcl-1 5'- $(\mathbf{rv})$ TCCTGATGCCACCTTCTAGG-3') as target gene 5'the and GAPDH (fw AATCCCATCACCATCTTCCA-3'; rv 5'-TGGACTCCACGACGTACTCA-3'), 18s (fw 5'-AGAAACGGCTACCACATCCA-3'; rv: 5'-CACCAGACTTGCCCTCCA-'3) and RPS13 (5'-CGAAAGCATCTTGAGAGGAACA-3'; 5'-TCGAGCCAAACGGTGAATC-3') rv: as housekeeping (HK) genes (Sigma). PCR was performed with the Mx3005P qPCR System (Agilent Technologies)

PCR efficiency was determined with 10-fold dilutions, according to the following equation: efficiency  $(E) = 10^{(-1/slope)}$ . Cq values were determined with the following equation:  $Cq = Ct \times log_2(E)$ . The Mcl-1 expression ratio was determined as follows:  $Ratio = ((2)^{\Delta Cq \ Mcl-1})/((2)^{\Delta Cq \ HK})$ , where  $\Delta Cq = Cq_{untreated} - Cq_{treated}$ .

#### **Statistical Analysis**

We analyzed the data for BL41 cells with multiple *t*-tests, corrected for multiple comparisons according to the Holm-Sidak method, in Prism (Graphpad Prism, RRID:SCR\_002798). Data for tonsillar B-cells were analyzed with paired *t*-test/within-subject analysis, in InVivoStat

### RESULTS

# Infiltrating B-cells Expressing Mcl-1 are Observed in Kidney Grafts Displaying Chronic Antibody-mediated Rejection

The importance of Mcl-1 in GC maintenance and B-cell differentiation has been shown. (Vikstrom et al., 2010) By analyzing non-stimulated tonsillar B-cells by flow cytometry, according to the mature B-cell (BM)1-BM5 classification, we determined Mcl-1 expression profiles of different B-cell populations. (Pascual et al., 1994) Looking at the expression of surface IgD (sIgD) and CD38. sIgD<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-/low</sup> cells are naïve B-cells that are undifferentiated or in the early stages of differentiation (BM1-BM2), sIgD<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>high</sup> cells are pre-GC cells (BM2'), sIgD<sup>-</sup>CD38<sup>high</sup> cells are

GC cells (BM3+BM4), and sIgD<sup>-</sup>CD38<sup>-/low</sup> cells are terminally differentiated B-cells (early BM5-BM5). We determined the population distribution of tonsillar B-cells and our findings confirm that Mcl-1 levels are high in the early GC and GC populations (Figure 1A).

Infiltrating B-cells were detected in cAMR kidney grafts, by the staining for CD19 of histological sections of kidneys from patients with cAMR. Counterstaining for Mcl-1 revealed that this protein was colocalized with CD19. Histological sections of non-rejected human kidneys were stained in the same way, and no infiltrating B-cells were observed on sections of these kidneys; however, Mcl-1 is not exclusive to B-cells and was observed in tubular structures (Figure 1B).

These results indicate that cAMR is associated with an infiltration of the kidney graft by Mcl-1-expressing B-cells

### Inhibiting SYK Activity Decreases Viability and Mcl-1 Protein Levels in Germinal Centerlike Cells

We then investigated ways of disrupting GC B-cell responses. As SYK plays a key role downstream from the BCR, we treated BL41 cells, a Burkitt's lymphoma cell line serving as a model of GC centroblasts (Küppers et al., 1999), with the SYK inhibitor BAY61-3606 (Yamamoto et al., 2003), to inhibit BCR signaling. We assessed the effect of SYK inhibition on cell viability. Shrinkage and blebbing are two characteristic features of apoptotic cells (Krysko et al., 2008), we therefore identified dead cells on the basis of their small size and high granularity. Cell viability was weakened in a dose dependent manner following BAY61-3606 treatment, being reduced by 70% in the presence of 5µM BAY61-3606 (Figure 2A). We confirmed that BAY61-3606 reduced the level of SYK phosphorylation, at TYR525/526 in the activation loop of the kinase (Tsang et al., 2008), in non-stimulated BL41 cells (Figure 2B).

We then analyzed the expression of the anti-apoptotic proteins Mcl-1, Bcl-2 and Bcl-xs/l. SYK inhibition resulted in lower levels of Mcl-1 protein, whereas the levels of the Bcl-2 and Bcl-xs/l proteins remained stable. Mcl-1 may be either cleaved by activated caspases (Michels et al., 2004) or degraded by the proteasome (Nencioni et al., 2005). We assessed the possible caspase-dependent degradation of Mcl-1, by treating cells with caspase inhibitor Q-VD-Oph and BAY61-3606. It resulted in only a partial rescue of Mcl-1 levels while successfully inhibiting caspase activation and the induction of cell death, as shown by FACS analysis and the cleavage pattern of PARP, a known substrate of caspase-3 (Figure 2C).

The inhibition of proteasome activity with MG132 led to an increase in Mcl-1 protein levels in control cells, however Mcl-1 levels remained similar in cells treated with BAY61-3606 and

MG132 as compared to those in control cells (Figure 2D). This suggests that SYK inhibition does not modify the rate of Mcl-1 protein degradation.

# SYK Inhibition Modulates Mcl-1 Gene Expression and Alters the Cellular Distribution of STAT3

Since SYK inhibition did not accelerate Mcl-1 protein degradation, we hypothesized that the reduced-level of Mcl-1 protein observed in BL41 cells exposed to BAY61-3606 could be the result of reduced de novo protein synthesis. To test this theory, we assessed Mcl-1 mRNA levels by RT-qPCR. BAY61-3606 treatment substantially decreased Mcl-1 gene expression in BL41 cells up to four hours after treatment. The short turnover of Mcl-1 protein was confirmed by blocking protein synthesis with cycloheximide, which led to lower Mcl-1 protein levels after two hours, supporting the hypothesis that SYK inhibition affects de novo protein synthesis. (Figure 3A).

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) has been identified as a major regulator of Mcl-1 gene transcription. (Bhattacharya et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2010) Immunohistological analysis showed STAT3 to be expressed in the nucleus of BL41 cells under basal conditions, where it can mediate Mcl-1 gene transcription. BAY61-3606 inhibits the translocation of STAT3 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus (Figure 3B), suggesting a role for STAT3 in the regulation of Mcl-1 gene expression by BCR signaling. Incubation with STAT3 inhibitor Stattic showed cell viability had decreased by 70% associated with decreased Mcl-1 protein expression. Inhibition of caspases by Q-VD-Oph rescued the cells from cell death induced by Stattic, whereas the protein levels of Mcl-1 were only partially rescued, suggesting that STAT3 inhibition does not result in caspase dependent cleavage of Mcl-1 as observed with BAY61-3606. The lack of PARP cleavage confirmed the effectiveness of Q-VD-Oph as shown in Figure 2C. We assessed Mcl-1 gene expression by RT-qPCR. We found that four hours of treatment with Stattic decreased the level of Mcl-1 gene expression (Figure 3B). Taken together, these results indicate that STAT3 is involved in regulating Mcl-1 gene expression in BL41 cells.

#### Overexpression of the Mcl-1 gene Counteracts the Inhibition of Both SYK and STAT3

We investigated whether overexpression of Mcl-1 could rescue BL41 cells from apoptotic cell death. Cells were transduced with retroviral particles containing (or not, control) a Mcl-1 construct. As expected the overexpression of Mcl-1, induced by retroviral particles, was not influenced neither by BAY61-3606 nor Stattic in transduced BL41 cells. (Figure 4A). The same effect was observed for gene expression levels of Mcl-1 (Figure 4B). The effect of BAY61-3606 and Stattic on apoptosis was then assessed on both types of BL41 cells using a flow cytometry

assay based on the extracellular expression of phosphatidylserine and the uptake of 7-AAD. The proportion of apoptotic cells increased for cells transduced with the empty vector, whereas no such increase upon SYK or STAT3 inhibition was observed in cells overexpressing Mcl-1 (Figure 4C). We conclude that the downregulation of Mcl-1 in BL41 cells following SYK inhibition is necessary to induce apoptotic cell death.

### SYK Inhibition in Tonsillar B-cells Decreases Viability, Activation and Mcl-1 Expression Resulting in Lower Levels of Immunoglobulin Secretion

We then sought to confirm the general effect of SYK inhibition on primary B-cells activated *in vitro*. Analysis of SYK phosphorylation revealed that BAY61-3606 reduced the phosphorylation state of SYK in activated B-cells. (Figure 5A).

After three days in culture, Tonsilar B-cells (CD19+) were analyzed by flow cytometry. Activated B-cells with impaired BCR signaling had a viability 60% lower than that of control cells. (Figure 5B).

Lower B-cell viability was associated with a decrease in Mcl-1 protein as well as reduced Bcell activation as determined by CD80 expression. This effect was observed in total B-cells as well as in the pre-GC and GC (BM2' and BM3+BM4) populations determined by the BM1-BM5 classification. (Figure 5C)

We then investigated the effects of SYK inhibition on immunoglobulin (Ig) production, by assessing IgG secretion after three days in culture. Activated cells secreted about 150 ng of IgG per ml, whereas less IgG was secreted by activated cells treated with BAY61-3606 (Figure 5D).

These results suggest that SYK inhibition reduces cell viability associated with lower Mcl-1 protein levels as well as impaired B-cell activation and IgG secretion.

#### DISUCUSSION

The GC reaction is important for the generation of effector B-cells with a high Ag affinity. During the GC reaction, apoptosis is required to eliminate B-cells with low Ag affinity and self-reactive B-cells. (Liu et al., 1989; Han et al., 1995; Shokat and Goodnow, 1995) Conversely, the positive selection of high-Ag affinity GC B-cells and the promotion of their survival are essential for the generation of effector B-cells. (Liu et al., 1989; Tarlinton and Smith, 2000) The role of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, including Bcl-2, Mcl-1 and Bcl-xl, during the GC reaction has been investigated. Yoshino et al. (Yoshino et al., 1994) observed that resting and mantle-zone B-cells expressed Bcl-2, whereas GC B-cells did not. This finding was confirmed by the identification of Bcl-6 as a repressor of Bcl-2 transcription. (Ci et al., 2009; Saito et al., 2009) We confirmed in a

previous study by in situ staining of human lymphocytes, that GC cells do not express Bcl-2, whereas Mcl-1 is co-expressed with PUMA and Bcl-xl in these cells. (Clybouw et al., 2011) There is growing evidence to suggest that Mcl-1 is a key player in the survival of activated B-cells. Vikstrom et al. (Vikstrom et al., 2010) showed, with a conditional Mcl-1 knockout model in mice, that the absence of Mcl-1 resulted in defective GC and memory cell formation and impaired Ig secretion. In the same study, no effect on the GC reaction of memory B-cell formation was observed in Bcl-xl knockout mice. We confirm here that Mcl-1 is strongly expressed in the BM3+BM4 population of tonsillar B-cells, corresponding to GC B-cells (Pascual et al., 1994).

A recent study demonstrated that GCs may develop outside secondary lymphoid organs and form TLS which generate effector and memory B-cells; such TLS have been reported in cases of persistent inflammation. (Kratz et al., 1996; Takemura et al., 2001) Thaunat et al. (Thaunat et al., 2005) detected TLS in the kidney allografts in case of cAMR, with the identification of infiltrating B-cells, T-cells and follicular dendritic cells. GC B-cell characteristics, such as clonality, high proliferation, and the upregulation of GC related genes, have been observed in these infiltrations. (Kerjaschki et al., 2004; Thaunat et al., 2005; Thaunat et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2011) We found that the B-cells infiltrating cAMR kidney expressed Mcl-1, consistent with the notion that the B-cells infiltrating grafted organs are part of TLS and play a role in an ongoing local immune response and effector B-cell production. Despite various immunosuppressive treatments have been developed to prevent and treat acute cellular rejection, these treatments are clearly ineffective at controlling cAMR, which remains a leading cause of chronic organ failure. (Durrbach et al., 2010; Lodhi et al., 2011; Loupy et al., 2012) Therefore there is an urgent need to develop new treatments that effectively alter GC-like cell viability and differentiation to reduce the prevalence of cAMR.

BCR signaling during B-cell development leads to the elimination of self-reactive B-cells by programmed cell death (Yurasov and Nussenzweig, 2007; Yarkoni et al., 2010), whereas, later in the GC reaction, Ag affinity-linked BCR engagement leads to the apoptosis of cells with a low Ag affinity and the differentiation of cells with a high Ag affinity into B-effector cells (Liu et al., 1989; Tarlinton and Smith, 2000; Meyer-Hermann et al., 2006) SYK acts very early in the signaling chain, and is therefore an attractive candidate regulator of BCR signaling. In this study, we aimed to impair BCR signaling, by inhibiting the kinase activity of SYK, to decrease GC B-cell viability. In the BL41 GC centroblast cell line, inhibition of the constitutively active SYK kinase resulted in a downregulation of Mcl-1 and decreased cell viability. We show that preventing Mcl-1 protein degradation in experiments with caspase or proteasome inhibitors only partially rescues Mcl-1

protein levels, and we confirmed by qPCR that Mcl-1 downregulation was controlled at the transcriptional level.

Akgul et al. (Akgul et al., 2000) identified several binding sites for transcription factors, including STAT3, within the promotor region of the Mcl-1 gene. The role of STAT3 in the GC response remains unclear, but this transcription factor has been shown to influence the T-celldependent IgG response, and STAT3 deficiencies impair the generation of human memory B-cells. (Fornek et al., 2006; Avery et al., 2010) Ding et al. (Ding et al., 2016) recently showed, with a STAT3 knockout mouse model, that STAT3 is dispensable for GC initiation but essential for maintenance of the GC reaction. The number of apoptotic GC B-cells was higher in immunized STAT3 knockout mice than in normal mice, and this higher level of apoptosis was associated with lower levels of Mcl-1 gene expression. (Ding et al., 2016) STAT3 has already been reported to be involved in Mcl-1 regulation, but most of these observations were based on experiments in which the JAK/STAT pathway was activated by cytokine- and growth factor-induced signaling. (Puthier et al., 1999; Epling-Burnette et al., 2001; Mott et al., 2007) We show here, in BL41 cells, that SYK inhibition leads to impaired translocation of STAT3 to the nucleus, preventing its binding to the promoter of Mcl-1, whereas this transcription factor remains constitutively nuclear in the absence of treatment. STAT3 inhibition mimicked the effects of SYK inhibition in terms of Mcl-1 expression and cell death. We show here that BCR signaling is associated with the STAT3modulated regulation of Mcl-1 protein levels. The BCR-mediated modulation of STAT3 levels is supported by data from studies reporting a JAK-independent link between BCR signaling and STAT3. (Wang et al., 2006; Uckun et al., 2010) We also show that overexpression of Mcl-1 prevents cells from entering apoptosis in the presence of both SYK and STAT3 inhibitors. These results suggest that the downregulation of Mcl-1 is necessary to induce apoptosis., confirming the key role of Mcl-1 in maintaining the GC reaction, as reported in previous studies. (Vikstrom et al., 2010; Clybouw et al., 2011; Vikstrom et al., 2016)

The damaging role of DSAs produced following organ transplantation has been studied in detail. Preexisting and *de novo* IgG DSAs are associated with acute and chronic solid graft injury (Lee et al., 2002; Loupy et al., 2012; Kaneku et al., 2013), whereas DSAs of the IgM and IgA types have no such effects on their own (Arnold et al., 2013; Everly et al., 2014). We show here that SYK inhibition in activated B-cells reduces cell viability *in vitro*. Our results are in agreement with the findings of Flynn et al. (Flynn et al., 2015), they observed that PBMC extracted B-cells from patients with active graft versus host disease were more susceptible to apoptotic cell death as compared to B-cells extracted from patients with inactive or no graft versus host disease. We observed that, in BL41 cells this lower viability is associated with the downregulation of Mcl-1, which we confirmed

by experiments with primary tonsillar B-cells. We also show that the SYK inhibition is associated with a state of lower activation, as shown by the level of CD80 expression. SYK inhibition thus affects the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation as well as antibody production as shown in primary cells activated *in vitro*, where BAY61-3606 completely inhibits total IgG secretion. These results also suggest that SYK inhibition influences the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation.

In conclusion, our data show that SYK inhibition affects BCR signaling-mediated cell survival through the downregulation of Mcl-1 gene transcription. We demonstrate that SYK inhibition impairs B-cell responses by altering B-cell reactivity to Ags and decreasing Ab production. These results suggest that, in case of cAMR, SYK could be targeted in new therapeutic tools for improving graft survival by manipulating the humoral immune response.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AD, AV and NR designed the researched study; NR, FH, GA and AP performed experiments; FH and GA had input into the study design; OT contributed to obtaining the histological slides of cAMR kidney samples; NR prepared the manuscript and the other authors commented on the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from DIM Biothérapie and vaincre le cancer-NRB.

#### ACKNOWLEGDMENT

Catherine Nowak for providing tonsils

#### REFERENCES

Akgul, C., Turner, P.C., White, M.R.H., and Edwards, S.W. (2000). Functional analysis of the human MCL-1 gene. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS* 57(4), 684-691. doi: 10.1007/PL00000728.

Arnold, M.L., Heinemann, F.M., Horn, P., Ziemann, M., Lachmann, N., Mühlbacher, A., et al. (2013). 16th IHIW: Anti-HLA alloantibodies of the of IgA isotype in re-transplant candidates. *International Journal of Immunogenetics* 40(1), 17-20. doi: 10.1111/iji.12032.

Avery, D.T., Deenick, E.K., Ma, C.S., Suryani, S., Simpson, N., Chew, G.Y., et al. (2010). B cell–intrinsic signaling through IL-21 receptor and STAT3 is required for establishing long-lived antibody responses in humans. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 207(1), 155-171. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091706.

Berek, C., Berger, A., and Apel, M. (1991). Maturation of the immune response in germinal centers. *Cell* 67(6), 1121-1129. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90289-B.

Bhattacharya, S., Ray, Ramesh M., and Johnson, Leonard R. (2005). STAT3-mediated transcription of Bcl-2, Mcl-1 and c-IAP2 prevents apoptosis in polyamine-depleted cells. *Biochemical Journal* 392(2), 335-344. doi: 10.1042/BJ20050465.

Billian, G., Mondière, P., Berard, M., Bella, C., and Defrance, T. (1997). Antigen receptorinduced apoptosis of human germinal center B cells is targeted to a centrocytic subset. *European Journal of Immunology* 27(2), 405-414. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830270210.

Bonomini, V., Vangelista, A., Frascà, G.M., Di Felice, A., and Liviano D'Arcangelo, G. (1985). Effects of plasmapheresis in renal transplant rejection. A controlled study. *Transactions - American Society for Artificial Internal Organs* 31, 698-703.

Cheng, J., Torkamani, A., Grover, R.K., Jones, T.M., Ruiz, D.I., Schork, N.J., et al. (2011). Ectopic B-cell clusters that infiltrate transplanted human kidneys are clonal. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108(14), 5560-5565. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1101148108.

Ci, W., Polo, J.M., Cerchietti, L., Shaknovich, R., Wang, L., Yang, S.N., et al. (2009). The BCL6 transcriptional program features repression of multiple oncogenes in primary B cells and is deregulated in DLBCL. *Blood* 113(22), 5536-5548. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-193037.

Clybouw, C., Fischer, S., Auffredou, M.T., Hugues, P., Alexia, C., Bouillet, P., et al. (2011). Regulation of memory B-cell survival by the BH3-only protein Puma. *Blood* 118(15), 4120-4128. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-347096.

Cornall, R.J., Cheng, A.M., Pawson, T., and Goodnow, C.C. (2000). Role of Syk in B-cell development and antigen-receptor signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 97(4), 1713-1718. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.4.1713.

Dal Porto, J.M., Gauld, S.B., Merrell, K.T., Mills, D., Pugh-Bernard, A.E., and Cambier, J. (2004). B cell antigen receptor signaling 101. *Molecular Immunology* 41(6–7), 599-613. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2004.04.008.

Ding, C., Chen, X., Dascani, P., Hu, X., Bolli, R., Zhang, H.-g., et al. (2016). STAT3 Signaling in B Cells Is Critical for Germinal Center Maintenance and Contributes to the Pathogenesis of Murine Models of Lupus. *The Journal of Immunology* 196(11), 4477-4486. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502043.

Durrbach, A., Francois, H., Beaudreuil, S., Jacquet, A., and Charpentier, B. (2010). Advances in immunosuppression for renal transplantation. *Nature Reviews. Nephrology* 6(3), 160-167. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2009.233.

Epling-Burnette, P.K., Liu, J.H., Catlett-Falcone, R., Turkson, J., Oshiro, M., Kothapalli, R., et al. (2001). Inhibition of STAT3 signaling leads to apoptosis of leukemic large granular lymphocytes and decreased Mcl-1 expression. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 107(3), 351-362. doi: 10.1172/JCI9940.

Everly, M.J., Rebellato, L.M., Haisch, C.E., Briley, K.P., Bolin, P., Kendrick, W.T., et al. (2014). Impact of Igm and Igg3 Anti-hla Alloantibodies in Primary Renal Allograft Recipients. *Transplantation* 97(5), 494-501. doi: 10.1097/01.TP.0000441362.11232.48.

Faguer, S., Kamar, N., Guilbeaud-Frugier, C., Fort, M., Modesto, A., Mari, A., et al. (2007). Rituximab therapy for acute humoral rejection after kidney transplantation. *Transplantation* 83(9), 1277-1280. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000261113.30757.d1.

Fischer, S.F., Bouillet, P., O'Donnell, K., Light, A., Tarlinton, D.M., and Strasser, A. (2007). Proapoptotic BH3-only protein Bim is essential for developmentally programmed death of germinal center-derived memory B cells and antibody-forming cells. *Blood* 110(12), 3978-3984. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-05-091306.

Flynn, R., Allen, J.L., Luznik, L., MacDonald, K.P., Paz, K., Alexander, K.A., et al. (2015). Targeting Syk-activated B cells in murine and human chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* 125(26), 4085-4094. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-08-595470.

Fornek, J.L., Tygrett, L.T., Waldschmidt, T.J., Poli, V., Rickert, R.C., and Kansas, G.S. (2006). Critical role for Stat3 in T-dependent terminal differentiation of IgG B cells. *Blood* 107(3), 1085-1091. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2871.

Gavrilescu, L.C., and Van Etten, R.A. (2007). Production of Replication-Defective Retrovirus by Transient Transfection of 293'T cells. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* (10). doi: 10.3791/550.

Han, S., Zheng, B., Porto, J.D., and Kelsoe, G. (1995). In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl. IV. Affinity-dependent, antigen-driven B cell apoptosis in germinal centers as a mechanism for maintaining self-tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 182(6), 1635-1644. doi: 10.1084/jem.182.6.1635.

Jacob, J., Kassir, R., and Kelsoe, G. (1991a). In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl. I. The architecture and dynamics of responding cell populations. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 173(5), 1165-1175. doi: 10.1084/jem.173.5.1165.

Jacob, J., Kelsoe, G., Rajewsky, K., and Weiss, U. (1991b). Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal centres. *Nature* 354(6352), 389-392. doi: 10.1038/354389a0.

Jordan, S.C., Vo, A., Tyan, D., and Toyota, M. (2006). Desensitization Therapy with Intravenous Gammaglobulin (IVIG): Applications in Solid Organ Transplantation. *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association* 117, 199-211.

Kaneku, H., O'Leary, J.G., Banuelos, N., Jennings, L.W., Susskind, B.M., Klintmalm, G.B., et al. (2013). De Novo Donor-Specific HLA Antibodies Decrease Patient and Graft Survival in Liver Transplant Recipients. *American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons* 13(6), 1541. doi: 10.1002/ajt.12212.

Kerjaschki, D., Regele, H.M., Moosberger, I., Nagy-Bojarski, K., Watschinger, B., Soleiman, A., et al. (2004). Lymphatic Neoangiogenesis in Human Kidney Transplants Is Associated with Immunologically Active Lymphocytic Infiltrates. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 15(3), 603-612. doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000113316.52371.2E.

Kizilbash, S., Claes, D., Ashoor, I., Chen, A., Jandeska, S., Matar, R.B., et al. (2017). Bortezomib in the treatment of antibody-mediated rejection in pediatric kidney transplant recipients: A multicenter Midwest Pediatric Nephrology Consortium study. *Pediatric Transplantation* 21(3), n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/petr.12873.

Koenig, A., and Thaunat, O. (2016). Lymphoid Neogenesis and Tertiary Lymphoid Organs in Transplanted Organs. *Frontiers in Immunology* 7. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00646.

Kratz, A., Campos-Neto, A., Hanson, M.S., and Ruddle, N.H. (1996). Chronic inflammation caused by lymphotoxin is lymphoid neogenesis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 183(4), 1461-1472. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.4.1461.

Krysko, D.V., Vanden Berghe, T., D'Herde, K., and Vandenabeele, P. (2008). Apoptosis and necrosis: Detection, discrimination and phagocytosis. *Methods* 44(3), 205-221. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2007.12.001.

Küppers, R., Klein, U., Hansmann, M.-L., and Rajewsky, K. (1999). Cellular Origin of Human B-Cell Lymphomas. *New England Journal of Medicine* 341(20), 1520-1529. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199911113412007.

Lee, P.-c., Terasaki, P.I., Takemoto, S.K., Lee, P.-h., Hung, C.-j., Chen, Y.-l., et al. (2002). All chronic rejection failures of kidney transplants were preceded by the development of Hla antibodies. *Transplantation* 74(8), 1192-1194. doi: 10.1097/01.TP.0000031249.33030.FB.

Liu, Y.J., Joshua, D.E., Williams, G.T., Smith, C.A., Gordon, J., and MacLennan, I.C.M. (1989). Mechanism of antigen-driven selection in germinal centres. *Nature* 342(6252), 929-931. doi: 10.1038/342929a0.

Lodhi, S.A., Lamb, K.E., and Meier-Kriesche, H.U. (2011). Solid Organ Allograft Survival Improvement in the United States: The Long-Term Does Not Mirror the Dramatic Short-Term Success. *American Journal of Transplantation* 11(6), 1226-1235. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03539.x.

Loupy, A., Hill, G.S., and Jordan, S.C. (2012). The impact of donor-specific anti-HLA antibodies on late kidney allograft failure. *Nature Reviews Nephrology* 8(6), 348-357. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2012.81.

Meyer-Hermann, M.E., Maini, P.K., and Iber, D. (2006). An analysis of B cell selection mechanisms in germinal centers. *Mathematical Medicine and Biology: A Journal of the IMA* 23(3), 255-277. doi: 10.1093/imammb/dql012.

Michels, J., O'Neill, J.W., Dallman, C.L., Mouzakiti, A., Habens, F., Brimmell, M., et al. (2004). Mcl-1 is required for Akata6 B-lymphoma cell survival and is converted to a cell death molecule by efficient caspase-mediated cleavage. *Oncogene* 23(28), 4818-4827. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207648.

Morel, C., Carlson, S.M., White, F.M., and Davis, R.J. (2009). Mcl-1 Integrates the Opposing Actions of Signaling Pathways That Mediate Survival and Apoptosis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 29(14), 3845-3852. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00279-09.

Mott, J.L., Kobayashi, S., Bronk, S.F., and Gores, G.J. (2007). mir-29 regulates Mcl-1 protein expression and apoptosis. *Oncogene* 26(42), 6133-6140. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210436.

Mulley, W.R., Hudson, F.J., Tait, B.D., Skene, A.M., Dowling, J.P., Kerr, P.G., et al. (2009). A single low-fixed dose of rituximab to salvage renal transplants from refractory antibody-mediated rejection. *Transplantation* 87(2), 286-289. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31819389cc.

Muramatsu, M., Kinoshita, K., Fagarasan, S., Yamada, S., Shinkai, Y., and Honjo, T. (2000). Class Switch Recombination and Hypermutation Require Activation-Induced Cytidine Deaminase (AID), a Potential RNA Editing Enzyme. *Cell* 102(5), 553-563. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00078-7.

Nencioni, A., Hua, F., Dillon, C.P., Yokoo, R., Scheiermann, C., Cardone, M.H., et al. (2005). Evidence for a protective role of Mcl-1 in proteasome inhibitor-induced apoptosis. *Blood* 105(8), 3255-3262. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-10-3984.

Orandi, B.J., Zachary, A.A., Dagher, N.N., Bagnasco, S.M., Garonzik-Wang, J.M., Van Arendonk, K.J., et al. (2014). Eculizumab and splenectomy as salvage therapy for severe antibodymediated rejection after HLA-incompatible kidney transplantation. *Transplantation* 98(8), 857-863. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000000298.

Pascual, V., Liu, Y.J., Magalski, A., Bouteiller, O.d., Banchereau, J., and Capra, J.D. (1994). Analysis of somatic mutation in five B cell subsets of human tonsil. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 180(1), 329-339. doi: 10.1084/jem.180.1.329.

Puthier, D., Bataille, R., and Amiot, M. (1999). IL-6 up-regulates mcl-1 in human myeloma cells through JAK / STAT rather than ras / MAP kinase pathway. *European Journal of Immunology* 29(12), 3945-3950.

Saito, M., Novak, U., Piovan, E., Basso, K., Sumazin, P., Schneider, C., et al. (2009). BCL6 suppression of BCL2 via Miz1 and its disruption in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106(27), 11294-11299. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903854106.

Shamas-Din, A., Kale, J., Leber, B., and Andrews, D.W. (2013). Mechanisms of Action of Bcl-2 Family Proteins. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 5(4), a008714. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a008714.

Shokat, K.M., and Goodnow, C.C. (1995). Antigen-induced B-cell death and elimination during germinal-centre immune responses. *Nature* 375(6529), 334-338. doi: 10.1038/375334a0.

Siddiqui, W.A., Ahad, A., and Ahsan, H. (2015). The mystery of BCL2 family: Bcl-2 proteins and apoptosis: an update. *Archives of Toxicology* 89(3), 289-317. doi: 10.1007/s00204-014-1448-7.

Slatinska, J., Honsova, E., Burgelova, M., Slavcev, A., and Viklicky, O. (2009). Plasmapheresis and Intravenous Immunoglobulin in Early Antibody-Mediated Rejection of the Renal Allograft: A Single-Center Experience. *Therapeutic Apheresis and Dialysis* 13(2), 108-112. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-9987.2009.00664.x.

Takemura, S., Klimiuk, P.A., Braun, A., Goronzy, J.J., and Weyand, C.M. (2001). T Cell Activation in Rheumatoid Synovium Is B Cell Dependent. *The Journal of Immunology* 167(8), 4710-4718. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4710.

Tarlinton, D.M., and Smith, K.G.C. (2000). Dissecting affinity maturation: a model explaining selection of antibody-forming cells and memory B cells in the germinal centre. *Immunology Today* 21(9), 436-441. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(00)01687-X.

Thaunat, O., Field, A.-C., Dai, J., Louedec, L., Patey, N., Bloch, M.-F., et al. (2005). Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic rejection: Evidence for a local humoral alloimmune response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102(41), 14723-14728. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507223102.

Thaunat, O., Patey, N., Caligiuri, G., Gautreau, C., Mamani-Matsuda, M., Mekki, Y., et al. (2010). Chronic Rejection Triggers the Development of an Aggressive Intragraft Immune Response through Recapitulation of Lymphoid Organogenesis. *The Journal of Immunology* 185(1), 717-728. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903589.

Thomas, L.W., Lam, C., and Edwards, S.W. (2010). Mcl-1; the molecular regulation of protein function. *FEBS Letters* 584(14), 2981-2989. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.05.061.

Tsang, E., Giannetti, A.M., Shaw, D., Dinh, M., Tse, J.K.Y., Gandhi, S., et al. (2008). Molecular Mechanism of the Syk Activation Switch. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283(47), 32650-32659. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806340200.

Uckun, F.M., Qazi, S., Ma, H., Tuel-Ahlgren, L., and Ozer, Z. (2010). STAT3 is a substrate of SYK tyrosine kinase in B-lineage leukemia/lymphoma cells exposed to oxidative stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(7), 2902-2907. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909086107.

Vikstrom, I., Carotta, S., Lüthje, K., Peperzak, V., Jost, P.J., Glaser, S., et al. (2010). Mcl-1 Is Essential for Germinal Center Formation and B Cell Memory. *Science* 330(6007), 1095-1099. doi: 10.1126/science.1191793.

Vikstrom, I., Slomp, A., Carrington, E.M., Moesbergen, L.M., Chang, C., Kelly, G.L., et al. (2016). MCL-1 is required throughout B-cell development and its loss sensitizes specific B-cell subsets to inhibition of BCL-2 or BCL-XL. *Cell Death & Disease* 7(8), e2345. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.237.

Waiser, J., Duerr, M., Schönemann, C., Rudolph, B., Wu, K., Halleck, F., et al. (2016). Rituximab in Combination With Bortezomib, Plasmapheresis, and High-Dose IVIG to Treat Antibody-Mediated Renal Allograft Rejection. *Transplantation Direct* 2(8). doi: 10.1097/TXD.000000000000604.

Wang, L., Kurosaki, T., and Corey, S.J. (2006). Engagement of the B-cell antigen receptor activates STAT through Lyn in a Jak-independent pathway. *Oncogene* 26(20), 2851-2859. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210092.

Yamamoto, N., Takeshita, K., Shichijo, M., Kokubo, T., Sato, M., Nakashima, K., et al. (2003). The Orally Available Spleen Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor 2-[7-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)imidazo[1,2-c]pyrimidin-5-ylamino]nicotinamide Dihydrochloride (BAY 61-3606) Blocks Antigen-Induced Airway Inflammation in Rodents. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 306(3), 1174-1181. doi: 10.1124/jpet.103.052316.

Yarkoni, Y., Getahun, A., and Cambier, J.C. (2010). Molecular underpinning of B-cell anergy. *Immunological reviews* 237(1), 249. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00936.x.

Yelken, B., Arpalı, E., Görcin, S., Kocak, B., Karatas, C., Demiralp, E., et al. (2015). Eculizumab for Treatment of Refractory Antibody-Mediated Rejection in Kidney Transplant Patients: A Single-Center Experience. *Transplantation Proceedings* 47(6), 1754-1759. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.06.029.

Yoshino, T., Kondo, E., Cao, L., Takahashi, K., Hayashi, K., Nomura, S., et al. (1994). Inverse expression of bcl-2 protein and Fas antigen in lymphoblasts in peripheral lymph nodes and activated peripheral blood T and B lymphocytes. *Blood* 83(7), 1856-1861.

Youle, R.J., and Strasser, A. (2008). The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 9(1), 47-59. doi: 10.1038/nrm2308.

Yurasov, S., and Nussenzweig, M.C. (2007). Regulation of autoreactive antibodies. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology* 19(5), 421-426. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e328277ef3b.

#### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### **FIGURE LEGENDS**

# Figure 1: Mcl-1-expressing B-cells are found in kidney grafts in chronic antibody-mediated rejection.

(A) Non-stimulated tonsilar cells were stained with CD19, sIgD, CD38 and Mcl-1 and analyzed by flow cytometry. B-cell populations were identified according to the BM1-BM5 classification based on the expression of CD19, sIgD and CD38 and an additional staining with Mcl-1 was performed. The boxplot represents the distribution between donors and the quadrant indicates the values between the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles, n=7. (B) Immunofluorescence staining of paraffin-embedded chronically rejected kidney using anti-CD19 and anti-Mcl-1. Images were obtained with a Leica confocal microscope fitted with a 63x objective. sIgD: surface immunoglobulin D, CD: cluster of differentiation, BM: mature B-cell.

# Figure 2: SYK inhibition in BL41 cells (Burkitt's lymphoma cells) reduces viability and decreases levels of the anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1

(A) Cell viability was determined by flow cytometry analyses of cell morphology (forward and side scatter) following a dose gradient treatment with BAY61-3606 for 16 hours. Data represent mean ( $\pm$ SEM, n=3). (B) The phosphorylation status of SYK was determined by flow cytometry following SYK inhibition with BAY61-3606 (5 µM; 20 min). (C) BL41 cells were treated with BAY61-3606 (5µM; 4 hours) and Q-VD-Oph (10µM; 4 hours). Protein levels of anti-apoptotic proteins, Mcl-1, Bcl-2 and Bcl-x<sub>s/L</sub> were determined by western blot, and quantified by protein densitometry and adjusted for GAPDH. Data represent mean ( $\pm$ SEM, n=3). Q-VD-Oph efficiency was determined by western blot analysis of PARP cleavage (4 hours) and inhibition of cell death (16 hours), data represent mean ( $\pm$ SEM, n=5) (D) BL41 cells were determined by western blot and quantified by protein densitometry and MG-132 (10 µM; 4hours) and Mcl-1 protein levels were determined by western blot and quantified by protein densitometry and adjusted for GAPDH. Data represent mean ( $\pm$ SEM, n=5). Bay: BAY61-3606, N-I: non-inhibited, I-C: isotype control, QVD: Q-VD-Oph, ns: not significant, MG: MG132.

# Figure 3: STAT3 as a potential regulator of Mcl-1 gene transcription in BL41 cells (Burkitt's lymphoma cells) upon SYK inhibition

(A) BL41 cells were treated with BAY61-3606 (5µM) for 1, 2 and 4 hours and Mcl-1 gene expression levels were determined by RT-qPCR. Data represent mean (±SEM, n=5), the P-value indicates the significance for comparisons with cells in the absence of BAY61-3606. BL41 cells were treated with cycloheximide (10 µM) for 1, 2 and 4 hours and Mcl-1 protein levels were determined by western blot and quantified by protein densitometry and adjusted for GAPDH. Data represent mean ( $\pm$ SEM, n=3), the P-value indicates the significance for comparisons with cells in the absence of BAY61-3606 (B) BL41 cells were treated with BAY61-3606 (5µM; 60 minutes) the cellular location of STAT-3 was determined by immunofluorescence. Images were obtained with a Leica confocal microscope equipped with a 63x objective. (C) The viability of BL41 cells was determined by flow cytometry treatment with the STAT3 inhibitor Stattic (5 µM; 16 hours) in the presence or not of Q-VD-Oph (10µM) and apoptotic cells were identified based on their size and granularity, according to forward and side scatter data. Data represent mean (±SEM, n=6). Mcl-1 protein levels were assessed by western blot following treatment with Stattic (5 µM; 4 hours) and Q-VD-Oph (10µM); Mcl-1 levels were quantified by protein densitometry and adjusted for GAPDH. Data represent mean (±SEM, n=3). Q-VD-Oph efficiency was determined by western blot analysis of PARP cleavage (4 hours) and inhibition of cell death (16 hours), data represent mean (±SEM, n=6). Mcl-1 gene expression levels were determined by RT-qPCR. Data represent mean ( $\pm$ SEM, n=4), the P-value indicates the significance for comparisons with cells without BAY61-3606. CHX: cycloheximide, N-I: non-inhibited, Bay: BAY61-3606, QVD: Q-VD-Oph, ns: not significant, MG: MG132.

### Figure 4: Overexpression of Mcl-1 protects BL41 cells from BAY61-3606 induced apoptosis

BL41 cells were transduced with retroviral particles containing a Mcl-1 construct (pMcl-1), or an empty vector (pIRES) as a control. (A) Cells transduced with Mcl-1 or the empty vector were treated with BAY61-3606 or Stattic (5  $\mu$ M; 4 hours). Mcl-1 protein levels were determined by western blot and quantified by protein densitometry and adjusted for GAPDH. Data represent mean (±SEM, n=3) (B) RT-qPCR showed that Mcl-1 gene expression was determined by RT-qPCR following treatment with BAY61-3606 (5 $\mu$ M; 4 hours or Stattic (5 $\mu$ M; 4 hours). Data represent mean (±SEM, n=4), the P-value indicates the significance for comparisons with cells without inhibitor. (C) Apoptotic cells were identified on the basis of their extracellular expression of phosphatidylserine, detected by Annexin V staining, and plasma membrane permeability with their uptake of 7-AAD after treatment with BAY61-3606 (5 $\mu$ M; 8 hours) or Stattic (5 $\mu$ M; 8 hours).

Data represent mean (±SEM, n=4). Bay: BAY61-3606, N-I: Non-inhibited; ns: not significant; Stat: Stattic.

# Figure 5: Syk Inhibition in tonsillar B-cells decreases viability, activation and effector functions

Tonsillar cells activated in vitro by incubation with CD40L fibroblasts (1:10 ratio, fibroblasts: tonsillar cells), anti- $\mu$  antibody (10  $\mu$ g/ml) and LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) (A) Following activation (20 minutes) in the presence or not of BAY61-3606 (5µM), B-cells were identified based on the expression of CD19 and the phosphorylation status of SYK was determined by flow cytometry (B) Following three days of culture, cells were stained with fixable viability stain and CD19 identified by flow cytometry. Dead B-cells were discriminated by flow cytometry using fixable viability stain. The boxplot represents the distribution between donors and the quadrant indicates the values between the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles, n=7. (C) Following three days of culture, cells were stained with fixable viability stain, CD19, sIgD, CD38, CD80 and Mcl-1, and analyzed by flow cytometry. Viable cells were identified as fixable viability stain negative. Mcl-1 levels were determined in CD19-positive cells as well as pre-GC (BM2') and GC B-cells (BM3+BM4) based on the expression of sIgD and CD38. The activation state was determined by the expression of CD80 in CD19-positive cells as well as pre-GC (BM2') and GC B-cells (BM3+BM4). The boxplot represents the distribution between donors and the quadrant indicates the values between the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles; the P values shown on the graphs indicate the significance for comparisons between all stimulated cells and those treated with BAY61-3606 n=7. (D) The total IgG secreted by the cells following three days of culture was analyzed by ELISA. The boxplot represents the distribution between donors and the quadrant indicates the values between the  $5^{th}$  and  $95^{th}$  percentiles, n=9. Stim: stimulated, Bay: BAY61-3606, N-A: Non-activated, CD: cluster of differentiation















## (II) Supplemental results



Figure SR 1: Mcl-1 expression is higher in (pre-)germinal center cells while Bcl-2 expression is higher in naïve mature and differentiated B-cells.

Mature B-cell populations (CD19<sup>pos</sup>) were identified by flow cytometry according to the BM1-BM5 classification based on the expression of sIgD and CD38. sIgD<sup>pos</sup>CD38<sup>-/low</sup> represent naïve non-differentiated and early differentiating Bcells (BM1-BM2), sIgD<sup>pos</sup>CD38<sup>high</sup> represent pre-GC cells (BM2'), sIgD<sup>neg</sup>CD38<sup>high</sup> represent CG cells (BM3+BM4), while terminally differentiated B-cells are sIgD<sup>neg</sup>CD38<sup>-/low</sup> (earlyBM5-BM5). Mcl-1 is strongly expressed by activated follicular B-cells, while Bcl-2 expression is higher in in naïve and early activated and differentiated B-cells. The boxplot represents the distribution between donors and the quadrant indicates the values between the 5-95 percentile, n=5. Bcl-2: B-cell lmphoma-2; BM: Mature B-cell, CD: cluster of differentiation; GC: germinal center; Mcl-1: multiple myeloma-1; sIgD: surface immunoglobulin



Figure SR 2: SYK inhibition in BL41 cells does not increase Mcl-1 ubiquitination to promote proteasome dependent degradation.

Ubiquitination of Mcl-1 in BL41 cells was determined following a 2-hour incubation with SYK inhibitor BAY61-3606, in the presence or not of proteasome inhibitor MG132. Cells were lysed to obtain the protein content followed by an immunoprecipitation of Mcl-1 (using Protein G-separose beads from SIGMA in the presence of 2g of Mcl-1 antibody). Sample were boiled in the presence of 10% β-mercaptoethanol, separated on polyacrylamide gels and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were incubated with primary Abs (Ub (P4D1): sc-8017; Mcl-1 (S-19): sc-819), and bound Abs was visualized by chemiluminescence using HRP-conjugated secondary Abs. While Mcl-1 is degraded in cells treated with BAY61-3606, there is no apparent increase in Mcl-1 ubiquitination. To confirm that there is no increase in ubiquitination the cells were treated with proteasome inhibitor MG132 to prevent the degradation of Mcl-1. Under these conditions Mcl-1 does not show increased ubiquitination as in cells treated with Bay61-3606; IP: immunoprecipitation; Ub: Ubiquitin



Figure SR 3: Inhibition of AKT does not affect Mcl-1 expression or induce PARP cleavage in BL41 cells as compared to SYK inhibition.

(A) Mcl-1 expression was determined in BL41 cells treated with either SYK inhibitor BAY61-3606 or Pi3K inhibitor LY294002 for 4-hours. While treatment with SYK reduces the expression of Mcl-1, inhibition of Pi3K does not alter the expression of Mcl-1. Caspase activity assessed by PARP cleavage shows that SYK inhibition leads to the activation of caspase-3 and thus the cleavage of PARP, while Pi3K inhibition does induce PARP cleavage, indicating no activation of caspase-3. (B) To determine the effect of the inhibition on AKT, phosphorylation of AKT was assessed by western blot. While BL41 cells under basal conditions show a slight phosphorylation of AKT, activation of the BCR with anti-μ increase AKT phosphorylation. Both BAY61-3606 and LY294003 reduce the phosphorylation of AKT, indicating both inhibitors are able to regulate the activity of AKT. (C) Real time qPCR results of Mcl-1 gene expression following inhibition, while SYK inhibition reduces the gene levels of Mcl-1, the inhibition of Pi3K does not seem to affect Mcl-1 gene expression. Note: n=1, experiments need to be repeated to confirm results. Bay: BAY61-3606; Ly:LY294002

# (1) Identifying infiltrating B-cells; McI-1 expression in GCs and TLS infiltrating cAMR kidney

In cAMR, tertiary structures mimicking GCs in which B-cells play an important role, have been observed. Therefore, we wanted to further investigate properties of B-cells infiltrating and participating in a local immune response in cAMR kidney grafts focusing on the presence of antiapoptotic protein Mcl-1.

The GC reaction is important for the generation of effector B-cells with a high Ag affinity. During the GC reaction apoptosis is necessary for eliminating low Ag affinity and self-reactive Bcells (Han, Zheng, Porto, & Kelsoe, 1995; Y.-J. Liu et al., 1989; Shokat & Goodnow, 1995) while on the other hand positive selection of high Ag affinity GC B-cells, and promoting their survival, is essential for effector B-cell generation (Y.-J. Liu et al., 1989; Tarlinton & Smith, 2000). The role of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, including Bcl-2, Mcl-1 and Bcl-xl during the GC reaction have been under investigation. It was observed by Yoshino et al. (Yoshino et al., 1994) that while resting B-cells as well as mantle zone B-cells express Bcl-2, GC B-cells do not. This was confirmed when Bcl-6, the master regulator of the GC reaction was identified as a repressor of Bcl-2 transcription. (Ci et al., 2009; M. Saito et al., 2009) In this work, we confirmed the expression profile of Bcl-2 in tonsillar B-cells and observed that Bcl-2 is absent from the GC population while it is expressed both in naïve mature and differentiated MBCs (supplemental results S1). In a previous study performed by our lab we observed an association of pro-apoptotic protein Puma and GC like B-cells, and that Puma plays a role in the regulation of the memory B-cell population. In that study, we confirmed with in situ staining of human lymph nodes that Puma is co-expressed with Mcl-1 and Bcl-xl within the GCs, while Bcl-2 is absent. (Clybouw et al., 2011) More evidence is arising that Mcl-1 is a key player in the survival of activated B-cells. As mentioned before Vikstrom et al. (Vikstrom et al., 2010) showed with a conditional knock-out mice model for Mcl-1, that the absence of Mcl-1 resulted in defects in GC formation, defects in the generation of MBCs and reduced Ig secretion. In the same study Bcl-xl knockout mice did not abrogate the GC reaction nor the formation of memory B-cells. Thus, even though anti-apoptotic family member Bcl-xl is present within the GC it is not essential in maintaining the GC reaction, suggesting the prominent role of Mcl-1 in GC survival. Vikstrom observed in a follow up study that Mcl-1 is required for survival throughout B-cell development, while Bcl-xl promotes survival of immature B-cells. (Vikstrom et al., 2016) In this study, we confirmed using B-cells extracted from human tonsils that Mcl-1 expression is elevated in the mature B-cells (BM)2' corresponding to pre-GC B-cells and BM3+BM4 population, corresponding to GC B-cells.

Recent studies demonstrated that GCs can develop outside of SLOs allowing the generation of effector and memory B-cells, these TLS have been reported in persistent inflammation. (Kratz et al., 1996; Takemura et al., 2001) In solid allograft rejection, Thaunat et al. (Thaunat et al., 2005), found infiltrating B-cells, T-cells and FDCs within the rejected organ, indicating the presence of possible TLS and thus suggesting a possible local lymphoid neogenesis. Several groups observed that infiltrating lymphoid cells in the rejected organs were highly proliferative by looking at the expression of proliferation marker Ki-67. (Kerjaschki et al., 2004; Thaunat et al., 2005) In a follow up study Thaunat et al. (Thaunat et al., 2010) further analyzed the cellular and molecular phenotype of these infiltrating B-cells. They observed CD20<sup>pos</sup> cells lacking the expression of sIgD and Bcl-2 but expressing Bcl-6 and AID, like GC B-cells. They also identified the expression of GC genes, by RT-qPCR, such as CXCL13, CXCR5, CCL19, CCL21 and CCR7, proteins involved in the localization of lymphoid cells in GCs. Cheng et al. (J. Cheng et al., 2011) observed that B-cells infiltrating kidney grafts express the genes necessary for SHM as found in GC cells, as well as a clonality of B-cells originating from these infiltrating lymphoid clusters. These observations show that a local humoral response similar to the GC reaction is occurring in chronically rejected organs. Our results show that B-cells infiltrating cAMR kidney express Mcl-1, which is a mentioned before essential for GC formation and B-cell differentiation, thus strengthening the notion that B-cell infiltrating grafted organs are part of TLS and play a role in a local humoral immune response, lymphoid neogenesis and differentiation into effector B-cells.

# (2) Targeting BCR signaling; SYK inhibition induced GC like cell death associated with McI-1 gene regulation

BCR signaling during B-cell development leads to the elimination of self-reactive B-cells by programmed cell death. (Yarkoni, Getahun, & Cambier, 2010; Yurasov & Nussenzweig, 2007) While later in the GC reaction, Ag affinity-linked BCR engagement mediates the apoptosis of cells with a low Ag affinity and the differentiation of cells with a high Ag affinity into B-effector cells. (Y.-J. Liu et al., 1989; Meyer-Hermann, Maini, & Iber, 2006; Tarlinton & Smith, 2000) We hypotized that the decrease in BCR signaling leads to reduced B-cell viability. Therefore, we aimed to abrogate BCR signaling to influence GC B-cell viability by inhibiting the kinase activity of SYK. Since SYK acts very early in the signaling chain making it an attractive candidate regulator of BCR signaling.

Significant clinical activity of SYK inhibition has been observed for non-Hodgkin and Bcell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL). (Friedberg et al., 2010; Delong Liu & Mamorska-Dyga, 2017; Sharman et al., 2015). Fostamatinib disodium, the pro-drug version of SYK inhibitor R406,

was used in a Phase 1/2 trial (n=68). The outcome of this trial showed that treatment induced tumor cell death and significant clinical responses. Common toxicities included neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, diarrhea, fatigue, cytopenias, hypertension, and nausea, however they seemed to be reversible. (Friedberg et al., 2010) Another phase 2 clinical trial using SYK inhibitor entospletinib (n=186), which showed a greater selectivity as compared to R406 (Currie et al., 2014), showed a median progression free survival of 13.8 months. Patients who achieved a partial response remained free from progression at 6.5 months. The toxicities observed during this trial were similar to those observed in the fostamatinib trial (Sharman et al., 2015)

For our experimental settings, we use SYK inhibitor BAY-613606 (BAY) whose pharmalogical profile was tested in vitro and in vivo by N. Yamamoto et al. (Yamamoto et al., 2003) They showed that BAY selectively blocks SYK activity, which was associated with reduced BCR and FcR signaling mediated cell functions in vitro. In vivo associated effects were observed in cutaneous allergies and bronchitis in rat models, in which allergic effects were reduced in animals treated with BAY. (Yamamoto et al., 2003) We observe a constitutively active SYK in Burkitt's lymphoma (BL) cell line BL41, as a model for GC centroblasts, BAY effectively reduces SYK phosphorylation in these cells. We demonstrate that inhibiting the kinase activity of SYK induces cell death in BL41 cells under basal conditions. Our results are in agreement with the results found by Schmitz et al. (Schmitz et al., 2012), who observed reduced viability of cells when shRNA against CD79a and SYK were used to abrogate BCR signaling in several Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines, including BL41. We observe a reduction of Mcl-1 associated with SYK inhibition in BL41 cells under basal conditions while the expression anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl are not affected. Constitutive activation of SYK was observed B-CLL as well, SYK inhibition in these cells leads to reduced viability and reduced expression of Mcl-1, similarly as to what we observe in BL41 cells. (Baudot et al., 2009; Gobessi et al., 2009) Gobessi et al., (Gobessi et al., 2009) observed that while Mcl-1 was reduced following SYK inhibition, Bcl-2 expression was not modified as we observed in BL41 cells, suggesting that in these models SYK seems to be involved in the regulation of anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 alone.

It is known that Mcl-1 is a substrate of apoptotic effector caspases-and that activation of caspase-3 can induce Mcl-1 degradation. (Michels et al., 2004) We observe that inhibiting caspase activity only partially restored Mcl-1 protein expression, suggesting that Mcl-1 degradation occurs before the activation of caspases and is thus caspase-independent following SYK inhibition. Baudot et al., (Baudot et al., 2009) observed the same effect in B-CLL, SYK inhibition in the presence of Q-VD-Oph did not restore Mcl-1 expression. These findings supporting the notion

that SYK inhibition reduces Mcl-1 protein expression levels, independent of caspase activation, leading to apoptotic cell death.

In the same study, it was observed that inhibiting the activity of the proteasome, which is responsible for Mcl-1 protein degradation (Nencioni et al., 2005), restored Mcl-1 expression following SYK inhibition. (Baudot et al., 2009) The stability of Mcl-1 can be regulated via phosphorylation followed by ubiquitination and proteasome dependent degradation. This was shown by the generation of a Mcl-1 mutant for the phosphorylation site S159. Phosphorylation of Mcl-1 at S195 has been shown to be induced by Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 (GSK3) and inhibition of GSK3 prevents cells from entering in apoptosis. It was shown that AKT, which is one of the kinases activated downstream of the BCR, can inhibit the activity of GSK3 and thus regulate Mcl-1 stability. (Q. Ding et al., 2007; Maurer, Charvet, Wagman, Dejardin, & Green, 2006) Baudot et al. (Baudot et al., 2009) suggested that SYK inhibition in B-CLL leads to proteasome dependent degradation of Mcl-1 which related to increased GSK3 activation due to decreased AKT activity. We show that when preventing proteasome dependent Mcl-1 protein degradation by proteasome inhibitor MG132 protein levels of Mcl-1 are restored following SYK inhibition, suggesting that SYK inhibition induces proteasome dependent degradation of Mcl-1. However, we observe that while there is no degradation of Mcl-1 in SYK inhibited cells with impaired proteasome activity, there is no accumulation of newly synthesized Mcl-1 either. If SYK inhibition would directly impair Mcl-1 protein stability by probing it for the proteasome one would expect an accumulation of Mcl-1 in SYK inhibited cells, as observed in cells with functional SYK, under proteasome impaired conditions. To confirm this hypothesis, we also look at the ubiquitination levels of Mcl-1 in BL41 cells treated with SYK, with functional or impaired proteasome activity. We observe no increase in the ubiquitination levels of Mcl-1 in the presence of BAY, supporting the notion that SYK inhibition does not actively induce Mcl-1 protein degradation in our model (supplemental results S2). These results suggest that SYK inhibition impairs de novo synthesis of Mcl-1 in BL41 cells, which we confirm by RT-qPCR, showing reduced Mcl-1 gene expression levels following SYK inhibition. To confirm that SYK inhibition regulates Mcl-1 gene expression and that SYK induced down regulation of Mcl-1 gene expression is necessary to induce apoptosis, we overexpressed Mcl-1 in BL41 cells. While apoptosis was induced upon SYK inhibition in wild type cells this effect was counteracted in cells overexpressing Mcl-1 by retroviral transduction, and Mcl-1 expression, both at protein and genomic levels, was not reduced.

Taken together, our results suggest that SYK inhibition in BL41 cells leads to reduced down-regulation of anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1 at transcriptional levels which is associated with apoptotic cell death.



Figure 22: Potential role of SYK in regulating Mcl-1.

BCR signaling can regulate Mcl-1 gene transcription and Mcl-1 protein stability. Downstream of the BCR, active SYK induces the activation of AKT through PI3K. Degradation of Mcl-1 by the proteasome is regulated though ubiquitination of Mcl-1. Phosphorylation of Mcl-1, which precedes its ubiquitination, can be regulated by GSK3 whose activity is suppressed by active AKT. Inhibiting AKT activation by abrogating SYK activity can lead to activation of GSK3, followed by phosphorylation of Mcl-1 probing it for proteasome mediated degradation. However, in our model, SYK inhibition using BAY61-3606 does not increase Mcl-1 ubiquitination suggesting SYK inhibition does not alter Mcl-1 protein stability. We observed that SYK inhibition in BL41 cells leads to decreased levels of Mcl-1 mRNA.

# (3) Regulating McI-1 in GCs; The role of SYK in STAT3 mediated McI-1 gene transcription

Since our results suggest that SYK inhibition regulates Mcl-1 at transcriptional levels we aimed to further understand the signaling pathways involved in Mcl-1 transcription. As mentioned before, the binding of Ag leads to the activation and differentiation of mature B-cells, this type of signaling is called active signaling. Another type of BCR signaling has emerged, which is important

for maintaining mature B-cells in the absence of antigen, this signaling is called tonic signaling. The first evidence of tonic BCR signaling arose from the research of Lam et al. (Lam, Kühn, & Rajewsky, 1997), using a conditional Cre-Lox mouse model in which the BCR on mature B-cells can be removed. They showed that conditional removal of the BCR reduces the number of mature B-cells and induces apoptotic cell death of these cells. (Lam et al., 1997) The same group confirmed in a follow up study that the BCR subunits CD79a/b, necessary for the recruitment and phosphorylation of SYK to the BCR, are essential for this tonic BCR signaling and survival of mature B-cells in the periphery. (Kraus, Alimzhanov, Rajewsky, & Rajewsky, 2004) Active BCR signaling regulates the activation of several signaling pathways, such as NF-xB, ERK, NFAT and AKT. The group of Rajewski found in their conditional mouse model that constitutively active Pi3K rescues mature BCR negative B-cells. In the same conditional model for BCR ablation, they showed that constitutive activation of the NF-xB nor the ERK pathways were able to rescue mature B-cells from cell death induced by BCR depletion in mature B-cells, suggesting that Pi3K signaling downstream of the BCR is essential for tonic BCR mediated cell survival. (Srinivasan et al., 2009) Schmitz and all. (Schmitz et al., 2012) suggested that the BCR signaling in Burkitt's lymphoma stems from chronic tonic signal transduction involving active SYK and AKT mediated signaling.

The activation of AKT can, as mentioned before, inhibit the activation of GSK3 and increase Mcl-1 protein stability. The Pi3K/AKT pathway can also regulate the expression of Mcl-1 at transcriptional and post transcriptional levels as well. Longo et al (Longo et al., 2008) showed, by transfection of constitutive active AKT in B-CLL cells and subsequent quantification of Mcl-1 gene expression, an increase in the fold change of Mcl-1. While Mills et al (J. R. Mills et al., 2008) showed in Eµ-myc mouse model, which are mice transgenic for a c-myc gene driven by the IgH enhancer, with constitutively active mechanistic target of rapamycin Complex 1 (mTORC1), that the AKT pathway can regulate Mcl-1 translation via mTORC1. In our experimental model, we did not observe an effect of AKT inhibition on Mcl-1 protein expression as compared with SYK inhibition. While the results we found with real time qPCR seems to confirm that Pi3K inhibition does not affect Mcl-1 expression. These results need to duplicated to be confirmed (supplemental results S3). Taken together, these results suggest that there is another mechanism involved in Mcl-1 gene regulation following SYK inhibition in our model which is partly Pi3K/AKT independent.

Akgul et al (Akgul, Turner, White, & Edwards, 2000) identified several transcription-factor binding sites within the promotor region of Mcl-1 including signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). In the current study, we observe that STAT3, under basal circumstances, is expressed in the nucleus of BL41 cells where it can therefore actively transcribe the Mcl-1 gene.

We observe that, under basal condition, SYK inhibition leads to impaired translocation of STAT3 to the nucleus. While the involvement of STAT3 in the regulation of Mcl-1 has been preciously observed, these observations were made mainly through the activation of the JAK/STAT pathway regarding cytokine and growth factor induced signaling. (Epling-Burnette et al., 2001; Mott, Kobayashi, Bronk, & Gores, 2007; Puthier, Bataille, & Amiot, 1999) An interaction between Pi3K/AKT signaling and STAT3 activation has been reported by Han et al (Han 2010) in iMyc<sup>Eµ</sup> B-cell lymphomas, and the inhibition of Pi3K with the inhibitor Ly290042 reduced the phosphorylation state of STAT3. Transformation of murine fibroblastic cells with a catalytically active p110 subunit of pI3K unveiled an upregulation of genes that are under STAT-mediated transcription. (Jonathan Ross Hart, Liao, Ueno, III, & Vogt, 2011) In a follow up study Hart et al (Jonathan R. Hart, Liao, Yates, & Vogt, 2011) observed that Pi3K inhibition in these transformed cells showed reduced STAT3 phosphorylation. They observed that reducing STAT3 phosphorylation prevented oncogenic transformation of these cells, indicating the important role of STAT3 downstream of Pi3K induced oncogenesis. Interestingly inhibition of JAK under these conditions did not reduce STAT3 phosphorylation. However as mentioned before inhibition of Pi3K in our model does not regulate Mcl-1 expression suggesting Pi3K independent regulation of STAT3.

BCR mediated modulation of STAT3 has been observed in several studies, and stimulation of the BCR leads to an increase in STAT3 phosphorylation (L. Su, Rickert, & David, 1999; L. Wang, Kurosaki, & Corey, 2006) as well as STAT3 DNA binding activity (Fan & Rothstein, 2001). Buchner et al., 2009) showed that in B-CLL have constitutively active STAT3 due to constitutive BCR signaling. B-CLL cells treated with SYK inhibitors showed reduced levels of STAT3 phosphorylation. As mentioned before Mcl-1 gene regulation was observed in JAK/STAT dependent signaling, however there is no apparent evidence that the BCR provides a docking place for JAK. It was shown by Uckun et al (Uckun, Qazi, Ma, Tuel-Ahlgren, & Ozer, 2010) that STAT3 can be a substrate for SYK, and that JAK inhibition, under oxidative stress circumstances, does not abrogate STAT3 phosphorylation. Wang et al (L. Wang et al., 2006) showed that BCR mediated STAT3 signaling is JAK independent as well, since BCR stimulation in the presence of JAK inhibitors did not reduce STAT3 phosphorylation. We show that inhibiting STAT3 in BL41 cells mimicked the effects observed with SYK inhibition regarding Mcl-1 expression as well as cell death, suggesting that BCR signaling is associated with STAT3 modulated regulation of Mcl-1. We showed that by overexpressing Mcl-1 the effects induced by both SYK and STAT3 inhibition were abrogated. suggesting that BCR mediated STAT3 signaling is involved in Mcl-1 gene transcription STAT3 (Figure 23).



Figure 23: Proposed model for regulating Mcl-1 following SYK inhibition in BL41 cells.

Toni chronic BCR signaling in Burkitt's lymphomas leads the to the activation of the Pi3K/AKT pathway, which has been linked to Mcl-1 gene transcription. In our model of BL41 and abrogation of the BCR signal following SYK inhibition we observed reduced cell viability and Mcl-1 gene transcription. However, abrogation of the Pi3K signaling pathway does not alter Mcl-1 expression, suggesting a partly pi3K/AKT independent regulation of Mcl-1. We observed that STAT3 is constitutively expressed in the nucleus of BL41 cells and that SYK inhibition induces a translocation from the nucleus, suggesting a role for STAT3 in the regulation of Mcl-1. The Pi3k/AKT pathway has been implied to regulate STAT3 activation and SYK has been shown to be able to regulate STAT3 activity as well. We propose that in our experimental model that SYK mediated activation of STAT3 is involved in the regulation of Mcl-1, possibly in a Pi3K dependent and independent manner.

While the role of STAT3 in the GC response remains controversial, it was shown that STAT3 is involved in B-cell differentiation. Fornek et al. (Fornek et al., 2006) showed in conditional STAT3 knock out mice model that STAT3 is essential for a T-cell dependent terminal IgG B-cell responses. Avery et al. (Avery et al., 2010) showed that B-cells from patients with autosomal dominant hyper IgE syndrome, which have a mutated STAT3, are unable to produce a high titer

of high affinity Ig as compared to healthy controls. While fewer MBCs were generated in *in vitro* experiments with STAT3 deficient cells, STAT3 mutation did not affect isotype switching nor SHM in this experimental model. However, IL-21 induced STAT3 activation is essential for naïve B-cells to differentiate in PCs and STAT3 deficiency lead to reduced Ig secretion as compared to healthy controls. A recent study performed by Ding et al (C. Ding et al., 2016) underlined the importance of STAT3 in the GC. They found using a STAT3 knockout mice model, that while STAT3 might not be essential for GC initiation it is essential for maintaining the GC reaction. The number of apoptotic GC B-cells were higher in immunized mice knock out for STAT3, as compared to normal mice, which was associated with lower gene expression levels of Mcl-1.

Taken together, our results suggest that in BL41 cells abrogating SYK kinase activity reduces STAT3 dependent Mcl-1 transcription and supports the results that STAT3 might play an important role in the GC reaction by promoting Mcl-1 mediated cell survival.

It should be stated that the results found in BL41 cells are based on basal tonic BCR activation. SYK inhibition following BCR activation with anti-µ in BL41 cells, lead to abrogated ERK and NF-xB phosphorylation as well (data not shown), showing that other pathways are influenced by SYK inhibition. Indicating the broad effect of SYK inhibition on BCR signaling, under both tonic as well as active BCR signaling conditions. In a tonsillar B-cell model, with T-cell dependent B-cell activation conditions *in vitro*, we observed that SYK inhibition, under active BCR signaling, induced with anti-µ and co-stimulation with CD40-Ligand and LPS, lead to B-cell death and reduced Mcl-1 protein expression.

# (4) The effect of SYK inhibition in altering B-cell responses; SYK as a potential target in organ transplantation

The damaging role of DSA during organ transplantation have been extensively studied and preexisting as well as *de novo* DSA correlates with acute and chronic solid graft injury. (Drachenberg & Papadimitriou, 2013; Kaneku et al., 2013; P. Lee et al., 2002; Loupy et al., 2012) DSAs of the IgM and IgA isotypes have been observed in patient showing signs of AMR, however as compared to IgG DSA they are not as frequent and do not seem to have extreme deteriorating effects on their own as compared to IgG. (Arnold et al., 2013; Everly et al., 2014; Warner et al., 2015) As mentioned before, IgG DSA can activate the complement and cause graft deterioration. Several studies using complement inhibitors have shown promising results regarding severe early acute rejection (Orandi et al., 2014; Yelken et al., 2015), however this treatment does not solve the problem of *de novo* DSA production and tackles the problem at the end of the road, not the beginning. The studies in which rituximab is used to treat AMR, the effect on the production of

DSA have been debated. (Faguer et al., 2007; Fehr et al., 2009; Tanriover et al., 2008; V. Zarkhin et al., 2008) This could be partly explained by the fact that CD20, the target of rituximab, is not expressed on all B-cell populations, and in particular not on plasma cells which are responsible for the production of DSA. (M. R. Clatworthy, 2011; Valeriya Zarkhin et al., 2010) It is apparent that these therapies often fail to target and destroy MBCs and/or PCs responsible for both aAMR and cAMR. (Jackson et al., 2015; Leandro, 2013; Perry et al., 2008; Ramos et al., 2007). PCs secrete Abs and that one of the main DSA isotypes involved in AMR is IgG (Castro-Dopico & Clatworthy, 2016). MBCs influence the outcome of organ transplantation as well. For example, preformed anti-HLA MBCs predict a poor outcome in kidney organ transplantation, increasing the risk for sensitized patients. (Lúcia et al., 2015) These findings underline the importance of the GC reaction leading to the formation of differentiated B-cells and *de novo* DSA production. Therefore, it is important to find new therapeutic methods that effectively block B-cell viability, differentiation and DSA production.

In this study, we show that SYK inhibition in *in vitro* activated B-cells reduces cell viability. Our results support the findings of Flynn et al (Flynn et al., 2015) observed that PBMC extracted B cells from patients with active graft versus host disease were more susceptible to apoptotic cell death as B-cells extracted from patients with inactive or no graft versus host disease. We show that the reduced viability of primary tonsilar B-cells is associated with the down-regulation of antiapoptotic protein Mcl-1. Abrogating BCR signaling leads to reduced expression of Mcl-1 in total B-cells as well as in the BM3+BM4 population as compared to stimulated B-cells. The inhibition of SYK is associated with a reduced activation state, as assessed by CD80 expression, in total Bcells as well. We observe a similar expression profile for CD80 in BM3+BM4 cells. We show that abrogating BCR signaling following SYK inhibition of *in vitro* activated primary B-cells inhibits total IgG secretion, thus suggesting that SYK is a potential therapeutic target for reducing the production of IgG DSA.

Taken together our data showed that SYK inhibition in *in vitro* activated B-cells affects BCR signaling-mediated cell survival through the downregulation of Mcl-1 gene transcription. We also demonstrate that SYK inhibition impairs B-cell responses by altering B-cell reactivity to Ags and decreasing Ab production.

It has to be noted, that blocking BCR signaling for longer times can possibly lead to the development of B-cell immunodeficiency's. For example, Bruton's disease, which is caused by a mutation in the BTK gene leading to reduced or no PCs and thus reduced (hypogammaglobulinemia) or no (agammaglobulinemia) Igs. BTK plays a role in the maturation from pro-B-cells to pre-B-cells, and individuals having Bruton's disease have failures in B-cell

development. (Ochs & Edvard Smith, 1996; Tao, Boyd, Gonye, Malone, & Schwaber, 2000) These individuals have higher risks in contracting infections however, studies have shown that treatment with IV-IG in these patients reduced infections and related mortality. (Quartier et al., 1999) It has been observed that immunotherapies targeting B-cells can be linked to the onset of hypogammaglobulinemia (HGG), characterized by a reduction in all types of gamma globulins. A retrospective review made by Makatsori et al. (Makatsori et al., 2014) revealed several patients that were treated with rituximab for autoimmune diseases and hematopoietic malignancies developed HGG. Casulo et al. (Casulo, Maragulia, & Zelenetz, 2013) investigated the incidence of HGG in patients with B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma treated with Rituximab. They observed that maintenance rituximab treatment increased the incidence of HGG as compared to chemoimmunotherapy and immunotherapy. However, the occurrence of HGG (38% de novo HGG and 72% progressive HGG) was higher than the incidence of symptomatic hypogammaglobinemia (approximatively 14% for both de novo and progressive HGG). They also observed an increased incidence in patients treated with higher doses of Rituximab. (Casulo et al., 2013) Since SYK inhibition induces apoptosis in B-cells and reduces the levels of secreted IgG therefore prolonged use of SYK inhibitors might interfere with normal B-cell function and lead to HGG. Hence, it is important to determine the length of the treatment. Since SYK inhibition induces the cell death of the B-cells short treatment could be sufficient, and once the B-cells responsible for AMR are eliminated the treatment could be stopped or receive less intense immunesupressive therapies. However, the treatment time needs to be determined and the effect on the development of HGG needs to be further explored.

In conclusion, taken together all our data on SYK inhibition, we show that SYK inhibition affects BCR signaling mediated cell survival through the downregulation of Mcl-1 gene transcription. In GC like cells this regulation of Mcl-1 seems to be in part dependent on STAT3 mediated gene regulation of Mcl-1. By showing that SYK inhibition can modify B-cell viability, altering B-cell reactivity to antigens and antibody production we demonstrate that in case of AMR SYK can be a potential target to improve graft survival due to the humoral immune response.

### (5) Perspectives

There are still aspects of SYK inhibition on the effect on different B-cell lineages, other immune cells and graft cells that need to be investigated further.

(I) One population of B-cells have not been discussed until here, which are de regulatory B-cells (Breg). Bregs, like Tregs, play a role in the regulation of the inflammatory response to prevent excessive inflammation. Following an immune response, which leads to the clearance of
the pathogen, the inflammatory response is abrogated by the production of anti-inflammatory mediators and cytokines. Cells producing these anti-inflammatory mediators are called regulatory, hence Treg and Breg. (Nathan & Ding, 2010) The regulatory effect of Bregs is complex, for example they are able to bias T-cell differentiation to favor the production of T-cells with a regulatory phenotype or can directly produce anti-inflammatory cytokines, events observed both in mice and human. (Carter et al., 2011; Flores-Borja et al., 2013) Part of the effect of Bregs on the regulation of T-cell differentiation is related to the IL-10 producing capacity of Bregs (Carter et al., 2011; Carter, Rosser, & Mauri, 2012; Flores-Borja et al., 2013), however direct cognate interactions between Breg and T-cells have been suggested to play a role too. (Mann, Maresz, Shriver, Tan, & Dittel, 2007; Yoshizaki et al., 2012) Next to the expression of IL-10 Bregs have been shown to express other regulatory-cytokines such as transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), which is able to induce apoptosis in CD4+ T-cells and anergy in CD8+ T-cells. (Parekh et al., 2003; Tian et al., 2001) Bregs are able to reduce the pro-inflammatory response of DCs. (Masanori Matsumoto et al., 2014; Sun, Deriaud, Leclerc, & Lo-Man, 2005)

While most of the research on Bregs focusses on autoimmune disease, there have been some studies that focuss on the role of Breg in the context of transplantation. An evident role for Bregs was observed both in mice and human studies showing that B cell depletion, using anti-CD20 antibodies, lead to increased cellular rejection. (Menna R. Clatworthy et al., 2009; Marino et al., 2016) Interestingly, patients showing tolerance post transplantation had higher numbers of B-cells as compared to patients showing chronic rejection or patients that received immunosuppression. (Chesneau et al., 2014; Newell et al., 2010; Pallier et al., 2010) The same observation was made in an established rat kidney transplant model of tolerance. Animals showing tolerance had increased B-cell numbers. While there were B-cell infiltrating the graft, these B-cells were of the unswitched IgM isotype, which was associated with decreased complement activation. In the same study, it was observed that transferring B-cell from tolerant animals induced tolerance in new hosts. (Le Texier et al., 2011) These studies show that specific B-cell populations in the context of transplantation can be beneficial.

Several different Breg population have been described, and it seems that any B-cell e.g transitional B-cells, marginal zone B-cells, plasma blast, has the potential to differentiate in to Breg. (Rosser & Mauri, 2015; Wortel & Heidt, 2017) It is suggested that Bregs are activated in the same inflammatory responses that give rise to autoimmune diseases. (Evans et al., 2007; Mizoguchi, Mizoguchi, Takedatsu, Blumberg, & Bhan, 2002) It was demonstrated that Bregs emerge in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-21. (Rosser et al., 2014; Yoshizaki et al., 2012) Next to the non-cognate inflammatory stimuli cognate interaction seem to

influence Breg formation as well. For example, CD40-CD40L interactions between B-cells and Tcells or regulatory DCs have shown to induce Breg differentiation, increase the number of Bregs and anti-inflammatory cytokine production. (Blair et al., 2009, 2010; L. Qian et al., 2012) There is evidence for a pool of Ag-specific Bregs as well, which is suggested by the fact that Ag primed Bregs were able to reduce symptoms of experimental autoimmune encephalitis whereas naïve Bcell were not. (Matsushita, Horikawa, Iwata, & Tedder, 2010) And inhibiting BCR signaling by knocking down CD19 or Stromal interaction molecule 1 and 2 either reduced the prevalence of B10 cells or reduced the production of IL-10.(Masanori Matsumoto et al., 2011; Yanaba, Bouaziz, Matsushita, Tsubata, & Tedder, 2009) The role of SYK has been touched upon by Jin et al. (G. Jin et al., 2013) who observed that SYK inhibition lead to a partial but not complete reduction in the expression of IL-10 by splenic B-cells. Interestingly Barr et al. (Barr et al., 2012) observed, using PBMCs from patients from a clinical trial with SYK inhibitor fostamatinib, no deteriorating effect on the number of IL-10+ B-cells however this study was performed shortly after the introduction of the SYK inhibitor, long term effects have not been determined.

As mentioned before there are several different populations of Bregs spanning different developmental stages observed in B-cells and there seems to be a partial effect of SYK inhibition on Breg development. Therefore, it would be interesting to determine the effect of SYK inhibition on the specific Breg populations, determine the effect of SYK inhibition on the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines and if SYK inhibition can influence Breg mediated tolerance.

(II) For this research project, the effect of SYK inhibition is mainly focused around the BCR mediated signaling, however SYK is involved in other ITAM based immune receptor signaling involving the TCR, FcRs, integrins and PRR as well.

Regarding T-cells and TCR signaling, mature-T immunoreceptor possess ITAMS, however the dogma seems to be that in these cells the ITAM based signaling is dependent SYK related protein  $\zeta$ -chain-associated protein kinase of 70kDa (ZAP70) and not SYK. (Au-Yeung et al., 2009, 2014) though it has to be mentioned that for example in lupus patients it has been found that they lack the  $\zeta$ -chains and that SYK seems to take over the role of ZAP-70 in mature T-cells in these patients. (Moulton & Tsokos, 2011) Therefore, the role of SYK in TCR signaling should not be readily dismissed in all cases.

Regarding FcRs, as mentioned before, they are involved in Ab mediated signaling, following the binding of Ag-Ab complexes. Bound DSA recruit several members of the immune system, through binding of the Fc-portion of the Abs, which are expressed on effector cells of both the innate and adaptive immune response. (Nimmerjahn & Ravetch, 2007) It has been shown that IgG mediated signaling plays a role in hypersensitivity reactions through binding of IgG-

antigen complexes FcγRs on cells of the innate immune system. Three of these, FcγRI, FcγRIIA and FcγRIIIA, are coupled to the activation of Syk through ITAMs. (Sánchez-Mejorada & Rosales, 1998) Bound IgG can trigger phagocytosis and the generation of reactive oxygen species. If this processed is triggered by non-self-molecules which are of no danger for the individual it can cause unnecessary tissue damage. And it was shown in SYK deficient macrophages fail to phagocytose IgG coated particles, while SYK deficient neutrophils fail to undergo oxidative burst. (Kiefer et al., 1998; Ziffle & Lowell, 2009) Recognition of IgG to self-Ag contribute to inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis. Phase I/II trials using fostamatinib in patients with rheumatoid arthritis promising results were obtained regarding decreased joint inflammation. (Genovese et al., 2011; Weinblatt et al., 2008) There have also been studies that showed a role of SYK in ischemia reperfusion and SYK inhibition in amice model reduced tissue damage after ischemia reperfusion, whit was associated with reduced IgM and C3 deposition and reduced infiltration of neutrophils. (Ishizuka et al., 2013; Pamuk et al., 2010)

Therefore, one can speculate that SYK inhibition cannot only affect AMR by regulating the B-cell response but also affect the DSA mediated graft deterioration due to DSA mediated recruitment and activation of inflammatory cell

(III) Co-stimulation blockade to prevent T-cell activation has shown promising results organ transplantation. It has been that shown that by selectively blocking the interaction between CD28 family members and their B7 family ligands, greatly enhances both short term and long-term graft survival. (Lenschow et al., 1992; Turka et al., 1992; Ogawa et al., 2001) The new molecule Belatacept, a CTLA-4 blocking fusion protein has shown promising results following a long-term trial. It improved renal function, and reduced risk of mortality and graft loss in patients treated with Belatacept as compared to calcineurin inhibitors. In the same long-term study, it was observed that Belatacept treatment lead to reduced DSA levels as compared to patients treated with Cyclosporine. (Durrbach et al., 2016; Rostaing et al., 2013; Flavio Vincenti et al., 2016)

The mechanism of how Belatacept affects DSA production have yet be elucidated and are under investigation. Leibler et al (Leibler et al., 2014) have investigated the effect of Belatacept on peripheral blood B-cell populations, and they observed that patients treated with Belatacept higher levels of B-cells having a naïve transitional phenotype and hence lower levels of differentiated MBCs as compared to calcineurin treated patients. Interestingly, in a follow up study, it was observed that these transitional B-cells were enriched in immunoregulatory phenotype. (Bigot et al., 2016) Kim et al. (E. J. Kim et al., 2014) have observed in a rhesus macaquese an obstruction in GC formation and B-cell differentiation following Belatacept treatment. However, it needs to be noted that these results were obtained under T-cell depleted experimental settings, when treated

with Belatacept alone, without T-cell depletion, this effect on GC formation was not observed. (Haggerty & Proctor, 2012; E. J. Kim et al., 2014) And concerns have been raised during the Belatacept trials. For one a higher rate of acute rejection was observed, which were increased 2-fold as compared to cyclosporine treated patients, and the severeness of the acute rejection seemed to be increased as well. (F Vincenti et al., 2005; F. Vincenti et al., 2010) A second concern that has been raised was the increase in post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD), caused by B-cell proliferation which can give rise to Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-associated lymphomas, in patients treated with Belatacept as compared to cyclosporine treated patients. The development of PTLD seemed to occur mainly in EBV seronegative patients. (F. Vincenti et al., 2012)

Since the humoral and cellular immune response are not mutually exclusive, and as observed with Belatacept, targeting the cellular arm can result in effects on the humoral arm. Therefore, one might speculate that blocking the humoral arm of the immune response could affect the cellular immune cells as well. Activation of naïve B-cells leads to the upregulation of costimulatory molecules involved in T-cell interactions, rendering Ag activated B-cells better at interacting with Th-cells. (Depoil et al., 2005; Victora et al., 2010) We show that the inhibition of SYK activation is associated with a reduced CD80 expression, which is a member of the B7 family, however we did not look at other co-stimulatory molecules expressed by the B-cells. B-cells act as APCs as well. Ag binding to the BCR induces internalization of the Ag-BCR complex followed by Ag processing and Ag presentation to T-cells via MHC class II. (Lankar et al., 1998; Ma et al., 2001) Therefore, it would be interesting to investigate the effect of SYK inhibition on T-cell. For example, by investigating the expression profile of other B7-CD28/CTLA-4 family members by B-cells, determine the effect on Ag presentation and T-cell proliferation and differentiation following SYK inhibition.

Therefore, it would be interesting to investigate the effect of SYK inhibition on the Ag presenting capacities of these cells and their ability to activate T-cells in the context of organ transplantation and whether SYK inhibition can influence this process.

(IV) It is necessary to perform transplant mouse experiments to determine the effect of SYK inhibition on B-cells *in vivo*. Regarding the effect of SYK inhibition on GC formation and B-cell differentiation in context of organ transplantation as well as the effect on Ig secretion and the formation of TLS. On the other hand, it is also important to determine the effect of SYK inhibition during an ongoing rejection and determine the effect on ongoing GC/TLS reaction and B-cell differentiation as well as the effect on Ig mediated inflammatory response and tissue damage.

## Annexes

(I) Annex 1

# Subcellular localization of PUMA regulates its pro-apoptotic activity in Burkitt's lymphoma B cells

Gorbatchev Ambroise, Alain Portier, Nathalie Roders, Damien Arnoult and Aimé Vazquez

Oncotarget. 2015 Nov 10;6(35):38181-94. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5901

### Subcellular localization of PUMA regulates its pro-apoptotic activity in Burkitt's lymphoma B cells

### Gorbatchev Ambroise<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Alain Portier<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nathalie Roders<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Damien Arnoult<sup>1,2,3</sup> and Aimé Vazquez<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> INSERM, UMR\_S 1197, Hôpital Paul Brousse, Villejuif, France

<sup>2</sup> Université Paris-Saclay, France

<sup>3</sup> Equipe Labellisée Ligue contre le Cancer, Villejuif, France

Correspondence to: Aimé Vazquez, email: aime.vazquez@inserm.fr Keywords: PUMA, Burkitt's Lymphoma, apoptosis, translocation, mitochondria

Received: April 30, 2015 Accepted: September 17, 2015 Published: September 29, 2015

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### ABSTRACT

The BH3-only protein PUMA (p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis) is a major regulator of apoptosis. It belongs to the Bcl-2 family of proteins responsible for maintaining mitochondrial outer membrane integrity by controlling the intrinsic (mitochondrial) apoptotic pathway. We describe here a new pathway regulating PUMA activation through the control of its subcellular distribution. Surprisingly, neither PUMA upregulation in normal activated human B lymphocytes nor high levels of PUMA in Burkitt's lymphoma (BL) were associated with cell death. We show that PUMA is localized to the cytosol in these cells. By contrast, various apoptosis-triggering signals were found to promote the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria in these cells, leading to their death by apoptosis. This apoptosis was associated with the binding of mitochondrial PUMA to anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family, such as Bcl-2 and Mcl-1. This translocation was caspase-independent but was prevented by inhibiting or knocking down the expression of the MAPK kinase p38. Our data suggest that the accumulation of PUMA in the cytosol may be important for the participation of this protein in apoptosis without the need for prior transcription. This regulatory pathway may be an important feature of differentiation and tumorigenic processes.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Apoptosis is regulated by two major groups of proteins: caspases and the proteins of the Bcl-2 family. Bcl-2 family proteins regulate the integrity of the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) and can be classified into three different groups: pro-apoptotic, antiapoptotic and BH3-only regulators. The pro-apoptotic molecules Bax and Bak are directly responsible for the formation of pores in the MOM, allowing the exit of apoptogenic factors, such as cytochrome-c. The antiapoptotic molecules, such as Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, Bcl-w, A1 or Mcl-1, can inhibit Bax/Bak-dependent MOM permeabilization (MOMP). They can be classified into two subgroups, Mcl-1/A1 and Bcl-2/Bclxl/Bclw, according to their sensitivity to BH3-only proteins and to various inhibitors, such as ABT-737. The third group, BH3-only proteins, contains proteins regulating the other two groups

and controlling the pro/antiapoptotic balance. This group can also be classified into two subgroups: (i) BH3-only proteins binding only one subgroup of anti-apoptotic molecules (e.g. Bad and Bik interact with and inhibit the Bcl-2 subgroup whereas Noxa and Bmf interact with the Mcl-1 subgroup) and (ii) BH3-only proteins able to interact with all anti-apoptotic molecules, such as tBid, Bim and PUMA. These two subgroups also differ in their capacity to activate pro-apoptotic proteins directly. Only the proteins of the second subgroup (tBid, Bim and PUMA) have been reported to interact with and activate Bax and Bak directly [1-3].

PUMA (p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis), also known as Bbc3, was described simultaneously by several different groups [4] [5]. Its gene encodes four different isoforms ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$ ). Only, the  $\alpha$  (23 kDa) and  $\beta$  (18 kDa) isoforms have apoptotic properties. Both these isoforms contain the BH3 domain, essential for

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38181

homotypic interaction with other Bcl-2 family members, and the C-terminal domain, which includes a putative transmembrane domain [4]. PUMA gene transcription is regulated by p53-dependent and p53-independent pathways including various transcription factors, such as Foxo3A, C/EBP and E2F1 [4, 6-8]. PUMA can promote apoptosis by either direct interactions with and inhibition of all anti-apoptotic molecules or the direct activation of Bax and Bak, leading to MOMP [4, 9]. Triple-KO mice (Bid/Bim/PUMA) have the same phenotype as Bax/Bak KO mice, whereas Bim/Bid double-KO mice do not, highlighting the importance of PUMA in the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway [10]. PUMA has been implicated in various apoptotic responses, including DNA damage, growth factor/cytokine withdrawal and the response to glucocorticoids[11, 12] [13]. PUMA has also recently been shown to play a major role in the control of memory T- and B-lymphocyte survival [14, 15]. In this context, activated B cells produce large amounts of PUMA, which is associated with cell activation rather than cell death [15]. This raises questions about the mechanisms preventing PUMA-induced apoptosis in activated lymphocytes. We show here that this paradoxical situation is due to localization of PUMA to the cytosol in these cells. We also show that, in response to apoptotic stimuli, PUMA is translocated from the cytosol to the mitochondria, where it can bind anti-apoptotic molecules, including Bcl-2 and Mcl-1, leading to cell death.

### RESULTS

#### PUMA is present in the cytosol of activated B cells

We previously observed that PUMA expression was strongly upregulated in response to mitogenic activation in vitro, in normal human B lymphocytes (in which PUMA is barely detectable in the absence of such activation) (Figure 1A). This finding was confirmed in vivo: PUMA (mostly the 18 kDa ß isoform) was found to be present in large amounts in germinal center B cells and their tumoral counterparts, Burkitt's lymphoma cells, such as BL41 cells (ref 15 and Figure 1B). Surprisingly, this significant increase in PUMA expression was found to be associated with cell proliferation, as assessed by thymidine uptake, rather than cell death (Figure 1A). This paradoxical observation suggested that the pro-apoptotic activity of PUMA was somehow inhibited, allowing the cells to grow and preventing them from dying. However, we previously observed that the amounts of Bcl-2, Bcl-XL and Mcl-1 were stable after mitogenic activation, indicating that the increase in PUMA expression was not counterbalanced by the production of large amounts of the anti-apoptotic counterparts of PUMA (see figure 1A in ref. 15). We checked that the protein observed was indeed

PUMA, by assessing the specificity of the anti-PUMA antibody (Ab) targeting the C-terminal end of PUMA used in two ways: (i) Following immunoprecipitation of the FLAG-tagged recombinant  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$  isoforms of PUMA with an anti-FLAG antibody, our anti-PUMA Ab was able to recognize both these isoforms (which were absent from the control Ig immunoprecipitate; Supplementary Figure 1A & 1B). (ii) Using two different siRNAs, we observed a knockdown of the expression of both the  $\alpha$  (23 kDa) and  $\beta$ (18 kDa) isoforms of endogenous PUMA (Supplementary Figure 1C). The activity of some Bcl-2 family members is known to be regulated by their localization to particular compartments within the cell (e.g. Bax, Bid and Bad [16-18]). We therefore investigated the distribution of PUMA within these cells. Using a commercial kit (Calbiochem), we showed that PUMA was concentrated in the cytoplasmic fraction (fraction 1) of SAC-activated B cells. Almost no PUMA was found in the heavy membrane fraction (fraction 2), which included mitochondrionassociated proteins, such as VDAC, the BH3-only protein Bim and the anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1. No PUMA was present in the fractions corresponding to the nucleus (fraction 3) or the less soluble fraction associated with the cytoskeleton (fraction 4) (Figure 1A). A similar distribution of PUMA and Bim was observed when BL41 cells were fractionated with the same kit (Figure 2A). For confirmation of these observations, we performed another type of fractionation, leading to the separation of cytosolic fractions (S25 or S) and mitochondrion-enriched fractions (P5 or P) (Figure 1C). Again, PUMA was present in the cytosolic fractions (S), whereas Bim and VDAC were present in the heavy membrane fractions (P) prepared from B41 cells (Figure 1B). PUMA was found in the cytosol of other BL cell lines, including CA46, Daudi and Ramos. EBV infection did not alter either the expression or the cytosolic localization of PUMA: no difference was observed between EBV-infected BL cells, such as BL41 95.8 or Ramos AW, and uninfected BL41 or Ramos cells (Figure1D). As previously reported [19], Bim, unlike PUMA, displayed a strong downregulation of expression in the presence of EBV (Figure 1D). We then studied the cellular distribution of PUMA by immunofluorescence methods. Confocal microscopy showed that, unlike Mcl-1, PUMA did not colocalize with the mitochondria (TOM20). This finding confirmed that PUMA was cytosolic rather than located at the mitochondrial surface in BL41 cells (Figure 1E). Moreover, with the exception of the BH3only protein Bid and the pro-apoptotic protein Bax, the cytoplasmic localization of which has been clearly established, the other Bcl-2 family members present in BL41 cells (the BH3-only proteins Bim, Noxa, Bik, the pro-apoptotic Bak and the anti-apoptotic proteins Mcl-1, Bcl-2 and BclxL) were all found in the mitochondrial fractions (Figure 1F).

Thus, PUMA had an unexpected, never before reported distribution in non-apoptotic activated human

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38182



**Figure 1: PUMA is present in the cytosol of activated B cells. A.** Human tonsilar B cells were treated with mitogenic doses of *Staphylococcus aureus* strain Cowan 1 (pansorbin: SAC) at a dilution of 1/10,000 for 24 h. Proliferation was assessed by measuring DNA synthesis, as assessed from <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation during the last 16 h of culture, in counts per minute (cpm). Cells were fractionated with the Calbiochem<sup>®</sup> extraction kit and western blotting was used to determine the subcellular localization of PUMA, Bim and Mcl-1 in the fractions (1: cytosol; 2 heavy membrane; 3: nucleus and 4: less soluble material associated with the cytoskeleton). **B.** Resting BL41 cells were fractionated as in **A.** and the subcellular localization of PUMA, Bim, VDAC, tubulin and PARP was assessed by western blotting. CA46, BL41 and Ramos Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines and their EBV-positive counterparts (BL41 95.8 for BL41 and RamosAW for Ramos) were fractionated and the S and P fractions tested for PUMA, Bim, GAPDH and VDAC by western blotting. **E.** BL41 cells were stained with anti-PUMA, anti-Mcl-1 and anti-TOM20 primary antibodies with their corresponding fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies, green for PUMA and Mcl-1 or red for TOM20, and the subcellular distribution of PUMA and Mcl-1 was analyzed by confocal microscopy (E, right panel). **F.** Resting BL41 cells were fractionated as shown in **C.** and the subcellular distributions of the various Bcl-2 family members were analyzed by western blotting.

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38183

B cells and in Burkitt's lymphoma cells, in which it was localized to the cytosol.

### Apoptosis is associated with the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria

We then investigated whether apoptotic signals affected the distribution of PUMA. The induction of BL41 cell apoptosis through BCR-mediated activation with cross-linked anti-µ Abs [20], drugs such as anisomycin [21] or by the UV treatment of HeLa cells [22] was associated with the translocation of PUMA from the cytosol to the mitochondria (Figure 2A, 2B, 2C and Supplementary Figure 2). This finding was confirmed by confocal microscopy, showing that anisomycin triggered the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria, together with Bax expression in the mitochondria, and the release of cytochrome c into the cytosol (Supplementary Figure 2A & 2B). This suggests that the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria may play a role in mitochondrial activation, leading to apoptosis. Consistent with this hypothesis, the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria was also observed as early as 2 h after the exposure of HeLa cells to UV light, before appearance of apoptotic features, such as caspase-3 activation (manifested by PARP-1 cleavage) and cell shrinkage (Figure 2C). Furthermore, the siRNA-mediated downregulation of PUMA was correlated with the inhibition of anisomycinmediated apoptosis in BL41 cells, strongly suggesting that this mitochondrial translocation of PUMA played an important role in the apoptotic process (Figure 2D). We checked that this translocation was directly associated with the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway, by activating HeLa cells with recombinant TRAIL. TRAIL-mediated apoptosis was not associated with the mitochondrial translocation of PUMA or the release of mitochondrial cytochrome c (Figure 2E panels a and b). These data provide strong support for our conclusion that PUMA translocation is associated with the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. Nevertheless, it remains possible that the mitochondrion-associated PUMA was a newly synthesized protein rather than that localized to the cytosol in non-apoptotic cells. We addressed this question in two ways: (i) we quantified PUMA gene transcription, by carrying out qPCR on RNA isolated from BL41 cells activated with anisomycin or anti-µ antibody, or not activated. We observed no difference in PUMA mRNA levels between these cells (Supplementary Figure 3 panel a), (ii) we investigated the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria in the presence of the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide. We observed no decrease in the amount of PUMA in the mitochondria in the absence of protein synthesis (Supplementary Figure 3 panel b). Overall, these data fully support the conclusion that the PUMA present in the mitochondria came from the preexisting cytosolic pool and was not synthesized de novo.

### PUMA overproduction is associated with mitochondrial localization and apoptosis

We overproduced PUMA in HeLa cells, to determine whether the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria led to the induction of apoptosis. Both biochemical separation (Figure 3A, panel a) and confocal microscopy (panel b), showed that the overproduced PUMA was present at the mitochondria. This mitochondrial localization was associated with cytochrome c release (panel c) and cell shrinkage (panel a), suggesting that the presence of PUMA at the mitochondria was sufficient to induce cell death. We investigated the mechanisms underlying this translocation, by studying the localization and the pro-apoptotic activity of various truncated PUMA proteins. Constructs including the N-terminal or C-terminal ends of the  $\beta$  isoform of PUMA, including the BH3 domain, were overproduced in HeLa cells, and their cellular distribution was determined (Figure 3B panel a). The C-terminal fragment, like the full-length protein (PUMA  $\beta$ ), was present at mitochondria (panels b and c), and this mitochondrial localization was associated with apoptosis (panel d). By contrast, the N-terminal fragment was found mostly in the cytosol of the transfected cells (Figure 3B panels b and c) and was not associated with cell death (panel d). We therefore verified that the N-terminal fragment was well produced in the presence (Figure 3B panel c) or the absence of the caspase-inhibitor Q-VD-OPh (Figure 3B panel d and Supplementary Figure 4 panel a). The data obtained showed that PUMA-mediated apoptosis was dependent on its mitochondrial localization and also implicated the C-terminal domain of PUMA in this localization. We also found that deletion of the BH3 domain of the C-terminal fragment abolished its apoptotic properties (Supplementary Figure 4 panel b). This suggests that, once translocated to the mitochondria, PUMA binds other Bcl-2 family proteins via its BH3 domain.

### Mitochondrial PUMA binds to and may inhibit Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 in BL41 cells

The apoptosis-mediating activity of PUMA, like that of all BH3-only proteins, is due to its binding, *via* its BH3 domain, with anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family (such as Mcl-1 or Bcl-2) and/or with the proapoptotic proteins Bax and Bak [9, 23-25]. We therefore investigated the association of PUMA with Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 in both activated and non-activated BL41 cells. No association between PUMA and these anti-apoptotic proteins (Figure 4A panel a) was observed in healthy cells, consistent with the cytosolic location of PUMA and the mitochondrial location of the anti-apoptotic proteins (Figure 1F). However, following activation with

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38184



**Figure 2: PUMA is found at the mitochondria when apoptosis is triggered. A.** BL41 cells were stimulated for 36 h with mouse anti-human  $\mu$  antibodies (5  $\mu$ g/ml) cross-linked with anti-mouse IgM antibodies (28  $\mu$ g/ml). Western blotting was used to test the cytosol (S) and heavy membrane fractions (P) for PUMA. Apoptosis was assessed by flow cytometry and cells were considered apoptotic if they were shrunken, with high side scatter and low forward scatter. The data shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate experiments. **B.** BL41 cells were stimulated with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml) for 4 h. The S and P fractions were tested for PUMA, GAPDH and VDAC by western blotting, and apoptosis was assessed by flow cytometry. **C.** HeLa cells were exposed to UV (6 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>) and cultured for 2 h. Cell lysates were fractionated and the fractions were tested for PUMA, GAPDH and VDAC by western blotting. Cell shrinking and PARP-1 cleavage were assessed by flow cytometry and western blotting, respectively, at the indicated times following UV exposure. The data shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate experiments **D.** BL41 cells transfected with anon-targeting siRNA (CT) or a PUMA-targeting siRNA (P1 and P2) for 76 h were treated for 4 h with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml) or left untreated (controls). Apoptosis was analyzed by flow cytometry (means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate experiments) and PUMA knockdown efficiency was analyzed by western blotting with GAPDH as a loading control. **E.** HeLa cells were or were not activated with recombinant TRAIL (100 ng/ml) for 4 h. (enter a) Cells were stained with anti-PUMA and red for cytochrome *c* primary antibodies with their corresponding fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies, green for PUMA and red for cytochrome *c*, and the subcellular localization of PUMA and cytochrome *c* was analyzed by flow cytometry.

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38185





**Figure 3:** When overproduced, PUMA is found at the mitochondria and induces apoptosis. A. HeLa cells, left untreated or treated for 30 min with 10  $\mu$ M QVD-OPh, were transfected with a plasmid encoding a full-length Flag-tagged PUMA  $\beta$  (Puma  $\beta$ ) or an empty vector (EV) and incubated for 24 h. The subcellular distributions of PUMA  $\beta$ , Bim, VDAC and GAPDH in QVD-OPh-treated cells were analyzed by western blotting (panel a). The data shown are means  $\pm$  SD for triplicate experiments. EV- or PUMA  $\beta$ -transfected HeLa cells were stained with anti-FLAG and anti-HSP60 (panel b) or with anti-FLAG and anti-cytochrome *c* (panel c) primary antibodies, together with the corresponding fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies, green for PUMA and red for HSP60 or cytochrome *c*. **B.** HeLa cells, treated for 30 min with QVD-OPh, were transfected with an empty vector (EV) or the full-length PUMA  $\beta$  (Puma  $\beta$ ), N-terminal (Nter) or C-terminal (Cter) constructs of PUMA (panel a) and incubated for 24 h. Cells were studied by western blotting (panel c), to determine the subcellular distribution of the proteins. HeLa cells were transfected with the various constructs, in the absence of QVD-OPh, incubated for 24 h and apoptosis was assessed by flow cytometry (panel c). Mean values  $\pm$  SD for triplicate experiments are reported.

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38186

anisomycin, PUMA was translocated to the mitochondria, where it interacted with Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 (Figure 4A panel b). Likewise, the mitochondrial PUMA  $\beta$  recombinant protein, which strongly induced cell death (Figure 3A and 3B), was able to bind Mcl-1, as demonstrated by cross-immunoprecipitation of transfected cell lysates with anti-FLAG (PUMA) and anti-Mcl-1 Abs (Figure 4B). Unlike the full-length PUMA  $\beta$  and the C-terminal fragment, the N-terminal fragment, which was located in the cytosol, did not bind Mcl-1 (Supplementary Figure 4 panel c). Similar associations between PUMA and Bax or Bak proteins were not detected in our experimental conditions, either in activated BL41 cells or in transfected HeLa cells (data not shown). Nevertheless, both proteins seem to be required for the apoptotic properties of PUMA.

Indeed, transfection of deficient MEF cells for Bax or Bak promotes an intermediate level of apoptosis in these cells whereas double deficient cells for both Bax and Bak were resistant to apoptosis mediated by PUMA  $\beta$  recombinant (Supplementary Figure 5). Altogether, these data show that (i) translocation of PUMA to mitochondria leads to its association with the anti-apoptotic proteins Mcl-1 and/or Bcl-2 and (ii) that apoptosis resulting from this translocation depends on both Bax and Bak.

### The translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria is caspase-independent but p38-dependent

We assessed the dependence of PUMA translocation on caspases, given the key role that caspases are known



**Figure 4: Mitochondrial PUMA binds to Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 in BL41 cells.** A. BL41 cells were left untreated or were treated for 4 h with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml). Cell lysates were prepared and fractionated. S and P fractions from non-activated (panel a) and activated (panel b) cells were tested for Mcl-1, Bcl-2 and PUMA by western blotting. PUMA was immunoprecipitated (IP) from the S fraction of unstimulated cells (panel a) and the P fraction of stimulated cells (panel b); the immunoprecipitate was tested for Bcl-2 and Mcl-1 by western blotting (\* non-specific band). **B.** HeLa cells pretreated with 10  $\mu$ M QVD-OPh were transfected with an empty vector (EV) or a full-length FLAG-tagged PUMA construct (PUMA  $\beta$ ), incubated for 24 h and lysed; cell lysates were separated into S and P fractions. The P fraction was subjected to IP with anti-FLAG or Mcl-1 antibodies. The resulting immune complexes were analyzed by western blotting with antibodies against PUMA (FLAG) or Mcl-1. VDAC and GAPDH were used as fraction purity controls for mitochondria and cytosol, respectively.

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38187



**Figure 5: PUMA mitochondrial translocation (PMT) is caspase-independent but p38-dependent. A.** HeLa cells were treated or mock-treated with QVD-OPh (10  $\mu$ M) for 30 min then exposed to UV (6 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>) and cultured for an additional 2 h. The subcellular distribution of PUMA, Bim, GAPDH and VDAC was determined by subjecting western blotting the S and P fractions. B. BL41 cells treated or mock-treated with QVD-OPh (10  $\mu$ M) were stimulated with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml) for 4 h and the subcellular distributions of PUMA, Bim, tubulin and VDAC were determined by fractionation and western blotting. C. BL41 cells were treated or mock-treated with 10  $\mu$ M SP600125 (SP) for 30 min then stimulated for 4 h with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml). The subcellular distributions of PUMA, cytochrome *c*, GAPDH and VDAC were analyzed by fractionation and western blotting (panel a). BL41 cells were treated with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml) for 0, 15 or 30 min. Phosphorylated p38 levels were assessed by western blotting with an anti-phospho-p38 antibody (Pp38) and total p38 levels were assessed with an anti-p38 Ab (p38) (panel b). BL41 cells were treated or mock-treated with 10  $\mu$ M SB203580 (SB) or 10  $\mu$ M QVD-OPh for 30 min, then stimulated for 4 h with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml), and apoptosis was assessed by flow cytometry (panel c). **D.** BL41 cells transfected with a non-targeting siRNA (NS) or a p38-targeting siRNA (p38A and p38B) for 76 h were treated for 0 (NS) or 4 h with anisomycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml). The subcellular distributions of PUMA, Bim, GAPDH and VDAC were determined by western blotting with GAPDH and VDAC were determined by fractionation and western blotting with GAPDH as a loading control. **E.** Proposed model for the pathways regulating the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria and role in apoptosis induction.

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38188

to play in apoptotic cell death. Prior treatment of BL41 cells with the pan-caspase inhibitor Q-VD-OPh did not prevent the mitochondrial translocation of PUMA following UV exposure (Figure 5A) or treatment with apoptotic doses of anisomycin (Figure 5B). These findings suggest that caspase activation occurs downstream from the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria. Various members of the MAPK family of kinases play a major role in early signaling. We investigated their possible role in controlling the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria. We found that, following anisomycin treatment, the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria was significantly decreased by the MAPK p38 inhibitor SB203580, whereas a more specific inhibitor of JNK (SP600125) had only a very weak effect (Figure 5C panel a). As a control, we checked that anisomycin promoted the phosphorylation and activation of p38 in our experimental conditions (Figure 5C panel b) and that the inhibition of p38 decreased anisomycin-mediated apoptosis (Figure 5C panel c). Furthermore, the siRNAmediated downregulation of p38 was associated with inhibition of the anisomycin-induced translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria (Figure 5D). We also observed a very similar pattern in HeLa cells treated with UV: (i) p38 was phosphorylated (Supplementary Fig. 6 panel a) and (ii) and the decrease of p38 expression with specific siRNA (Supplementary Figure 6 panel b) inhibited the mitochondrial translocation of PUMA (Supplementary Figure 6 panel c). In this context, no change was observed in the levels of anti-apoptotic proteins, such as Bcl-XL which is present in large amounts in HeLa cells (Supplementary Figure 6 panel d). These findings are consistent with the notion that apoptotic stimuli (such as anisomycin or UV treatment) can induce the translocation of cytosolic PUMA to the mitochondria, in a p38-dependent manner. After reaching the mitochondria, PUMA can bind to and inhibit Mcl-1 and/or Bcl-2, thereby promoting mitochondrial activation and the subsequent activation of caspases and apoptosis (Figure 5E).

### DISCUSSION

We describe here an original mechanism controlling PUMA activation: its translocation from the cytosol to the mitochondria. The pro-apoptotic activity of PUMA is believed to be largely controlled by the transcriptional and posttranslational regulation of its expression, through the modulation of its degradation. The general consensus is that once produced, PUMA is targeted to the mitochondria, where it can act as a pro-apoptotic protein [26], as observed in our experimental conditions after the synthesis of recombinant PUMA, eventually inducing cell death. However, in some conditions, the upregulation of PUMA may be associated with cell activation and proliferation rather than apoptosis. This situation has been observed, for example, during the activation of human B lymphocytes *in* 

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38189

or activation with mitogens, such as SAC [15]. In vivo, germinal center B cells and Burkitt's lymphoma cells (their tumoral counterpart) also produce large amounts of PUMA without the occurrence of cell death [15]. We show here that the role of PUMA in these non-apoptotic cells is dependent on its cytosolic localization. Our results also demonstrate that the translocation of PUMA from the cytosol to the mitochondria, in the absence of transcriptional regulation, is an alternative pathway for the expression of the pro-apoptotic activity of PUMA, at least in some cell types, including B lymphocytes. Our findings indicate that, in our system, PUMA must be "activated" by translocation to the mitochondria, to induce apoptosis. Several unanswered questions remain about the maintenance of PUMA in the cytosol. Other BH-3-only proteins are located in the cytoplasm or associated with the cytoskeleton. Bim and Bmf can be associated with skeleton structures, such as tubulin and actin [27, 28], respectively, whereas other proteins are sequestered in the cytoplasm through direct interaction with the chaperone protein 14-3-3 (Bad) or through interactions with unknown partners or in the absence of partners, as for Bid [18, 29, 30]. The subcellular distribution of endogenous PUMA has not been extensively studied. PUMA is generally described as mitochondrial, but one group reported interactions between PUMA and the cytosolic domain of the activated EGFR and EGFRvIII proteins, resulting in its cytosolic sequestration in glioblastoma cells [31]. We detected no interactions, in our cells, between PUMA and other members of the ErbB family (EGFR is not expressed by B cells), such as ErbB1, ErbB2, ErbB3 or ErbB4, which may be present at various levels in some B cells, such as multiple myeloma cells [32]. We have not yet identified any putative cytosolic partners of PUMA in B cells, although mass spectrometry analysis has suggested various potential candidates for further investigation. Alternatively p38 may mediate an increase in PUMA transcription, by activating p53, with or without c-Abl [33-35]. It therefore remains possible that the PUMA in the mitochondria was synthesized *de novo* rather than being translocated from the cytosol of non-apoptotic cells. However, this seems unlikely in our model, because (i) we observed no increase in PUMA mRNA levels in our experimental conditions and (ii) the mitochondrial translocation of PUMA was not prevented by the inhibition of protein synthesis.

vitro following stimulation of the BCR and CD40 receptor,

Our data indicate that the C-terminal domain, rather than the BH3 domain, is crucial for the targeting of PUMA to mitochondria. Indeed, the N-terminal fragment containing the BH3 domain was located in the cytosol, whereas the C-terminal fragment was associated with mitochondria and able to induce the death of transfected cells. The BH3 domain is therefore not sufficient to target PUMA to mitochondria, whereas the C-terminal domain common to the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  isoforms of PUMA and containing a putative transmembrane domain, is necessary for the mitochondrial localization of the protein [36]. These findings suggest that the mitochondrial localization of PUMA involves the insertion of PUMA into the mitochondrial outer membrane rather than simple contact with mitochondrial outer membrane proteins [37]. Three issues need to be addressed: (i) the molecular structure of cytosolic PUMA, (ii) the molecular basis of its translocation to the mitochondria and (iii) the nature of the mitochondrial partners of PUMA.

Phosphorylation regulates the activity of many proteins. The MAPK family of kinases plays an important role in regulating the expression and localization of various BH3-only proteins. Indeed, Erk can phosphorylate Bim, driving its degradation by the proteasome [38] [20]. Phosphorylation by JNK may control the release of Bim and Bmf from tubulin and actin, respectively, and JNK-mediated Bid phosphorylation prevents Bid cleavage by caspase-8 and, thus, its activation [27, 28, 39-41]. Phosphorylation have been reported to affect Bim and PUMA degradation [20, 42, 43]. Sandow et al. recently reported that IKK-mediated phosphorylation of the PUMA S10 residue can induce the degradation of this protein by the proteasome [44]. Interestingly, the  $\beta$ isoform, major isoform present in human B cells ([15] [21] and this paper), lacks the S10 residue, suggesting other residues may be involved in a similar way. Indeed, Fricker et al. described also other phosphorylation sites besides S10 (the predominant one) whose effect on PUMA expression or function remains unknown [43]. It has also been suggested that p38 may trigger an increase in PUMA transcription via p53 (with or without c-Abl activation ([33] [35] [34]). This suggests that the PUMA associated with mitochondria might be newly synthesized rather than translocated from the cytoplasm. This is unlikely in our model because (i) there was no increase in PUMA mRNA levels in our experimental conditions and (ii) the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria was observed in the presence of the protein synthesis cycloheximide. Thus, the translocation of PUMA to the mitochondria is dependent on p38 activation. We are therefore currently trying to determine whether (i) PUMA is phosphorylated upon apoptotic stimuli and (ii) a direct phosphorylation of PUMA by p38 is required for its translocation, and, if not, which targets of p38 might be involved

Once translocated to the mitochondria, PUMA can associate with other members of the Bcl-2 family [26]. Our data clearly show that, following apoptotic stimulation, PUMA can bind to and potentially inhibit both Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 in BL41 cells. This finding is consistent with previous demonstrations that the pro-apoptotic activity of PUMA depends on its capacity to interact with, and thereby inhibit the biologic activity of anti-apoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family, such as Mcl-1 and Bcl-2. However, there is evidence that PUMA may also associate with and directly activate the pro-apoptotic molecules Bax and Bak [23, 26, 45], although this remains to be demonstrated definitively. In our experimental conditions, we detected no direct association between PUMA and Bax or Bak. This implies that (i) no such association occurred in our experimental conditions or, more probably, (ii) no such association was detectable in the physiological conditions used (almost all the experiments showing such an interaction were performed with recombinant proteins) [23, 45, 46]. This is consistent with the "hit and run" model involving a transient interaction of PUMA with Bax and Bak [47-49]. Nevertheless, our data show that PUMAmediated apoptosis is directly dependent on the production and function of both Bax and Bak, because, in the absence of these molecules, the mitochondrial translocation of PUMA does not lead to apoptosis.

PUMA, along with Bid and Bim, is a major regulator of apoptosis involved in the responses of various types of cells to a large panel of apoptotic stimuli. It is therefore important to determine whether the original mechanism observed in Burkitt's cells is also found in other cell types. We also observed the same cytosolic localization of PUMA in various multiple myeloma cell lines, the tumoral counterpart of normal plasma cells of the B-cell lineage (data not shown). We are currently studying the distribution of PUMA in a wide variety of tumor cells, to determine whether the presence of PUMA in the cytoplasm is restricted to lymphoid cells or is a more general feature as suggested by our observations in HeLa cells. Our data suggest that the accumulation of PUMA in the cytosol may be an important feature in the differentiation and tumorigenesis processes, allowing this protein to participate in the apoptotic process without the need for additional transcription.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### Antibodies and reagents

We used primary antibodies against the following proteins for immunoblotting (IB) and immunofluorescence staining (IF): PUMA (C-Term, 1652-1, clone EP512Y) and Bim (1036-1, clone Y36) from Abcam; Bax (N-20, sc-493), Bcl-2 (C-2, sc-7382), Bcl-XL (S18, sc-634), Bik (FC-160, sc-10770), HSP60 (N-20, sc-1052), Mcl-1 (S-19, sc-819), Tom20 (F-10, sc-17764), and tubulin (TU-02, sc-8035) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology; VDAC (AB10527) from Merck Millipore; cytochrome *c* (IB: 556433; IF: 556432) and PARP-1 (556362, clone C2-10) from BD Pharmingen; FLAG (F1804, clone M2) and GAPDH (G9545) from Sigma-Aldrich; NOXA (IMG-349A) from Imgenex; Bid (AF860) from R&D Systems; Bak (38145) caspase-3 (9662) and P-p38 (9211) from Cell Signaling Technology.

Anti-human IgM (DA.44) monoclonal antibodies from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) were

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38190

purified on protein A-Sepharose columns from Pharmacia Biotech. Anti-mouse IgM antibody was obtained from Jackson Immunotech.

The following reagents were used: anisomycin (A9789) and cycloheximide from Sigma-Aldrich; Q-VD-OPh (OPH001) and recombinant TRAIL from R&D Systems; N-tosyl-Phe chloromethyl ketone (TPCK, 616387) and SP600125 (420119) from Calbiochem and SB203580 (PHZ1253) from Life Technologies.

### **RNA interference**

PUMA/BBC3 silencing was achieved with two small interfering RNAs (siRNA), BBC3HSS146895 and BBC3HS178326 referred to as "P1" and "P2" respectively. Medium GC duplex (12935-112) was used as a negative control. All these siRNA oligomers were purchased from Life Technologies. P38 silencing was achieved with 2 siRNAs, SASI\_Hs01\_00018465 and SASI\_Hs01\_00018464, referred to as "p38A" and "p38B" respectively, from Sigma-Aldrich. We assessed siRNA knockdown efficiency by western blotting.

#### **Plasmid construction**

The full-length cDNA for the human  $\beta$  isoform of PUMA (kindly provided by Dr P. Juin, Nantes) was inserted into p3XFLAG-CMV-10 (Sigma-Aldrich, E7658). The sequences encoding N-terminal-BH3 (1-258) and C-terminal-BH3 (232-395) were amplified by PCR and ligated into the same plasmid. All constructs were checked by DNA sequencing.

### Cell culture and DNA and siRNA transfections

The BL41, BL41 95.8, Ramos, Ramos AW, DAUDI and CA46 cell lines were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium with GlutaMAX<sup>™</sup>, supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 10 mM HEPES, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 1 x nonessential amino acids (Life Technologies). HeLa and MEF cells were cultured in DMEM (Sigma, D0819) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 0.1 mg/ml Normocin<sup>™</sup> (InvivoGen) and antibiotics. SV-40-transformed Bax<sup>-/-</sup>, Bak<sup>-/-</sup>, DKO and the corresponding wild-type (WT) MEF cells were generously provided by Stanley J Korsmeyer (Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA).

BL41 cells were transfected with siRNA in the BTX-Harvard Apparatus ECM 830 Square Wave Electroporation System (Fisher Scientific). For each siRNA,  $4x10^6$  BL41 cells were washed twice in RPMI 1640 without GlutaMAX<sup>TM</sup> and resuspended in 400 µl of medium in a cuvette, with 80 nmol of the appropriate

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38191

siRNA. Cells were then electroporated at 240 V for 10 ms, and transferred to six-well plates in a final volume of 4 ml. The experiments were carried out 72 h later.

HeLa cells were transiently transfected with empty and PUMA-encoding p-CMV-neo vectors, with Fugene HD (Promega, E2311), according to the manufacturer's protocol or with 5 mol of the appropriate siRNA, with oligofectamine (Invitrogen, 12252-011). Cells were treated with Q-VD-OPh for 30 min, then transfected with DNA.

### qPCR

RNA was extracted from the cultured cells with the RNeasy Plus mini kit (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cell lysates for RNA extraction were obtained by homogenization with QIAshredder spin columns (Qiagen). We synthesized cDNA with the RevertAid H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific). In brief, 5 µg RNA was combined with oligo (dT)<sub>18</sub> primer (10 µM), H<sub>2</sub>O, 5x reaction buffer, 10 mM dNTP mix, RiboLock RNase inhibitor (20 U/µL) and RevertAid H Minus M-MuLV reverse transcriptase (200 U/ $\mu$ L). The mixture was incubated at 42°C for 60 minutes and then at 70°C for five minutes to stop the reaction. We carried out qPCR in a volume of 20 µl containing 5 µl undiluted cDNA, primers (0.75 µM final concentration) and Power SYBR® Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems). The following primers were used: PUMA (fw 5'-GACGACCTCAACGCACAGTA-3'; rv 5'- CTAATTGGGCTCCATCTCG-3')\* and 18s (fw 5'-AGAAACGGCTACCACATCCA-3'; rv 5'-CACCAGACTTGCCCTCCA-3')\*\* (SIGMA). PCR was performed on an Mx3005P qPCR System (Agilent Technologies), as follows: 95°C for 10 min followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 30 s, 72°C for 30 s. PCR efficiency was determined with 10-fold dilutions, as follows: Efficiency  $\mathbf{E}_{\bullet} = 10^{(-1/\text{slope})}$ . The ratio of PUMA expression in treated cells to PUMA expression in untreated cells was determined as follows: Ratio =  $((E_{PUMA})^{\Delta Ct PUMA (control-treated)})/((E_{18s})^{\Delta Ct 18s (control-treated)}).$ 

### Immunofluorescence (IF) staining and confocal microscopy

Cells were fixed by incubation with 4% paraformaldehyde (Alfa Aesar, 43368) for 15 min, then permeabilized by incubation with 0.15% Triton-X100 (Sigma-Aldrich, X100) for 15 min. Samples were blocked by incubation with 2% BSA (Sigma, A9576) for 30 min. The cells were incubated with relevant primary antibodies at a dilution of 1:400 for 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C, then with the corresponding secondary antibodies conjugated with fluorescent dyes (Alexa Fluor<sup>®</sup>, Life Technologies), at 1:800, for 1 h at room temperature, in the dark. DAPI (Life Technologies,

D1306) was then incubated with the cells, at a dilution of 1:10,000 for five minutes, for nuclear staining and cells were mounted on cover slips in 7  $\mu$ L of Fluoromount-G<sup>TM</sup> slide mounting medium (Beckman Coulter, 731604). Cells were washed three times with PBS between steps. Images were acquired with a Leica SP5 confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems) equipped with a x63 oil immersion fluorescence objective.

### Western blot analysis

Whole-cell lysates were prepared by incubation of the cells with TNT buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 1% Triton and 1% Igepal/NP-40), supplemented with Halt<sup>™</sup> protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific, 1861279) for 30 min. The lysates were clarified by centrifugation at 10,000 x g for 10 min. Cells were fractionated with the ProteoExtract Subcellular Proteome Extraction Kit (Calbiochem, 539790), according to the manufacturer's protocol. At least  $4x10^6$  cells were lysed mechanically in 27G 1/2 Tuberculin syringes (Sigma, Z192082-100EA), in 200 µL of H60 buffer (20 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 60 mM KCl) supplemented with the same protease inhibitor cocktail (18 back and forth movements), and fractionated by differential centrifugation (procedure detailed in Figure 1C). The P5 pellets were washed once in H60 buffer and lysed in TNT buffer with 1% SDS for 30 min. Protein quantity was measured with the microBCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific, 23235). Protein samples (usually 5  $\mu$ g) were then boiled for 5 min at 99°C after the addition of Tris-Glycine SDS sample buffer (Life Technologies, LC2676) with 10% ß-mercaptoethanol (Sigma, M3148), separated on gradient 5-20% polyacrylamide gels and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Santa Cruz, sc-201698). The membranes were incubated with specific antibodies, and bound antibody was visualized by chemiluminescence with the Immobilon western chemiluminescence HRP substrate (Millipore, WBKLS0500) and a DDC camera (LAS-4000 mini, Fujifilm).

#### Immunoprecipitation

500  $\mu$ l of whole cell lysates, cytosol fractions (S25) or mitochondria-enriched fractions (P5) were precleared by adding 40  $\mu$ l of protein G-sepharose beads (Sigma-Aldrich, P3296) and placed on a spinning wheel at 4°C. After 30 min, the beads were pulled down by centrifugation at 15,000g for 10 sec. The supernatant was collected and 2  $\mu$ g of relevant antibody and 40  $\mu$ l of protein G-sepharose beads were added, and the samples were spinned at 4°C for 2h. The beads were pulled down by centrifugation, and the supernatant discarded. Bound proteins were eluted from the beads with 30  $\mu$ l of Tris-Glycine SDS sample buffer with 10% β-mercaptoethanol.

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

Samples were then analyzed by western blotting.

#### **Detection of apoptotic cells**

The dot-plot scatter profiles of the cells were analyzed by flow cytometry with a BD Accuri C6 Flow Cytometer<sup>®</sup> (BD Biosciences). Shrunken cells with high side scatter (SSC) and low forward scatter (FSC) were considered apoptotic. The number of apoptotic cells is expressed as a percentage of the total population.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by fellowships and grants from INSERM, *Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer (Equipe labellisée)*, and *Cancéropole IdF* (ERABL project). GA and NR hold fellowships from *Vaincre le Cancer-Nouvelles Recherches Biomédicales* (NRB) and the French Ministry of Research respectively.

### **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

The authors have no competing financial interests relating to this work to declare.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Galonek HL and Hardwick JM. Upgrading the BCL-2 network. Nat Cell Biol. 2006; 8:1317-1319.
- Youle RJ and Strasser A. The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008; 9:47-59.
- Huang DC and Strasser A. BH3-Only proteins-essential initiators of apoptotic cell death. Cell. 2000; 103:839-842.
- Nakano K and Vousden KH. PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. Mol Cell. 2001; 7:683-694.
- Yu J, Zhang L, Hwang PM, Kinzler KW and Vogelstein B. PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cell. 2001; 7:673-682.
- Hershko T and Ginsberg D. Up-regulation of Bcl-2 homology 3 (BH3)-only proteins by E2F1 mediates apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279:8627-8634.
- Li J, Lee B and Lee AS. Endoplasmic reticulum stressinduced apoptosis: multiple pathways and activation of p53up-regulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA) and NOXA by p53. J Biol Chem. 2006; 281:7260-7270.
- You H, Pellegrini M, Tsuchihara K, Yamamoto K, Hacker G, Erlacher M, Villunger A and Mak TW. FOXO3adependent regulation of Puma in response to cytokine/ growth factor withdrawal. J Exp Med. 2006; 203:1657-1663.
- Chen L, Willis SN, Wei A, Smith BJ, Fletcher JI, Hinds MG, Colman PM, Day CL, Adams JM and Huang DC. Differential targeting of prosurvival Bcl-2 proteins by

Oncotarget

38192

their BH3-only ligands allows complementary apoptotic function. Mol Cell. 2005; 17:393-403.

- Ren D, Tu HC, Kim H, Wang GX, Bean GR, Takeuchi O, Jeffers JR, Zambetti GP, Hsieh JJ and Cheng EH. BID, BIM, and PUMA are essential for activation of the BAXand BAK-dependent cell death program. Science. 2010; 330:1390-1393.
- Han J, Flemington C, Houghton AB, Gu Z, Zambetti GP, Lutz RJ, Zhu L and Chittenden T. Expression of bbc3, a pro-apoptotic BH3-only gene, is regulated by diverse cell death and survival signals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001; 98:11318-11323.
- Jeffers JR, Parganas E, Lee Y, Yang C, Wang J, Brennan J, MacLean KH, Han J, Chittenden T, Ihle JN, McKinnon PJ, Cleveland JL and Zambetti GP. Puma is an essential mediator of p53-dependent and -independent apoptotic pathways. Cancer Cell. 2003; 4:321-328.
- Erlacher M, Michalak EM, Kelly PN, Labi V, Niederegger H, Coultas L, Adams JM, Strasser A and Villunger A. BH3-only proteins Puma and Bim are rate-limiting for gamma-radiation- and glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of lymphoid cells *in vivo*. Blood. 2005; 106:4131-4138.
- 14. Fischer SF, Belz GT and Strasser A. BH3-only protein Puma contributes to death of antigen-specific T cells during shutdown of an immune response to acute viral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008; 105:3035-3040.
- Clybouw C, Fischer S, Auffredou MT, Hugues P, Alexia C, Bouillet P, Raphael M, Leca G, Strasser A, Tarlinton DM and Vazquez A. Regulation of memory B-cell survival by the BH3-only protein Puma. Blood. 2011; 118:4120-4128.
- Desagher S, Osen-Sand A, Nichols A, Eskes R, Montessuit S, Lauper S, Maundrell K, Antonsson B and Martinou JC. Bid-induced conformational change of Bax is responsible for mitochondrial cytochrome c release during apoptosis. J Cell Biol. 1999; 144:891-901.
- Hsu YT, Wolter KG and Youle RJ. Cytosol-to-membrane redistribution of Bax and Bcl-X(L) during apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997; 94:3668-3672.
- Zha J, Harada H, Yang E, Jockel J and Korsmeyer SJ. Serine phosphorylation of death agonist BAD in response to survival factor results in binding to 14-3-3 not BCL-X(L). Cell. 1996; 87:619-628.
- Clybouw C, McHichi B, Mouhamad S, Auffredou MT, Bourgeade MF, Sharma S, Leca G and Vazquez A. EBV infection of human B lymphocytes leads to down-regulation of Bim expression: relationship to resistance to apoptosis. Journal of immunology. 2005; 175:2968-2973.
- 20. Mouhamad S, Besnault L, Auffredou MT, Leprince C, Bourgeade MF, Leca G and Vazquez A. B cell receptormediated apoptosis of human lymphocytes is associated with a new regulatory pathway of Bim isoform expression. Journal of immunology. 2004; 172:2084-2091.
- 21. Hadji A, Clybouw C, Auffredou MT, Alexia C, Poalas K, Burlion A, Feraud O, Leca G and Vazquez A. Caspase-3

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

triggers a TPCK-sensitive protease pathway leading to degradation of the BH3-only protein puma. Apoptosis. 2010; 15:1529-1539.

- Martin SJ and Cotter TG. Ultraviolet B irradiation of human leukaemia HL-60 cells *in vitro* induces apoptosis. Int J Radiat Biol. 1991; 59:1001-1016.
- 23. Cartron PF, Gallenne T, Bougras G, Gautier F, Manero F, Vusio P, Meflah K, Vallette FM and Juin P. The first alpha helix of Bax plays a necessary role in its ligand-induced activation by the BH3-only proteins Bid and PUMA. Mol Cell. 2004; 16:807-818.
- Kim H, Rafiuddin-Shah M, Tu HC, Jeffers JR, Zambetti GP, Hsieh JJ and Cheng EH. Hierarchical regulation of mitochondrion-dependent apoptosis by BCL-2 subfamilies. Nat Cell Biol. 2006; 8:1348-1358.
- Willis SN, Chen L, Dewson G, Wei A, Naik E, Fletcher JI, Adams JM and Huang DC. Proapoptotic Bak is sequestered by Mcl-1 and Bcl-xL, but not Bcl-2, until displaced by BH3-only proteins. Genes Dev. 2005; 19:1294-1305.
- Chipuk JE and Green DR. PUMA cooperates with direct activator proteins to promote mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. Cell Cycle. 2009; 8:2692-2696.
- Puthalakath H, Huang DC, O'Reilly LA, King SM and Strasser A. The proapoptotic activity of the Bcl-2 family member Bim is regulated by interaction with the dynein motor complex. Mol Cell. 1999; 3:287-296.
- Puthalakath H, Villunger A, O'Reilly LA, Beaumont JG, Coultas L, Cheney RE, Huang DC and Strasser A. Bmf: a proapoptotic BH3-only protein regulated by interaction with the myosin V actin motor complex, activated by anoikis. Science. 2001; 293:1829-1832.
- Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C and Wang X. Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. Cell. 1998; 94:481-490.
- Li H, Zhu H, Xu CJ and Yuan J. Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the Fas pathway of apoptosis. Cell. 1998; 94:491-501.
- Zhu H, Cao X, Ali-Osman F, Keir S and Lo HW. EGFR and EGFRvIII interact with PUMA to inhibit mitochondrial translocalization of PUMA and PUMA-mediated apoptosis independent of EGFR kinase activity. Cancer Lett. 2010; 294:101-110.
- 32. Mahtouk K, Hose D, Reme T, De Vos J, Jourdan M, Moreaux J, Fiol G, Raab M, Jourdan E, Grau V, Moos M, Goldschmidt H, Baudard M, Rossi JF, Cremer FW and Klein B. Expression of EGF-family receptors and amphiregulin in multiple myeloma. Amphiregulin is a growth factor for myeloma cells. Oncogene. 2005; 24:3512-3524.
- 33. Bulavin DV, Saito S, Hollander MC, Sakaguchi K, Anderson CW, Appella E and Fornace AJ, Jr. Phosphorylation of human p53 by p38 kinase coordinates

Oncotarget

38193

N-terminal phosphorylation and apoptosis in response to UV radiation. The EMBO journal. 1999; 18:6845-6854.

- 34. Sridevi P, Nhiayi MK, Setten RL and Wang JY. Persistent inhibition of ABL tyrosine kinase causes enhanced apoptotic response to TRAIL and disrupts the pro-apoptotic effect of chloroquine. PloS one. 2013; 8:e77495.
- 35. Galan-Moya EM, Hernandez-Losa J, Aceves Luquero CI, de la Cruz-Morcillo MA, Ramirez-Castillejo C, Callejas-Valera JL, Arriaga A, Aranburo AF, Ramon y Cajal S, Silvio Gutkind J and Sanchez-Prieto R. c-Abl activates p38 MAPK independently of its tyrosine kinase activity: Implications in cisplatin-based therapy. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer. 2008; 122:289-297.
- 36. Yee KS and Vousden KH. Contribution of membrane localization to the apoptotic activity of PUMA. Apoptosis. 2008; 13:87-95.
- 37. Wilfling F, Weber A, Potthoff S, Vogtle FN, Meisinger C, Paschen SA and Hacker G. BH3-only proteins are tailanchored in the outer mitochondrial membrane and can initiate the activation of Bax. Cell Death Differ. 2012; 19:1328-1336.
- 38. Luciano F, Jacquel A, Colosetti P, Herrant M, Cagnol S, Pages G and Auberger P. Phosphorylation of Bim-EL by Erk1/2 on serine 69 promotes its degradation via the proteasome pathway and regulates its proapoptotic function. Oncogene. 2003; 22:6785-6793.
- 39. Lei K and Davis RJ. JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Bax-dependent apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003; 100:2432-2437.
- 40. Deng Y, Ren X, Yang L, Lin Y and Wu X. A JNKdependent pathway is required for TNFalpha-induced apoptosis. Cell. 2003; 115:61-70.
- 41. Prakasam A, Ghose S, Oleinik NV, Bethard JR, Peterson YK, Krupenko NI and Krupenko SA. JNK1/2 regulate Bid by direct phosphorylation at Thr59 in response to ALDH1L1. Cell Death Dis. 2014; 5:e1358.
- 42. Cai B, Chang SH, Becker EB, Bonni A and Xia Z. p38 MAP kinase mediates apoptosis through phosphorylation of BimEL at Ser-65. J Biol Chem. 2006; 281:25215-25222.
- 43. Fricker M, O'Prey J, Tolkovsky AM and Ryan KM. Phosphorylation of Puma modulates its apoptotic function by regulating protein stability. Cell Death Dis. 2010; 1:e59.
- 44. Sandow JJ, Jabbour AM, Condina MR, Daunt CP, Stomski FC, Green BD, Riffkin CD, Hoffmann P, Guthridge MA, Silke J, Lopez AF and Ekert PG. Cytokine receptor signaling activates an IKK-dependent phosphorylation of PUMA to prevent cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2012; 19:633-641.
- 45. Dai H, Pang YP, Ramirez-Alvarado M and Kaufmann SH. Evaluation of the BH3-only protein Puma as a direct Bak activator. J Biol Chem. 2014; 289:89-99.
- Azad A and Storey A. Chk1 activity is required for 46. BAK multimerization in association with PUMA during

www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget

38194

47. Wei MC, Lindsten T, Mootha VK, Weiler S, Gross A, Ashiya M, Thompson CB and Korsmeyer SJ. tBID, a membrane-targeted death ligand, oligomerizes BAK to release cytochrome c. Genes Dev. 2000; 14:2060-2071.

mitochondrial apoptosis. Cell Commun Signal. 2014; 12:42.

- 48. Kushnareva Y, Andreyev AY, Kuwana T and Newmeyer DD. Bax activation initiates the assembly of a multimeric catalyst that facilitates Bax pore formation in mitochondrial outer membranes. PLoS Biol. 2012; 10:e1001394.
- 49. Moldoveanu T, Grace CR, Llambi F, Nourse A, Fitzgerald P, Gehring K, Kriwacki RW and Green DR. BID-induced structural changes in BAK promote apoptosis. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2013; 20:589-597.

(II) Annex 2

# Co-stimulation Blockade Plus T-cell Depletion in Transplant Patients: Towards a Steroid- and Calcineurin Inhibitor-Free Future?

Florence Herr, Melanie Brunel, Nathalie Roders, Antoine Durrbach

Drugs. 2016 Nov;76(17):1589-1600.

### LEADING ARTICLE



### **Co-stimulation Blockade Plus T-Cell Depletion in Transplant Patients: Towards a Steroid- and Calcineurin Inhibitor-Free Future?**

Florence Herr<sup>1</sup> · Melanie Brunel<sup>1,2</sup> · Nathalie Roders<sup>1</sup> · Antoine Durrbach<sup>1,2</sup>

Published online: 26 October 2016 © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Abstract Long-term survival of solid allografts depends on both immunosuppressive efficacy and reducing the side effects associated with these therapies. Immunotherapies developed over the past 15 years to prevent organ rejection have greatly improved cardiovascular and renal function compared with classical therapies, such as calcineurin inhibitors and corticosteroids. Immunotherapies that target T cells through the co-stimulation blockade (CTLA-4-Ig) improve renal function and the survival of grafts and patients, but are associated with higher rates of T-cellmediated acute rejection. Improvements to safe and efficacious therapeutic options could combine a co-stimulation blockade with a depleting immunotherapy. Herein, we describe the clinical outcomes and the likely causes of defects in the co-stimulation blockade, and comment on new therapeutic strategies to overcome these. Great progress has been made to optimize immunotherapy using the co-stimulation blockade, but the therapeutic combinations should be assessed further.

Antoine Durrbach a.durrbach@gmail.com

### Key Points

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated molecule-4 (CTLA-4)-Ig improves graft survival and renal function, and decreases cardiovascular risk compared with a calcineurin-inhibitor-based regimen.

However, CTLA-4-Ig increases the risk of acute rejection episodes. A combination of co-stimulation blockade with depletion therapies, by inhibition of cells implicated in acute-rejection episodes, could decrease steroid and calcineurin inhibitor use.

### **1** Introduction

Rejection of a solid allograft can be caused by numerous and overlapping mechanisms involving the innate and adaptive immune system of the recipient. Detection of a 'danger signal' by innate immune cells leads to activation of the whole immune system [1]. Ischemia reperfusion and tissue damage induce expression of damage-associated molecular patterns, such as the high-mobility group box-1 protein, reactive oxygen species, and heat-shock proteins, which are recognized by receptors of pathogen-associated patterns [2]. Infiltration of innate cells into transplanted organs can then lead to an inflammatory response through cytokine production, involving tumor-necrosis factor- $\alpha$  and interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$  [3], causing further damage by producing reactive nitrogen and oxygen species [4]. Release of chemo-attractant molecules through inflammation, at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> UMRS 1197, Hopital Paul-Brousse, 12 Av. Paul Vaillant-Couturier, 94804 Villejuif, Paris, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nephrology Department, IFRNT, Le Kremlin Bicêtre Hospital, University of Paris XI, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, Paris, France

same time as activation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs), is the first step towards activation of the adaptive immune system. T cells are central in this process due to their capacity for allo-recognition, which induces clonal expansion, effector differentiation, and an ability to migrate within tissues. Moreover, CD4 T cells allow full activation of cytotoxic CD8 and alloantibody production by B cells. Thus, CD4 T-cell activation is central to cellular-graft rejection [5].

Immunosuppressive drugs, such as calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), significantly reduce acute rejection [6, 7]. However, these immunosuppressive drugs exhibit side effects, such as increasing cardiovascular risk factors (including hypertension) [8], dyslipidemia [9], and diabetes mellitus [10, 11], as well as inducing nephrotoxicity [12, 13]. During the last decade, efforts have been made to reduce these cardiovascular risk factors, which appear to be strongly associated with the mortality of patients with chronic renal failure and transplant patients. The risk of death is increased during the 6 months following transplantation, but decreases inducing an overall survival benefit as compared with patients remaining on dialysis. However, cardiovascular risk remains elevated compared with the healthy population.

Immunosuppressive regimens can directly and indirectly participate in the increased risk of developing a cardiovascular disorder. CNIs increase blood pressure compared with a regimen without CNIs [14]. Similarly, some CNIs participate in elevating cholesterol levels and favor de novo diabetes mellitus [15, 16]. Based on studies that have focused on non-renal solid-organ transplantation, when chronic renal failure develops after transplantation with a CNI-based regimen, it appears clearly that CNIs impair creatinine clearance, which then correlates with increased cardiovascular risk [17].

Among the classical combined therapies used to prevent acute renal failure after renal transplantation, steroids can cause sodium retention, hypertension [18], participate in de novo diabetes mellitus [19], and are associated with CNIs in increasing cardiovascular risk factors [20]. In non-immunized patients, randomized trials have demonstrated that steroid avoidance is associated with an acceptable risk of acute rejection, especially when steroids are stopped early after transplantation. Although studies have not yet shown benefits to the cardiovascular system or to bone density, some have reported intermediate markers of improvement [21, 22]. Although a few patients already receive a steroidfree regimen, there is increasing effort to minimize or avoid steroids altogether with CNI-based regimens. A meta-analysis that assessed steroid avoidance and withdrawal emphasized the benefits of reducing cardiovascular risk, despite the increased risk of acute rejection [23]. A recent trial on rapid steroid withdrawal vs. maintenance did

∆ Adis

not find a difference in organ survival at 5 years between these groups [24].

New molecules have been developed to replace CNIs, such as mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors, but are associated with hypercholesterolemia and de novo diabetes mellitus [25, 26]. Since the introduction of sequential therapies, consisting of induction with anti-IL-2 receptor monoclonal antibodies and CNIs, mycophenolate-mofetil, and steroids, the incidence of acute rejection has decreased. Thus, consideration could be given to minimize or replace some of these therapies. Although minimizing the use of CNIs will probably reduce the risk of cardiovascular events, no benefits in terms of graft- or patient-survival rates have been demonstrated. Indeed, questions have emerged regarding the risk of developing anti-donorspecific antibodies, which are then associated with a higher incidence of antibody-mediated rejection. Therefore, the development of new therapies that can replace current treatments is needed [27]. Herein, we discuss the advances made in co-stimulation blockade immunotherapy, the clinical outcomes, and the perspectives for the immunomodulation of transplant patients.

### 2 Co-stimulation Blockade Strategies

Based on our knowledge that activation of T cells is central in the allogeneic response, several molecules have been developed over the past 20 years to inhibit these cells. T-cell activation results in three signals from APCs, mainly dendritic cells (DCs), which steer T cells towards effector function and orientation. The first signal occurs through an interaction between the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and the T-cell receptor: this signal is required for specificity and is dependent on the T-cell-receptor repertoire. The second or co-signal can produce a positive or negative signal to T cells and participates in their activation or inhibition [28-30]. In the presence of these two activation signals, T cells can then secrete cytokines with paracrine and autocrine functions. A third signal that activates T cells can then activate the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway, which controls the cellular division of T cells.

Co-signaling involves many different interactions between ligands and receptors from APCs to T cells. The most investigated co-stimulation signal for therapeutic purposes is B7-CD28, which brings together two ligands on APCs (CD80 and CD86: the B7 family) and two receptors on T cells (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated molecule-4 [CTLA-4] and CD28). CD28 is expressed by naive T cells and is involved in T-cell activation, proliferation, and survival concurrent with signal 1. Activated T cells then express CTLA-4, which inhibits T-cell activation and acts

1591

as a retro-control. Thus, co-signaling involves overlapping activation and inhibitory signaling (in T cells and APCs), and changes according to the subpopulation involved and the activation state [31]. Thus, interactions between CD80 and CTLA-4 or PD-L1 (a ligand of programmed cell death 1) by T cells provides an inhibitory signal, whereas CD80/ 86 or the ligand of the inducible T-cell co-stimulator (ICOS) can lead to T-cell proliferation through CD28 [32, 33].

CD28 signaling is also a key factor in the activation and homeostasis of conventional T cells and natural regulatory CD4+ T cells (Tregs) [34, 35]. In contrast, CD28 enhances early signals induced by the T-cell receptor through increased phosphorylation and recruitment of some of the signaling components [36, 37]; however, CD28 also induces its own signal [38, 39]. Overall, CD28 is implicated in IL-2 secretion, proliferation, survival, and rescue from anergy of newly activated T cells [40–42]. Activated conventional and regulatory T cells can then up-regulate CTLA-4 transcription and expression [43, 44]. The inhibitory signal of CTLA-4 is still being discussed, but it seems to inhibit CD3 or the phosphorylation of a later mediator [45, 46] (Fig. 1).

Different co-signals have been targeted by therapies to fine tune the T-cell response in terms of amplitude and orientation [47, 48]. The CD28/CTLA-4/B7 signal is the major co-signal investigated for its potential therapeutic benefits because CD28 is expressed by naive T lymphocytes before activation, whereas ICOS expression, amongst others, is induced by activation. In CD28/CTLA-4/B7 cosignaling, the target molecule and the method of blocking are important. First, B7 consists of two proteins: CD80 and CD86. CD80 has a two-fold higher affinity for CD28 than CD86, and is slowly dissociated from CTLA-4 [49]. In addition, blocking the signal from APCs using anti-B7 should inhibit the fixation of both molecules in a balanced manner. The avidity of CTLA-4 for CD80 and CD86 is higher than that of CD28. This discrepancy in avidity and kinetics is necessary for CTLA-4 to inhibit CD28-mediated T-cell activation, but is a conflict point in the development of anti-CD28- or CTLA-4-blocking antibodies [49, 50].

Various strategies have been assessed since the 1990s to inhibit T-cell activation and prevent co-stimulation in transplantation as well as autoimmune disorders [48]. Blocking anti-CD28 antibodies was first considered as an interesting option because it preserves interactions between CTLA-4 and its ligands, thus allowing a homeostatic signal. However, all conventional anti-CD28 antibodies developed have an antagonist effect due to dimerization of CD28, which leads to a positive signal [51]. In contrast, a monomeric fragment of the anti-CD28 antibody (Fab) does not retain this activation property [52, 53], but has a short half-life that is not compatible for in vivo use [54].

Another way to block CD28 signaling is to use anti-B7 antibodies. Expression of B7 molecules by APCs and a balance between CD80 and CD86 expression is dependent on their activation states. As an example, immature DCs express a higher level of CD86 than CD80, which are then



Fig. 1 Schematic of the B7/CD28/CTLA4 axis in T-cell activation. *APC* antigen presenting cell, *CTLA4* cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated molecule-4, *Fab* antigen-binding fragment, *ICOS* inducible

T-cell co-stimulator, *IL2* interleukin-2, *MHC* major histocompatibility complex, *PDL1* programmed death-ligand 1, *TCR* T-cell receptor

스 Adis

both up-regulated by an activator [55]. Moreover ligation of CD80 or CD86 does not activate the same signaling pathway in DC or the same T-cell phenotype [56]. CD80 could direct Th1 orientation whereas CD86 could induce Th2 polarization because of the higher proportion of IL4 secreted [57, 58]. Furthermore, CD80 and CD86 induce signaling in APCs and have different affinities to CD28 and CTLA-4. Finally, blocking both CD28 and CTLA-4 signals implies inhibition of the second signal of activation, but also the signal of homeostasis given by CTLA-4 and the regulatory effect of CTLA-4. However, blocking CD80/ CD86 should also be considered; successful results have been obtained in non-human primates (see below).

CTLA-4 has a natural advantage compared with CD28 in its ability to bind CD80/86, which makes it more suitable for in vitro bioengineering. The most complete investigation concerns the CTLA-4-Ig fusion protein. The first CTLA-4-Ig (abatacept) has demonstrated great efficacy in rheumatoid arthritis [59] but has shown disappointing results in transplantation in non-human primates [60], possibly because of its better affinity to CD80 than CD86, inducing a change in the Th1/Th2 balance [49, 61]. Larsen et al. have described the development of belatacept from CTLA-4-Ig to improve its avidity to CD86 [62].

### 3 Regulatory T-Cell Activation and Activity Through the CD28/CTLA-4/B7 Axis

We have described that, unlike CD28, CTLA-4 expression is restricted to activated conventional and regulatory T cells [63]. The importance of CTLA-4 expression to regulate T-cell activity has been suggested in a study on CTLA-4-/- mice with a lymphoproliferative disorder with organs infiltrated by T cells [64]. A further study on conditional CTLA-4 knockout (KO) mice demonstrated normal development and survival of Tregs, but impaired function of these cells [65, 66]. Nevertheless, other studies have demonstrated a role for the CD28/CTLA-4/B7 axis in Treg homeostasis (Fig. 2). In vivo, a decrease in peripheral Tregs was observed in CD80 and CD86 conditional KO mice (KO restricted to DCs) [67]. Likewise in a mouse model of heterotopic heart transplantation treated with CTLA4-Ig, a decrease in peripheral natural Tregs was observed and was linked to rejection in the MHC-II, but not class-I mismatches [68]. Similarly, another study described increased skin rejection being associated with a decrease of IL-2-induced Tregs in CTLA4-Ig-treated mice. In the same model, the number of Tregs could be restored by treating mice with agonist anti-CD28 [69]. This decrease in Tregs could be explained by the reduced proliferation of Tregs, as shown with CD80/86 KO mice DCs in vitro [70] and with blocking antibodies against CD80/86 in vivo [71].

스 Adis

However, this proliferation is not totally abolished, suggesting an interaction between a second signal, such as the glucocorticoid-induced tumor-necrosis factor receptor-related protein.

Apart from the inhibition of CD28 signaling through ligand competition [72], CTLA-4 contributes to the suppressive functions of Tregs through signaling, as demonstrated in mice with a mutation on the CTLA-4 phosphorylation site [44]. In mixed lymphocyte reactions (MLR), blocking CD80 and/or CD86 showed that CD86 stimulation of Tregs inhibited their function whereas CD80 increased suppressive activity [73]. However, we could not distinguish CD28 from CTLA-4 in this effect. Another mechanism of suppression through CTLA-4 by Tregs is the alteration of B7 expression on APC via trans-endocytosis [74], which involves the transfer of B7 from APCs to Tregs after interaction with CTLA-4, and internalization of the ligand-receptor complex's induced degradation of B7. Furthermore, surprisingly, evidence shows that blocking trans-endocytosis and signaling within CTLA-4-Ig does not inhibit the suppressive function of Tregs, thus highlighting another mechanism. A positive effect of CTLA-4-Ig on Treg function has been described in mice; this study described enhancement of a suppressive function that was dependent on nitric oxide secretion by macrophages and transforming growth-factor- $\beta$  secretion [75].

Another inhibitory effector to consider is DCs. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) secretion by DCs is a mediator of suppression; interactions between B7-CD28/ CTLA-4 combined with interferon- $\gamma$  can induce the synthesis of IDO by DCs in murine MLR [76, 77]. In anti-CD28 treatments, this could lead to decreased DC-induced regulation. However, activating anti-CD80, anti-CD86, or CTLA-4-Ig treatment could increase secretion of IDO and the regulatory effect of DCs. Furthermore, indirect modulation of Treg homeostasis and activity could impact on DC activity as their maturation can be reversed by Tregs through CTLA-4 [78].

In a study that assessed CTLA-4-Ig on human Tregs, belatacept inhibited in vitro Treg proliferation and generation [79]. This was confirmed in vivo, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and treated with abatacept [80]. In contrast, a phase II trial on kidney-transplant patients treated with CTLA-4-Ig and the anti-IL-2 receptor showed no difference in the proportions of CD4 CD25+ cells in peripheral blood compared with healthy donors [81]. This in vivo analysis is supported by data from MLR [82] where CTLA-4-Ig could convert naive T cells in Tregs [83]. The described consequences of CTLA-4-Ig on Treg home-ostasis are dependent on context. Nevertheless, assessment of the regulatory function of CD4 T lymphocytes in patients treated with CTLA-4-Ig could overcome these divergent results.



Fig. 2 Schematic of CD28/CTLA4 co-stimulation in T-cell populations. CTLA4 cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated molecule-4, Fab antigenbinding fragment, ICOS inducible T-cell co-stimulator, Treg regulatory CD4+ T cells

### 4 In Vivo CD28/CTLA-4/B7 Co-signaling Blockade

A blocking strategy that disrupts CD80/86 and CD28 interactions and prevents early activation of T cells has been evaluated in vivo. In mouse models, treatment with anti-CD80 or anti-CD86 antibodies after heterotopic heart transplantation, as well as anti-CTLA-4 treatment, decreased the survival of animals [84]. Nevertheless, repeated treatment of monkeys with humanized anti-CD80or anti-CD86-specific antibodies slightly inhibited the rejection of transplanted kidneys, and combining these antibodies delayed rejection further; however, anti-donor antibody production was not abrogated [85]. In a rhesusmonkey model, the use of combined anti-CD86 and anti-CD80 was not antagonized by cyclosporine or steroids, but increased survival was achieved when sirolimus was added [86, 87]. In contrast, the association of rapamycin with anti-B7 antibodies did not increase graft survival compared with anti-B7 antibodies alone in a kidney-graft model of baboons [88]. These antibodies did not prevent early severe acute rejection and did not induce graft tolerance in cynomolgus monkeys [86]. More recently, anti-CD80/86 antibodies have been used to generate Tregs in a cell therapy given after living-donor liver transplantation. This study showed promising results regarding the induction of operational tolerance [89].

Following improvements to the affinity of CTLA-4-Ig, with a two-point mutation in the CTLA-4 domain, modified CTLA-4-Ig (belatacept) has been tested in vivo to replace CNIs as a cornerstone immunosuppressive molecule, associated with mycophenolate-mofetil, steroids, and basiliximab. A first trial demonstrated the non-inferiority of belatacept concerning rejection compared with cyclosporine [90]. A larger study then compared two belatacept regimens with cyclosporine in two cohorts of kidneytransplant patients over a 7-year period. Analyses at 1, 3, and 5 years confirmed similar patient- and graft-survival rates in the belatacept groups compared with those receiving cyclosporine [91-95]. After 7 years, patients treated with belatacept showed better renal function, as expected [96]. Similarly, belatacept resulted in a reduced risk of mortality and reduced graft loss in those that had received a standard kidney [97]. Despite this being the first long-term analysis (7 years) performed, one could speculate that there was bias regarding the selection of patients at

스 Adis

the end of the study (i.e., 3 years) followed by their subsequent enrollment in the long-phase extension study. This occurred despite most patients treated with belatacept being enrolled in the extension study. Further analyses of cohorts of patients could confirm these interesting results. A side effect induced by belatacept was a higher risk for a lymphoproliferative disorder in patients that were not infected by the Epstein–Barr virus before transplantation or had been treated with an intensive regimen of belatacept. However, the lymphoproliferative disorders were not directly associated with the lymphocyte-depleting therapies [91, 92].

### 5 Acute Rejection and the Co-stimulation Blockade

Even though belatacept has shown superiority regarding graft function and cardiovascular protection, it increases the risk for and severity of acute-rejection episodes beyond 1-year post-transplantation compared with cyclosporine. However, these early events do not affect longer term survival [91, 95]. Interestingly, a higher incidence of acute rejection was observed in patients receiving a kidney from a standard-criteria donor, but not from an extended-criteria donor. In general, the incidence of acute rejection is higher in this population, possibly because of the increased lesions caused by ischemia/reperfusion. In addition, anti-B7 treatment after renal grafting in cynomolgus monkeys was associated with a high incidence of severe rejection [87]. The occurrence of acute rejection has been also described by Ville et al. in a study that compared FR104 (anti-CD28 Fab) and belatacept given to baboons that had undergone kidney transplantation: two of the five animals treated by FR104 and sirolimus, and four of the five animals treated by belatacept and sirolimus encountered an acute rejection, whereas only those treated with belatacept alone had a steroid-resistant rejection [98].

The occurrence of an acute rejection impacts on the outcome of transplantation. It is associated with lower graft function in patients that have developed an acute rejection independently of their immunosuppressive regimen. In two phase III studies, BENEFIT and BENEFIT-EXT, belatacept was compared with cyclosporine as recommended by the authorities when the studies were designed. However, the treatment for the control arm is no longer the standard of care in many countries since the publication of the SYMPHONY study [99]. Therefore, we can speculate that the number of acute-rejection episodes would be lower in a comparative group treated with tacrolimus instead of cyclosporine, and renal function would be lower in the group treated with belatacept compared with tacrolimus [100]. However, it is noteworthy that, in the conversion

스 Adis

study (IM103010), patients that were switched from tacrolimus to belatacept, or from cyclosporine to belatacept, had similar improvements in renal function at 2 years [101].

Thus, comparative studies between tacrolimus and belatacept are needed to confirm the beneficial effect of belatacept on CNI-based regimens and, more specifically, tacrolimus-based regimens. Interestingly, the occurrence of an acute rejection in belatacept-treated groups was not significantly associated with the presence of anti-donor antibodies, which is a major event leading to the development of an acute or chronic antibody-mediated rejection [93, 102]. Indeed, the incidence of donor-specific antibodies in belatacept-treated patients was significantly lower than in patients treated with cyclosporin over the longer term, and was independent of having developed an acute rejection. Similarly, neither belatacept nor FR104treated animals developed anti-donor specific antibodies. This lower incidence of donor specific antibodies could be the result of better adherence of patients to treatments given by intravenous infusion or be a consequence of the mechanisms of action of molecules blocking T- and B-cell activation. As an example, Grimbert et al. showed that B cells, in patients receiving belatacept, more frequently had a transitional phenotype when compared with B cells in patients treated with cyclosporine [103].

### 6 T Cells Associated with Acute Rejection in the Co-stimulation Blockade

The higher incidence of acute-rejection episodes in belatacept-treated patients suggests that some T cells are resistant to the co-signal blockade or are independent of CD28 activation and are then not targeted by CTLA-4-Ig therapy. Memory T cells are a significant component of the cellularrejection phenomenon because of their high frequency and prompt cross-activation, despite non-exposure to tissues from the donor [104, 105]. The involvement of memory CD8+ T cells in allograft rejection within the co-stimulation blockade in treated non-human primates has already been described, highlighting the B7 co-stimulatory signal independence of these cells [106, 107].

The importance of co-signaling for naive T-cell activation and expansion is known [108]. In contrast, the dependency of memory T cells on B7 co-stimulation is still under discussion. The first in vitro studies described the independence to semi-dependence of memory T cells to B7 stimulation [109, 110]. However, these results have been challenged in vivo. In mice, CTLA-4-Ig within memory CD4 T cells showed defective proliferation and a bias for central memory T cells compared with effector memory T cells, even though early proliferation was not affected [111]. However, other pathways have been proposed to activate memory T cells, including CD40/CD40L and ICOS/ICOS-L, which are independent of CD80/86-CD28 (Fig. 2).

To identify cells associated with acute rejection in belatacept-treated patients, Allan Kirk's group and ourselves investigated the biomarkers of patients that had encountered this event, focusing specifically on markers related to memory T lymphocytes. A higher frequency of memory-related CD4 CD57+ PD1– T-cells on day 0 of transplantation was observed in kidney-transplant patients treated with belatacept [112]. In addition, in a single observation, de Graav et al. reported a patient with vascular rejection requiring nephrectomy, mostly associated with intragraft CD4 and CD8 effector memory T cells that synthesized interferon- $\gamma$  and granzyme B [113].

CD57 expression by peripheral T lymphocytes is currently associated with clonal exhaustion, mainly for the CD8+ subset. This marker (CD57+ T cell) increases in frequency with age and in individuals with chronic immune activation, such as cytomegalovirus or human immunodeficiency virus infection [114-116]. Nevertheless, expression of CD57 is not exclusive to memory T-cell populations and its expression by non-senescent T cells has been observed [117]. Indeed proliferation of CD8+ CD57+ T cells has been reported [118] and the CD4+ CD57+ population is associated with autoimmune disease. Similarly, we observed that in vitro CD4 + CD57 + T cells proliferate in MLR and were not inhibited by belatacept, whereas their proliferation was impaired by CNIs. In addition, CD4+ CD57+ PD1- T cells expressed perforin and were able to degranulate in the presence of target cells, suggesting their cytotoxic capabilities. Moreover, they were found to infiltrate the graft during rejection.

Apart from CD4+ CD57+ T cells, another memory T-cell population of interest is CD28- T cells. Borowski et al. assessed recall in B7 KO mice in the presence of anti-CD28 blocking antibodies in influenza and herpes simplex virus infections. They reported a decreased number of specific CD8 T cells and longer persistence of the virus [119]. Despite the anomalous recall of memory cells in the absence of CD28 activation, this was not abrogated. The CD28- compartment of memory T cells may be involved in this activation because of a lack of inhibition by CTLA-4-Ig or anti-CD28 treatment. This population of cells increases with age in autoimmune diseases, immunodeficiency, and chronic viral infections [120-123], but also in patients with a transplant and chronic rejection [124, 125]. A recent study by De Graav et al. described the proliferation of CD28+ T cells in patients with end-stage renal disease in the presence of belatacept: surprisingly, some of these proliferating cells became negative [126].

#### 7 Perspectives on Belatacept-Based Therapies

To reduce the rate of acute-rejection episodes in belataceptbased regimens, several new associations of immunosuppressive drugs have been suggested to control alloreactive T cells that are not targeted by belatacept. These therapeutic strategies include transient co-administration of a current therapy (CNIs, mycophenolate-mofetil, steroids) during initiation of belatacept treatment (i.e., <6 months), as CD4+ CD57+ PD1- is not associated with acute-rejection episodes in CNI-based regimens. However, the effect on improving renal function needs to be evaluated as the greatest benefit was observed early after renal transplantation, but was lower in studies that switched from CNI to belatacept [101]. Another option is to replace an induction therapy with basiliximab, which seems to be ineffective at preventing acute rejection in belatacept regimens in humans, but not in non-human primates, where it impaired regulation by Treg depletion.

Anti-thymoglobulin (ATG) polyclonal antibodies, used as an induction therapy, have demonstrated their efficacy to promote graft survival [127]. Low-dose (non-depleting) rabbit ATG is also associated with Treg induction in vivo in mice and in vitro in humans [128, 129]. Another option is to use a monoclonal agent such as alemtuzumab, a CD52-depleting monoclonal antibody, instead of polyclonal ATG. CD52 is expressed by mononuclear cells and alemtuzumab mainly depletes T and B lymphocytes [130]. This monoclonal antibody has demonstrated its equivalent efficacy compared with ATG with regard to graft- and patient-survival rates and delayed graft function in kidneytransplant patients (assessed in a meta-analysis [131]). Another interesting molecule is the fusion protein LFA3-Ig, alefacept. LFA3 is the ligand of CD2 and is expressed by activated T lymphocytes. LFA3-Ig inhibits proliferation of T cells [132] and induces activated T-cell depletion through natural killer activation and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity [133]. This mechanism is also reported with a rat anti-CD2 antibody and its humanized form. In a murine xenogenic graft-transplant model, it demonstrated decreased rejection through natural killer cells and monocyte activation of antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity [134].

The advantage of induction using depletion therapies would be to eliminate memory T cells. It has been demonstrated in diverse trials and studies that ATG is associated with a lower rate of acute rejection than anti-IL-2 receptor-blocking antibodies in highly immunized patients [135, 136]. In vitro, the partial inhibition of CD8 T-cell proliferation by belatacept can be overcome by alefacept [107]. Interestingly in a rhesus-monkey model of kidney transplantation, alefacept, combined with sirolimus

∆ Adis

and belatacept, depleted memory T cells but did not delay the occurrence of acute rejection and did not induce allograft tolerance: it actually favored cytomegalovirus reactivation [137]. In contrast, another study that used the same model showed increased survival of animals treated with alefacept/sirolimus/belatacept compared with animals receiving only sirolimus and belatacept, and a decrease in effector memory T cells after alefacept treatment [106].

In humans, the use of an induction therapy with ATG in conjunction with belatacept and sirolimus has been combined with steroid withdrawal [138]. This regimen was compared with belatacept plus mycophenolate-mofetil or mycophenolate-mofetil plus tacrolimus, with all patients receiving ATG as the induction therapy. After 1 year, lymphocyte reconstitution was similar in all three groups. As expected, the glomerular-filtration rate was better in belatacept-treated patients compared with the control group, and a higher rate of acute rejection was observed in those receiving mycophenolate-mofetil, but not in those receiving sirolimus. This suggests that the association of sirolimus, belatacept, and an induction therapy of ATG is an interesting option for belatacept-based regimens. For the same group of patients, no alteration in the CD4+ Foxp3+ CD25+ population was observed when patients received ATG as the induction therapy, followed by belatacept and sirolimus or mycophenolate-mofetil treatment: this was in contrast to the combination of belatacept, mycophenolatemofetil, and the anti-IL-2 receptor antibody. Moreover, ATG/sirolimus/belatacept treatment increased the ratio of Treg cells to memory T cells [139].

Based on these strategies and to minimize long-term immunosuppression, withdrawal of sirolimus after 1 year of treatment with belatacept, sirolimus, and an induction therapy of alemtuzumab, plus a donor bone-marrow infusion, was evaluated in kidney-transplant patients. Results from this proof-of-concept study showed that alemtuzumab induction was associated with a low risk of acute rejection. The addition of an infusion of donor bone marrow did not reduce the risk of acute rejection. The phenotype of lymphocytes included in this study shows that their reconstitution following induction was associated with an increase in B regulatory cells, Tregs (CD25+ Foxp3+), and CD8 T-cell-naive populations, but no increase in CD28– T cells [140].

A temptation would be to also further withdraw steroids in belatacept-based regimens. All long-term studies have included maintenance low-dose steroids. However, we need to consider that steroid withdrawal is associated with an increased risk of rejection in CNI-based regimens, and because a higher risk of acute rejection was observed in belatacept-based regimens, a pilot study needs to explore this possibility [23]. A recent report from Kirk et al. shows, in non-human primates, that the association of belatacept and sirolimus reduced the risk of acute rejection without the need for an induction therapy [137]. However, this strategy needs to be evaluated in humans, as the early introduction of sirolimus could be associated with longer delayed graft function and post-transplant complications. This would favor the use of this association with a short induction therapy, at least for patients with a higher risk of sirolimus-associated complications [141, 142].

Research into the co-stimulatory blockade could be increased with the development of a new anti-CD28 blocking agent based on increasing the half-life of anti-CD28 Fab [143]. Currently, the most advanced anti-CD28 Fab, FR104, is covalently modified with polyethylene glycol and inhibits rejection in baboons and prevents activation of memory T cells [144, 145].

#### 8 Conclusion

The co-stimulation blockade in renal transplantation is associated with better renal function and better graft- and patient-survival rates. The higher rate of acute rejection in belatacept-based regimens is associated with non-targeted T cells. These events could be prevented by using combination therapies according to the clinical situation. New trials assessing sirolimus plus belatacept, with or without induction using a T-cell-depleting agent and steroids, could be promising for renal transplantation.

Acknowledgements We wish to acknowledge Professor Bernard Charpentier for his permanent support and advice.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Funding** None of the authors received financial assistance for the preparation of this article.

**Conflict of interest** A Durrbach and F. Herr received a grant from Bristol-Myers Squibb. A. Durrbach has served on an advisory board for Bristol-Myers Squibb. M. Brunel and N. Roders declare no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Medzhitov R, Janeway CA. Innate immunity: impact on the adaptive immune response. Curr Opin Immunol. 1997;9:4–9.
- Wyburn KR, Jose MD, Wu H, et al. The role of macrophages in allograft rejection. Transplantation. 2005;80:1641–7.
- He H, Stone JR, Perkins DL. Analysis of robust innate immune response after transplantation in the absence of adaptive immunity. Transplantation. 2002;73:853–61.
- Ioannidis I, Hellinger A, Dehmlow C, et al. Evidence for increased nitric oxide production after liver transplantation in humans. Transplantation. 1995;59:1293–7.

- Wood KJ, Goto R. Mechanisms of rejection: current perspectives. Transplantation. 2012;93:1–10.
- Meier-Kriesche H-U, Schold JD, Srinivas TR, Kaplan B. Lack of improvement in renal allograft survival despite a marked decrease in acute rejection rates over the most recent era. Am J Transplant. 2004;4:378–83.
- Cohen DJ, Loertscher R, Rubin MF, et al. Cyclosporine: a new immunosuppressive agent for organ transplantation. Ann Intern Med. 1984;101:667–82.
- Sander M, Lyson T, Thomas GD, Victor RG. Sympathetic neural mechanisms of cyclosporine-induced hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 1996;9:121S–38S.
- Kobashigawa JA, Kasiske BL. Hyperlipidemia in solid organ transplantation. Transplantation. 1997;63:331–8.
- Cosio FG, Kudva Y, van der Velde M, et al. New onset hyperglycemia and diabetes are associated with increased cardiovascular risk after kidney transplantation. Kidney Int. 2005;67:2415–21.
- Soleimanpour SA, Crutchlow MF, Ferrari AM, et al. Calcineurin signaling regulates human islet {beta}-cell survival. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:40050–9.
- Nankivell BJ, Borrows RJ, Fung CL-S, et al. The natural history of chronic allograft nephropathy. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:2326–33.
- Palestine AG, Austin HA, Balow JE, et al. Renal histopathologic alterations in patients treated with cyclosporine for uveitis. N Engl J Med. 1986;314:1293–8.
- Johnson RW, Kreis H, Oberbauer R, et al. Sirolimus allows early cyclosporine withdrawal in renal transplantation resulting in improved renal function and lower blood pressure. Transplantation. 2001;72:777–86.
- Claes K, Meier-Kriesche H-U, Schold JD, et al. Effect of different immunosuppressive regimens on the evolution of distinct metabolic parameters: evidence from the Symphony study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27:850–7.
- Kasiske BL, Snyder JJ, Gilbertson D, Matas AJ. Diabetes mellitus after kidney transplantation in the United States. Am J Transplant. 2003;3:178–85.
- Ojo AO, Held PJ, Port FK, et al. Chronic renal failure after transplantation of a nonrenal organ. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:931–40.
- Ponticelli C, Montagnino G, Aroldi A, et al. Hypertension after renal transplantation. Am J Kidney Dis. 1993;21:73–8.
- Roland M, Gatault P, Doute C, et al. Immunosuppressive medications, clinical and metabolic parameters in new-onset diabetes mellitus after kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2008;21:523–30.
- Citterio F. Steroid side effects and their impact on transplantation outcome. Transplantation. 2001;72:S75–80.
- Vincenti F, Schena FP, Paraskevas S, et al. A randomized, multicenter study of steroid avoidance, early steroid withdrawal or standard steroid therapy in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2008;8:307–16.
- Cole E, Landsberg D, Russell D, et al. A pilot study of steroid-free immunosuppression in the prevention of acute rejection in renal allograft recipients. Transplantation. 2001;72:845–50.
- 23. Knight SR, Morris PJ. Steroid avoidance or withdrawal after renal transplantation increases the risk of acute rejection but decreases cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis. Transplantation. 2010;89:1–14.
- 24. Chon WJ, Desai A, Wing C, et al. Impact of maintenance steroids versus rapid steroid withdrawal in African-American kidney transplant recipients: comparison of two urban centers. Int J Clin Med. 2016;7:204–16.

- Blum CB. Effects of sirolimus on lipids in renal allograft recipients: an analysis using the Framingham risk model. Am J Transplant. 2002;2:551–9.
- Johnston O, Rose CL, Webster AC, Gill JS. Sirolimus is associated with new-onset diabetes in kidney transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19:1411–8.
- Sayegh MH, Carpenter CB. Transplantation 50 years later: progress, challenges, and promises. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:2761–6.
- Mueller DL, Jenkins MK, Schwartz RH. Clonal expansion versus functional clonal inactivation: a costimulatory signalling pathway determines the outcome of T cell antigen receptor occupancy. Annu Rev Immunol. 1989;7:445–80.
- Jenkins MK, Johnson JG. Molecules involved in T-cell costimulation. Curr Opin Immunol. 1993;5:361–7.
- Fu F, Li Y, Qian S, et al. Costimulatory molecule-deficient dendritic cell progenitors (MHC class II+, CD80dim, CD86-) prolong cardiac allograft survival in nonimmunosuppressed recipients. Transplantation. 1996;62:659–65.
- Chen L, Flies DB. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13:227–42.
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, et al. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. Immunity. 2007;27:111–22.
- Yao S, Zhu Y, Zhu G, et al. B7-H2 is a costimulatory ligand for CD28 in human. Immunity. 2011;34:729–40.
- Dodson LF, Boomer JS, Deppong CM, et al. Targeted knock-in mice expressing mutations of CD28 reveal an essential pathway for costimulation. Mol Cell Biol. 2009;29:3710–21.
- 35. Salomon B, Lenschow DJ, Rhee L, et al. B7/CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4+ CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes. Immunity. 2000;12:431–40.
- Tuosto L, Acuto O. CD28 affects the earliest signaling events generated by TCR engagement. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28:2131–42.
- Michel F, Attal-Bonnefoy G, Mangino G, et al. CD28 as a molecular amplifier extending TCR ligation and signaling capabilities. Immunity. 2001;15:935–45.
- Waibler Z, Sender LY, Merten C, et al. Signaling signatures and functional properties of anti-human CD28 superagonistic antibodies. PLoS One. 2008;3:e1708.
- Tuosto L. NF-κB family of transcription factors: biochemical players of CD28 co-stimulation. Immunol Lett. 2011;135:1–9.
- Wells AD. New insights into the molecular basis of T cell anergy: anergy factors, avoidance sensors, and epigenetic imprinting. J Immunol. 2009;182:7331–41.
- Soskic B, Qureshi OS, Hou T, Sansom DM. A transendocytosis perspective on the CD28/CTLA-4 pathway. Adv Immunol. 2014;124:95–136.
- 42. Boussiotis VA, Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Nadler LM. The role of B7-1/B7-2:CD28/CLTA-4 pathways in the prevention of anergy, induction of productive immunity and down-regulation of the immune response. Immunol Rev. 1996;153:5–26.
- Egen JG, Allison JP. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 accumulation in the immunological synapse is regulated by TCR signal strength. Immunity. 2002;16:23–35.
- Jago CB, Yates J, Câmara NO, et al. Differential expression of CTLA-4 among T cell subsets. Clin Exp Immunol. 2004;136:463–71.
- Walker LSK, Sansom DM. Confusing signals: recent progress in CTLA-4 biology. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:63–70.
- Stumpf M, Zhou X, Chikuma S, Bluestone JA. Tyrosine 201 of the cytoplasmic tail of CTLA-4 critically affects T regulatory cell suppressive function. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44:1737–46.

∆ Adis

- Kinnear G, Jones ND, Wood KJ. Costimulation blockade: current perspectives and implications for therapy. Transplantation. 2013;95:527–35.
- Ford ML, Adams AB, Pearson TC. Targeting co-stimulatory pathways: transplantation and autoimmunity. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2014;10:14–24.
- Linsley PS, Greene JL, Brady W, et al. Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors. Immunity. 1994;1:793–801.
- Greene JL, Leytze GM, Emswiler J, et al. Covalent dimerization of CD28/CTLA-4 and oligomerization of CD80/CD86 regulate T cell costimulatory interactions. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:26762–71.
- Lazar-Molnar E, Almo SC, Nathenson SG. The interchain disulfide linkage is not a prerequisite but enhances CD28 costimulatory function. Cell Immunol. 2006;244:125–9.
- 52. Damle NK, Doyle LV, Grosmaire LS, Ledbetter JA. Differential regulatory signals delivered by antibody binding to the CD28 (Tp44) molecule during the activation of human T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 1988;140:1753–61.
- Mary C, Coulon F, Poirier N, et al. Antagonist properties of monoclonal antibodies targeting human CD28. mAbs. 2013;5:47–55.
- Herrington-Symes AP, Farys M, Khalili H, Brocchini S. Antibody fragments: prolonging circulation half-life special issueantibody research. Adv Biosci Biotechnol. 2013;4:689–98.
- 55. Azuma M, Ito D, Yagita H, et al. B70 antigen is a second ligand for CTLA-4 and CD28. Nature. 1993;366:76–9.
- Grohmann U, Orabona C, Fallarino F, et al. CTLA-4-Ig regulates tryptophan catabolism in vivo. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:1097–101.
- Freeman GJ, Boussiotis VA, Anumanthan A, et al. B7-1 and B7-2 do not deliver identical costimulatory signals, since B7-2 but not B7-1 preferentially costimulates the initial production of IL-4. Immunity. 1995;2:523–32.
- Kuchroo VK, Das MP, Brown JA, et al. B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules activate differentially the Th1/Th2 developmental pathways: application to autoimmune disease therapy. Cell. 1995;80:707–18.
- Kremer JM, Westhovens R, Leon M, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis by selective inhibition of T-cell activation with fusion protein CTLA4Ig. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:1907–15.
- Kirk AD, Harlan DM, Armstrong NN, et al. CTLA4-Ig and anti-CD40 ligand prevent renal allograft rejection in primates. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1997;94:8789–94.
- Sayegh MH, Akalin E, Hancock WW, et al. CD28-B7 blockade after alloantigenic challenge in vivo inhibits Th1 cytokines but spares Th2. J Exp Med. 1995;181:1869–74.
- Larsen CP, Pearson TC, Adams AB, et al. Rational development of LEA29Y (belatacept), a high-affinity variant of CTLA4-Ig with potent immunosuppressive properties. Am J Transplant. 2005;5:443–53.
- Tai X, Van Laethem F, Pobezinsky L, et al. Basis of CTLA-4 function in regulatory and conventional CD4(+) T cells. Blood. 2012;119:5155–63.
- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science. 1995;270:985–8.
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2008;322:271–5.
- 66. Jain N, Nguyen H, Chambers C, Kang J. Dual function of CTLA-4 in regulatory T cells and conventional T cells to prevent multiorgan autoimmunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2010;107:1524–8.

- 67. Bar-On L, Birnberg T, Kim K, Jung S. Dendritic cell-restricted CD80/86 deficiency results in peripheral regulatory T-cell reduction but is not associated with lymphocyte hyperactivation. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41:291–8.
- Riella LV, Liu T, Yang J, et al. Deleterious effect of CTLA4-Ig on a Treg-dependent transplant model. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:846–55.
- Charbonnier L-M, Vokaer B, Lemaître PH, et al. CTLA4-Ig restores rejection of MHC class-II mismatched allografts by disabling IL-2-expanded regulatory T cells. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:2313–21.
- Yamazaki S, Iyoda T, Tarbell K, et al. Direct expansion of functional CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells by antigen-processing dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2003;198:235–47.
- Tang Q, Henriksen KJ, Boden EK, et al. Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2003;171:3348–52.
- 72. Tai X, Van Laethem F, Sharpe AH, Singer A. Induction of autoimmune disease in CTLA-4—/— mice depends on a specific CD28 motif that is required for in vivo costimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2007;104:13756–61.
- 73. Zheng SG, Wang JH, Koss MN, et al. CD4+ and CD8+ regulatory T cells generated ex vivo with IL-2 and TGF-beta suppress a stimulatory graft-versus-host disease with a lupus-like syndrome. J Immunol. 2004;172:1531–9.
- Qureshi OS, Zheng Y, Nakamura K, et al. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: a molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. Science. 2011;332:600–3.
- Deppong CM, Bricker TL, Rannals BD, et al. CTLA4Ig inhibits effector T cells through regulatory T cells and TGF-β. J Immunol. 2013;191:3082–9.
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Mellor AL. Ligation of B7-1/B7-2 by human CD4+ T cells triggers indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity in dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2004;172:4100–10.
- Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Hwang KW, et al. Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:1206–12.
- Onishi Y, Fehervari Z, Yamaguchi T, Sakaguchi S. Foxp3+ natural regulatory T cells preferentially form aggregates on dendritic cells in vitro and actively inhibit their maturation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008;105:10113–8.
- Levitsky J, Miller J, Huang X, et al. Inhibitory effects of belatacept on allospecific regulatory T-cell generation in humans. Transplantation. 2013;96:689–96.
- Pieper J, Herrath J, Raghavan S, et al. CTLA4-Ig (abatacept) therapy modulates T cell effector functions in autoantibody-positive rheumatoid arthritis patients. BMC Immunol. 2013;14:34.
- Hirose K, Posselt A, Stock P, et al. Treatment of kidney transplant with the novel co-stimulatory blocker (BMS-224818) and anti-IL2 receptor antibody does not impede the development of regulatory T cells [abstract no. 1036]. Am J Transplant. 2004;4:308–456.
- Ahmadi SM, Hölzl MA, Mayer E, et al. CTLA4-Ig preserves thymus-derived T regulatory cells. Transplantation. 2014;98:1158–64.
- Razmara M, Hilliard B, Ziarani AK, et al. CTLA-4-Ig converts naive CD4+ CD25- T cells into CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. Int Immunol. 2008;20:471–83.
- 84. Tsai M-K, Ho H-N, Chien HF, et al. The role of B7 ligands (CD80 and CD86) in CD152-mediated allograft tolerance: a crosscheck hypothesis. Transplantation. 2004;77:48–54.
- 85. Kirk AD, Tadaki DK, Celniker A, et al. Induction therapy with monoclonal antibodies specific for CD80 and CD86 delays the onset of acute renal allograft rejection in non-human primates. Transplantation. 2001;72:377–84.

스 Adis

- 86. Hausen B, Klupp J, Christians U, et al. Coadministration of either cyclosporine or steroids with humanized monoclonal antibodies against CD80 and CD86 successfully prolong allograft survival after life supporting renal transplantation in cynomolgus monkeys. Transplantation. 2001;72:1128–37.
- 87. Bîrsan T, Hausen B, Higgins JP, et al. Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibodies against CD80 and CD86 combined with sirolimus prolongs renal allograft survival in cynomolgus monkeys. Transplantation. 2003;75:2106–13.
- Boulday G, Ashton-Chess J, Bernard P, et al. Association of rapamycin and co-stimulation blockade using anti-B7 antibodies in renal allotransplantation in baboons. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2004;19:1752–60.
- Todo S, Yamashita K, Goto R, et al. A pilot study of operational tolerance with a regulatory T-cell-based cell therapy in living donor liver transplantation. Hepatology. 2016;64(2):632–43.
- Vincenti F, Larsen C, Durrbach A, et al. Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:770–81.
- Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, et al. A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). Am J Transplant. 2010;10:535–46.
- Durrbach A, Pestana JM, Pearson T, et al. A phase III study of belatacept versus cyclosporine in kidney transplants from extended criteria donors (BENEFIT-EXT study). Am J Transplant. 2010;10:547–57.
- Vincenti F, Larsen CP, Alberu J, et al. Three-year outcomes from BENEFIT, a randomized, active-controlled, parallel-group study in adult kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:210–7.
- 94. Pestana JOM, Grinyo JM, Vanrenterghem Y, et al. Three-year outcomes from BENEFIT-EXT: a phase III study of belatacept versus cyclosporine in recipients of extended criteria donor kidneys. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:630–9.
- 95. Rostaing L, Vincenti F, Grinyó J, et al. Long-term belatacept exposure maintains efficacy and safety at 5 years: results from the long-term extension of the BENEFIT study. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:2875–83.
- 96. Durrbach A, Pestana JM, Florman S, et al. Long-term outcomes in belatacept-treated vs. cyclosporine-treated recipients of extended criteria donor kidneys: final results from BENEFIT-EXT, a phase III randomized study. Am J Transplant. 2016. doi:10.1111/ajt.13830 (Epub ahead of print).
- Vincenti F, Rostaing L, Grinyo J, et al. Belatacept and long-term outcomes in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:333–43.
- Ville S, Poirier N, Branchereau J, et al. Anti-CD28 antibody and belatacept exert differential effects on mechanisms of renal allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016. doi:10.1681/ASN. 2015070774 (Epub ahead of print).
- Ekberg H, Tedesco-Silva H, Demirbas A, et al. Reduced exposure to calcineurin inhibitors in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:2562–75.
- 100. Van Gelder T, Hesselink DA. Belatacept: a game changer? Transplantation. 2016;100:1390–2.
- 101. Rostaing L, Massari P, Garcia VD, et al. Switching from calcineurin inhibitor-based regimens to a belatacept-based regimen in renal transplant recipients: a randomized phase II study. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;6:430–9.
- 102. Larsen CP, Grinyó J, Medina-Pestana J, et al. Belatacept-based regimens versus a cyclosporine A-based regimen in kidney transplant recipients: 2-year results from the BENEFIT and BENEFIT-EXT studies. Transplantation. 2010;90:1528–35.
- Bigot J, Pilon C, Matignon M, et al. Transcriptomic signature of the CD24(hi) CD38(hi) transitional B cells associated with an

immunoregulatory phenotype in renal transplant recipient. Am J Transplant. 2016. doi:10.1111/ajt.13904 (Epub ahead of print).

- Lombardi G, Sidhu S, Daly M, et al. Are primary alloresponses truly primary? Int Immunol. 1990;2:9–13.
- 105. Heeger PS, Greenspan NS, Kuhlenschmidt S, et al. Pretransplant frequency of donor-specific, IFN-gamma-producing lymphocytes is a manifestation of immunologic memory and correlates with the risk of posttransplant rejection episodes. J Immunol. 1999;163:2267–75.
- 106. Weaver TA, Charafeddine AH, Agarwal A, et al. Alefacept promotes co-stimulation blockade based allograft survival in nonhuman primates. Nat Med. 2009;15:746–9.
- 107. Lo DJ, Weaver TA, Stempora L, et al. Selective targeting of human alloresponsive CD8+ effector memory T cells based on CD2 expression. Am J Transplant. 2011;11:22–33.
- 108. Bertram EM, Lau P, Watts TH. Temporal segregation of 4-1BB versus CD28-mediated costimulation: 4-1BB ligand influences T cell numbers late in the primary response and regulates the size of the T cell memory response following influenza infection. J Immunol. 2002;168:3777–85.
- 109. Croft M, Bradley LM, Swain SL. Naive versus memory CD4 T cell response to antigen: memory cells are less dependent on accessory cell costimulation and can respond to many antigenpresenting cell types including resting B cells. J Immunol. 1994;152:2675–85.
- Flynn K, Müllbacher A. Memory alloreactive cytotoxic T cells do not require costimulation for activation in vitro. Immunol Cell Biol. 1996;74:413–20.
- 111. Ndejembi MP, Teijaro JR, Patke DS, et al. Control of memory CD4 T cell recall by the CD28/B7 costimulatory pathway. J Immunol. 2006;177:7698–706.
- 112. Espinosa J, Herr F, Tharp G, et al. CD57(+) CD4 T cells underlie belatacept-resistant allograft rejection. Am J Transplant. 2016;16:1102–12.
- 113. de Graav GN, Hesselink DA, Dieterich M, et al. An acute cellular rejection with detrimental outcome occurring under belatacept-based immunosuppressive therapy: an immunological analysis. Transplantation. 2016;100:1111–9.
- 114. Tarazona R, DelaRosa O, Alonso C, et al. Increased expression of NK cell markers on T lymphocytes in aging and chronic activation of the immune system reflects the accumulation of effector/senescent T cells. Mech Ageing Dev. 2000;121:77–88.
- 115. Palmer BE, Blyveis N, Fontenot AP, Wilson CC. Functional and phenotypic characterization of CD57+ CD4+ T cells and their association with HIV-1-induced T cell dysfunction. J Immunol. 2005;175:8415–23.
- 116. Pourgheysari B, Khan N, Best D, et al. The cytomegalovirusspecific CD4+ T-cell response expands with age and markedly alters the CD4+ T-cell repertoire. J Virol. 2007;81:7759–65.
- 117. Focosi D, Bestagno M, Burrone O, Petrini M. CD57+ T lymphocytes and functional immune deficiency. J Leukoc Biol. 2010;87:107–16.
- Chong LK, Aicheler RJ, Llewellyn-Lacey S, et al. Proliferation and interleukin 5 production by CD8hi CD57+ T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38:995–1000.
- Borowski AB, Boesteanu AC, Mueller YM, et al. Memory CD8+ T cells require CD28 costimulation. J Immunol. 2007;179:6494–503.
- Schmidt D, Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. CD4+ CD7- CD28- T cells are expanded in rheumatoid arthritis and are characterized by autoreactivity. J Clin Investig. 1996;97:2027–37.
- 121. Fagnoni FF, Vescovini R, Mazzola M, et al. Expansion of cytotoxic CD8+ CD28- T cells in healthy ageing people, including centenarians. Immunology. 1996;88:501-7.
- 122. Vivar N, Ruffin N, Sammicheli S, et al. Survival and proliferation of CD28- T cells during HIV-1 infection relate to the amplitude of viral replication. J Infect Dis. 2011;203:1658–67.

- 123. van Leeuwen EMM, Remmerswaal EBM, Vossen MTM, et al. Emergence of a CD4+ CD28- granzyme B+, cytomegalovirus-specific T cell subset after recovery of primary cytomegalovirus infection. J Immunol. 2004;173:1834–41.
- 124. Kato M, Matsuguchi T, Ono Y, et al. Characterization of CD28(-)CD4(+) T cells in living kidney transplant patients with long-term allograft acceptance. Hum Immunol. 2001;62:1335–45.
- 125. Pawlik A, Florczak M, Masiuk M, et al. The expansion of CD4+ CD28- T cells in patients with chronic kidney graft rejection. Transplant Proc. 2003;35:2902-4.
- 126. de Graav GN, Hesselink DA, Dieterich M, et al. Down-regulation of surface CD28 under belatacept treatment: an escape mechanism for antigen-reactive T-cells. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0148604.
- 127. Thibaudin D, Alamartine E, de Filippis JP, et al. Advantage of antithymocyte globulin induction in sensitized kidney recipients: a randomized prospective study comparing induction with and without antithymocyte globulin. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1998;13:711–5.
- 128. D'Addio F, Boenisch O, Magee CN, et al. Prolonged, low-dose anti-thymocyte globulin, combined with CTLA4-Ig, promotes engraftment in a stringent transplant model. PLoS One. 2013;8:e53797.
- 129. Feng X, Kajigaya S, Solomou EE, et al. Rabbit ATG but not horse ATG promotes expansion of functional CD4+ CD25highFOXP3+ regulatory T cells in vitro. Blood. 2008;111:3675–83.
- Ferrajoli A, O'Brien S, Keating MJ. Alemtuzumab: a novel monoclonal antibody. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2001;1:1059–65.
- 131. Morgan RD, O'Callaghan JM, Knight SR, Morris PJ. Alemtuzumab induction therapy in kidney transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transplantation. 2012;93:1179–88.
- 132. Miller GT, Hochman PS, Meier W, et al. Specific interaction of lymphocyte function-associated antigen 3 with CD2 can inhibit T cell responses. J Exp Med. 1993;178:211–22.
- Cooper JC, Morgan G, Harding S, et al. Alefacept selectively promotes NK cell-mediated deletion of CD45R0+ human T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33:666–75.
- 134. Snanoudj R, Rouleau M, Bidère N, et al. A role for CD2 antibodies (BTI-322 and its humanized form) in the in vivo elimination of human T lymphocytes infiltrating an allogeneic human skin graft in SCID mice: an Fcgamma receptor-related

mechanism involving co-injected human NK cells. Transplantation. 2004;78:50–8.

- 135. Noël C, Abramowicz D, Durand D, et al. Daclizumab versus antithymocyte globulin in high-immunological-risk renal transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20:1385–92.
- Hellemans R, Hazzan M, Durand D, et al. Daclizumab versus rabbit antithymocyte globulin in high-risk renal transplants: fiveyear follow-up of a randomized study. Am J Transplant. 2015;15:1923–32.
- 137. Lo DJ, Anderson DJ, Weaver TA, et al. Belatacept and sirolimus prolong nonhuman primate renal allograft survival without a requirement for memory T cell depletion. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:320–8.
- Ferguson R, Grinyó J, Vincenti F, et al. Immunosuppression with belatacept-based, corticosteroid-avoiding regimens in de novo kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2011;11:66–76.
- 139. Bestard O, Cassis L, Cruzado JM, et al. Costimulatory blockade with mTor inhibition abrogates effector T-cell responses allowing regulatory T-cell survival in renal transplantation. Transpl Int. 2011;24:451–60.
- 140. Kirk AD, Guasch A, Xu H, et al. Renal transplantation using belatacept without maintenance steroids or calcineurin inhibitors. Am J Transplant. 2014;14:1142–51.
- 141. Lebranchu Y, Snanoudj R, Toupance O, et al. Five-year results of a randomized trial comparing de novo sirolimus and cyclosporine in renal transplantation: the SPIESSER study. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:1801–10.
- 142. Durrbach A, Rostaing L, Tricot L, et al. Prospective comparison of the use of sirolimus and cyclosporine in recipients of a kidney from an expanded criteria donor. Transplantation. 2008;85:486–90.
- 143. Vanhove B, Laflamme G, Coulon F, et al. Selective blockade of CD28 and not CTLA-4 with a single-chain Fv-alpha1-antitrypsin fusion antibody. Blood. 2003;102:564–70.
- 144. Poirier N, Dilek N, Mary C, et al. FR104, an antagonist anti-CD28 monovalent fab' antibody, prevents alloimmunization and allows calcineurin inhibitor minimization in nonhuman primate renal allograft. Am J Transplant. 2015;15:88–100.
- 145. Poirier N, Chevalier M, Mary C, et al. Selective CD28 antagonist blunts memory immune responses and promotes long-term control of skin inflammation in nonhuman primates. J Immunol. 2016;196:274–83.
## Bibliography

- A Davidson, R Shefner, A Livneh, & Diamond, and B. (1987). The Role of Somatic Mutation of Immunoglobulin Genes in Autoimmunity. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 5(1), 85–108. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.05.040187.000505
- Abbas, A. K., Lichtman, A. H., & Pillai, S. (2014). *Cellular and molecular immunology*. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Abbas, A. K., Murphy, K. M., & Sher, A. (1996). Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature*, 383(6603), 787–793. https://doi.org/10.1038/383787a0
- Ackerman, A. L., & Cresswell, P. (2004). Cellular mechanisms governing cross-presentation of exogenous antigens. *Nature Immunology*, 5(7), 678–684. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1082
- Aderem, A., & Underhill, and D. M. (1999). Mechanisms of Phagocytosis in Macrophages. Annual Review of Immunology, 17(1), 593–623. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.593
- Afzali, B., Lombardi, G., & Lechler, R. I. (2008). Pathways of major histocompatibility complex allorecognition. *Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation*, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.1097/MOT.0b013e328309ee31
- Akgul, C., Turner, P. C., White, M. R. H., & Edwards, S. W. (2000). Functional analysis of the human MCL-1 gene. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 57(4), 684–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00000728
- Alegre, M.-L., Florquin, S., & Goldman, M. (2007). Cellular mechanisms underlying acute graft rejection: time for reassessment. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 19(5), 563–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2007.07019
- Alessi, D. R., Saito, Y., Campbell, D. G., Cohen, P., Sithanandam, G., Rapp, U., ... Cowley, S. (1994). Identification of the sites in MAP kinase kinase-1 phosphorylated by p74raf-1. *The EMBO Journal*, 13(7), 1610.
- Allen, C. D. C., Ansel, K. M., Low, C., Lesley, R., Tamamura, H., Fujii, N., & Cyster, J. G. (2004). Germinal center dark and light zone organization is mediated by CXCR4 and CXCR5. *Nature Immunology*, 5(9), 943–952. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1100
- Allen, C. D. C., & Cyster, J. G. (2008). Follicular dendritic cell networks of primary follicles and germinal centers: phenotype and function. *Seminars in Immunology*, 20(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2007.12.001
- Allen, C. D. C., Okada, T., Tang, H. L., & Cyster, J. G. (2007). Imaging of Germinal Center Selection Events During Affinity Maturation. *Science*, 315(5811), 528–531. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1136736
- Allen, C. D., Okada, T., & Cyster, J. G. (2007). Germinal Center Organization and Cellular Dynamics. *Immunity*, 27(2), 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.009
- Angelin-Duclos, C., Cattoretti, G., Lin, K.-I., & Calame, K. (2000). Commitment of B Lymphocytes to a Plasma Cell Fate Is Associated with Blimp-1 Expression In Vivo. *The Journal* of Immunology, 165(10), 5462–5471. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.10.5462
- Ansel, K. M., McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., Ngo, V. N., McHeyzer-Williams, M. G., & Cyster, J. G. (1999). In Vivo–Activated Cd4 T Cells Upregulate Cxc Chemokine Receptor 5 and Reprogram Their Response to Lymphoid Chemokines. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 190(8), 1123–1134. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.190.8.1123
- Antonsson, B., Conti, F., Ciavatta, A., Montessuit, S., Lewis, S., Martinou, I., ... Martinou, J.-C. (1997). Inhibition of Bax Channel-Forming Activity by Bcl-2. *Science*, 277(5324), 370–372. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5324.370
- Antonsson, B., Montessuit, S., Sanchez, B., & Martinou, J.-C. (2001). Bax Is Present as a High Molecular Weight Oligomer/Complex in the Mitochondrial Membrane of Apoptotic Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(15), 11615–11623. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010810200
- Arnold, M.-L., Heinemann, F. M., Horn, P., Ziemann, M., Lachmann, N., Mühlbacher, A., ... Spriewald, B. M. (2013). 16th IHIW: Anti-HLA alloantibodies of the of IgA isotype in retransplant candidates. *International Journal of Immunogenetics*, 40(1), 17–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/iji.12032

- Ashkenazi, A., & Dixit, V. M. (1998). Death Receptors: Signaling and Modulation. *Science*, 281(5381), 1305–1308. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.281.5381.1305
- Aubert, O., Suberbielle, C., Gauthe, R., Francois, H., Obada, E. N., & Durrbach, A. (2014). Effect of a Proteasome Inhibitor Plus Steroids on HLA Antibodies in Sensitized Patients Awaiting a Renal Transplant: *Transplantation*, 97(9), 946–952. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000438207.42465.40
- Au-Yeung, B. B., Deindl, S., Hsu, L.-Y., Palacios, E. H., Levin, S. E., Kuriyan, J., & Weiss, A. (2009). The structure, regulation, and function of ZAP-70. *Immunological Reviews*, 228(1), 41–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00753.x
- Au-Yeung, B. B., Melichar, H. J., Ross, J. O., Cheng, D. A., Zikherman, J., Shokat, K. M., ... Weiss, A. (2014). Quantitative and Temporal Requirements Revealed for Zap-70 Catalytic Activity During T Cell Development. *Nature Immunology*, 15(7), 687–694. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2918
- Avery, D. T., Deenick, E. K., Ma, C. S., Suryani, S., Simpson, N., Chew, G. Y., ... Tangye, S. G. (2010). B cell–intrinsic signaling through IL-21 receptor and STAT3 is required for establishing long-lived antibody responses in humans. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 207(1), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20091706
- B Diamond, J B Katz, E Paul, C Aranow, D Lustgarten, & Scharff, and M. D. (1992). The Role of Somatic Mutation in the Pathogenic Anti-DNA Response. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *10*(1), 731–757. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.10.040192.003503
- Bajénoff, M., Egen, J., Koo, L. Y., Laugier, J. P., Brau, F., Glaichenhaus, N., & Germain, R. N. (2006). Stromal Cell Networks Regulate Lymphocyte Entry, Migration, and Territoriality in Lymph Nodes. *Immunity*, 25(6), 989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.10.011
- Baldwin, W. M., Kasper, E. K., Zachary, A. A., Wasowska, B. A., & Rodriguez, E. R. (2004). Beyond C4d: other complement-related diagnostic approaches to antibody-mediated rejection. *American Journal of Transplantation: Official Journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons*, 4(3), 311–318.
- Bannard, O., Horton, R. M., Allen, C. D. C., An, J., Nagasawa, T., & Cyster, J. G. (2013). Germinal Center Centroblasts Transition to a Centrocyte Phenotype According to a Timed Program and Depend on the Dark Zone for Effective Selection. *Immunity*, 39(5), 912–924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.038
- Barr, P. M., Wei, C., Roger, J., Schaefer-Cutillo, J., Kelly, J. L., Rosenberg, A. F., ... Friedberg, J. W. (2012). Syk Inhibition with Fostamatinib Leads to Transitional B Lymphocyte Depletion. *Clinical Immunology (Orlando, Fla.)*, 142(3), 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2011.12.012
- Baudot, A. D., Jeandel, P. Y., Mouska, X., Maurer, U., Tartare-Deckert, S., Raynaud, S. D., ... Deckert, M. (2009). The tyrosine kinase Syk regulates the survival of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells through PKCδ and proteasome-dependent regulation of Mcl-1 expression. Oncogene, 28(37), 3261–3273. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.179
- Beitz, L. O., Fruman, D. A., Kurosaki, T., Cantley, L. C., & Scharenberg, A. M. (1999). SYK Is Upstream of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase in B Cell Receptor Signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(46), 32662–32666. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.46.32662
- Bender, T., & Martinou, J.-C. (2013). Where Killers Meet—Permeabilization of the Outer Mitochondrial Membrane during Apoptosis. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(1), a011106. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a011106
- Bentall, A., Tyan, D. B., Sequeira, F., Everly, M. J., Gandhi, M. J., Cornell, L. D., ... Stegall, M. D. (2014). Antibody-mediated rejection despite inhibition of terminal complement. *Transplant International*, 27(12), 1235–1243. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.12396
- Berke, G. (1995). The CTL's kiss of death. Cell, 81(1), 9–12.
- Bigot, J., Pilon, C., Matignon, M., Grondin, C., Leibler, C., Aissat, A., ... Grimbert, P. (2016). Transcriptomic Signature of the CD24hiCD38hi Transitional B Cells Associated With an

Immunoregulatory Phenotype in Renal Transplant Recipients. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 16(12), 3430–3442. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13904

- Billingham, R. E., Brent, L., & Medawar, P. B. (2003). "Actively acquired tolerance" of foreign cells. 1953. *Transplantation*, 76(10), 1409–1412. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000102675.72061.88
- Blair, P. A., Chavez-Rueda, K. A., Evans, J. G., Shlomchik, M. J., Eddaoudi, A., Isenberg, D. A., ... Mauri, C. (2009). Selective Targeting of B Cells with Agonistic Anti-CD40 Is an Efficacious Strategy for the Generation of Induced Regulatory T2-Like B Cells and for the Suppression of Lupus in MRL/lpr Mice. *The Journal of Immunology*, 182(6), 3492–3502. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0803052
- Blair, P. A., Noreña, L. Y., Flores-Borja, F., Rawlings, D. J., Isenberg, D. A., Ehrenstein, M. R., & Mauri, C. (2010). CD19+CD24hiCD38hi B Cells Exhibit Regulatory Capacity in Healthy Individuals but Are Functionally Impaired in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients. *Immunity*, 32(1), 129–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2009.11.009
- Bonavida, B. (2007). 'Rituximab-induced inhibition of antiapoptotic cell survival pathways: implications in chemo/immunoresistance, rituximab unresponsiveness, prognostic and novel therapeutic interventions.' Oncogene, 26(25), 3629–3636. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210365
- Bonomini, V., Vangelista, A., Frascà, G. M., Di Felice, A., & Liviano D'Arcangelo, G. (1985). Effects of plasmapheresis in renal transplant rejection. A controlled study. *Transactions - American Society for Artificial Internal Organs*, 31, 698–703.
- Borriello, F., Sethna, M. P., Boyd, S. D., Schweitzer, A. N., Tivol, E. A., Jacoby, D., ... Sharpe, A. H. (1997). B7-1 and B7-2 have overlapping, critical roles in immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. *Immunity*, 6(3), 303–313.
- Brack, C., Hirama, M., Lenhard-Schuller, R., & Tonegawa, S. (1978). A complete immunoglobulin gene is created by somatic recombination. *Cell*, 15(1), 1–14.
- Brink, R., Phan, T. G., Paus, D., & Chan, T. D. (2007). Visualizing the effects of antigen affinity on T-dependent B-cell differentiation. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 86(1), 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.icb.7100143
- Brown, M., Stenzel-Poore, M., Stevens, S., Kondoleon, S. K., Ng, J., Bächinger, H. P., & Rittenberg, M. B. (1992). Immunologic memory to phosphocholine keyhole limpet hemocyanin. Recurrent mutations in the lambda 1 light chain increase affinity for antigen. *The Journal of Immunology*, 148(2), 339–346.
- Brunham, R. C., & Coombs, K. M. (1998). In celebration of the 200th anniversary of Edward Jenner's Inquiry into the causes and effects of the variolae vaccinae. *The Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 9(5), 310.
- Brunner, T., Wasem, C., Torgler, R., Cima, I., Jakob, S., & Corazza, N. (2003). Fas (CD95/Apo-1) ligand regulation in T cell homeostasis, cell-mediated cytotoxicity and immune pathology. *Seminars in Immunology*, *15*(3), 167–176.
- Bryant, P. W., Lennon-Duménil, A.-M., Fiebiger, E., Lagaudrière-Gesbert, C., & Ploegh, H. L. (2002). Proteolysis and antigen presentation by MHC class II molecules. *Advances in Immunology*, *80*, 71–114.
- Buchner, M., Fuchs, S., Prinz, G., Pfeifer, D., Bartholomé, K., Burger, M., ... Zirlik, K. (2009). Spleen Tyrosine Kinase Is Overexpressed and Represents a Potential Therapeutic Target in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Cancer Research*, 69(13), 5424–5432. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4252
- Burkhardt, A. L., Brunswick, M., Bolen, J. B., & Mond, J. J. (1991). Anti-immunoglobulin stimulation of B lymphocytes activates src-related protein-tyrosine kinases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88(16), 7410–7414.

- Calado, D. P., Sasaki, Y., Godinho, S. A., Pellerin, A., Köchert, K., Sleckman, B. P., ... Rajewsky, K. (2012). The cell-cycle regulator c-Myc is essential for the formation and maintenance of germinal centers. *Nature Immunology*, 13(11), 1092–1100. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2418
- Cambier, J. C., Pleiman, C. M., & Clark, M. R. (1994). Signal Transduction by the B Cell Antigen Receptor and its Coreceptors. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 12(1), 457–486. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.002325
- Capece, T., & Kim, and M. (2016). The Role of Lymphatic Niches in T Cell Differentiation. *Moleucles and Cells*, 39(7), 515–523. https://doi.org/10.14348/molcells.2016.0089
- Carlotti, E., Wrench, D., Rosignoli, G., Marzec, J., Sangaralingam, A., Hazanov, L., ... Gribben, J.
   G. (2015). High Throughput Sequencing Analysis of the Immunoglobulin Heavy Chain Gene from Flow-Sorted B Cell Sub-Populations Define the Dynamics of Follicular Lymphoma Clonal Evolution. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(9), e0134833. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134833
- Carpenter, A. C., & Bosselut, R. (2010). Decision checkpoints in the thymus. *Nature Immunology*, 11(8), 666–673. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1887
- Carter, N. A., Rosser, E. C., & Mauri, C. (2012). Interleukin-10 produced by B cells is crucial for the suppression of Th17/Th1 responses, induction of T regulatory type 1 cells and reduction of collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 14(1), R32. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar3736
- Carter, N. A., Vasconcellos, R., Rosser, E. C., Tulone, C., Muñoz-Suano, A., Kamanaka, M., ... Mauri, C. (2011). Mice Lacking Endogenous IL-10–Producing Regulatory B Cells Develop Exacerbated Disease and Present with an Increased Frequency of Th1/Th17 but a Decrease in Regulatory T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186(10), 5569–5579. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100284
- Castro-Dopico, T., & Clatworthy, M. R. (2016). Fcy Receptors in Solid Organ Transplantation. *Current Transplantation Reports*, 3(4), 284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40472-016-0116-7
- Casulo, C., Maragulia, J., & Zelenetz, A. D. (2013). Incidence of Hypogammaglobulinemia in Patients Receiving Rituximab and the Use of Intravenous Immunoglobulin for Recurrent Infections. *Clinical Lymphoma, Myeloma & Leukemia*, 13(2), 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2012.11.011
- Cattoretti, G., Büttner, M., Shaknovich, R., Kremmer, E., Alobeid, B., & Niedobitek, G. (2006). Nuclear and cytoplasmic AID in extrafollicular and germinal center B cells. *Blood*, 107(10), 3967– 3975. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-10-4170
- Certo, M., Moore, V. D. G., Nishino, M., Wei, G., Korsmeyer, S., Armstrong, S. A., & Letai, A. (2006). Mitochondria primed by death signals determine cellular addiction to antiapoptotic BCL-2 family members. *Cancer Cell*, 9(5), 351–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.03.027
- Chan, V. W. F., Lowell, C. A., & DeFranco, A. L. (1998). Defective negative regulation of antigen receptor signaling in Lyn-deficient B lymphocytes. *Current Biology*, 8(10), 545–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(98)70223-4
- Chaudhuri, J., Basu, U., Zarrin, A., Yan, C., Franco, S., Perlot, T., ... Alt, F. W. (2007). Evolution of the Immunoglobulin Heavy Chain Class Switch Recombination Mechanism, *94*, 157–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(06)94006-1
- Chen, Z., Koralov, S. B., Gendelman, M., Carroll, M. C., & Kelsoe, G. (2000). Humoral Immune Responses in CR2-/- Mice: Enhanced Affinity Maturation but Impaired Antibody Persistence. *The Journal of Immunology*, 164(9), 4522–4532. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.9.4522
- Cheng, A. M., Rowley, B., Pao, W., Hayday, A., Bolen, J. B., & Pawson, T. (1995). Syk tyrosine kinase required for mouse viability and B-cell development. *Nature*, 378(6554), 303–306. https://doi.org/10.1038/378303a0
- Cheng, E. H. Y. A., Wei, M. C., Weiler, S., Flavell, R. A., Mak, T. W., Lindsten, T., & Korsmeyer, S. J. (2001). BCL-2, BCL-XL Sequester BH3 Domain-Only Molecules Preventing BAX- and

BAK-Mediated Mitochondrial Apoptosis. *Molecular Cell*, 8(3), 705–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00320-3

- Cheng, J., Torkamani, A., Grover, R. K., Jones, T. M., Ruiz, D. I., Schork, N. J., ... Lerner, R. A. (2011). Ectopic B-cell clusters that infiltrate transplanted human kidneys are clonal. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(14), 5560–5565. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1101148108
- Chesneau, M., Pallier, A., Braza, F., Lacombe, G., Le Gallou, S., Baron, D., ... Brouard, S. (2014). Unique B Cell Differentiation Profile in Tolerant Kidney Transplant Patients. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 14(1), 144–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12508
- Cheung, W. L., Ajiro, K., Samejima, K., Kloc, M., Cheung, P., Mizzen, C. A., ... Allis, C. D. (2003). Apoptotic Phosphorylation of Histone H2B Is Mediated by Mammalian Sterile Twenty Kinase. *Cell*, 113(4), 507–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00355-6
- Ci, W., Polo, J. M., Cerchietti, L., Shaknovich, R., Wang, L., Yang, S. N., ... Melnick, A. (2009). The BCL6 transcriptional program features repression of multiple oncogenes in primary B cells and is deregulated in DLBCL. *Blood*, 113(22), 5536–5548. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-12-193037
- Clatworthy, M. R. (2011). Targeting B Cells and Antibody in Transplantation. American Journal of Transplantation : Official Journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, 11(7), 1359–1367. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03554.x
- Clatworthy, M. R., Aronin, C. E. P., Mathews, R. J., Morgan, N. Y., Smith, K. G. C., & Germain, R. N. (2014). Immune complexes stimulate CCR7-dependent dendritic cell migration to lymph nodes. *Nature Medicine*, 20(12), 1458–1463. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3709
- Clatworthy, M. R., Watson, C. J. E., Plotnek, G., Bardsley, V., Chaudhry, A. N., Bradley, J. A., & Smith, K. G. C. (2009). B-Cell–Depleting Induction Therapy and Acute Cellular Rejection. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 360(25), 2683–2685. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc0808481
- Clybouw, C., Fischer, S., Auffredou, M. T., Hugues, P., Alexia, C., Bouillet, P., ... Vazquez, A. (2011). Regulation of memory B-cell survival by the BH3-only protein Puma. *Blood*, 118(15), 4120–4128. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-04-347096
- Coffey, F., Alabyev, B., & Manser, T. (2009). Initial clonal expansion of germinal center B cells takes place at the perimeter of follicles. *Immunity*, *30*(4), 599–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2009.01.011
- Cohen, D. J. (1984). Cyclosporine: A New Immunosuppressive Agent for Organ Transplantation. Annals of Internal Medicine, 101(5), 667. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-101-5-667
- Cohen, G. M. (1997). Caspases: the executioners of apoptosis. Biochemical Journal, 326(Pt 1), 1-16.
- Coleman, M. L., Sahai, E. A., Yeo, M., Bosch, M., Dewar, A., & Olson, M. F. (2001). Membrane blebbing during apoptosis results from caspase-mediated activation of ROCK I. *Nature Cell Biology*, 3(4), 339–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/35070009
- Collins, A. B., Schneeberger, E. E., Pascual, M. A., Saidman, S. L., Williams, W. W., Tolkoff-Rubin, N., ... Colvin, R. B. (1999). Complement Activation in Acute Humoral Renal Allograft Rejection Diagnostic Significance of C4d Deposits in Peritubular Capillaries. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 10(10), 2208–2214.
- Colvin, R. B. (2009). Pathology of chronic humoral rejection. *Contributions to Nephrology*, 162, 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1159/000170814
- Colvin, R. B., & Smith, R. N. (2005). Antibody-mediated organ-allograft rejection. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 5(10), 807–817. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1702
- Conlon, T. M., Saeb-Parsy, K., Cole, J. L., Motallebzadeh, R., Qureshi, M. S., Rehakova, S., ... Pettigrew, G. J. (2012). Germinal Center Alloantibody Responses Are Mediated Exclusively by Indirect-Pathway CD4 T Follicular Helper Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 188(6), 2643–2652. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1102830

- Cornall, R. J., Cheng, A. M., Pawson, T., & Goodnow, C. C. (2000). Role of Syk in B-cell development and antigen-receptor signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(4), 1713–1718. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.4.1713
- Cornell, L. D., Schinstock, C. A., Gandhi, M. J., Kremers, W. K., & Stegall, M. D. (2015). Positive Crossmatch Kidney Transplant Recipients Treated With Eculizumab: Outcomes Beyond 1 Year. American Journal of Transplantation, 15(5), 1293–1302. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13168
- Cosio, F. G., Kudva, Y., van der Velde, M., Larson, T. S., Textor, S. C., Griffin, M. D., & Stegall, M. D. (2005). New onset hyperglycemia and diabetes are associated with increased cardiovascular risk after kidney transplantation. *Kidney International*, 67(6), 2415–2421. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00349.x
- Cosulich, S. C., Savory, P. J., & Clarke, P. R. (1999). Bcl-2 regulates amplification of caspase activation by cytochrome c. *Current Biology*, 9(3), 147–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(99)80068-2
- Coxon, A., Cullere, X., Knight, S., Sethi, S., Wakelin, M. W., Stavrakis, G., ... Mayadas, T. N. (2001). FcγRIII Mediates Neutrophil Recruitment to Immune Complexes: A Mechanism for Neutrophil Accumulation in Immune-Mediated Inflammation. *Immunity*, 14(6), 693–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00150-9
- Coyle, A. J., Lehar, S., Lloyd, C., Tian, J., Delaney, T., Manning, S., ... Gutierrez-Ramos, J. C. (2000). The CD28-related molecule ICOS is required for effective T cell-dependent immune responses. *Immunity*, *13*(1), 95–105.
- Crespo, M., Pascual, M., Tolkoff-Rubin, N., Mauiyyedi, S., Collins, A. B., Fitzpatrick, D., ... Saidman, S. L. (2001). Acute humoral rejection in renal allograft recipients: I. Incidence, serology and clinical characteristics. *Transplantation*, 71(5), 652–658.
- Croft, D. R., Coleman, M. L., Li, S., Robertson, D., Sullivan, T., Stewart, C. L., & Olson, M. F. (2005). Actin-myosin-based contraction is responsible for apoptotic nuclear disintegration. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 168(2), 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200409049
- Currie, K. S., Kropf, J. E., Lee, T., Blomgren, P., Xu, J., Zhao, Z., ... Mitchell, S. A. (2014). Discovery of GS-9973, a Selective and Orally Efficacious Inhibitor of Spleen Tyrosine Kinase. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 57(9), 3856–3873. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm500228a
- Cyster, J. G. (1999). Chemokines and Cell Migration in Secondary Lymphoid Organs. *Science*, 286(5447), 2098–2102. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5447.2098
- Cyster, J. G., Ansel, K. M., Reif, K., Ekland, E. H., Hyman, P. L., Tang, H. L., ... Ngo, V. N. (2000). Follicular stromal cells and lymphocyte homing to follicles. *Immunological Reviews*, 176, 181–193.
- Dal Porto, J. M., Haberman, A. M., Kelsoe, G., & Shlomchik, M. J. (2002). Very Low Affinity B Cells Form Germinal Centers, Become Memory B Cells, and Participate in Secondary Immune Responses When Higher Affinity Competition Is Reduced. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 195(9), 1215. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20011550
- D'Ambrosio, D., Hippen, K. L., & Cambier, J. C. (1996). Distinct mechanisms mediate SHC association with the activated and resting B cell antigen receptor. *European Journal of Immunology*, 26(8), 1960–1965. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830260842
- Dang, C. V. (2012). MYC on the Path to Cancer. *Cell*, 149(1), 22–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.003
- Depoil, D., Zaru, R., Guiraud, M., Chauveau, A., Harriague, J., Bismuth, G., ... Valitutti, S. (2005). Immunological Synapses Are Versatile Structures Enabling Selective T Cell Polarization. *Immunity*, 22(2), 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2004.12.010
- Dickerson, S. K., Market, E., Besmer, E., & Papavasiliou, F. N. (2003). AID Mediates Hypermutation by Deaminating Single Stranded DNA. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 197(10), 1291–1296. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20030481
- Ding, C., Chen, X., Dascani, P., Hu, X., Bolli, R., Zhang, H., ... Yan, J. (2016). STAT3 Signaling in B Cells Is Critical for Germinal Center Maintenance and Contributes to the Pathogenesis of

Murine Models of Lupus. *The Journal of Immunology*, 196(11), 4477–4486. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502043

- Ding, Q., He, X., Hsu, J.-M., Xia, W., Chen, C.-T., Li, L.-Y., … Hung, M.-C. (2007). Degradation of Mcl-1 by β-TrCP Mediates Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3-Induced Tumor Suppression and Chemosensitization. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 27(11), 4006–4017. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00620-06
- Diwan, T. S., Raghavaiah, S., Burns, J. M., Kremers, W. K., Gloor, J. M., & Stegall, M. D. (2011). The Impact of Proteasome Inhibition on Alloantibody-producing Plasma Cells In Vivo. *Transplantation*, 91(5), 536–541. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3182081333
- Dolmetsch, R. E., Lewis, R. S., Goodnow, C. C., & Healy, J. I. (1997). Differential activation of transcription factors induced by Ca2+ response amplitude and duration. *Nature*, 386(6627), 855–858.
- Dominguez-Sola, D., Victora, G. D., Ying, C. Y., Phan, R. T., Saito, M., Nussenzweig, M. C., & Dalla-Favera, R. (2012). The proto-oncogene MYC is required for selection in the germinal center and cyclic reentry. *Nature Immunology*, 13(11), 1083–1091. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2428
- Drachenberg, C. B., & Papadimitriou, J. C. (2013). Endothelial Injury in Renal Antibody-Mediated Allograft Rejection: A Schematic View Based on Pathogenesis. *Transplantation Journal*, 95(9), 1073–1083. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31827e6b45
- Drayton, D. L., Liao, S., Mounzer, R. H., & Ruddle, N. H. (2006). Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis. *Nature Immunology*, 7(4), 344–353. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1330
- Du, C., Fang, M., Li, Y., Li, L., & Wang, X. (2000). Smac, a Mitochondrial Protein that Promotes Cytochrome c–Dependent Caspase Activation by Eliminating IAP Inhibition. *Cell*, 102(1), 33– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00008-8
- Du, K., & Montminy, M. (1998). CREB Is a Regulatory Target for the Protein Kinase Akt/PKB. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(49), 32377–32379. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.49.32377
- Durrbach, A., Francois, H., Beaudreuil, S., Jacquet, A., & Charpentier, B. (2010). Advances in immunosuppression for renal transplantation. *Nature Reviews. Nephrology*, 6(3), 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2009.233
- Durrbach, A., Pestana, J. M., Florman, S., del Carmen Rial, M., Rostaing, L., Kuypers, D., ... Grinyó, J. M. (2016). Long-Term Outcomes in Belatacept- Versus Cyclosporine-Treated Recipients of Extended Criteria Donor Kidneys: Final Results From BENEFIT-EXT, a Phase III Randomized Study. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 16(11), 3192–3201. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13830
- Einecke, G., Sis, B., Reeve, J., Mengel, M., Campbell, P. M., Hidalgo, L. G., ... Halloran, P. F. (2009). Antibody-mediated microcirculation injury is the major cause of late kidney transplant failure. *American Journal of Transplantation: Official Journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons*, 9(11), 2520–2531. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02799.x
- Eisen, H. N., & Siskind, G. W. (1964). VARIATIONS IN AFFINITIES OF ANTIBODIES DURING THE IMMUNE RESPONSE. *Biochemistry*, *3*, 996–1008.
- Elliott, M. R., Chekeni, F. B., Trampont, P. C., Lazarowski, E. R., Kadl, A., Walk, S. F., ... Ravichandran, K. S. (2009). Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature*, 461(7261), 282–286. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08296
- Ellmeier, W., Sawada, S., & Littman, D. R. (1999). The regulation of CD4 and CD8 coreceptor gene expression during T cell development. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 17, 523–554. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.523
- Elmore, S. (2007). Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 35(4), 495–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701320337

- Enari, M., Sakahira, H., Yokoyama, H., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., & Nagata, S. (1998). A caspaseactivated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. *Nature*, 391(6662), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/34112
- Engels, N., Wollscheid, B., & Wienands, J. (2001). Association of SLP-65/BLNK with the B cell antigen receptor through a non-ITAM tyrosine of Ig-alpha. *European Journal of Immunology*, *31*(7), 2126–2134.
- Epling-Burnette, P. K., Liu, J. H., Catlett-Falcone, R., Turkson, J., Oshiro, M., Kothapalli, R., ... Loughran, T. P. (2001). Inhibition of STAT3 signaling leads to apoptosis of leukemic large granular lymphocytes and decreased Mcl-1 expression. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 107(3), 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI9940
- Erickson, L. D., Durell, B. G., Vogel, L. A., O'Connor, B. P., Cascalho, M., Yasui, T., ... Noelle, R. J. (2002). Short-circuiting long-lived humoral immunity by the heightened engagement of CD40. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 109(5), 613–620. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI14110
- Evans, J. G., Chavez-Rueda, K. A., Eddaoudi, A., Meyer-Bahlburg, A., Rawlings, D. J., Ehrenstein, M. R., & Mauri, C. (2007). Novel Suppressive Function of Transitional 2 B Cells in Experimental Arthritis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *178*(12), 7868–7878. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.7868
- Everly, M. J., Rebellato, L. M., Haisch, C. E., Briley, K. P., Bolin, P., Kendrick, W. T., ... Terasaki,
  P. I. (2014). Impact of Igm and Igg3 Anti-hla Alloantibodies in Primary Renal Allograft Recipients. *Transplantation*, 97(5), 494–501. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000441362.11232.48
- Fadok, V. A., Bratton, D. L., Rose, D. M., Pearson, A., Ezekewitz, R. A. B., & Henson, P. M. (2000). A receptor for phosphatidylserine-specific clearance of apoptotic cells. *Nature*, 405(6782), 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/35011084
- Fadok, V. A., Voelker, D. R., Campbell, P. A., Cohen, J. J., Bratton, D. L., & Henson, P. M. (1992). Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 148(7), 2207–2216.
- Faguer, S., Kamar, N., Guilbeaud-Frugier, C., Fort, M., Modesto, A., Mari, A., ... Rostaing, L. (2007). Rituximab therapy for acute humoral rejection after kidney transplantation. *Transplantation*, 83(9), 1277–1280. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000261113.30757.d1
- Fan, H., & Rothstein, T. L. (2001). Lymphokine dependence of STAT3 activation produced by surface immunoglobulin cross-linking and by phorbol ester plus calcium ionophore treatment in B cells. *European Journal of Immunology*, 31(2), 665–671. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(200102)31:2<665::AID-IMMU665>3.0.CO;2-1
- Fehr, T., Rüsi, B., Fischer, A., Hopfer, H., Wüthrich, R. P., & Gaspert, A. (2009). Rituximab and Intravenous Immunoglobulin Treatment of Chronic Antibody-Mediated Kidney Allograft Rejection. *Transplantation*, 87(12), 1837–1841. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3181a6bac5
- Feucht, H. E., Schneeberger, H., Hillebrand, G., Burkhardt, K., Weiss, M., Riethmüller, G., ... Albert, E. (1993). Capillary deposition of C4d complement fragment and early renal graft loss. *Kidney International*, 43(6), 1333–1338.
- Flores-Borja, F., Bosma, A., Ng, D., Reddy, V., Ehrenstein, M. R., Isenberg, D. A., & Mauri, C. (2013). CD19+CD24hiCD38hi B Cells Maintain Regulatory T Cells While Limiting TH1 and TH17 Differentiation. *Science Translational Medicine*, 5(173), 173ra23-173ra23. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3005407
- Flynn, R., Allen, J. L., Luznik, L., MacDonald, K. P., Paz, K., Alexander, K. A., ... Blazar, B. R. (2015). Targeting Syk-activated B cells in murine and human chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Blood*, 125(26), 4085–4094. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-08-595470
- Fooksman, D. R., Schwickert, T. A., Victora, G. D., Dustin, M. L., Nussenzweig, M. C., & Skokos, D. (2010). Development and Migration of Plasma Cells in the Mouse Lymph Node. *Immunity*, 33(1), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.06.015

- Fornek, J. L., Tygrett, L. T., Waldschmidt, T. J., Poli, V., Rickert, R. C., & Kansas, G. S. (2006). Critical role for Stat3 in T-dependent terminal differentiation of IgG B cells. *Blood*, 107(3), 1085– 1091. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2871
- Förster, R., Schubel, A., Breitfeld, D., Kremmer, E., Renner-Müller, I., Wolf, E., & Lipp, M. (1999). CCR7 Coordinates the Primary Immune Response by Establishing Functional Microenvironments in Secondary Lymphoid Organs. *Cell*, 99(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80059-8
- Franke, T. F., Yang, S.-I., Chan, T. O., Datta, K., Kazlauskas, A., Morrison, D. K., ... Tsichlis, P. N. (1995). The protein kinase encoded by the Akt proto-oncogene is a target of the PDGF-activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Cell*, 81(5), 727–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90534-0
- Friedberg, J. W., Sharman, J., Sweetenham, J., Johnston, P. B., Vose, J. M., LaCasce, A., ... Shipp, M. A. (2010). Inhibition of Syk with fostamatinib disodium has significant clinical activity in non-Hodgkin lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, 115(13), 2578–2585. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-08-236471
- Fu, H., Ward, E. J., & Marelli-Berg, F. M. (2016). Mechanisms of T cell organotropism. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 73(16), 3009–3033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2211-4
- Fu, Y. X., & Chaplin, D. D. (1999). Development and maturation of secondary lymphoid tissues. Annual Review of Immunology, 17, 399–433. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.399
- Fukuda, T., Yoshida, T., Okada, S., Hatano, M., Miki, T., Ishibashi, K., ... Tokuhisa, T. (1997). Disruption of the Bcl6 Gene Results in an Impaired Germinal Center Formation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 186(3), 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.186.3.439
- Furlong, M. T., Mahrenholz, A. M., Kim, K.-H., Ashendel, C. L., Harrison, M. L., & Geahlen, R. L. (1997). Identification of the major sites of autophosphorylation of the murine protein-tyrosine kinase Syk. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research*, 1355(2), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4889(96)00131-0
- Gatto, D., Paus, D., Basten, A., Mackay, C. R., & Brink, R. (2009). Guidance of B Cells by the Orphan G Protein-Coupled Receptor EBI2 Shapes Humoral Immune Responses. *Immunity*, *31*(2), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.016
- Genovese, M. C., Kavanaugh, A., Weinblatt, M. E., Peterfy, C., DiCarlo, J., White, M. L., ... Magilavy, D. B. (2011). An oral Syk kinase inhibitor in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: A three-month randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II study in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis that did not respond to biologic agents. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 63(2), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.30114
- GeurtsvanKessel, C. H., Willart, M. A. M., Bergen, I. M., Rijt, L. S. van, Muskens, F., Elewaut, D., ... Lambrecht, B. N. (2009). Dendritic cells are crucial for maintenance of tertiary lymphoid structures in the lung of influenza virus–infected mice. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(11), 2339–2349. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20090410
- Gimmi, C. D., Freeman, G. J., Gribben, J. G., Sugita, K., Freedman, A. S., Morimoto, C., & Nadler, L. M. (1991). B-cell surface antigen B7 provides a costimulatory signal that induces T cells to proliferate and secrete interleukin 2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 88(15), 6575– 6579. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.15.6575
- Gluba, A., Banach, M., Hannam, S., Mikhailidis, D. P., Sakowicz, A., & Rysz, J. (2010). The role of Toll-like receptors in renal diseases. *Nature Reviews. Nephrology*, 6(4), 224–235. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2010.16
- Glynne, R., Ghandour, G., Rayner, J., Mack, D. H., & Goodnow, C. C. (2000). B-lymphocyte quiescence, tolerance and activation as viewed by global gene expression profiling on microarrays. *Immunological Reviews*, 176, 216–246. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-065X.2000.00614.x
- Gobessi, S., Laurenti, L., Longo, P. G., Carsetti, L., Berno, V., Sica, S., ... Efremov, D. G. (2009). Inhibition of constitutive and BCR-induced Syk activation downregulates Mcl-1 and induces

apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Leukemia, 23(4), 686–697. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2008.346

- Goc, J., Germain, C., Vo-Bourgais, T. K. D., Lupo, A., Klein, C., Knockaert, S., ... Dieu-Nosjean, M.-C. (2014). Dendritic Cells in Tumor-Associated Tertiary Lymphoid Structures Signal a Th1 Cytotoxic Immune Contexture and License the Positive Prognostic Value of Infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells. *Cancer Research*, 74(3), 705–715. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1342
- Goeringer, G. C., & Vidić, B. (1987). The embryogenesis and anatomy of Waldeyer's ring. Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America, 20(2), 207-217.
- Goidl, E. A., Paul, W. E., Siskind, G. W., & Benacerraf, B. (1968). The Effect of Antigen Dose and Time after Immunization on the Amount and Affinity of Anti-Hapten Antibody. *The Journal of Immunology*, 100(2), 371–375.
- Gold, M. R., Ingham, R. J., McLeod, S. J., Christian, S. L., Scheid, M. P., Duronio, V., ... Matsuuchi, L. (2000). Targets of B-cell antigen receptor signaling: the phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/Akt/glycogen synthase kinase-3 signaling pathway and the Rap1 GTPase. *Immunological Reviews*, 176, 47–68.
- Goldstein, D. R., Tesar, B. M., Akira, S., & Lakkis, F. G. (2003). Critical role of the Toll-like receptor signal adaptor protein MyD88 in acute allograft rejection. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 111(10), 1571–1578. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI17573
- Good-Jacobson, K. L., & Shlomchik, M. J. (2010). Plasticity and Heterogeneity in the Generation of Memory B Cells and Long-Lived Plasma Cells: The Influence of Germinal Center Interactions and Dynamics. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185(6), 3117–3125. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1001155
- Greenberg, S., & Grinstein, S. (2002). Phagocytosis and innate immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 14(1), 136–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(01)00309-0
- Griffiths, G. J., Dubrez, L., Morgan, C. P., Jones, N. A., Whitehouse, J., Corfe, B. M., ... Hickman, J. A. (1999). Cell Damage-induced Conformational Changes of the Pro-Apoptotic Protein Bak In Vivo Precede the Onset of Apoptosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 144(5), 903–914. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.144.5.903
- Haas, M. (2014). An updated Banff schema for diagnosis of antibody-mediated rejection in renal allografts. *Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation*, 19(3), 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOT.000000000000002
- Haggerty, H. G., & Proctor, S. J. (2012). Chronic Administration of Belatacept, a T-cell Costimulatory Signal Blocker, in Cynomolgus Monkeys. *Toxicological Sciences*, 127(1), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs081
- Halloran, P. F., Schlaut, J., Solez, K., & Srinivasa, N. S. (1992). The significance of the anti-class I response. II. Clinical and pathologic features of renal transplants with anti-class I-like antibody. *Transplantation*, 53(3), 550–555.
- Halloran, P. F., Wadgymar, A., Ritchie, S., Falk, J., Solez, K., & Srinivasa, N. S. (1990). The significance of the anti-class I antibody response. I. Clinical and pathologic features of anti-class I-mediated rejection. *Transplantation*, 49(1), 85–91.
- Han, S., Hathcock, K., Zheng, B., Kepler, T. B., Hodes, R., & Kelsoe, G. (1995). Cellular interaction in germinal centers. Roles of CD40 ligand and B7-2 in established germinal centers. *The Journal* of *Immunology*, 155(2), 556–567.
- Han, S., Zheng, B., Porto, J. D., & Kelsoe, G. (1995). In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl. IV. Affinity-dependent, antigen-driven B cell apoptosis in germinal centers as a mechanism for maintaining self-tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 182(6), 1635–1644. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.182.6.1635
- Hanna, M. G. (1964). An autoradiographic study of the germinal center in spleen white pulpduring early intervals of the immune response. *Laboratory Investigation; a Journal of Technical Methods and Pathology*, *13*, 95–104.

- Hannum, L. G., Haberman, A. M., Anderson, S. M., & Shlomchik, M. J. (2000). Germinal Center Initiation, Variable Gene Region Hypermutation, and Mutant B Cell Selection without Detectable Immune Complexes on Follicular Dendritic Cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192(7), 931–942. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.7.931
- Harada, H., Quearry, B., Ruiz-Vela, A., & Korsmeyer, S. J. (2004). Survival factor-induced extracellular signal-regulated kinase phosphorylates BIM, inhibiting its association with BAX and proapoptotic activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(43), 15313–15317. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406837101
- Hart, J. R., Liao, L., Ueno, L., III, J. R. Y., & Vogt, P. K. (2011). Protein expression profiles of C3H 10T1/2 murine fibroblasts and of isogenic cells transformed by the H1047R mutant of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K). *Cell Cycle*, 10(6), 971–976. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.10.6.15077
- Hart, J. R., Liao, L., Yates, J. R., & Vogt, P. K. (2011). Essential role of Stat3 in PI3K-induced oncogenic transformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(32), 13247–13252. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1110486108
- Harty, J. T., & Bevan, M. J. (1999). Responses of CD8+ T cells to intracellular bacteria. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 11(1), 89–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(99)80016-8
- Hashimoto, A., Okada, H., Jiang, A., Kurosaki, M., Greenberg, S., Clark, E. A., & Kurosaki, T. (1998). Involvement of Guanosine Triphosphatases and Phospholipase C-γ2 in Extracellular Signal–regulated Kinase, c-Jun NH2-terminal Kinase, and p38 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Activation by the B Cell Antigen Receptor. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 188(7), 1287– 1295. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.7.1287
- Hashimoto, S., Iwamatsu, A., Ishiai, M., Okawa, K., Yamadori, T., Matsushita, M., ... Tsukada, S. (1999). Identification of the SH2 Domain Binding Protein of Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase as BLNK—Functional Significance of Btk-SH2 Domain in B-Cell Antigen Receptor-Coupled Calcium Signaling. *Blood*, 94(7), 2357–2364.
- Hauser, A. E., Junt, T., Mempel, T. R., Sneddon, M. W., Kleinstein, S. H., Henrickson, S. E., ... Haberman, A. M. (2007). Definition of Germinal-Center B Cell Migration In Vivo Reveals Predominant Intrazonal Circulation Patterns. *Immunity*, 26(5), 655–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.04.008
- Haynes, N. M., Allen, C. D. C., Lesley, R., Ansel, K. M., Killeen, N., & Cyster, J. G. (2007). Role of CXCR5 and CCR7 in Follicular Th Cell Positioning and Appearance of a Programmed Cell Death Gene-1<sup>High</sup> Germinal Center-Associated Subpopulation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 179(8), 5099–5108. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.8.5099
- He, C., Young, A. J., West, C. A., Su, M., Konerding, M. A., & Mentzer, S. J. (2002). Stimulation of regional lymphatic and blood flow by epicutaneous oxazolone. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 93(3), 966–973. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00212.2002
- Heidecke, C. D., Araujo, J. L., Kupiec-Weglinski, J. W., Abbud-Filho, M., Araneda, D., Stadler, J., ... Tilney, N. L. (1985). Lack of evidence for an active role for natural killer cells in acute rejection of organ allografts. *Transplantation*, 40(4), 441–444.
- Hennecke, J., & Wiley, D. C. (2001). T Cell Receptor–MHC Interactions up Close. *Cell*, 104(1), 1– 4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00185-4
- Henson, P. M., & Hume, D. A. (2006). Apoptotic cell removal in development and tissue homeostasis. *Trends in Immunology*, 27(5), 244–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2006.03.005
- Herrera, Osquel Barroso, Dela Golshayan, Rebecca Tibbott, Francisco Salcido Ochoa, Martha J. James, Federica M. Marelli-Berg, and Robert I. Lechler. "A Novel Pathway of Alloantigen Presentation by Dendritic Cells." The Journal of Immunology 173, no. 8 (October 15, 2004): 4828–37. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.8.4828
- Higgins, R., Bevan, D., Carey, B., Lea, C., Fallon, M., Bühler, R., ... Hendry, B. (1996). Prevention of hyperacute rejection by removal of antibodies to HLA immediately before renal

transplantation. The Lancet, 348(9036), 1208–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(96)03452-6

- Hill, M. M., Adrain, C., Duriez, P. J., Creagh, E. M., & Martin, S. J. (2004). Analysis of the composition, assembly kinetics and activity of native Apaf-1 apoptosomes. *The EMBO Journal*, 23(10), 2134–2145. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600210
- Hoffmann, J. A., Kafatos, F. C., Janeway, C. A., & Ezekowitz, R. a. B. (1999). Phylogenetic Perspectives in Innate Immunity. *Science*, 284(5418), 1313–1318. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5418.1313
- Hutloff, A., Dittrich, A. M., Beier, K. C., Eljaschewitsch, B., Kraft, R., Anagnostopoulos, I., & Kroczek, R. A. (1999). ICOS is an inducible T-cell co-stimulator structurally and functionally related to CD28. *Nature*, 397(6716), 263–266. https://doi.org/10.1038/16717
- Inamine, A., Takahashi, Y., Baba, N., Miyake, K., Tokuhisa, T., Takemori, T., & Abe, R. (2005). Two waves of memory B-cell generation in the primary immune response. *International Immunology*, 17(5), 581–589. https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxh241
- Ishiai, M., Kurosaki, M., Pappu, R., Okawa, K., Ronko, I., Fu, C., ... Kurosaki, T. (1999). BLNK Required for Coupling Syk to PLCγ2 and Rac1-JNK in B Cells. *Immunity*, 10(1), 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80012-6
- Ishizuka, F., Shimazawa, M., Inoue, Y., Nakano, Y., Ogishima, H., Nakamura, S., ... Hara, H. (2013). Toll-like receptor 4 mediates retinal ischemia/reperfusion injury through nuclear factor-×B and spleen tyrosine kinase activation. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 54(8), 5807–5816. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.13-11932
- Jackson, A. M., Kraus, E. S., Orandi, B. J., Segev, D. L., Montgomery, R. A., & Zachary, A. A. (2015). A closer look at rituximab induction on HLA antibody rebound following HLAincompatible kidney transplantation. *Kidney International*, 87(2), 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2014.261
- Jacob, J., & Kelsoe, G. (1992). In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3nitrophenyl)acetyl. II. A common clonal origin for periarteriolar lymphoid sheath-associated foci and germinal centers. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 176(3), 679–687. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.176.3.679
- Jacob, J., Kelsoe, G., Rajewsky, K., & Weiss, U. (1991). Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal centres. *Nature*, *354*(6352), 389–392. https://doi.org/10.1038/354389a0
- Jacobson, E. B., Caporale, L. H., & Thorbecke, G. J. (1974). Effect of thymus cell injections on germinal center formation in lymphoid tissues of nude (thymusless) mice. *Cellular Immunology*, 13(3), 416–430.
- Jacque, E., Schweighoffer, E., Visekruna, A., Papoutsopoulou, S., Janzen, J., Zillwood, R., ... Ley, S. C. (2014). IKK-induced NF-xB1 p105 proteolysis is critical for B cell antibody responses to T cell-dependent antigen. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 211(10), 2085–2101. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20132019
- Jazirehi, A. R., Gan, X.-H., Vos, S. D., Emmanouilides, C., & Bonavida, B. (2003). Rituximab (anti-CD20) selectively modifies Bcl-xL and apoptosis protease activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) expression and sensitizes human non-Hodgkin9s lymphoma B cell lines to paclitaxel-induced apoptosis. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 2(11), 1183–1193.
- Jiang, A., Craxton, A., Kurosaki, T., & Clark, E. A. (1998). Different Protein Tyrosine Kinases Are Required for B Cell Antigen Receptor–mediated Activation of Extracellular Signal–Regulated kinase, c-Jun NH2-terminal Kinase 1, and p38 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 188(7), 1297.
- Jin, G., Hamaguchi, Y., Matsushita, T., Hasegawa, M., Le Huu, D., Ishiura, N., ... Fujimoto, M. (2013). B-cell linker protein expression contributes to controlling allergic and autoimmune diseases by mediating IL-10 production in regulatory B cells. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 131(6), 1674–1682.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.044

- Jin, Y.-P., Fishbein, M. C., Said, J. W., Jindra, P. T., Rajalingam, R., Rozengurt, E., & Reed, E. F. (2004). Anti-HLA class I antibody–mediated activation of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway and induction of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL expression in endothelial cells. *Human Immunology*, 65(4), 291– 302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2004.01.002
- Jindra, P. T., Hsueh, A., Hong, L., Gjertson, D., Shen, X.-D., Gao, F., ... Reed, E. F. (2008). Anti-MHC Class I Antibody Activation of Proliferation and Survival Signaling in Murine Cardiac Allografts. *The Journal of Immunology*, 180(4), 2214–2224. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2214
- Joffre, O., Santolaria, T., Calise, D., Saati, T. A., Hudrisier, D., Romagnoli, P., & van Meerwijk, J. P. M. (2008). Prevention of acute and chronic allograft rejection with CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T lymphocytes. *Nature Medicine*, 14(1), 88–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1688
- Jordan, S. C., Vo, A., Tyan, D., & Toyota, M. (2006). Desensitization Therapy with Intravenous Gammaglobulin (IVIG): Applications in Solid Organ Transplantation. *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association*, 117, 199–211.
- Joza, N., Susin, S. A., Daugas, E., Stanford, W. L., Cho, S. K., Li, C. Y. J., ... Penninger, J. M. (2001). Essential role of the mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor in programmed cell death. *Nature*, 410(6828), 549–554. https://doi.org/10.1038/35069004
- Julien, O., & Wells, J. A. (2017). Caspases and their substrates. Cell Death & Differentiation, 24(8), 1380–1389. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017.44
- June, C. H., Ledbetter, J. A., Linsley, P. S., & Thompson, C. B. (1990). Role of the CD28 receptor in T-cell activation. *Immunology Today*, 11, 211–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(90)90085-N
- Kane, L. P., Shapiro, V. S., Stokoe, D., & Weiss, A. (1999). Induction of NF-xB by the Akt/PKB kinase. *Current Biology*, *9*(11), 601-S1. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(99)80265-6
- Kaneku, H., O'Leary, J. G., Banuelos, N., Jennings, L. W., Susskind, B. M., Klintmalm, G. B., & Terasaki, P. I. (2013). De Novo Donor-Specific HLA Antibodies Decrease Patient and Graft Survival in Liver Transplant Recipients. *American Journal of Transplantation : Official Journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons*, 13(6), 1541. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajt.12212
- Kaposztas, Z., Podder, H., Mauiyyedi, S., Illoh, O., Kerman, R., Reyes, M., ... Kahan, B. d. (2009). Impact of rituximab therapy for treatment of acute humoral rejection. *Clinical Transplantation*, 23(1), 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2008.00902.x
- Kawabe, T., Naka, T., Yoshida, K., Tanaka, T., Fujiwara, H., Suematsu, S., ... Kikutani, H. (1994). The immune responses in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. *Immunity*, 1(3), 167–178.
- Kepler, T. B., & Perelson, A. S. (1993). Cyclic re-entry of germinal center B cells and the efficiency of affinity maturation. *Immunology Today*, 14(8), 412–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(93)90145-B
- Kepp, O., Rajalingam, K., Kimmig, S., & Rudel, T. (2007). Bak and Bax are non-redundant during infection- and DNA damage-induced apoptosis. *The EMBO Journal*, 26(3), 825–834. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601533
- Kerjaschki, D., Regele, H. M., Moosberger, I., Nagy-Bojarski, K., Watschinger, B., Soleiman, A., ... Raab, I. (2004). Lymphatic Neoangiogenesis in Human Kidney Transplants Is Associated with Immunologically Active Lymphocytic Infiltrates. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 15(3), 603–612. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000113316.52371.2E
- Kerr, J. F. R., Wyllie, A. H., & Currie, A. R. (1972). Apoptosis: A Basic Biological Phenomenon with Wide-ranging Implications in Tissue Kinetics. *British Journal of Cancer*, 26(4), 239.
- Keshvara, L. M., Isaacson, C. C., Yankee, T. M., Sarac, R., Harrison, M. L., & Geahlen, R. L. (1998). Syk- and Lyn-Dependent Phosphorylation of Syk on Multiple Tyrosines Following B Cell Activation Includes a Site That Negatively Regulates Signaling. *The Journal of Immunology*, 161(10), 5276–5283.

- Khasbiullina, N. R., & Bovin, N. V. (2015). Hypotheses of the origin of natural antibodies: a glycobiologist's opinion. *Biochemistry. Biokhimiia*, 80(7), 820–835. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006297915070032
- Kiefer, F., Brumell, J., Al-Alawi, N., Latour, S., Cheng, A., Veillette, A., ... Pawson, T. (1998). The Syk Protein Tyrosine Kinase Is Essential for Fcγ Receptor Signaling in Macrophages and Neutrophils. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18(7), 4209–4220. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.18.7.4209
- Kim, E. J., Kwun, J., Gibby, A. C., Hong, J. J., Farris, A. B., Iwakoshi, N. N., ... Knechtle, S. J. (2014). Costimulation blockade alters germinal center responses and prevents antibodymediated rejection. *American Journal of Transplantation : Official Journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons*, 14(1), 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12526
- Kim, H., Rafiuddin-Shah, M., Tu, H.-C., Jeffers, J. R., Zambetti, G. P., Hsieh, J. J.-D., & Cheng, E. H.-Y. (2006). Hierarchical regulation of mitochondrion-dependent apoptosis by BCL-2 subfamilies. *Nature Cell Biology*, 8(12), 1348–1358. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1499
- Kischkel, F. C., Hellbardt, S., Behrmann, I., Germer, M., Pawlita, M., Krammer, P. H., & Peter, M.
   E. (1995). Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a deathinducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *The EMBO Journal*, 14(22), 5579–5588.
- Kitano, M., Moriyama, S., Ando, Y., Hikida, M., Mori, Y., Kurosaki, T., & Okada, T. (2011). Bcl6 Protein Expression Shapes Pre-Germinal Center B Cell Dynamics and Follicular Helper T Cell Heterogeneity. *Immunity*, 34(6), 961–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.025
- Kitchens, W. H., Uehara, S., Chase, C. M., Colvin, R. B., Russell, P. S., & Madsen, J. C. (2006). The changing role of natural killer cells in solid organ rejection and tolerance. *Transplantation*, 81(6), 811–817. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000202844.33794.0e
- Kizilbash, S., Claes, D., Ashoor, I., Chen, A., Jandeska, S., Matar, R. B., ... Verghese, P. (2017). Bortezomib in the treatment of antibody-mediated rejection in pediatric kidney transplant recipients: A multicenter Midwest Pediatric Nephrology Consortium study. *Pediatric Transplantation*, 21(3), n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/petr.12873
- Klein, U., Casola, S., Cattoretti, G., Shen, Q., Lia, M., Mo, T., ... Dalla-Favera, R. (2006). Transcription factor IRF4 controls plasma cell differentiation and class-switch recombination. *Nature Immunology*, 7(7), 773–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1357
- Koenig, A., & Thaunat, O. (2016). Lymphoid Neogenesis and Tertiary Lymphoid Organs in Transplanted Organs. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00646
- Kono, H., & Rock, K. L. (2008). How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8(4), 279–289. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2215
- Kopf, M., Herren, S., Wiles, M. V., Pepys, M. B., & Kosco-Vilbois, M. H. (1998). Interleukin 6 Influences Germinal Center Development and Antibody Production via a Contribution of C3 Complement Component. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 188(10), 1895–1906. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.10.1895
- Kops, G. J. P. L., & Burgering, B. M. T. (2000). Forkhead transcription factors are targets of signalling by the proto-oncogene PKB (C-AKT). *Journal of Anatomy*, 197(Pt 4), 571. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-7580.2000.19740571.x
- Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., & Scheidegger, D. (1995). Follicular dendritic cells: antigen retention, B cell activation, and cytokine production. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, 201, 69–82.
- Kratz, A., Campos-Neto, A., Hanson, M. S., & Ruddle, N. H. (1996). Chronic inflammation caused by lymphotoxin is lymphoid neogenesis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 183(4), 1461–1472. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.183.4.1461
- Kraus, M., Alimzhanov, M. B., Rajewsky, N., & Rajewsky, K. (2004). Survival of Resting Mature B Lymphocytes Depends on BCR Signaling via the Igα/β Heterodimer. *Cell*, 117(6), 787–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.05.014

- Krysko, D. V., D'Herde, K., & Vandenabeele, P. (2006). Clearance of apoptotic and necrotic cells and its immunological consequences. *Apoptosis*, 11(10), 1709–1726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-006-9527-8
- Krysko, D. V., Vanden Berghe, T., D'Herde, K., & Vandenabeele, P. (2008). Apoptosis and necrosis: Detection, discrimination and phagocytosis. *Methods*, 44(3), 205–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2007.12.001
- Kurosaki, T., Johnson, S. A., Pao, L., Sada, K., Yamamura, H., & Cambier, J. C. (1995). Role of the Syk autophosphorylation site and SH2 domains in B cell antigen receptor signaling. *The Journal* of *Experimental Medicine*, 182(6), 1815–1823.
- Lachmann, P. J., & Hughes-Jones, N. C. (1984). Initiation of complement activation. Springer Seminars in Immunopathology, 7(2–3), 143–162.
- Lakkis, F. G., Arakelov, A., Konieczny, B. T., & Inoue, Y. (2000). Immunologic 'ignorance' of vascularized organ transplants in the absence of secondary lymphoid tissue. *Nature Medicine*, 6(6), 686–688. https://doi.org/10.1038/76267
- Lam, K.-P., Kühn, R., & Rajewsky, K. (1997). In Vivo Ablation of Surface Immunoglobulin on Mature B Cells by Inducible Gene Targeting Results in Rapid Cell Death. *Cell*, 90(6), 1073– 1083. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80373-6
- Land, W. G. (2005). The role of postischemic reperfusion injury and other nonantigen-dependent inflammatory pathways in transplantation. *Transplantation*, 79(5), 505–514.
- Lankar, D., Briken, V., Adler, K., Weiser, P., Cassard, S., Blank, U., ... Bonnerot, C. (1998). Syk Tyrosine Kinase and B Cell Antigen Receptor (BCR) Immunoglobulin-α Subunit Determine BCR-mediated Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II–restricted Antigen Presentation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 188(5), 819–831. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.5.819
- Larsen, C. P., Morris, P. J., & Austyn, J. M. (1990). Migration of dendritic leukocytes from cardiac allografts into host spleens. A novel pathway for initiation of rejection. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *171*(1), 307–314.
- Le Texier, L., Thebault, P., Lavault, A., Usal, C., Merieau, E., Quillard, T., ... Chiffoleau, E. (2011). Long-Term Allograft Tolerance Is Characterized by the Accumulation of B Cells Exhibiting an Inhibited Profile. *American Journal of Transplantation*, *11*(3), 429–438. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03336.x
- Leandro, M. J. (2013). B-cell subpopulations in humans and their differential susceptibility to depletion with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 15(Suppl 1), S3. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar3908
- Lee, C. H., Melchers, M., Wang, H., Torrey, T. A., Slota, R., Qi, C.-F., ... Morse, H. C. (2006). Regulation of the germinal center gene program by interferon (IFN) regulatory factor 8/IFN consensus sequence-binding protein. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 203(1), 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20051450
- Lee, P., Terasaki, P. I., Takemoto, S. K., Lee, P., Hung, C., Chen, Y., ... Lei, H. (2002). All chronic rejection failures of kidney transplants were preceded by the development of Hla antibodies. *Transplantation*, 74(8), 1192–1194. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000031249.33030.FB
- Legris, T., Picard, C., Todorova, D., Lyonnet, L., Laporte, C., Dumoulin, C., ... Paul, P. (2016). Antibody-Dependent NK Cell Activation Is Associated with Late Kidney Allograft Dysfunction and the Complement-Independent Alloreactive Potential of Donor-Specific Antibodies. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00288
- Leibler, C., Matignon, M., Pilon, C., Montespan, F., Bigot, J., Lang, P., ... Menier, C. (2014). Kidney Transplant Recipients Treated With Belatacept Exhibit Increased Naïve and Transitional B Cells: B Cell Phenotype in Belatacept-Treated KT Patients. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 14(5), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12721
- Lenschow, D. J., Zeng, Y., Thistlethwaite, Montag, A., Brady, W., Gibson, M. G., ... Bluestone, J. A. (1992). Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4lg. *Science*, 257(5071), 789–792. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1323143

- Letai, A., Bassik, M. C., Walensky, L. D., Sorcinelli, M. D., Weiler, S., & Korsmeyer, S. J. (2002). Distinct BH3 domains either sensitize or activate mitochondrial apoptosis, serving as prototype cancer therapeutics. *Cancer Cell*, 2(3), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(02)00127-7
- Li, H., Zhu, H., Xu, C., & Yuan, J. (1998). Cleavage of BID by Caspase 8 Mediates the Mitochondrial Damage in the Fas Pathway of Apoptosis. *Cell*, 94(4), 491–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81590-1
- Li, H.-L., Davis, W. W., Whiteman, E. L., Birnbaum, M. J., & Puré, E. (1999). The tyrosine kinases Syk and Lyn exert opposing effects on the activation of protein kinase Akt/PKB in B lymphocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(12), 6890–6895. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.12.6890
- Li, L. Y., Luo, X., & Wang, X. (2001). Endonuclease G is an apoptotic DNase when released from mitochondria. *Nature*, *412*(6842), 95–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/35083620
- Libby, P., & Pober, J. S. (2001). Chronic Rejection. *Immunity*, 14(4), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00119-4
- Lin, C. M., Plenter, R. J., Coulombe, M., & Gill, R. G. (2016). Interferon Gamma and Contactdependent Cytotoxicity Are Each Rate Limiting for Natural Killer Cell–Mediated Antibodydependent Chronic Rejection. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 16(11), 3121–3130. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13865
- Littman, D. R., & Rudensky, A. Y. (2010). Th17 and Regulatory T Cells in Mediating and Restraining Inflammation. *Cell*, 140(6), 845–858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.021
- Liu, D., & Mamorska-Dyga, A. (2017). Syk inhibitors in clinical development for hematological malignancies. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-017-0512-1
- Liu, D., Xu, H., Shih, C., Wan, Z., Ma, X., Ma, W., ... Qi, H. (2015). T-B-cell entanglement and ICOSL-driven feed-forward regulation of germinal centre reaction. *Nature*, 517(7533), 214–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13803
- Liu, J., Qian, C., & Cao, X. (2016). Post-Translational Modification Control of Innate Immunity. *Immunity*, 45(1), 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.020
- Liu, Y. J., Zhang, J., Lane, P. J., Chan, E. Y., & MacLennan, I. C. (1991). Sites of specific B cell activation in primary and secondary responses to T cell-dependent and T cell-independent antigens. *European Journal of Immunology*, 21(12), 2951–2962. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830211209
- Liu, Y.-J., Joshua, D. E., Williams, G. T., Smith, C. A., Gordon, J., & MacLennan, I. C. M. (1989). Mechanism of antigen-driven selection in germinal centres. *Nature*, 342(6252), 929–931. https://doi.org/10.1038/342929a0
- Llambi, F., Moldoveanu, T., Tait, S. W. G., Bouchier-Hayes, L., Temirov, J., McCormick, L. L., ... Green, D. R. (2011). A Unified Model of Mammalian BCL-2 Protein Family Interactions at the Mitochondria. *Molecular Cell*, 44(4), 517–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2011.10.001
- Lodhi, S. A., Lamb, K. E., & Meier-Kriesche, H. U. (2011). Solid Organ Allograft Survival Improvement in the United States: The Long-Term Does Not Mirror the Dramatic Short-Term Success. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 11(6), 1226–1235. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03539.x
- Longo, P. G., Laurenti, L., Gobessi, S., Sica, S., Leone, G., & Efremov, D. G. (2008). The Akt/Mcl-1 pathway plays a prominent role in mediating antiapoptotic signals downstream of the B-cell receptor in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. *Blood*, 111(2), 846–855. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-05-089037
- Loupy, A., Hill, G. S., & Jordan, S. C. (2012). The impact of donor-specific anti-HLA antibodies on late kidney allograft failure. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, 8(6), 348–357. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2012.81
- Lúcia, M., Luque, S., Crespo, E., Melilli, E., Cruzado, J. M., Martorell, J., ... Bestard, O. (2015). Preformed circulating HLA-specific memory B cells predict high risk of humoral rejection in

kidney transplantation. *Kidney International*, *88*(4), 874–887. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2015.205

- Lüthi, A. U., & Martin, S. J. (2007). The CASBAH: a searchable database of caspase substrates. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 14(4), 641–650. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4402103
- Ma, H., Yankee, T. M., Hu, J., Asai, D. J., Harrison, M. L., & Geahlen, R. L. (2001). Visualization of Syk-Antigen Receptor Interactions Using Green Fluorescent Protein: Differential Roles for Syk and Lyn in the Regulation of Receptor Capping and Internalization. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166(3), 1507–1516. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.3.1507
- MacLennan, I. C. M. (1994). Germinal Centers. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 12(1), 117–139. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.001001
- Magil, A. B., & Tinckam, K. (2003). Monocytes and peritubular capillary C4d deposition in acute renal allograft rejection1. *Kidney International*, 63(5), 1888–1893. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00921.x
- Maier, S., Tertilt, C., Chambron, N., Gerauer, K., Hüser, N., Heidecke, C.-D., & Pfeffer, K. (2001).
  Inhibition of natural killer cells results in acceptance of cardiac allografts in CD28 |[minus] | / |[minus] | mice. Nature Medicine, 7(5), 557–562.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/87880
- Makatsori, M., Kiani-Alikhan, S., Manson, A. L., Verma, N., Leandro, M., Gurugama, N. P., ... Seneviratne, S. L. (2014). Hypogammaglobulinaemia after rituximab treatment—incidence and outcomes. QIM: An International Journal of Medicine, 107(10), 821–828. https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcu094
- Mandel, T. E., Phipps, R. P., Abbot, A. P., & Tew, J. G. (1981). Long-term antigen retention by dendritic cells in the popliteal lymph node of immunized mice. *Immunology*, *43*(2), 353.
- Mann, M. K., Maresz, K., Shriver, L. P., Tan, Y., & Dittel, B. N. (2007). B Cell Regulation of CD4+CD25+ T Regulatory Cells and IL-10 Via B7 is Essential for Recovery From Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 178(6), 3447–3456. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.6.3447
- Marino, J., Paster, J. T., Trowell, A., Maxwell, L., Briggs, K. H., Crosby Bertorini, P., & Benichou, G. (2016). B Cell Depletion With an Anti-CD20 Antibody Enhances Alloreactive Memory T Cell Responses After Transplantation. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 16(2), 672–678. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13483
- Markus, P. M., van den Brink, M., Cai, X., Harnaha, J., Palomba, L., Hiserodt, J. C., & Cramer, D. V. (1991). Effect of selective depletion of natural killer cells on allograft rejection. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 23(1 Pt 1), 178–179.
- Marshall, J. L., Zhang, Y., Pallan, L., Hsu, M.-C., Khan, M., Cunningham, A. F., ... Toellner, K.-M. (2011). Early B blasts acquire a capacity for Ig class switch recombination that is lost as they become plasmablasts. *European Journal of Immunology*, 41(12), 3506–3512. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201141762
- Massy, Z. A., Guijarro, C., Wiederkehr, M. R., Ma, J. Z., & Kasiske, B. L. (1996). Chronic renal allograft rejection: immunologic and nonimmunologic risk factors. *Kidney International*, 49(2), 518–524.
- Matsumoto, M., Baba, A., Yokota, T., Nishikawa, H., Ohkawa, Y., Kayama, H., ... Baba, Y. (2014). Interleukin-10-Producing Plasmablasts Exert Regulatory Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity*, 41(6), 1040–1051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.016
- Matsumoto, M., Fujii, Y., Baba, A., Hikida, M., Kurosaki, T., & Baba, Y. (2011). The calcium sensors STIM1 and STIM2 control B cell regulatory function through interleukin-10 production. *Immunity*, 34(5), 703–714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.016
- Matsumoto, M., Lo, S. F., Carruthers, C. J. L., Min, J., Mariathasan, S., Huang, G., ... Chaplin, D. D. (1996). Affinity maturation without germinal centres in lymphotoxin-α-deficient mice. *Nature*, 382(6590), 462–466. https://doi.org/10.1038/382462a0

- Matsushita, T., Horikawa, M., Iwata, Y., & Tedder, T. F. (2010). Regulatory B Cells (B10 Cells) and Regulatory T Cells Have Independent Roles in Controlling Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Initiation and Late-Phase Immunopathogenesis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185(4), 2240–2252. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1001307
- Mauiyyedi, S., Pelle, P. D., Saidman, S., Collins, A. B., Pascual, M., Tolkoff-Rubin, N. E., ... Colvin, R. B. (2001). Chronic Humoral Rejection: Identification of Antibody-Mediated Chronic Renal Allograft Rejection by C4d Deposits in Peritubular Capillaries. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 12(3), 574–582.
- Maurer, U., Charvet, C., Wagman, A., Dejardin, E., & Green, D. (2006). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 regulates mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and apoptosis by destabilization of MCL-1. *Molecular Cell*, 21(6), 749–760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.02.009
- Mayadas, T. N., Tsokos, G. C., & Tsuboi, N. (2009). Mechanisms of Immune Complex–Mediated Neutrophil Recruitment and Tissue Injury. *Circulation*, 120(20), 2012–2024. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.771170
- McDonnell, T. J., Deane, N., Platt, F. M., Nunez, G., Jaeger, U., McKearn, J. P., & Korsmeyer, S. J. (1989). bcl-2-Immunoglobulin transgenic mice demonstrate extended B cell survival and follicular lymphoproliferation. *Cell*, 57(1), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(89)90174-8
- Mebius, R. E. (2003). Organogenesis of lymphoid tissues. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 3(4), 292–303. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1054
- Medawar, P. B. (1944). The behaviour and fate of skin autografts and skin homografts in rabbits: A report to the War Wounds Committee of the Medical Research Council. *Journal of Anatomy*, 78(Pt 5), 176.
- Medzhitov, R. (2007). Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. *Nature*, 449(7164), 819–826. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06246
- Meier, R., Alessi, D. R., Cron, P., Andjelković, M., & Hemmings, B. A. (1997). Mitogenic Activation, Phosphorylation, and Nuclear Translocation of Protein Kinase Bβ. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(48), 30491–30497. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.48.30491
- Meier-Kriesche, H.-U., Schold, J. D., Srinivas, T. R., & Kaplan, B. (2004). Lack of Improvement in Renal Allograft Survival Despite a Marked Decrease in Acute Rejection Rates Over the Most Recent Era. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 4(3), 378–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00332.x
- Meyer-Hermann, M. E., Maini, P. K., & Iber, D. (2006). An analysis of B cell selection mechanisms in germinal centers. *Mathematical Medicine and Biology: A Journal of the IMA*, 23(3), 255–277. https://doi.org/10.1093/imammb/dql012
- Michels, J., O'Neill, J. W., Dallman, C. L., Mouzakiti, A., Habens, F., Brimmell, M., ... Packham, G. (2004). Mcl-1 is required for Akata6 B-lymphoma cell survival and is converted to a cell death molecule by efficient caspase-mediated cleavage. Oncogene, 23(28), 4818–4827. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207648
- Milland, J., & Sandrin, M. S. (2006). ABO blood group and related antigens, natural antibodies and transplantation. *Tissue Antigens*, 68(6), 459–466. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0039.2006.00721.x
- Mills, D. M., & Cambier, J. C. (2003). B lymphocyte activation during cognate interactions with CD4+ T lymphocytes: molecular dynamics and immunologic consequences. *Seminars in Immunology*, 15(6), 325–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2003.09.004
- Mills, J. R., Hippo, Y., Robert, F., Chen, S. M. H., Malina, A., Lin, C.-J., ... Pelletier, J. (2008). mTORC1 promotes survival through translational control of Mcl-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(31), 10853–10858. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0804821105
- Mizoguchi, A., Mizoguchi, E., Takedatsu, H., Blumberg, R. S., & Bhan, A. K. (2002). Chronic intestinal inflammatory condition generates IL-10-producing regulatory B cell subset characterized by CD1d upregulation. *Immunity*, 16(2), 219–230.

- Moldenhauer, G., Popov, S. W., Wotschke, B., Brüderlein, S., Riedl, P., Fissolo, N., ... Leithäuser, F. (2006). AID expression identifies interfollicular large B cells as putative precursors of mature B-cell malignancies. *Blood*, 107(6), 2470–2473. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-06-2502
- Moldoveanu, T., Liu, Q., Tocilj, A., Watson, M., Shore, G., & Gehring, K. (2006). The X-Ray Structure of a BAK Homodimer Reveals an Inhibitory Zinc Binding Site. *Molecular Cell*, 24(5), 677–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.10.014
- Monks, J., Smith-Steinhart, C., Kruk, E. R., Fadok, V. A., & Henson, P. M. (2008). Epithelial Cells Remove Apoptotic Epithelial Cells During Post-Lactation Involution of the Mouse Mammary Gland. *Biology of Reproduction*, 78(4), 586–594. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.107.065045
- Moon, K. D., Post, C. B., Durden, D. L., Zhou, Q., De, P., Harrison, M. L., & Geahlen, R. L. (2005). Molecular Basis for a Direct Interaction between the Syk Protein-tyrosine Kinase and Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(2), 1543–1551. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M407805200
- Morelli, Adrian E., Adriana T. Larregina, William J. Shufesky, Mara L. G. Sullivan, Donna Beer Stolz, Glenn D. Papworth, Alan F. Zahorchak, et al. "Endocytosis, Intracellular Sorting, and Processing of Exosomes by Dendritic Cells." *Blood* 104, no. 10 (November 15, 2004): 3257–66. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-03-0824.
- Morgan, B. P., & Harris, C. L. (2015). Complement, a target for therapy in inflammatory and degenerative diseases. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 14(12), 857–877. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4657
- Morimura, T., Neuchrist, C., Kitz, K., Budka, H., Scheiner, O., Kraft, D., & Lassmann, H. (1990). Monocyte subpopulations in human gliomas: expression of Fc and complement receptors and correlation with tumor proliferation. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 80(3), 287–294.
- Mosmann, T. R., Cherwinski, H., Bond, M. W., Giedlin, M. A., & Coffman, R. L. (2005). Pillars Article: Two Types of Murine Helper T Cell Clone. I. Definition According to Profiles of Lymphokine Activities and Secreted Proteins. J. Immunol., 1986, 136: 2348–2357. The Journal of Immunology, 175(1), 5–14.
- Mott, J. L., Kobayashi, S., Bronk, S. F., & Gores, G. J. (2007). mir-29 regulates Mcl-1 protein expression and apoptosis. *Oncogene*, 26(42), 6133–6140. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210436
- Moulton, Vaishali R, and George C Tsokos. "Abnormalities of T Cell Signaling in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus." Arthritis Research & Therapy 13, no. 2 (2011): 207. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar3251.
- Müller-Eberhard, H. J. (1988). Molecular organization and function of the complement system. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 57, 321–347. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bi.57.070188.001541
- Mulley, W. R., Hudson, F. J., Tait, B. D., Skene, A. M., Dowling, J. P., Kerr, P. G., & Kanellis, J. (2009). A single low-fixed dose of rituximab to salvage renal transplants from refractory antibody-mediated rejection. *Transplantation*, 87(2), 286–289. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31819389cc
- Muramatsu, M., Kinoshita, K., Fagarasan, S., Yamada, S., Shinkai, Y., & Honjo, T. (2000). Class Switch Recombination and Hypermutation Require Activation-Induced Cytidine Deaminase (AID), a Potential RNA Editing Enzyme. *Cell*, 102(5), 553–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00078-7
- Muramatsu, M., Sankaranand, V. S., Anant, S., Sugai, M., Kinoshita, K., Davidson, N. O., & Honjo, T. (1999). Specific Expression of Activation-induced Cytidine Deaminase (AID), a Novel Member of the RNA-editing Deaminase Family in Germinal Center B Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(26), 18470–18476. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.26.18470
- Murray, J., Harrison, J., & Merril, J. (1956). Renal homotransplantation in identical twins. *Surgical Forum*, *6*, 432–436.

- Nagai, K., Takata, M., Yamamura, H., & Kurosaki, T. (1995). Tyrosine Phosphorylation of Shc Is Mediated through Lyn and Syk in B Cell Receptor Signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(12), 6824–6829. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.12.6824
- Napirei, M., Karsunky, H., Zevnik, B., Stephan, H., M, H. G., & Möröy, T. (2000). Features of systemic lupus erythematosus in Dnase1-deficient mice. *Nature Genetics*, 25(2), 177–181. https://doi.org/10.1038/76032
- Nathan, C., & Ding, A. (2010). Nonresolving Inflammation. *Cell*, 140(6), 871–882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.029
- Nechushtan, A., Smith, C. L., Lamensdorf, I., Yoon, S.-H., & Youle, R. J. (2001). Bax and Bak Coalesce into Novel Mitochondria-Associated Clusters during Apoptosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 153(6), 1265–1276. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.153.6.1265
- Nencioni, A., Hua, F., Dillon, C. P., Yokoo, R., Scheiermann, C., Cardone, M. H., ... Ballestrero, A. (2005). Evidence for a protective role of Mcl-1 in proteasome inhibitor-induced apoptosis. *Blood*, 105(8), 3255–3262. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-10-3984
- Newberry, R. D., & Lorenz, R. G. (2005). Organizing a mucosal defense. *Immunological Reviews*, 206(1), 6–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00282.x
- Newell, K. A., Asare, A., Kirk, A. D., Gisler, T. D., Bourcier, K., Suthanthiran, M., ... Seyfert-Margolis, V. L. (2010). Identification of a B cell signature associated with renal transplant tolerance in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 120(6), 1836–1847. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI39933
- Nie, Z., Hu, G., Wei, G., Cui, K., Yamane, A., Resch, W., ... Levens, D. (2012). c-Myc Is a Universal Amplifier of Expressed Genes in Lymphocytes and Embryonic Stem Cells. *Cell*, 151(1), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.08.033
- Nieuwenhuis, P., & Opstelten, D. (1984). Functional anatomy of germinal centers. *The American Journal of Anatomy*, 170(3), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1001700315
- Nimmerjahn, F., & Ravetch, J. V. (2007). Fc-Receptors as Regulators of Immunity. Advances in Immunology, 96, 179–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(07)96005-8
- Noia, J. M. D., & Neuberger, M. S. (2007). Molecular Mechanisms of Antibody Somatic Hypermutation. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 76(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.76.061705.090740
- Norvell, A., Mandik, L., & Monroe, J. G. (1995). Engagement of the antigen-receptor on immature murine B lymphocytes results in death by apoptosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *154*(9), 4404–4413.
- Notidis, E., Heltemes, L., & Manser, T. (2002). Dominant, Hierarchical Induction of Peripheral Tolerance during Foreign Antigen-Driven B Cell Development. *Immunity*, 17(3), 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00392-8
- Ochiai, K., Maienschein-Cline, M., Simonetti, G., Chen, J., Rosenthal, R., Brink, R., ... Sciammas, R. (2013). Transcriptional Regulation of Germinal Center B and Plasma Cell Fates by Dynamical Control of IRF4. *Immunity*, 38(5), 918–929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.009
- Ochs, H. D., & Edvard Smith, C. I. (1996). X-Linked Agammaglobulinemia A Clinical and Molecular Analysis. *Medicine*, 75(6), 287.
- O'Connor, B. P., Vogel, L. A., Zhang, W., Loo, W., Shnider, D., Lind, E. F., ... Erickson, L. D. (2006). Imprinting the Fate of Antigen-Reactive B Cells through the Affinity of the B Cell Receptor. *The Journal of Immunology*, *177*(11), 7723–7732. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7723
- Ogawa, S., Nagamatsu, G., Watanabe, M., Watanabe, S., Hayashi, T., Horita, S., ... Abe, R. (2001). Opposing Effects of Anti-Activation-Inducible Lymphocyte- Immunomodulatory Molecule/Inducible Costimulator Antibody on the Development of Acute Versus Chronic Graft-Versus-Host Disease. The Journal of Immunology, 167(10), 5741-5748. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.10.5741

- Okada, T., Miller, M. J., Parker, I., Krummel, M. F., Neighbors, M., Hartley, S. B., ... Cyster, J. G. (2005). Antigen-Engaged B Cells Undergo Chemotaxis toward the T Zone and Form Motile Conjugates with Helper T Cells. *PLOS Biology*, 3(6), e150. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030150
- Oprea, M., & Perelson, A. S. (1997). Somatic mutation leads to efficient affinity maturation when centrocytes recycle back to centroblasts. *The Journal of Immunology*, *158*(11), 5155–5162.
- Orandi, B. J., Zachary, A. A., Dagher, N. N., Bagnasco, S. M., Garonzik-Wang, J. M., Van Arendonk, K. J., ... Montgomery, R. A. (2014). Eculizumab and splenectomy as salvage therapy for severe antibody-mediated rejection after HLA-incompatible kidney transplantation. *Transplantation*, 98(8), 857–863. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.00000000000298
- Otero, D. C., Omori, S. A., & Rickert, R. C. (2001). CD19-dependent Activation of Akt Kinase in B-lymphocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(2), 1474–1478. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M003918200
- Palestine, A. G., Austin, H. A. I., Balow, J. E., Antonovych, T. T., Sabnis, S. G., Preuss, H. G., & Nussenblatt, R. B. (1986). Renal Histopathologic Alterations in Patients Treated with Cyclosporine for Uveitis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 314(20), 1293–1298. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198605153142005
- Pallier, A., Hillion, S., Danger, R., Giral, M., Racapé, M., Degauque, N., ... Brouard, S. (2010). Patients with drug-free long-term graft function display increased numbers of peripheral B cells with a memory and inhibitory phenotype. *Kidney International*, 78(5), 503–513. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2010.162
- Pamuk, O. N., Lapchak, P. H., Rani, P., Pine, P., Lucca, J. J. D., & Tsokos, G. C. (2010). Spleen tyrosine kinase inhibition prevents tissue damage after ischemia-reperfusion. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 299(2), G391–G399. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00198.2010
- Papavasiliou, F., Misulovin, Z., Suh, H., & Nussenzweig, M. C. (1995). The role of Ig beta in precursor B cell transition and allelic exclusion. *Science*, 268(5209), 408–411. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7716544
- Pape, K. A., Kouskoff, V., Nemazee, D., Tang, H. L., Cyster, J. G., Tze, L. E., ... Jenkins, M. K. (2003). Visualization of the Genesis and Fate of Isotype-switched B Cells during a Primary Immune Response. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 197(12), 1677–1687. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20012065
- Parekh, V. V., Prasad, D. V. R., Banerjee, P. P., Joshi, B. N., Kumar, A., & Mishra, G. C. (2003). B Cells Activated by Lipopolysaccharide, But Not By Anti-Ig and Anti-CD40 Antibody, Induce Anergy in CD8+ T Cells: Role of TGF-β1. *The Journal of Immunology*, 170(12), 5897–5911. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.170.12.5897
- Park, H., Wahl, M. I., Afar, D. E. H., Turck, C. W., Rawlings, D. J., Tam, C., ... Witte, O. N. (1996). Regulation of Btk Function by a Major Autophosphorylation Site Within the SH3 Domain. *Immunity*, 4(5), 515–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80417-3
- Parker, D. C. (1993). T cell-dependent B cell activation. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *11*, 331–360. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.001555
- Parkin, J., & Cohen, B. (2001). An overview of the immune system. *The Lancet*, *357*(9270), 1777–1789. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04904-7
- Paus, D., Phan, T. G., Chan, T. D., Gardam, S., Basten, A., & Brink, R. (2006). Antigen recognition strength regulates the choice between extrafollicular plasma cell and germinal center B cell differentiation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 203(4), 1081–1091. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20060087
- Pereira, J. P., Kelly, L. M., Xu, Y., & Cyster, J. G. (2009). EBI2 mediates B cell segregation between the outer and centre follicle. *Nature*, 460(7259), 1122–1126. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08226

- Perry, D. K., Pollinger, H. S., Burns, J. M., Rea, D., Ramos, E., Platt, J. L., ... Stegall, M. D. (2008). Two Novel Assays of Alloantibody-Secreting Cells Demonstrating Resistance to Desensitization With IVIG and rATG. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 8(1), 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.02039.x
- Peter, M. E., & Krammer, P. H. (1998). Mechanisms of CD95 (APO-1/Fas)-mediated apoptosis. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 10(5), 545–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(98)80222-7
- Petersson, E., Östraat, Ö., Ekberg, H., Hansson, J., Simanaitis, M., Brodin, T., ... Hedlund, G. (1997). Allogeneic Heart Transplantation Activates Alloreactive NK Cells. *Cellular Immunology*, 175(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1006/cimm.1996.1031
- Phan, T. G., Paus, D., Chan, T. D., Turner, M. L., Nutt, S. L., Basten, A., & Brink, R. (2006). High affinity germinal center B cells are actively selected into the plasma cell compartment. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 203(11), 2419–2424. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20061254
- Pleiman, C. M., Hertz, W. M., & Cambier, J. C. (1994). Activation of phosphatidylinositol-3' kinase by Src-family kinase SH3 binding to the p85 subunit. *Science*, 263(5153), 1609–1612. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8128248
- Pockley, A. G. (2001). Heat shock proteins, anti-heat shock protein reactivity and allograft rejection. *Transplantation*, 71(11), 1503–1507.
- Poirier, N., Blancho, G., & Vanhove, B. (2011). A more selective costimulatory blockade of the CD28-B7 pathway. *Transplant International*, 24(1), 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2010.01176.x
- Pratt, J. R., Basheer, S. A., & Sacks, S. H. (2002). Local synthesis of complement component C3 regulates acute renal transplant rejection. *Nature Medicine*, 8(6), 582–587. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0602-582
- Putcha, G. V., Le, S., Frank, S., Besirli, C. G., Clark, K., Chu, B., ... Johnson Jr., E. M. (2003). JNK-Mediated BIM Phosphorylation Potentiates BAX-Dependent Apoptosis. *Neuron*, 38(6), 899–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00355-6
- Puthalakath, H., & Strasser, A. (2002). Keeping killers on a tight leash: transcriptional and posttranslational control of the pro-apoptotic activity of BH3-only proteins. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 9(5), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj/cdd/4400998
- Puthier, D., Bataille, R., & Amiot, M. (1999). IL-6 up-regulates mcl-1 in human myeloma cells through JAK / STAT rather than ras / MAP kinase pathway. *European Journal of Immunology*, 29(12), 3945–3950.
- Qian, L., Qian, C., Chen, Y., Bai, Y., Bao, Y., Lu, L., & Cao, X. (2012). Regulatory dendritic cells program B cells to differentiate into CD19hiFcγIIbhi regulatory B cells through IFN-β and CD40L. *Blood*, *120*(3), 581–591. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-08-377242
- Qian, Z., Wasowska, B. A., Behrens, E., Cangello, D. L., Brody, J. R., Kadkol, S. S., ... Baldwin III, W. M. (1999). C6 Produced by Macrophages Contributes to Cardiac Allograft Rejection. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 155(4), 1293–1302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65231-5
- Quartier, P., Debré, M., De Blic, J., de Sauverzac, R., Sayegh, N., Jabado, N., ... Fischer, A. (1999). Early and prolonged intravenous immunoglobulin replacement therapy in childhood agammaglobulinemia: a retrospective survey of 31 patients. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 134(5), 589– 596.
- Racusen, L. C., Halloran, P. F., & Solez, K. (2004). Banff 2003 Meeting Report: New Diagnostic Insights and Standards. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 4(10), 1562–1566. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00585.x
- Rademakers, L. H. (1992). Dark and light zones of germinal centres of the human tonsil: an ultrastructural study with emphasis on heterogeneity of follicular dendritic cells. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 269(2), 359–368.

- Ramos, E. J., Pollinger, H. S., Stegall, M. D., Gloor, J. M., Dogan, A., & Grande, J. P. (2007). The Effect of Desensitization Protocols on Human Splenic B-Cell Populations In Vivo. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 7(2), 402–407. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01632.x
- Rao, L., Perez, D., & White, E. (1996). Lamin proteolysis facilitates nuclear events during apoptosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 135(6), 1441–1455. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.135.6.1441
- Regele, H., Böhmig, G. A., Habicht, A., Gollowitzer, D., Schillinger, M., Rockenschaub, S., ... Exner, M. (2002). Capillary Deposition of Complement Split Product C4d in Renal Allografts is Associated with Basement Membrane Injury in Peritubular and Glomerular Capillaries: A Contribution of Humoral Immunity to Chronic Allograft Rejection. *Journal of the American Society* of Nephrology, 13(9), 2371–2380. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000025780.03790.0F
- Regnault, A., Lankar, D., Lacabanne, V., Rodriguez, A., Théry, C., Rescigno, M., ... Amigorena, S. (1999). Fcy Receptor-mediated Induction of Dendritic Cell Maturation and Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I-restricted Antigen Presentation after Immune Complex Internalization. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 189(2), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.189.2.371
- Reif, K., Ekland, E. H., Ohl, L., Nakano, H., Lipp, M., Förster, R., & Cyster, J. G. (2002). Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. *Nature*, 416(6876), 94–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/416094a
- Ren, D., Tu, H.-C., Kim, H., Wang, G. X., Bean, G. R., Takeuchi, O., ... Cheng, E. H.-Y. (2010). BID, BIM, and PUMA Are Essential for Activation of the BAX- and BAK-Dependent Cell Death Program. *Science*, *330*(6009), 1390–1393. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1190217
- Renault, T. T., & Chipuk, J. E. (2013). Getting away with murder: how do the BCL-2 family of proteins kill with immunity? *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1285(1), 59. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12045
- Revy, P., Muto, T., Levy, Y., Geissmann, F., Plebani, A., Sanal, O., ... Durandy, A. (2000). Activation-Induced Cytidine Deaminase (AID) Deficiency Causes the Autosomal Recessive Form of the Hyper-IgM Syndrome (HIGM2). *Cell*, 102(5), 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00079-9
- Ricklin, D., & Lambris, J. D. (2013). Complement in Immune and Inflammatory Disorders: Pathophysiological Mechanisms. *The Journal of Immunology*, 190(8), 3831–3838. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1203487
- Riedl, S. J., & Shi, Y. (2004). Molecular mechanisms of caspase regulation during apoptosis. Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology, 5(11), 897–907. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1496
- Rodriguez, D., Rojas-Rivera, D., & Hetz, C. (2011). Integrating stress signals at the endoplasmic reticulum: The BCL-2 protein family rheostat. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research*, 1813(4), 564–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.11.012
- Romagnani, S. (1991). Human TH1 and TH2 subsets: doubt no more. *Immunology Today*, *12*(8), 256–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(91)90120-I
- Rosenkilde, M. M., Benned-Jensen, T., Andersen, H., Holst, P. J., Kledal, T. N., Lüttichau, H. R., ... Schwartz, T. W. (2006). Molecular Pharmacological Phenotyping of EBI2 AN ORPHAN SEVEN-TRANSMEMBRANE RECEPTOR WITH CONSTITUTIVE ACTIVITY. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(19), 13199–13208. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M602245200
- Rosin, D. L., & Okusa, M. D. (2011). Dangers Within: DAMP Responses to Damage and Cell Death in Kidney Disease. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 22(3), 416–425. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2010040430
- Rosser, E. C., & Mauri, C. (2015). Regulatory B Cells: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. *Immunity*, 42(4), 607–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Rosser, E. C., Oleinika, K., Tonon, S., Doyle, R., Bosma, A., Carter, N. A., ... Mauri, C. (2014). Regulatory B cells are induced by gut microbiota-driven interleukin-1β and interleukin-6 production. *Nature Medicine*, 20(11), 1334–1339. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3680

- Rostaing, L., Vincenti, F., Grinyó, J., Rice, K. M., Bresnahan, B., Steinberg, S., ... Larsen, C. P. (2013). Long-Term Belatacept Exposure Maintains Efficacy and Safety at 5 Years: Results From the Long-Term Extension of the BENEFIT Study. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 13(11), 2875–2883. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12460
- Rydberg, L. (2001). ABO-incompatibility in solid organ transplantation. *Transfusion Medicine (Oxford, England)*, 11(4), 325–342.
- Saijo, K., Mecklenbräuker, I., Santana, A., Leitger, M., Schmedt, C., & Tarakhovsky, A. (2002). Protein Kinase C β Controls Nuclear Factor xB Activation in B Cells Through Selective Regulation of the IxB Kinase α. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 195(12), 1647. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20020408
- Saito, K., Scharenberg, A. M., & Kinet, J.-P. (2001). Interaction between the Btk PH Domain and Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate Directly Regulates Btk. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(19), 16201–16206. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100873200
- Saito, M., Novak, U., Piovan, E., Basso, K., Sumazin, P., Schneider, C., ... Dalla-Favera, R. (2009). BCL6 suppression of BCL2 via Miz1 and its disruption in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(27), 11294–11299. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903854106
- Sakaguchi, S. (2005). Naturally arising Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in immunological tolerance to self and non-self. *Nature Immunology*, 6(4), 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1178
- Salvesen, G. S., & Ashkenazi, A. (2011). SnapShot: Caspases. Cell, 147(2), 476–476.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.030
- Samejima, K., Tone, S., & Earnshaw, W. C. (2001). CAD/DFF40 Nuclease Is Dispensable for High Molecular Weight DNA Cleavage and Stage I Chromatin Condensation in Apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(48), 45427–45432. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108844200
- Sánchez-Mejorada, G., & Rosales, C. (1998). Signal transduction by immunoglobulin Fc receptors. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 63(5), 521–533.
- Sander, M., Lyson, T., Thomas, G. D., & Victor, R. G. (1996). Sympathetic neural mechanisms of cyclosporine-induced hypertension. *American Journal of Hypertension*, *9*(11), 121S–138S.
- Sattler, M., Liang, H., Nettesheim, D., Meadows, R. P., Harlan, J. E., Eberstadt, M., ... Fesik, S. W. (1997). Structure of Bcl-xL-Bak Peptide Complex: Recognition Between Regulators of Apoptosis. *Science*, 275(5302), 983–986. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5302.983
- Sayegh, M. H., & Carpenter, C. B. (1996). Role of indirect allorecognition in allograft rejection. *International Reviews of Immunology*, 13(3), 221–229.
- Scaffidi, C., Fulda, S., Srinivasan, A., Friesen, C., Li, F., Tomaselli, K. J., ... Peter, M. E. (1998). Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways. *The EMBO Journal*, 17(6), 1675–1687. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.6.1675
- Schaerli, P., Willimann, K., Lang, A. B., Lipp, M., Loetscher, P., & Moser, B. (2000). Cxc Chemokine Receptor 5 Expression Defines Follicular Homing T Cells with B Cell Helper Function. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192(11), 1553–1562. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.11.1553
- Schmitz, R., Young, R. M., Ceribelli, M., Jhavar, S., Xiao, W., Zhang, M., ... Staudt, L. M. (2012). Burkitt lymphoma pathogenesis and therapeutic targets from structural and functional genomics. *Nature*, 490(7418), 116–120. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11378
- Schwickert, T. A., Lindquist, R. L., Shakhar, G., Livshits, G., Skokos, D., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., ... Nussenzweig, M. C. (2007). In vivo imaging of germinal centres reveals a dynamic open structure. *Nature*, 446(7131), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05573
- Sciammas, R., Shaffer, A. L., Schatz, J. H., Zhao, H., Staudt, L. M., & Singh, H. (2006). Graded Expression of Interferon Regulatory Factor-4 Coordinates Isotype Switching with Plasma Cell Differentiation. *Immunity*, 25(2), 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.009

- Sebbagh, M., Renvoizé, C., Hamelin, J., Riché, N., Bertoglio, J., & Bréard, J. (2001). Caspase-3mediated cleavage of ROCK I induces MLC phosphorylation and apoptotic membrane blebbing. *Nature Cell Biology*, 3(4), 346–352. https://doi.org/10.1038/35070019
- Shamas-Din, A., Kale, J., Leber, B., & Andrews, D. W. (2013). Mechanisms of Action of Bcl-2 Family Proteins. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(4), a008714. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008714
- Shan, D., Ledbetter, J. A., & Press, O. W. (2000). Signaling events involved in anti-CD20-induced apoptosis of malignant human B cells. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy: CII*, 48(12), 673–683.
- Sharman, J., Hawkins, M., Kolibaba, K., Boxer, M., Klein, L., Wu, M., ... Yasenchak, C. (2015). An open-label phase 2 trial of entospletinib (GS-9973), a selective spleen tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, 125(15), 2336–2343. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-08-595934
- Shokat, K. M., & Goodnow, C. C. (1995). Antigen-induced B-cell death and elimination during germinal-centre immune responses. *Nature*, 375(6529), 334–338. https://doi.org/10.1038/375334a0
- Shresta, S., Pham, C. T., Thomas, D. A., Graubert, T. A., & Ley, T. J. (1998). How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill their targets? *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 10(5), 581–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(98)80227-6
- Simonen, M., Keller, H., & Heim, J. (1997). The BH3 domain of Bax is sufficient for interaction of Bax with itself and with other family members and it is required for induction of apoptosis. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 249(1), 85–91.
- Sis, B., & Halloran, P. F. (2010). Endothelial transcripts uncover a previously unknown phenotype: C4d-negative antibody-mediated rejection. *Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation*, 15(1), 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOT.0b013e3283352a50
- Slatinska, J., Honsova, E., Burgelova, M., Slavcev, A., & Viklicky, O. (2009). Plasmapheresis and Intravenous Immunoglobulin in Early Antibody-Mediated Rejection of the Renal Allograft: A Single-Center Experience. *Therapeutic Apheresis and Dialysis*, 13(2), 108–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-9987.2009.00664.x
- Smith, K. G. C., Light, A., Nossal, G. J. V., & Tarlinton, D. M. (1997). The extent of affinity maturation differs between the memory and antibody-forming cell compartments in the primary immune response. *The EMBO Journal*, 16(11), 2996–3006. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/16.11.2996
- Smith, K. G. C., Weiss, U., Rajewsky, K., Nossal, G. J. V., & Tarlinton, D. M. (1994). Bcl-2 increases memory B cell recruitment but does not perturb selection in germinal centers. *Immunity*, 1(9), 803–813. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(94)80022-7
- Smyth, Lesley Ann, Osquel Barroso Herrera, Dela Golshayan, Giovanna Lombardi, and Robert I. Lechler. "A Novel Pathway of Antigen Presentation by Dendritic and Endothelial Cells: Implications for Allorecognition and Infectious Diseases." Transplantation 82, no. 1 Suppl (July 15, 2006): S15-18. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000231347.06149.ca.
- Sprick, M. R., Rieser, E., Stahl, H., Grosse-Wilde, A., Weigand, M. A., & Walczak, H. (2002). Caspase-10 is recruited to and activated at the native TRAIL and CD95 death-inducing signalling complexes in a FADD-dependent manner but can not functionally substitute caspase-8. *The EMBO Journal*, 21(17), 4520–4530.
- Srinivasan, L., Sasaki, Y., Calado, D. P., Zhang, B., Paik, J. H., DePinho, R. A., ... Rajewsky, K. (2009). PI3 Kinase Signals BCR-Dependent Mature B Cell Survival. *Cell*, 139(3), 573–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.041
- Stein, J. V. (2015). T Cell Motility as Modulator of Interactions with Dendritic Cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00559
- Stennicke, H. R., & Salvesen, G. S. (2000). Caspases controlling intracellular signals by protease zymogen activation. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 1477(1–2), 299–306.

- Stoll, S., Delon, J., Brotz, T. M., & Germain, R. N. (2002). Dynamic Imaging of T Cell-Dendritic Cell Interactions in Lymph Nodes. *Science*, 296(5574), 1873–1876. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1071065
- Su, L., Rickert, R. C., & David, M. (1999). Rapid STAT Phosphorylation via the B Cell Receptor MODULATORY ROLE OF CD19. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 274(45), 31770–31774. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.45.31770
- Su, T. T., Guo, B., Kawakami, Y., Sommer, K., Chae, K., Humphries, L. A., ... Rawlings, D. J. (2002). PKC-β controls IxB kinase lipid raft recruitment and activation in response to BCR signaling. *Nature Immunology*, 3(8), 780–786. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni823
- Suliman, A., Lam, A., Datta, R., & Srivastava, R. K. (2001). Intracellular mechanisms of TRAIL: apoptosis through mitochondrial-dependent and -independent pathways. Oncogene, 20(17), 2122–2133. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1204282
- Sun, C.-M., Deriaud, E., Leclerc, C., & Lo-Man, R. (2005). Upon TLR9 Signaling, CD5+ B Cells Control the IL-12-Dependent Th1-Priming Capacity of Neonatal DCs. *Immunity*, 22(4), 467– 477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2005.02.008
- Sund, S., Hovig, T., Reisaeter, A. V., Scott, H., Bentdal, Ø., & Mollnes, T. E. (2003). Complement activation in early protocol kidney graft biopsies after living-donor transplantation. *Transplantation*, 75(8), 1204–1213. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000062835.30165.2C
- Sutton, V. R., Davis, J. E., Cancilla, M., Johnstone, R. W., Ruefli, A. A., Sedelies, K., ... Trapani, J. A. (2000). Initiation of Apoptosis by Granzyme B Requires Direct Cleavage of Bid, but Not Direct Granzyme B–Mediated Caspase Activation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192(10), 1403–1414. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.10.1403
- Suzuki, M., Youle, R. J., & Tjandra, N. (2000). Structure of Bax: Coregulation of Dimer Formation and Intracellular Localization. *Cell*, *103*(4), 645–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00167-7
- Sze, D. M.-Y., Toellner, K.-M., Vinuesa, C. G. de, Taylor, D. R., & MacLennan, I. C. M. (2000). Intrinsic Constraint on Plasmablast Growth and Extrinsic Limits of Plasma Cell Survival. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, 192(6), 813–822. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.6.813
- Tafuri, A., Shahinian, A., Bladt, F., Yoshinaga, S. K., Jordana, M., Wakeham, A., ... Mak, T. W. (2001). ICOS is essential for effective T-helper-cell responses. *Nature*, 409(6816), 105–109. https://doi.org/10.1038/35051113
- Takahashi, Y., Cerasoli, D. M., Porto, J. M. D., Shimoda, M., Freund, R., Fang, W., ... Kelsoe, G. (1999). Relaxed Negative Selection in Germinal Centers and Impaired Affinity Maturation in bcl-x/1 Transgenic Mice. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 190(3), 399–410. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.190.3.399
- Takahashi, Y., Ohta, H., & Takemori, T. (2001). Fas Is Required for Clonal Selection in Germinal Centers and the Subsequent Establishment of the Memory B Cell Repertoire. *Immunity*, 14(2), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00100-5
- Takata, M., & Kurosaki, T. (1996). A role for Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B cell antigen receptormediated activation of phospholipase C-gamma 2. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 184(1), 31– 40. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.184.1.31
- Takemura, S., Klimiuk, P. A., Braun, A., Goronzy, J. J., & Weyand, C. M. (2001). T Cell Activation in Rheumatoid Synovium Is B Cell Dependent. *The Journal of Immunology*, 167(8), 4710–4718. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4710
- Talanian, R. V., Yang, X., Turbov, J., Seth, P., Ghayur, T., Casiano, C. A., ... Froelich, C. J. (1997). Granule-mediated Killing: Pathways for Granzyme B-initiated Apoptosis. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 186(8), 1323.
- Taniuchi, I. (2016). Views on helper/cytotoxic lineage choice from a bottom-up approach. Immunological Reviews, 271(1), 98–113. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12401
- Tanriover, B., Wright, S. E., Foster, S. V., Roush, K. S., Castillo-Lugo, J. A., Fa, K., ... Mejia, A. (2008). High-dose intravenous immunoglobulin and rituximab treatment for antibody-mediated

rejection after kidney transplantation: a cost analysis. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 40(10), 3393–3396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.08.131

- Tao, L., Boyd, M., Gonye, G., Malone, B., & Schwaber, J. (2000). BTK mutations in patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia: Lack of correlation between presence of peripheral B lymphocytes and specific mutations. *Human Mutation*, 16(6), 528–529. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-1004(200012)16:6<528::AID-HUMU12>3.0.CO;2-T
- Tarlinton, D. M., & Smith, K. G. C. (2000). Dissecting affinity maturation: a model explaining selection of antibody-forming cells and memory B cells in the germinal centre. *Immunology Today*, 21(9), 436–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(00)01687-X
- Taylor, J. J., Pape, K. A., & Jenkins, M. K. (2012). A germinal center-independent pathway generates unswitched memory B cells early in the primary response. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 209(3), 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20111696
- Taylor, P. A., Lees, C. J., & Blazar, B. R. (2002). The infusion of ex vivo activated and expanded CD4+CD25+ immune regulatory cells inhibits graft-versus-host disease lethality. *Blood*, 99(10), 3493–3499. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.10.3493
- Taylor, R. C., Cullen, S. P., & Martin, S. J. (2008). Apoptosis: controlled demolition at the cellular level. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 9(3), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2312
- Thaunat, O., Field, A.-C., Dai, J., Louedec, L., Patey, N., Bloch, M.-F., … Nicoletti, A. (2005). Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic rejection: Evidence for a local humoral alloimmune response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(41), 14723–14728. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0507223102
- Thaunat, O., Patey, N., Caligiuri, G., Gautreau, C., Mamani-Matsuda, M., Mekki, Y., ... Nicoletti, A. (2010). Chronic Rejection Triggers the Development of an Aggressive Intragraft Immune Response through Recapitulation of Lymphoid Organogenesis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185(1), 717–728. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0903589
- Thomas, D. A., Du, C., Xu, M., Wang, X., & Ley, T. J. (2000). DFF45/ICAD Can Be Directly Processed by Granzyme B during the Induction of Apoptosis. *Immunity*, *12*(6), 621–632. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80213-7
- Tian, J., Zekzer, D., Hanssen, L., Lu, Y., Olcott, A., & Kaufman, D. L. (2001). Lipopolysaccharide-Activated B Cells Down-Regulate Th1 Immunity and Prevent Autoimmune Diabetes in Nonobese Diabetic Mice. *The Journal of Immunology*, 167(2), 1081–1089. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.2.1081
- Toellner, K. M., Gulbranson-Judge, A., Taylor, D. R., Sze, D. M., & MacLennan, I. C. (1996). Immunoglobulin switch transcript production in vivo related to the site and time of antigenspecific B cell activation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 183(5), 2303–2312. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.183.5.2303
- Toellner, K.-M., Jenkinson, W. E., Taylor, D. R., Khan, M., Sze, D. M.-Y., Sansom, D. M., ... MacLennan, I. C. M. (2002). Low-level Hypermutation in T Cell–independent Germinal Centers Compared with High Mutation Rates Associated with T Cell–dependent Germinal Centers. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 195(3), 383–389. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20011112
- Toellner, K.-M., Luther, S. A., Sze, D. M.-Y., Choy, R. K.-W., Taylor, D. R., MacLennan, I. C. M., & Acha-Orbea, H. (1998). T Helper 1 (Th1) and Th2 Characteristics Start to Develop During T Cell Priming and Are Associated with an Immediate Ability to Induce Immunoglobulin Class Switching. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 187(8), 1193–1204. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.187.8.1193
- Toné, S., Sugimoto, K., Tanda, K., Suda, T., Uehira, K., Kanouchi, H., ... Earnshaw, W. C. (2007). Three Distinct Stages of Apoptotic Nuclear Condensation Revealed by Time-Lapse Imaging, Biochemical and Electron Microscopy Analysis of Cell-Free Apoptosis. *Experimental Cell Research*, 313(16), 3635–3644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.06.018

- Toyama, H., Okada, S., Hatano, M., Takahashi, Y., Takeda, N., Ichii, H., ... Tokuhisa, T. (2002). Memory B Cells without Somatic Hypermutation Are Generated from Bcl6-Deficient B Cells. *Immunity*, 17(3), 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00387-4
- Trapani, J. A., & Smyth, M. J. (2002). Functional significance of the perforin/granzyme cell death pathway. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 2(10), 735–747. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri911
- Trpkov, K., Campbell, P., Pazderka, F., Cockfield, S., Solez, K., & Halloran, P. F. (1996). Pathologic features of acute renal allograft rejection associated with donor-specific antibody, Analysis using the Banff grading schema. *Transplantation*, 61(11), 1586–1592.
- Trushin, S. A., Pennington, K. N., Algeciras-Schimnich, A., & Paya, C. V. (1999). Protein Kinase C and Calcineurin Synergize to Activate IxB Kinase and NF-xB in T Lymphocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(33), 22923–22931. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.33.22923
- Tsujimoto, Y., Cossman, J., Jaffe, E., & Croce, C. M. (1985). Involvement of the bcl-2 gene in human follicular lymphoma. *Science*, 228(4706), 1440–1443. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3874430
- Turka, L. A., Linsley, P. S., Lin, H., Brady, W., Leiden, J. M., Wei, R. Q., ... Gordon, D. (1992). Tcell activation by the CD28 ligand B7 is required for cardiac allograft rejection in vivo. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 89(22), 11102–11105.
- Turner, M., Joseph Mee, P., Costello, P. S., Williams, O., Price, A. A., Duddy, L. P., ... Tybulewicz, V. L. J. (1995). Perinatal lethality and blocked B-cell development in mice lacking the tyrosine kinase Syk. *Nature*, *378*(6554), 298–302. https://doi.org/10.1038/378298a0
- Uckun, F. M., Qazi, S., Ma, H., Tuel-Ahlgren, L., & Ozer, Z. (2010). STAT3 is a substrate of SYK tyrosine kinase in B-lineage leukemia/lymphoma cells exposed to oxidative stress. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences, 107(7), 2902–2907. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0909086107
- Ura, S., Masuyama, N., Graves, J. D., & Gotoh, Y. (2001). Caspase cleavage of MST1 promotes nuclear translocation and chromatin condensation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(18), 10148–10153. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.181161698
- Valenzuela, N. M., Hong, L., Shen, X.-D., Gao, F., Young, S. H., Rozengurt, E., ... Reed, E. F. (2013). Blockade of P-selectin is Sufficient to Reduce MHC I Antibody-Elicited Monocyte Recruitment In Vitro and In Vivo. American Journal of Transplantation: Official Journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, 13(2), 299. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12016
- Valenzuela, N. M., Mulder, A., & Reed, E. F. (2013). HLA Class I Antibodies Trigger Increased Adherence of Monocytes to Endothelial Cells by Eliciting an Increase in Endothelial P-Selectin and, Depending on Subclass, by Engaging FcγRs. *The Journal of Immunology*, *190*(12), 6635–6650. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1201434
- Valenzuela, N. M., & Reed, E. F. (2015). Antibodies to HLA Molecules Mimic Agonistic Stimulation to Trigger Vascular Cell Changes and Induce Allograft Injury. *Current Transplantation Reports*, 2(3), 222–232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40472-015-0065-6
- van Loo, G., van Gurp, M., Depuydt, B., Srinivasula, S. M., Rodriguez, I., Alnemri, E. S., ... Vandenabeele, P. (2002). The serine protease Omi/HtrA2 is released from mitochondria during apoptosis. Omi interacts with caspase-inhibitor XIAP and induces enhanced caspase activity. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 9(1), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4400970
- Vaux, D. L., Cory, S., & Adams, J. M. (1988). Bcl-2 gene promotes haemopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-myc to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature*, 335(6189), 440–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/335440a0
- Vella, J. P., Spadafora-Ferreira, M., Murphy, B., Alexander, S. I., Harmon, W., Carpenter, C. B., & Sayegh, M. H. (1997). Indirect allorecognition of major histocompatibility complex allopeptides in human renal transplant recipients with chronic graft dysfunction. *Transplantation*, 64(6), 795– 800.
- Victora, G. D., & Nussenzweig, M. C. (2012). Germinal centers. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 30, 429–457. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032

- Victora, G. D., Schwickert, T. A., Fooksman, D. R., Kamphorst, A. O., Meyer-Hermann, M., Dustin, M. L., & Nussenzweig, M. C. (2010). Germinal Center Dynamics Revealed by Multiphoton Microscopy Using a Photoactivatable Fluorescent Reporter. *Cell*, 143(4), 592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.032
- Vikstrom, I., Carotta, S., Lüthje, K., Peperzak, V., Jost, P. J., Glaser, S., ... Tarlinton, D. M. (2010). Mcl-1 Is Essential for Germinal Center Formation and B Cell Memory. *Science*, 330(6007), 1095– 1099. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1191793
- Vikstrom, I., Slomp, A., Carrington, E. M., Moesbergen, L. M., Chang, C., Kelly, G. L., ... Tarlinton, D. M. (2016). MCL-1 is required throughout B-cell development and its loss sensitizes specific B-cell subsets to inhibition of BCL-2 or BCL-XL. *Cell Death & Disease*, 7(8), e2345. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2016.237
- Vincenti, F., Charpentier, B., Vanrenterghem, Y., Rostaing, L., Bresnahan, B., Darji, P., ... Larsen, C. P. (2010). A Phase III Study of Belatacept-based Immunosuppression Regimens versus Cyclosporine in Renal Transplant Recipients (BENEFIT Study). *American Journal of Transplantation*, 10(3), 535–546. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.03005.x
- Vincenti, F., Larsen, C., Durrbach, A., Wekerle, T., Nashan, B., Blancho, G., ... Charpentier, B. (2005). Costimulation Blockade with Belatacept in Renal Transplantation. New England Journal of Medicine, 353(8), 770–781. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa050085
- Vincenti, F., Larsen, C. P., Alberu, J., Bresnahan, B., Garcia, V. D., Kothari, J., ... Charpentier, B. (2012). Three-Year Outcomes from BENEFIT, a Randomized, Active-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study in Adult Kidney Transplant Recipients: Three-Year Outcomes from BENEFIT. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 12(1), 210–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03785.x
- Vincenti, F., Rostaing, L., Grinyo, J., Rice, K., Steinberg, S., Gaite, L., ... Larsen, C. P. (2016). Belatacept and Long-Term Outcomes in Kidney Transplantation. New England Journal of Medicine, 374(4), 333–343. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1506027
- Vivier, E. (2006). What is natural in natural killer cells? *Immunology Letters*, 107(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2006.07.004
- Vivier, E., Raulet, D. H., Moretta, A., Caligiuri, M. A., Zitvogel, L., Lanier, L. L., ... Ugolini, S. (2011). Innate or Adaptive Immunity? The Example of Natural Killer Cells. *Science*, 331(6013), 44–49. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198687
- Waiser, J., Duerr, M., Schönemann, C., Rudolph, B., Wu, K., Halleck, F., ... Lachmann, N. (2016). Rituximab in Combination With Bortezomib, Plasmapheresis, and High-Dose IVIG to Treat Antibody-Mediated Renal Allograft Rejection. *Transplantation Direct*, 2(8). https://doi.org/10.1097/TXD.00000000000604
- Wang, J., Koizumi, T., & Watanabe, T. (1996). Altered antigen receptor signaling and impaired Fasmediated apoptosis of B cells in Lyn-deficient mice. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 184(3), 831–838.
- Wang, L., Kurosaki, T., & Corey, S. J. (2006). Engagement of the B-cell antigen receptor activates STAT through Lyn in a Jak-independent pathway. *Oncogene*, 26(20), 2851–2859. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210092
- Warner, P., Gimferrer, I., Youngs, D., Doran, E., Ing, A., Arsenault, K., & Nelson, K. (2015). Are IgM donor-specific hla antibodies (DSA) clinically relevant? *Human Immunology*, 76(Supplement), 138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2015.07.192
- Weaver, C. T., Hatton, R. D., Mangan, P. R., & Harrington, L. E. (2007). IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 25, 821–852. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141557
- Weinblatt, M. E., Kavanaugh, A., Burgos-Vargas, R., Dikranian, A. H., Medrano-Ramirez, G., Morales-Torres, J. L., ... Grossbard, E. (2008). Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with a syk kinase inhibitor: A twelve-week, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 58(11), 3309–3318. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23992

- Wigle, J. T., Harvey, N., Detmar, M., Lagutina, I., Grosveld, G., Gunn, M. D., ... Oliver, G. (2002). An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of the lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. *The EMBO Journal*, 21(7), 1505–1513. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/21.7.1505
- Williams, G. M., Hume, D. M., Hudson, R. P. J., Morris, P. J., Kano, K., & Milgrom, F. (1968). Hyperacute Renal-Homograft Rejection in Man. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 279(12), 611– 618. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM196809192791201
- Willis, S. N., Chen, L., Dewson, G., Wei, A., Naik, E., Fletcher, J. I., ... Huang, D. C. S. (2005). Proapoptotic Bak is sequestered by Mcl-1 and Bcl-xL, but not Bcl-2, until displaced by BH3only proteins. *Genes & Development*, 19(11), 1294–1305. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1304105
- Woodle, E. S., Walsh, R. C., Alloway, R. R., Girnita, A., & Brailey, P. (2011). Proteasome inhibitor therapy for antibody-mediated rejection. *Pediatric Transplantation*, 15(6), 548–556. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3046.2011.01543.x
- Wortel, C., & Heidt, S. (2017). Regulatory B cells: Phenotype, function and role in transplantation. *Transplant Immunology*, 41(Supplement C), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trim.2017.02.004
- Wu, X., Jiang, N., Fang, Y.-F., Xu, C., Mao, D., Singh, J., ... Molina, H. (2000). Impaired Affinity Maturation in Cr2-/- Mice Is Rescued by Adjuvants Without Improvement in Germinal Center Development. *The Journal of Immunology*, 165(6), 3119–3127. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.6.3119
- Wu, Y., Shikh, E., M, M. E., Sayed, E., M, R., Best, A. M., ... Tew, J. G. (2009). IL-6 produced by immune complex-activated follicular dendritic cells promotes germinal center reactions, IgG responses and somatic hypermutation. *International Immunology*, 21(6), 745–756. https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxp041
- Xiang, M., & Fan, J. (2010). Pattern recognition receptor-dependent mechanisms of acute lung injury. *Molecular Medicine (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 16(1-2), 69-82. https://doi.org/10.2119/molmed.2009.00097
- Xu, J., Foy, T. M., Laman, J. D., Elliott, E. A., Dunn, J. J., Waldschmidt, T. J., ... Flavell, R. A. (1994). Mice deficient for the CD40 ligand. *Immunity*, 1(5), 423–431.
- Yamakuchi, M., Kirkiles-Smith, N. C., Ferlito, M., Cameron, S. J., Bao, C., Fox-Talbot, K., ... Lowenstein, C. J. (2007). Antibody to human leukocyte antigen triggers endothelial exocytosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(4), 1301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0602035104
- Yamamoto, N., Takeshita, K., Shichijo, M., Kokubo, T., Sato, M., Nakashima, K., ... Bacon, K. B. (2003). The Orally Available Spleen Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor 2-[7-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)imidazo[1,2-c]pyrimidin-5-ylamino]nicotinamide Dihydrochloride (BAY 61-3606) Blocks Antigen-Induced Airway Inflammation in Rodents. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 306(3), 1174–1181. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.103.052316
- Yan, J., Roy, S., Apolloni, A., Lane, A., & Hancock, J. F. (1998). Ras Isoforms Vary in Their Ability to Activate Raf-1 and Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(37), 24052– 24056. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.37.24052
- Yanaba, K., Bouaziz, J.-D., Matsushita, T., Tsubata, T., & Tedder, T. F. (2009). The Development and Function of Regulatory B Cells Expressing IL-10 (B10 Cells) Requires Antigen Receptor Diversity and TLR Signals. *The Journal of Immunology*, 182(12), 7459–7472. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900270
- Yang, J., Liu, X., Bhalla, K., Kim, C. N., Ibrado, A. M., Cai, J., ... Wang, X. (1997). Prevention of Apoptosis by Bcl-2: Release of Cytochrome c from Mitochondria Blocked. *Science*, 275(5303), 1129–1132. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5303.1129
- Yang, Y., & Oliver, G. (2014). Development of the mammalian lymphatic vasculature. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 124(3), 888–897. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI71609
- Yarkoni, Y., Getahun, A., & Cambier, J. C. (2010). Molecular underpinning of B-cell anergy. Immunological Reviews, 237(1), 249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00936.x

- Ye, B. H., Cattoretti, G., Shen, Q., Zhang, J., Hawe, N., Waard, R. de, ... Dalla-Favera, R. (1997). The BCL-6 proto-oncogene controls germinal-centre formation and Th2-type inflammation. *Nature Genetics*, 16(2), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0697-161
- Yelken, B., Arpali, E., Görcin, S., Kocak, B., Karatas, C., Demiralp, E., & Turkmen, A. (2015). Eculizumab for Treatment of Refractory Antibody-Mediated Rejection in Kidney Transplant Patients: A Single-Center Experience. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 47(6), 1754–1759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.06.029
- Yin, X.-M., Wang, K., Gross, A., Zhao, Y., Zinkel, S., Klocke, B., ... Korsmeyer, S. J. (1999). Biddeficient mice are resistant to Fas-induced hepatocellular apoptosis. *Nature*, 400(6747), 886– 891. https://doi.org/10.1038/23730
- Ying, C. Y., Dominguez-Sola, D., Fabi, M., Lorenz, I. C., Hussein, S., Bansal, M., ... Dalla-Favera, R. (2013). MEF2B mutations lead to deregulated expression of the oncogene BCL6 in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Nature Immunology*, *14*(10), 1084–1092. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2688
- Yoshino, T., Kondo, E., Cao, L., Takahashi, K., Hayashi, K., Nomura, S., & Akagi, T. (1994). Inverse expression of bcl-2 protein and Fas antigen in lymphoblasts in peripheral lymph nodes and activated peripheral blood T and B lymphocytes. *Blood*, 83(7), 1856–1861.
- Yoshizaki, A., Miyagaki, T., DiLillo, D. J., Matsushita, T., Horikawa, M., Kountikov, E. I., ... Tedder, T. F. (2012). Regulatory B cells control T-cell autoimmunity through IL-21-dependent cognate interactions. *Nature*, 491(7423), 264–268. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11501
- Youle, R. J., & Strasser, A. (2008). The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 9(1), 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2308
- Yurasov, S., & Nussenzweig, M. C. (2007). Regulation of autoreactive antibodies. Current Opinion in Rheumatology, 19(5), 421–426. https://doi.org/10.1097/BOR.0b013e328277ef3b
- Zarkhin, V., Chalasani, G., & Sarwal, M. M. (2010). The yin and yang of B cells in graft rejection and tolerance. *Transplantation Reviews*, 24(2), 67–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trre.2010.01.004
- Zarkhin, V., Li, L., Kambham, N., Sigdel, T., Salvatierra, O., & Sarwal, M. M. (2008). A Randomized, Prospective Trial of Rituximab for Acute Rejection in Pediatric Renal Transplantation. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 8(12), 2607–2617. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02411.x
- Zha, J., Harada, H., Osipov, K., Jockel, J., Waksman, G., & Korsmeyer, S. J. (1997). BH3 Domain of BAD Is Required for Heterodimerization with BCL-XL and Pro-apoptotic Activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(39), 24101–24104. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.39.24101
- Ziffle, J. A. V., & Lowell, C. A. (2009). Neutrophil-specific deletion of Syk kinase results in reduced host defense to bacterial infection. *Blood*, *114*(23), 4871–4882. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-05-220806
- Zijlstra, M., Auchincloss, H., Loring, J. M., Chase, C. M., Russell, P. S., & Jaenisch, R. (1992). Skin graft rejection by beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 175(4), 885–893. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.175.4.885
- Zong, W.-X., Lindsten, T., Ross, A. J., MacGregor, G. R., & Thompson, C. B. (2001). BH3-only proteins that bind pro-survival Bcl-2 family members fail to induce apoptosis in the absence of Bax and Bak. *Genes & Development*, 15(12), 1481–1486. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.897601



Titre : Régulation de l'activation de lymphocyte B pendant le rejet chronique ; La rôle de SYK dans la modulation de Mcl-1

Mots Clés : Rejet médiée par les anticorps, centres germinatifs, Signalisation du BCR, SYK, Mcl-1, Apoptose

Résumé : L'insuffisance rénale est un problème majeur de santé publique et la transplantation rénale est l'option thérapeutique principale, mais elle comporte le risque de rejet d'organe. Les cellules B jouent un rôle important dans le rejet médié par les anticorps (AMR). Au cours de l'AMR chronique, les structures lymphoïdes tertiaires, semblables aux centres germinatifs (GC), apparaissent dans l'organe rejeté, associées à la production des plasmocytes et des lymphocytes B mémoires spécifiques du donneur. Ces populations de lymphocyte B sont souvent mal contrôlées par les traitements actuels. La myeloid cell leukemia 1 (Mcl-1), un membre anti-apoptotique de la famille de B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2), est essentiel pour maintenir l'organisation de GC et de la différenciation des cellules B. Nous rapportons ici l'infiltration de cellules B exprimant Mcl-1 dans le rein de patients atteints d'AMR chronique, comme cela a été observé pour les cellules (pré) GC. Suite à l'abrogation de la signalisation du récepteur des cellules B (BCR), par l'inhibition de la spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) nous avons observé une diminution de la viabilité des cellules GC, par l'intermédiaire d'une régulation de Mcl-1. La régulation négative de Mcl-1 est coordonnée au niveau de la transcription, potentiellement par l'intermédiaire du transducteur de signal et de l'activateur de la transcription 3 (STAT3), comme cela a été observé par (1) une translocation altérée de STAT3 dans le noyau suivant l'inhibition de SYK, et (2) les niveaux inférieurs de transcription de Mcl-1. Par ailleurs, la surexpression de Mcl-1 inhibe l'apoptose après l'inhibition du SYK. Des études avec des cellules B primaires, issues d'amygdales, ont confirmé que l'inhibition de SYK a diminué la survie cellulaire. Nous avons également constaté que l'inhibition du SYK a diminué les niveaux de protéines Mcl-1 dans les cellules B primaire, et que l'activation de ces cellules a été inhibée, tel que déterminé par l'expression de CD80 et des taux inférieurs de sécrétion d'IgG dans les cellules B primaires activées in vitro. Nos travaux suggèrent que la voie SYK-Mcl-1 peut offrir de nouvelles

## Title: Regulating the activation of B lymphocytes during chronic antibody mediated rejection: The role of SYK in modulating Mcl-1

Keywords: Antibody mediated rejection, Germinal Center, BCR signaling, SYK, Mcl-1, Apoptosis

Abstract: Renal failure is a major public health concern and renal transplantation is the main therapeutic option, however it comes with the risk of organ rejection. B-cells play an important role in antibodymediated rejection (AMR). During chronic AMR, tertiary lymphoid germinal center (GC)-like structures appear in the rejected organ, associated with de novo production of donor-specific plasma and memory B-cells. Which are B-cell populations that are often poorly controlled by current treatments. Myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1), an anti-apoptotic member of the B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family, is essential for maintaining the GC reaction and B-cell differentiation. We report here the infiltration of B-cells expressing Mcl-1 in the kidney of patients with chronic AMR, as observed for (pre-)GC cells. The impairment of B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling, by inhibition of spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK), reduced viability and Mcl-1 protein levels in GC like cells. This downregulation is coordinated at the transcriptional level, potentially via signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), as shown by (1) impaired translocation of STAT3 to the nucleus following SYK inhibition, and (2) the lower levels of Mcl-1 transcription upon STAT3 inhibition. Moreover, overexpression of Mcl-1 prevented cells from entering apoptosis after SYK inhibition. In vitro studies with primary tonsillar B-cells confirmed that SYK inhibition decreased cell survival. We also found that SYK inhibition decreased Mcl-1 protein levels in primary B-cells, and that B-cell activation was inhibited, as determined by CD80 expression and lower levels of IgG secretion in tonsillar B-cells activated in vitro. Overall, our data suggest that the SYK-Mcl-1 pathway may provide new opportunities for the treatment and prevention of AMR.